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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
AT A GLANCE

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading provider of products and services for people with chronic
kidney failure. More than 2.5 M patients with this disease worldwide regularly undergo dialysis treat-
ment. Dialysis is a vital blood cleansing procedure that substitutes the function of the kidney in case of
kidney failure.

As a vertically integrated company, Fresenius Medical Care offers products and services along the entire
dialysis value chain from a single source. We care for more than 270,000 patients in our global network
of 3,250 dialysis clinics. At the same time, we operate more than 40 production sites on all continents,
making us the world’s leading provider of dialysis products such as dialysis machines, dialyzers and
related disposable accessories.

Fresenius Medical Care has more than 90,000 employees in more than 50 countries. Our strategy is
geared toward sustainable growth. We aim to continuously improve the quality of life of patients with
kidney disease by offering innovative products and treatment concepts of the highest quality.

Operating data/key figures

in SM

2013 2012 Change
Selected key figures
Net revenue 14,610 13,800 6%
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) 2,904 2,821 3%
Operating income (EBIT) 2,256 2,219 2%
Net income’ 1,110 1,187 -6%
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,035 2,039 -
Free cash flow? 1,307 1,373 =
Capital expenditures, net 728 666 =
Acquisitions and investments, net 478 1,615 =
Basic earnings per ordinary share in $ 3.65 3.89 -6%
Dividend per ordinary share? in € 0.77 0.75 3%
Operating income margin in % 15.4 16.1 =
Return on invested capital (ROIC)* in % 7.7 7.7 =
Equity ratio (equity/total assets)® in % 41.0 41.2 =
Other details
Employees (full-time equivalents)® 90,690 86,153 5%
Patients® 270,122 257,916 5%
Clinics® 3,250 3,160 3%
Treatments in M 40.5 38.6 5%

Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities after capital expenditures, before acquisitions and investments.
2013: Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014.

2012: Pro forma numbers including Liberty Dialysis Holdings Inc., after FTC mandated divestitures.

As of December 31 of the respective year.
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WE OFFER
PERSPECTIVES

WHAT REALLY MAKES
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
STAND OUT? CERTAINLY, ONE
THING THAT PARTICULARLY
MOTIVATES US IS OUR
PATIENTS' QUALITY OF LIFE.

IN ADDITION, WE OFFER OUR
EMPLOYEES OPPORTUNITIES
TO DEVELOP. ADD TO THIS THE
FACT THAT WE DO NOT STAND
STILL WHEN IT COMES TO
IMPROVING OUR PROCESSES
AND ATTAINING RESPONSIBLE
TARGETS. AND, OF COURSE,
A COMBINATION OF ALL THESE
THINGS.
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FOR
PATIENTS

We offer reliable dialysis services, ever better products at a high technical level,
a wealth of medical expertise and even greater compassion
to patients who still expect a lot from life, even with this chronic disease.
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FOR
EMPLOYEES

A strong employer provides security. A strong employer like
Fresenius Medical Care also offers its employees wide-ranging opportunities for personal
development, not just in their current position. And it does this in a company where
employees are aware of their responsibility, use their freedom and work with passion
toward a common goal.
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FOR
THE COMPANY

We can do even better. That is why we are constantly working to simplify and
harmonize the processes at all our sites, and to find the perfect balance between
central management and decentralized service at the local level.
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FOR
SHAREHOLDERS

We target our investments so that they pay off both for the Company
and our shareholders. Furthermore, we only cut costs when this
does not compromise quality. At a time of growing cost pressure in healthcare
systems, we are aware of our responsibility, creating added value
for customers, investors, and patients.
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BY COMBINING ALL
THESE ASPECTS IN THE
BEST POSSIBLE WAY,

WE PROVIDE A WIDE RANGE
OF PERSPECTIVES BOTH
INSIDE AND OUTSIDE THE
COMPANY FOR A SECURE,
PROMISING FUTURE.

R/ TV
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OUR VISION

CREATING A FUTURE
WORTH LIVING.
FOR DIALYSIS PATIENTS.
WORLDWIDE. EVERY DAY.

More than three decades of experience in dialysis, innovative
research, the global leader in dialysis services and products —
that is Fresenius Medical Care.

Patients with kidney disease can now look ahead with much
more confidence thanks to our innovative technologies
and treatment concepts. We give them a future, one that offers
them the best-possible quality of life. We use the increasing
demand for modern dialysis methods to our advantage and
work consistently to enhance the Company’s growth. Together
with our employees, we focus on pursuing strategies that will
enable us to uphold our technological leadership. As a vertically
integrated company, we offer products and services for the
entire dialysis value chain.

The highest medical standards are our benchmark. This is our
commitment to our patients, our partners in the healthcare
system and our investors, who trust in the reliable performance
and the future of Fresenius Medical Care.
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CHAPTER 1.1

Interview with Rice Powell

12 MONTHS - 12 QUESTIONS

In this interview, Rice Powell looks back on his first twelve months as

Ceo of Fresenius Medical Care. He talks about what the Company has

achieved in 2013, how the dialysis market has developed, and Fresenius
Medical Care’s strategic and financial perspectives.
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INTERVIEW WITH RICE POWELL

1

2013 WAS THE FIRST YEAR UNDER YOUR
STEWARDSHIP. HAVE YOUR EXPECTATIONS
BEEN FULFILLED?

Yes, they have. | certainly could have wished for a
smoother start, but that's not something I could in-
fluence. The situation in 2013 was difficult, both in
operational terms and as a result of the seemingly
endless discussions about legislation concerning the
adjustment process for reimbursement in the u.s.
Even so, things ultimately worked out well for
Fresenius Medical Care, at least with regard to oper-
ations. We had to specify our earnings target range
more precisely in the course of the year, and made it
clear that we were likely to be at the lower end of
this range. We managed that, and continued on our
growth path. Consolidated revenue rose by 6%, set-
ting a new record of $14.61 billion. Our net income
for 2013 amounted to $1.11 billion. As we posted spe-
cial income in the previous year, that meant a 6%
reduction in net income in 2013. Adjusted for this
effect, earnings would have increased by 6%.

2

DOES THAT MEAN THAT SHAREHOLDERS
SHOULD EXPECT A LOWER DIVIDEND IF
REPORTED EARNINGS FELL BY 6 %?

No. As we normally aim for profit-oriented dividend
growth, we should be proposing a dividend reduc-
tion to the Annual General Meeting. However, we
won’t be doing that. Instead, we will deviate from
our actual dividend policy, and intend to propose to
the Annual General Meeting a dividend increase of
3% to €0.77 per share despite the reported decrease
in earnings. Subject to a corresponding resolution,
our shareholders can look forward to a dividend in-
crease for the 17" consecutive time.

3

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE’S SHARE PRICE
PERFORMED RATHER MODERATELY
IN 2013. WHY DO YOU THINK THAT IS?

It's true that our share price failed to keep pace with
the strong performance of the DAX last year. That is
partly down to the nature of things, as investors
don't necessarily invest in defensive stocks like ours
when markets are on the rise. But on the other
hand,it is particularly due to the protracted discus-
sions | mentioned earlier about cutting the reim-
bursement rates for dialysis treatments in the u.s.,
which is such a crucial market for us. For a long time,
it was not clear to our investors how much reim-
bursement changes would affect our Company. The
final decisions hit us hard, and will significantly
impact our earnings growth again at least in 2014.
Despite this, | am confident that we have achieved a
strategic position for the Company that will allow us
to successfully continue on our growth path and
increase Fresenius Medical Care’s corporate value in
the longer term. However, for this to be possible
under the current conditions, a great deal of effort
and a far-reaching focus on being as efficient as we
can possibly be, is required. But one thing is certain:
This must not affect the quality of our products and
services.

“Our consolidated
revenue rose by 6%, setting
a new record
of $14.61 billion.”

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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INTERVIEW WITH RICE POWELL

“Although 2014 will not be an
easy year for Fresenius Medical Care,
| feel positive about the way we
are developing. Our business is built
on strong foundations: In 2013
alone, we performed more than
40 million dialysis treatments
at our 3,250 proprietary centers
worldwide.”

4

YOU MENTIONED REDUCTIONS
IN THE REIMBURSEMENT RATES FOR
DIALYSIS TREATMENTS. WHAT EXACTLY
DOES THIS MEAN?

The legal environment in which healthcare and reim-
bursement systems are embedded is particularly im-
portant to our Company. In many markets, these
conditions remained largely unchanged in 2013.
However, we are also increasingly operating in an
environment in which inflation and rising costs are
not adequately taken into account in reimbursement
rates. For instance, last year, our business in the
u.S. was negatively impacted by the automatic 2%
budget cuts to reduce the government debt, as
these cuts also affected the reimbursement rates re-
garding dialysis treatment for state-insured patients.
This is even more of a financial blow, as several pa-
rameters of this system were changed with effect
from January 1, 2014. Consequently, although the re-
imbursement rate will be at a similar level in 2014 and
2015 compared with 2013, it will no longer cover the
increase in treatment costs caused by inflation.

5

WHAT WILL FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE’S
FORECAST BE FOR THE 2014 FINANCIAL
YEAR AS A RESULT OF THIS?

I think | have made it clear that 2014 holds particu-
lar challenges for us, which is why we envisage
only moderate growth. In the current financial year,
we expect to generate revenue of around $15.2 bil-
lion. That would correspond to a 4% increase com-
pared with the reporting year. Net income is likely
to total $1.00 billion to $1.05 billion in 2014, 5 t0 10%
below the figure for 2013. We have initiated a
global efficiency program to further boost our prof-
itability in the years ahead. Potential cost savings
from this are not taken into account in the outlook
for the 2014 financial year. We plan to spend around
$1.3 billion on capital expenditures and acquisitions
in 2014.

6

DOES THIS DEVELOPMENT GIVE ANY
CAUSE FOR CONCERN?

Although 2014 will not be an easy year for Fresenius
Medical Care, | feel positive about the way we are
developing. Our business is built on strong founda-
tions: In 2013 alone, we performed more than 40 mil-
lion dialysis treatments at our 3,250 proprietary cen-
ters worldwide; more than half of all dialysis machines
and almost half of all dialyzers sold worldwide in the
reporting year were made by Fresenius Medical Care.
We will have to look carefully at where and how we
invest and how to become even more efficient.
Moreover, we will need to work even harder in future
to develop innovative approaches for the holistic
care of dialysis patients. That is the only way to mas-
ter the challenges we face in the future.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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INTERVIEW WITH RICE POWELL

7

DOES THIS ALSO INVOLVE A
CHANGE OF DIRECTION IN
THE COMPANY'S STRATEGY?

Continuously improving the quality of life of people
with chronic kidney failure is and will always be a
key pillar of our strategy. The number of dialysis
patients worldwide is constantly growing. However,
at the same time, there is an increasing shortage
of public funds to provide care for them. It is not
enough to merely react to changes. We need to play
an even more active part in shaping change.
Fresenius Medical Care has the expertise to do this.
As a provider of high-quality dialysis products and
services, we can develop innovative solutions to de-
liver holistic care for patients in conjunction with our
partners in the healthcare industry. As well as doing
our part toward boosting treatment quality even
more, this enables us to contribute towards achiev-
ing a long-term reduction in treatment costs.

8

WHAT FORM MIGHT THESE INNOVATIVE
SOLUTIONS TAKE? DO YOU HAVE ANY
SPECIFIC IDEAS YET?

Different structures and systems require different
solutions. To be able to provide holistic care to pa-
tients with chronic kidney failure, it is very important
to consider all aspects of their care and to forge
close links between all those involved in providing
treatment. With this in mind, we have started a net-
work of dialysis-related services such as vascular
access and our own pharmacy to serve our patients
in the u.s., which we plan to expand in the future.
We also see potential for this holistic care approach
outside the u.s., along with the systematic expansion
of our portfolio with effective services for optimum
holistic care.

9

WHAT OTHER MEASURES ARE
IN THE PIPELINE FOR POSITIONING
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE IN
LINE WITH MARKET DEVELOPMENTS?

One of Fresenius Medical Care’s key strengths is our
proximity to our patients and the widely varying
markets, as well as our in-depth knowledge of their
different requirements. However, to an increasing
extent, there are areas where we aim to converge
even more closely to create further synergies. Conse-
quently, in 2013, we reorganized the Research and
Development department and created a new posi-
tion on the Management Board to account for this.
The aim is to bundle our global research and devel-
opment activities and promote technology exchange
between the regions in an even more targeted man-
ner. We also intend to examine and consistently im-
prove the efficiency of our processes and structures
throughout the entire Group. Most importantly,
these steps must enable us to permanently
strengthen Fresenius Medical Care’s position and
thus have an impact beyond 2014. And, as | said ear-
lier, they must not affect the high quality of our
products and services. | am confident that on this
basis, Fresenius Medical Care will remain a reliable
partner.

“Continuously improving
the quality of life of people with
chronic kidney failure is
and will always be a key pillar
of our strategy.”

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



INTERVIEW WITH RICE POWELL

“Every change means
uncertainty at first. However,
to achieve success, it is
important to regard these changes
as an opportunity.”

10

WHAT DO YOU MISS IN
YOUR NEW POST?

Nothing. On the contrary, | have gained a huge
amount here, and in the last twelve months have
had the opportunity to get to know lots of great
people all over the world. I really enjoy that.

11

WHAT ARE YOUR PERSONAL
IMPRESSIONS OF 2013?
WHAT PARTICULARLY IMPRESSED YOU?

I've been working for Fresenius Medical Care for over
17 years now, and it's a year since | took on my new
role as CE0. Heading a company like Fresenius Medical
Care makes me proud, and | see it both as a motiva-
tion and an obligation. | am well aware of the impor-
tance of my role and the great responsibility that
| bear for our 90,690 employees. Their passion and
the commitment with which they overcame the chal-
lenges last year impressed me a lot. Therefore, on
behalf of the entire Management Board, | would like
to take this opportunity to say a big thank-you to all
our employees for their hard work.

12

AND FINALLY, ONE LAST QUESTION:
WHY IS THE 2013 ANNUAL REPORT
ENTITLED “PERSPECTIVES"?

Fresenius Medical Care offers a lot of perspectives,
especially for dialysis patients, who are our top pri-
ority and for whom we are creating a future worth
living for every single day. That is what we aspire to.
But we have also chosen the title “Perspectives” to
emphasize that in a challenging and changing mar-
ket environment, we see a lot of perspectives for
Fresenius Medical Care to continue on its growth
path and generate value for the Company in the
long term. Every change means uncertainty at first.
However, to achieve success, it is important to re-
gard these changes as an opportunity. We need to
set the right priorities. | am aware that our share-
holders rightly have high expectations of us. We are
working hard to meet them, and also to position our
Company in the future so that we can capture the
opportunities available to us.

“Heading a company like
Fresenius Medical Care makes me
proud, and | see it both as a
motivation and an obligation. | am
well aware of the importance
of my role and the great responsibil-
ity that | bear for
our 90,690 employees.”

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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CHAPTER 1.2

Management Board

Our Management Board currently consists of eight members.
The international composition and the varied responsibilities reflect our
global operations.

RICE POWELL
Chairman

Rice Powell (58) is Chief Executive Officer and Chair-
man of the Management Board effective January 1,
2013. Prior to that, he was Vice Chairman of the Man-
agement Board and Member of the Management
Board responsible for the region North America from
2010 to 2012. He joined Fresenius Medical Care in 1997
and was appointed to the Company’s Management
Board and Co-Ce0 of Fresenius Medical Care North
America in January 2004. He has over 30 years of ex-
perience in the healthcare industry. From 1978 to 1996,
he held various positions, among others at Baxter
International Inc. and Biogen Inc. in the u.s.

MICHAEL BROSNAN
Finance

Michael Brosnan (58) was appointed Chief Financial
Officer on January 1, 2010. Previously, he served as Chief
Financial Officer of Fresenius Medical Care North
America for seven years. He joined the Company in
1998 as Vice President of Finance and Administration
for Spectra Renal Management, the Company's labo-
ratory services organization. Subsequently, he as-
sumed several executive functions at Fresenius
Medical Care North America. Prior to joining the
Company, he held senior financial positions at Polaroid
Corporation and was an audit partner at KPMG.

ROBERTO FUSTE
Asia-Pacific
Roberto Fusté (61) is Chief Executive Officer for Asia-
Pacific. After completing his studies in Economic
Sciences at the University of Valencia, Spain, he
founded the company Nephrocontrol s.A. in 1983.
After Nephrocontrol was acquired by the Fresenius
Group in 1991, he held several senior positions within
the Company in the Latin America and Asia-Pacific
regions, among others. He was appointed to the
Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care in 1999.

DR. EMANUELE GATTI

Europe, Middle-East, Africa and Latin America,
and Global Chief Strategist

Dr.Emanuele Gatti (58) is Chief Executive Officer for
Europe, Middle East, Africa and Latin America
(EMEALA). He is also Global Chief Strategist. After
completing his studies in Bioengineering, he lectured
at several biomedical institutions in Milan. He contin-
ues to be involved in research and development activ-
ities, including the Danube University in Krems,
Austria, at which he holds a position as honorary sen-
ator. Emanuele Gatti has been with Fresenius Medical
Care since 1989. Before being appointed to the
Company’s Management Board in 1997, he was respon-
sible for its dialysis business in Southern Europe.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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RONALD KUERBITZ
North America

Ronald Kuerbitz (54) is Chief Executive Officer for
North America effective January 1, 2013. He joined
Fresenius Medical Care in 1997 and served recently as
Executive Vice President for Market Development and
Administration for Fresenius Medical Care North
America. He has more than 20 years of experience
in the health care field, having held positions in
law, compliance, business development, government
affairs and operations. He is a graduate of Albion
College and received his juris doctor degree from the
Yale Law School.

DR. RAINER RUNTE

Global Law, Compliance, Intellectual Property, Corporate Business
Development, and Labor Relations Director Germany

Dr.Rainer Runte (54) is Member of the Management
Board responsible for Global Law, Compliance, Intel-
lectual Property and Corporate Business Develop-
ment. He has also been appointed Labor Relations
Director for Germany. He has worked for the Fresenius
Group for more than 20 years. In 1997, he assumed the
position of Senior Vice President for Law at
Fresenius Medical Care and was appointed to the
Management Board in 2002. Before joining the
Company, he worked as a scientific assistant in the
law department of Goethe University in Frankfurt and
as an attorney in a firm specialized in economic law.

DR. OLAF SCHERMEIER
Research and Development

Dr.Olaf Schermeier (41) was appointed Chief Execu-
tive Officer for Global Research and Development on
March 1, 2013. Previously, he served as president of
global rR&D for Draeger Medical, Libeck, Germany.
Dr.Schermeier has many years of experience in vari-
ous areas of the health care industry, among others at
Charité-clinic and Biotronik, Germany. He holds a
doctorate degree (PhD) in Computer Science from
the Technical University of Berlin, Germany and grad-
uated from the University of Hannover, Germany in
Electrical Engineering.

KENT WANZEK

Production
Kent Wanzek (54) was appointed Chief Executive
Officer for Global Manufacturing Operations on Janu-
ary 1, 2010. From 2004 onwards, he was in charge of
North American operations for the Renal Therapies
Group at Fresenius Medical Care North America. Prior
to joining the Company in 2003, he held several senior
executive positions at Philips Medical Systems, Perkin
Elmer, and Baxter Healthcare Corporation, among
others.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



CHAPTER 1.3

Report of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA dealt
in the financial year 2013 again intensively with questions of the effects of the
change to the cost reimbursement system in the u.s., with the expansion of
the present business, with possibilities to expand business activities to include
adjacent business areas and with questions of research and development. In
addition to other topics, the further improvement of efficiency of production
and service and cost-saving measures were discussed with the Management
Board of the General Partner. The Supervisory Board also considered the
conversion of the remaining preference shares into ordinary shares resolved
on by the shareholders in May 2013 and the conduct of the share buyback
program initiated in the financial year 2013.

Details
The Supervisory Board, in the expired financial year
2013, again dealt extensively with the situation and
the perspectives of the Company and with various
special issues and undertook the duties imposed on
it by the law, the Articles of Association, the rules of
procedure and the German Corporate Governance
Code. We regularly advised the Management Board
of the General Partner, Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG (Management), on the management of

the Company and supervised the management
within our responsibility as the Supervisory Board
of the partnership limited by shares. The manage-
ment informed us in written and oral reports regu-
larly, promptly and comprehensively about all sig-
nificant questions of business policy and the
Company planning and strategy, the progress of
transactions, on acquisitions, the profitability and
liquidity, the situation of the Company and the
Group and the risk situation and risk management.
These and all business issues significant for the
Company were discussed by us on the basis of re-
ports of the Management Board of the General
Partner in the committees and in full session com-
prehensively. The strategic direction of the Company
was also discussed with the Management Board of
the General Partner. In accordance with the pro-
cedure in previous years, we again reviewed the
economic development of acquisitions of the previ-
ous years and compared them with the planning
and prognoses at the time of each acquisition. The
Supervisory Board passed resolutions within the
scope of its responsibilities under statute and under
the Articles of Association.

Meetings

In the financial year 2013, five meetings — some of
which extended to more than one day — of the Su-
pervisory Board and several telephone conferences
took place. No Supervisory Board Member attended
less than half of the meetings. Between the meet-
ings, written reports were provided. The Chairman of
the Supervisory Board also maintained close contact
with the Management Board of the General Partner
between the meetings.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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Focus of the discussions in the Supervisory Board
In the expired financial year 2013, the Supervisory
Board dealt again with the changed provisions of
the reimbursement system in the u.s. and with their
effects on the Company. The decisions now made
by the responsible u.s. authority indicate a frame-
work for state reimbursement in the u.s. for the
medium-term. The Supervisory Board consulted
with the Management Board of the General Partner
a number of times on this issue. The developments
in reimbursement systems outside the u.s. were
also discussed.

The business development, the competitive situation
and the planning of the Management Board in the
respective regions were again at the centre of the dis-
cussions. The Supervisory Board has been informed
about the planning of the Company to improve the
cost situation.

The Supervisory Board informed itself about the
quality assurance systems and the qualitative results
of the various production facilities and together with
the Management Board discussed the anticipated
guantitative development in the existing facilities
and their expansion. The Supervisory Board also dis-
cussed with the Management Board lawsuits filed
and anticipated to be filed by plaintiffs in the u.s. al-
leging generally that inadequate labeling and warn-
ings for two acid concentrate products (NaturalLyte®
and Granuflo®) caused harm to patients.

The financing of the Company was again intensively
discussed. The Supervisory Board also discussed the
execution of the share buyback program and agreed
thereto after comprehensive discussion with the
Management Board of the General Partner.

At the ordinary general meeting 2013, it was decided
to convert all remaining preference shares of the
Company into ordinary shares. The Supervisory
Board was intensively involved in this process.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
Prof. Dr. Fahrholz, Mr. Johnston, Dr.Krick und Dr.
Weisman were Members of the Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee. The Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee, under the chairmanship of
Dr. Walter L. Weisman (independent financial expert

according to section100 ss.5 German Stock Corpora-
tion Act) held a total of five meetings and a number
of telephone conferences in the year under report. It
dealt with the annual and consolidated financial
statements, the proposal for the application of profit
and the form 20-F report for the American Securities
and Exchange Commission (SeC). The Audit and Cor-
porate Governance Committee also discussed each
quarterly report with the management. It also satis-
fied itself as to the independence of the auditor of
the annual and consolidated financial statements, in-
structed him to undertake the audit, concluded the
fee agreement with him and discussed and deter-
mined with him the focuses of the audit. The Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee also discussed
the compliance of the Company, in particular com-
munications received by the Company alleging cer-
tain conduct in certain countries outside the u.s. and
Germany that may violate the u.s. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA) or other anti-bribery laws. The
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee is con-
ducting an internal review with assistance of outside
counsel retained for such purpose, which also cov-
ered the internal control processes. It is anticipated
that the Audit and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee will continue to deal with the progress of this in-
vestigation in the current year since at the end of the
year under report no final results were available.

Representatives of the auditor attended all meet-
ings of the Audit and Corporate Governance Com-
mittee and several telephone conferences and
reported thereby on their auditing and the audit
review of the quarterly financial statements and, in
the absence of Members of the Management Board
of the General Partner, on the cooperation with
them. The representatives of the auditor also re-
ported on the significant results of their audit and
were also available for additional information.

The accounting process, the effectiveness of the in-
ternal control system, of the risk management sys-
tem and of the internal audit system, as well as the
audit were discussed several times in the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee. KPMG AG Wirt-
schaftsprufungsgesellschaft reviewed, in the course
of the audit, the internal control and risk manage-
ment system in relation to the accounting process
and the establishment of the early risk recognition

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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system and raised no objections thereto. The Man-
agement Board of the General Partner provided pe-
riodic reports on larger individual risks. The Manage-
ment Board of the General Partner also informed the
committee regularly i.e. at all ordinary meetings of
the Audit and Corporate Government Committee
and sometimes in telephone conferences on the
compliance situation of the Company. In addition,
the head of internal audit reported at regular inter-
vals to the committee.

In 2013, the Audit and Corporate Governance Com-
mittee again dealt with the internal control system of
the Company in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act (Sox 404). The Company received on February 25,
2014 an unqualified audit certificate of kPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Berlin, for the im-
plementation of the regulations of sox 404 in the fi-
nancial year 2013.

The legal and business relations of the Company to
Fresenius SE & Co.KGaA and/or its affiliates were
again subject matter of the reviews of the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee. It was possible
to confirm in each case that the relationships corre-
sponded to those “at arms’ length”.

The results of the discussions and resolutions of the
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee were
reported by its chairman to the Supervisory Board in
each case.

Joint Committee
The Joint Committee, the approval of which is re-
quired for certain important transactions and certain
transactions between the Company and Fresenius
SE & Co. KGaA and/or its affiliates, convened twice in
2013. The subject of both meetings of the Joint Com-
mittee was consideration of the approval of two
contracts concluded by the Company or its Group
Companies with group companies of Fresenius
SE& Co.KGaA. One of these contracts concerned IT
services and the other the supply of various products
in particular in the area of plasma collection. The
Joint Committee after detailed debate respectively
decided unanimously to approve these contracts. In
accordance with section13e ss. 2 of the Articles of As-
sociation, the Joint Committee will report to the An-
nual General Meeting on its activity. The comprehen-
sive report of the Joint Committee thereon is accessible

on the website of the Company from the time of the
convening of the Annual General Meeting.

For the General Partner, its Supervisory Board Mem-
bers Dr. UIf M. Schneider and Dr. Gerd Krick are del-
egated to the Joint Committee of the Company and
for Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co KGaA, Dr. Walter
L. Weisman and Mr. William P.Johnston are elected
to the Joint Committee.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee of the Company, the
members of which in the year under report were
Dr. Gerd Krick (Chairman), Dr. Walter L. Weisman and
Dr. Dieter Schenk, prepares personnel proposals of
the Supervisory Board and proposes to the Supervi-
sory Board of the Company suitable candidates for
its election proposals to the general meeting. In the
year under report, the Nomination Committee did
not meet as there was no requirement for it to do so.

Ad-hoc Committee in connection with

the conversion of the remaining preference
shares into ordinary shares.
The ordinary general meeting of May 16, 2013 and the
special meeting of the preference shareholders of
the same date decided, inter alia, to convert the re-
maining preference shares into ordinary shares and
in this connection to adjust the conditional capital
pursuant to section4 ss.5 of the Articles of Associa-
tion. With regard to the registration of the conver-
sion of the preference shares into ordinary shares
and the adjustment of the conditional capital in the
Commercial Register, the shareholders had autho-
rised the Supervisory Board to up-date and/or re-
place, in the course of the registration notification to
the Commercial Register, the figures and amounts
not yet finally determined at the time of the relevant
resolution. On the basis of these authorisations,
the Supervisory Board formed, by resolution of
June 10, 2013 passed in the circulation procedure, a
temporary Ad-hoc Committee which, on June 24, 2013,
conducted the above described up-dating and/or re-
placement.

The Ad-hoc Committee consisted of Dr. Dieter
Schenk (Chairman), Dr. Gerd Krick and Prof. Dr. Bernd
Fahrholz. In the financial year, the Ad-hoc Commit-
tee held one telephone conference.
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Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board again reviewed the efficiency
of its work and also dealt with the exchange of in-
formation between the Management Board of the
General Partner and the Supervisory Board (includ-
ing regular information from the Management
Board on new developments in corporate gover-
nance and compliance) and between the Super-
visory Board and the Audit and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee. No objections arose in the course
thereof.

The Supervisory Board Members Classon, Johnston,
Dr. Krick, Dr.Schenk and Dr. Weisman are also Mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board of the General Partner,
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG. The Super-
visory Board Members Dr.Krick and Dr.Schenk are
also members of the supervisory board of Fresenius
Management St (Dr. Krick as chairman and Dr. Schenk
as vice chairman) which acts as general partner of
Fresenius SE & Co.KGaA which holds approximately
31.3% of the shares of the Company and all shares in
its General Partner, Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG. Dr.Krick is also a member (chairman) of
the supervisory board of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA.

Consultancy or other service relationships between
Supervisory Board Members and the Company apply
in the year under report only to Dr. Dieter Schenk
who is also partner in the law firm Noerr LLP; compa-
nies of the internationally operating law firm Noerr
provided legal advice to Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA and affiliated companies. In the
year under report, Fresenius Medical Care paid ap-
proximately €1.0 M (plus VAT) to the law firm Noerr or
in December 2013 gave instructions for such pay-
ment (2012: approximately €1.4M). This is less than
2% of the legal and consultancy costs paid by
Fresenius Medical Care worldwide. Concerning the
amount paid or processed for payment in the year
under report, it does not include payments which
have been executed in the year under report, but
had been instructed for payment in 2012 and had
therefore been reported for fiscal year 2012 already.
The Supervisory Board (and the Supervisory Board of
the General Partner) approved the engagement and
the payments after presentation of detailed informa-
tion thereon and following the recommendation of
the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee by

resolution accordingly, in each case with Dr. Schenk
abstaining. Payments were only effected after the
respective approvals of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board found that it and its
committees have, in its opinion, an adequate num-
ber of independent members.

At its meeting on December 3, 2013, the Supervisory
Board discussed and resolved on the Company's
declaration of compliance under section 161 Stock Cor-
poration Act on the German Corporate Governance
Code. The version of the declaration of compliance
of December 2013 as it appears at present perma-
nently accessible on the website of the Company
applies. The deviations from the recommendations
of the Code refer firstly to the (absence of) reference
to or setting of an age limit for Members of the
Management Board of the General Partner and the
lack of setting concrete objectives regarding the
composition of the Supervisory Board and, when
making recommendations to the competent elec-
tion bodies, take these objectives into account and
reporting on their implementation. Since that would
unduly limit the selection of qualified candidates for
the Management Board and as the composition of
the Supervisory Board needs to be aligned to the
Company's interest and has to ensure the effective
supervision and consultation of the Management
Board, it is a matter of principle and of prime impor-
tance that each member is suitably qualified. When
discussing its recommendations to the competent
election bodies, the Supervisory Board will take into
account the international activities of the Company,
potential conflicts of interest, the number of inde-
pendent Supervisory Board Members within the
meaning of Code number 5.4.2, and diversity. This
includes the aim to establish an appropriate female
representation on a long-term basis. In order, how-
ever, not to limit the selection of qualified candi-
dates in a general way in the interest of the Com-
pany, the Supervisory Board confines itself to a
general declaration of intent and particularly refrains
from fixed diversity quotas and from an age limit.
Furthermore, the employment contracts of the
Members of the Management Board of the General
Partner do not contain severance payment arrange-
ments for the reasons stated in the Company’s dec-
laration of compliance. The Company also deviates
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from the recommendations of the Code newly intro-
duced in 2013 to the extent that these recommenda-
tions relate to caps on compensation components
for the Management Board and to the presentation
of the compensation for each individual Member of
the Management Board in the compensation report
by using corresponding model tables. The perfor-
mance-oriented short-term compensation (the vari-
able bonus) is capped. As regards stock options and
phantom stocks as compensation elements with
long-term incentives, the service agreements with
Members of the Management Board do provide for
a possibility of limitation but not for caps regarding
specific amounts. Introducing caps regarding spe-
cific amounts in relation to such stock-based com-
pensation elements would contradict the basic idea
of the Members of the Management Board partici-
pating appropriately in the economic opportunities
and risks of the Company. Instead of that,
Fresenius Medical Care pursues a flexible concept
considering each individual case. In situations of ex-
traordinary developments in relation to the stock-
based compensation which are not related to the
performance of the Management Board, the Super-
visory Board may cap the stock-based compensation.
Since Fresenius Medical Care does not provide for
caps regarding specific amounts for all compensa-
tion elements and, therefore, does not provide for
caps regarding specific amounts for the overall com-
pensation, the presentation of Management Board
remuneration in the compensation report cannot
meet all recommendations of the Code in the future.

The corporate governance report of the General
Partner and of the Supervisory Board together with
the declaration on corporate governance according
to section 289a Commercial Code are on pages 128 ff. of
the annual report. The declaration on corporate
governance for the year under report was discussed
by the Supervisory Board and approved at its meet-
ing of March 12, 2014.

Annual and consolidated
financial statements
The annual financial statements of Fresenius Medical
Care AG& Co.KGaA and the annual management
report were prepared in accordance with the re-
gulations of the German Commercial Code, the

consolidated financial statements and consolidated
management report under section315a German Com-
mercial Code in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFrRs) as applicable in the
European Union. The accountancy, the annual finan-
cial statements and the annual management report
of Fresenius Medical Care AG& Co.KGaA and the
consolidated financial statements and consolidated
annual management report of Fresenius Medical
Care AG&Co.KGaA, in each case for the financial
year 2013, were audited by kPMG AG Wirtschaftspru-
fungsgesellschaft, Berlin which was elected as audi-
tor by resolution of the Annual General Meeting of
May 16, 2013 and instructed by the Audit and Corpo-
rate Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board.
The said documents each carry an unqualified certifi-
cate. The audit reports of the auditor were available
to the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
and to the Supervisory Board. The Audit and Corpo-
rate Governance Committee, taking account of the
audit reports of the auditor of the annual and consol-
idated financial statements and the discussions with
him, reviewed the annual and consolidated financial
statements and annual management reports and re-
ported to the Supervisory Board thereon.

The Supervisory Board also reviewed the annual finan-
cial statements, the annual management report and
the proposal for the application of profit and the
consolidated financial statements and consolidated
annual management report in each case for the
financial year 2013. The documents were provided to
it in good time. The Supervisory Board declared its
agreement to the result of the audit of the annual
financial statements and the consolidated financial
statements by the auditor. The representatives of the
auditor of the annual and consolidated financial
statements who signed the audit reports also partic-
ipated in the discussions of the Supervisory Board of
the annual and consolidated financial statements, re-
ported on the significant results of the audit and
were available for additional information. No objec-
tions are to be raised by the Supervisory Board to the
annual financial statements and the annual manage-
ment report of the Company or to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated annual
management report even after the final results of its
own review.
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At its meeting on February 24, 2014, the Supervisory
Board discussed the draft of the report according to
form 20-F for filing with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), which contains, inter alia, the
consolidated financial statements and the consoli-
dated annual management report in accordance
with the “u.s. Generally Accepted Accounting Princi-
ples”, (u.s. GAAP) with the u.s. dollar as the report-
ing currency. At its meeting on March 12, 2014, the
Supervisory Board approved the annual financial
statements and annual management report of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.KGaA for 2013 pre-
sented to it by the General Partner. The declaration
on corporate governance for the reporting year 2013
was also a subject at that meeting and approved.
At its meeting of March 12, 2014, the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated annual
management report were also approved by the Su-
pervisory Board. The Supervisory Board further ap-
proved the General Partner’s proposal for the appli-
cation of profit which provides for a dividend of
€0.77 for each ordinary share.

Dependency report

The General Partner, Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG, prepared a report on the relationships to
affiliates in accordance with section 312 Stock Corpo-
ration Act for the financial year 2013. The report con-
tains the final declaration of the General Partner that
the Company, in accordance with the circumstances
known to the General Partner at the time at which
the transaction was undertaken or the measures
taken or omitted, received reasonable consideration
for each transaction and was not disadvantaged by
the conduct of the measures or their omission.

The Supervisory Board and the Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee received the report in good
time and reviewed it. The auditor participated in the
relevant discussions, reported on the main results of
his audit and was available for additional informa-
tion. The Supervisory Board and the Audit and Cor-
porate Governance Committee share the view of the
auditor who added the following certificate to that
report on February 25, 2014:

“In accordance with our conscientious audit and as-
sessment, we confirm that (1) the statements of fact

in the report are correct, (2) the consideration of the
Company in the course of the transactions listed in
the report was not unreasonably high, ) the mea-
sures listed in the report are not the occasion for an
assessment substantially different from that of the
General Partner”.

According to the final result of the review by the
Supervisory Board also, no objections to the declara-
tion of the General Partner at the foot of the report
on the relationships to affiliates are to be raised.

Composition of the Management Board
of the General Partner

As already reported last year, the Supervisory Board
of the General Partner appointed the former vice
chairman of the Management Board Mr. Rice Powell
as chairman of the Management Board with effect
from January 1, 2013 in succession to Dr. Lipps. Like-
wise with effect from January 1, 2013, Mr.Ronald
Kuerbitz was nominated as a Member of the Man-
agement Board for the region of North America.
Dr.Olaf Schermeier was appointed as an ordinary
Member of the Management Board of Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG for research and de-
velopment with effect from March 1, 2013.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Members of the
Management Board of the General Partner as well
as all employees for their commitment and for the
successful work performed in 2013.

Bad Homburg v.d.H., March 12, 2014
The Supervisory Board

Aﬁ'_%
DR. GERD KRICK

Chairman
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Capital market and shares

Fresenius Medical Care’s share price saw muted development over the
past financial year. In a positive overall market environment, it closed the year
at the same level at which it opened it. The sustained debate on reimburse-
ment cuts for dialysis treatment in our most important market, the u.s.,
and elsewhere had an adverse effect on our share price performance and led
to pronounced share price fluctuations. Despite this, we are confident that
we have positioned the Company strategically in such a way that will allow us
to successfully continue on our growth path and increase the shareholder
value of Fresenius Medical Care in the longer term.

STOCK MARKET ON THE UPSWING PERFORMANCE OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL
CARE’S SHARE PRICE MUTED

The financial markets continued to be affected by

the international sovereign debt crisis at the begin-  Looking only at Fresenius Medical Care’s share price
ning of 2013. However, growing confidence in eco-  at the start and end of 2013, it seems to have been a
nomic development provided a boost to the stock calm and uneventful year: The closing price of €51.73
markets from the start of the second quarter of 2013 at year-end 2013 was largely unchanged compared
onwards. Robust corporate figures and a further im-  with the previous year. But this impression is mis-
provement in the economic outlook led to a steady leading: Our share price saw considerable move-
upturn in the German DAX index, which closed the ment over the course of the year.

year at 9,552 points, up 25% on the end of the pre-

vious year. Further information on the performance Fresenius Medical Care’s shares recorded their high
of the world’s leading stock indices can be found for the year on April 4, 2013 (€55.60) and their low on

in table 1.4.1. October 10, 2013 (€47.00). Significant factors influencing
— T.1.4.1 Stock indices/shares
Country/
region 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 Change High Low
DAX GER 7,612 9,552 25% 9,589 7,460
Dow Jones U.S. 13,104 16,577 26% 16,577 13,104
Nikkei JP 10,395 16,291 57% 16,291 10,395
CAC FR 3,641 4,296 18% 4,321 3,596
FTSE GB 5,898 6,749 14% 6,840 5,898
DJ EURO STOXX 50 EUR 2,636 3,109 18% 3,111 2,512
DJ EURO STOXX Healthcare EUR 488 587 20% 587 488
Fresenius Medical Care ordinary shares in € GER 52.31 51.73 -1% 55.60 47.00
Fresenius Medical Care ADR in $ us. 34.30 35.58 4% 36.07 31.02

Source: Reuters data, own calculations
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the development of our share price in 2013 included
the debate on reimbursement cuts for dialysis treat-
ment in our most important market, the u.s., and
elsewhere.

Our share price performance was initially affected by
the u.s. budget cuts (sequestration) that came into
force in March 2013, which also led to cuts in re-
imbursements in the dialysis sector. In the second
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quarter of 2013 in particular, the proposal by the re-
sponsible authority cms (Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services) to lower the reimbursement rate
for the dialysis treatment of state-insured patients by
a greater margin than expected from 2014 onwards
had a massive impact on our share price. However,
this recovered substantially in the fourth quarter on
the back of the final announcement of a less dra-
matic reduction in the basic reimbursement rate.

— C.1.4.2 Index and share price performance,
indexed December 31, 2012 -December 31, 2013
in %
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Jan. Feb. March April May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.
130
120 /_P

Y\

110
100 \ (}
90
80

= fresenius Medical Care ordinary share (€)
Source: Reuters data, own calculations

Fresenius Medical Care ADR (S) —— DAX

—— DJ Euro Stoxx Healthcare

— C.1.4.3 Index and share price performance on a ten-year comparison,
indexed December 31, 2003 — December 31, 2013
in %
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
340
280
220
160 /\/v\/\/\
100
40
= fresenius Medical Care ordinary share (€) —— DAX —— Dow Jones Industrial Average (DJIA)

Source: Reuters data, own calculations
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A long-term comparison underlines the strength of
Fresenius Medical Care’s shares: Over the past ten
years, the Company’s share price has roughly tre-
bled. An investor seeking long-term growth who
invested €10,000 in Fresenius Medical Care shares
ten years ago and reinvested the dividends would
have had €27,516 in their account as of December 31,
2013. This corresponds to an average annual rate of
return of around 11%. Over the same period, the
German pAX and the Dow Jones index in the u.s., for
example, posted substantially lower annual growth
rates of 9 and 5% respectively.

The exchange rate of the euro against the u.s. dollar
continued to play an important role in the develop-
ment of our share price in 2013. The appreciation of
local currencies (especially the euro) against the u.s.
dollar is advantageous for Fresenius Medical Care in
financial terms because we report in u.s. dollars. As
a result, we benefit from higher values when our
balance sheet items and earnings (in local curren-
cies) are translated into u.s. dollars. However, the
appreciation of the euro also means that several con-
ventional valuations, which are usually calculated in

u.s. dollars, are less favorable when translated into
euros. This can be significant as many investors base
their decisions first and foremost on the euro share
price. In 2013, the price of Fresenius Medical Care's
shares traded on the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) in the form of American depositary receipts
(ADRS) increased by 4%.

Preference shares converted into ordinary shares
At the Annual General Meeting in May 2013, the
shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care resolved a
mandatory conversion of the outstanding non-vot-
ing preference shares into ordinary voting shares at
a ratio of 1:1. The stock exchange listing of the pref-
erence shares was suspended as a result. Since
July 1, 2013, only the ordinary shares of Fresenius
Medical Care have been listed on the stock exchange.

Share buyback program implemented
In the year under review, Fresenius Medical Care
bought back treasury shares in the amount of
around $500 M (approximately €385 M). In the period
from May 20 to August 14, 2013, we acquired a total
of around 7.55 M treasury shares at an average price

— C.1.4.4 Share price performance, absolute
December 31, 2012 — December 31, 2013
in €
Jan. Feb. March April May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.
56
54
52
— — —‘ 47.00 Yearlow | —— ————
50
48
46
== Ordinary share === Price range in each month

Source: Reuters data, own calculations
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of €51 per share. The share buyback was financed
from the Company’s current cash flow and existing
credit facilities.

Fresenius Medical Care will use these treasury shares
solely to either reduce our registered share capital
by cancellation of the acquired shares, or to fulfill
our employee participation programs.

The number of outstanding ordinary shares declined
by around 3.5 M in net terms as a result of the con-
version of the preference shares and the share buy-
back program. It amounted to around 301.45M at
year-end.

Slight decrease in market capitalization
Fresenius Medical Care’s market capitalization
amounted to €15.59BN as of December 31, 2013,
around €400 M lower than the previous year's figure
of €15.998BN. In contrast, the trading volume in-
creased year-on-year, averaging 0.82M shares per
trading day (2012: 0.68 M).

— C.1.4.5

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

0.8

Development of the dividend
in€

2004

S — - |

Good positioning in DAX rankings

At the end of the fiscal year, our shares essentially
occupied an unchanged position in the rankings
published by Deutsche Borse, which serve as a basis
for determining the composition of the pax. The
rankings are compiled every month and are based
on the trading volume and market capitalization in
terms of the free float. At year-end 2013, our weight-
ing in the DAX was 1.37% (2012: 1.64%). This primarily
reflects the weaker relative performance of our
shares compared with other DAX companies. At the
end of the year, we were ranked 21% in the pAX in
terms of market capitalization (2012: 19%) and 25" in
terms of trading volume (2012: 28™).

Fresenius Medical Care’s shares are included in a
number of other important international share indi-
ces, such as the Dow Jones, mscl and the FTSE. For
the fourth consecutive year, our shares were listed in
the Dow Jones Euro Stoxx Sustainability Index,
which takes into account ecological and social as
well as economic criteria.

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

== Ordinary share
" Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014.
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DIVIDEND CONTINUITY

In the year under review, Fresenius Medical Care
confirmed that it would continue with its profit-
oriented dividend policy with a slight modification.
In future, the dividend will increase roughly in line
with earnings per share, at the same time we intend
to ensure the continuity of the dividend develop-
ment. At the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014,
a 3% increase in the dividend to €0.77 per share will
be proposed. Subject to the approval of the Annual
General Meeting, the shareholders can therefore
expect the dividend to increase for the 17" year in a
row since the foundation of Fresenius Medical Care
in 1996.

Based on the proposed dividend and our closing
share price at the end of 2013, the dividend yield for
our shares would be around 1.5% (2012: 1.4%). This
means that the dividend would have risen by an av-
erage of around 10% each year since 1997.

Based on the proposed dividend, the total payout
for 2013 would amount to approximately €232 M. Ap-
plying the exchange rate at the end of the financial
year, the total dividend works out at around $320 M.
Based on our consolidated net income of $1.11BN,
this represents a payout ratio of about 25%.

— T.1.4.6 ——

Number of identified shares as per shareholder structure analysis
figures rounded in M

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
REMAINS VERY BALANCED

Based on our latest shareholder structure analysis at
the beginning of 2014, we were able to identify the
owners of an extremely large proportion of around
96% (previous year: 97%) of the 301.5M shares out-
standing. As of December 31, 2013, the number of
Fresenius Medical Care shares held by Fresenius
SE & Co. KGaA remained unchanged at around 94.4 m.
Fresenius SE& Co.KGaA is our largest shareholder
with an interest in our share capital of 31.3%. In our
shareholder structure analysis, we identified a fur-
ther 13 institutional investors with an interest in our
share capital of more than 1%.

Overall, we identified 831 institutional investors (pre-
vious year: 897) through the shareholder structure
analysis. The top 20 institutional investors in our
Company held around 47% of the identified shares in
the free float (previous year: 45%). Nine of the
top 20 investors are based in Great Britain, while six
are in the u.s., two in Germany and one in each of
Norway, France and Canada.

In terms of geographical distribution, 37.0% of the
identified shares in the free float were held by insti-
tutional investors in North America. Another 51.2%

Number of shares in % in % of free float

Number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2013 301.5 100.0 -
Identified shares 287.6 95.4 -
Unidentified shares 13.9 4.6 6.7
Shares in free float 207.1 68.7 -
» Identified shares based on free float 193.2 - 93.3
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of the shares were held in Europe excluding Ger-
many, with Great Britain accounting for the majority
of these (33.6% of free float). Around 9.3% of our
Company'’s shares were held in Germany.

The analysis conducted at the beginning of 2014 re-
veals a shareholder structure that, in our opinion,
continues to be well balanced both from a geo-
graphical point of view and in terms of private and
institutional investors. For 2014, we again see the
regional focus of our investor relations activities on
North America and Europe, as well as selected coun-
tries in Asia and the Middle East.

VOTING RIGHTS NOTIFICATIONS IN 2013

In 2013, we received three voting rights notifications in
accordance with section 25 (1) of the German Securities
Trading Act (WpHG), three voting rights notifications
in accordance with section 25 (1a) WpHG and four
voting rights notifications in accordance with section
21 (1) WpHG. All voting rights notifications are pub-
lished in the investor relations section of our website
at www.fmc-ag.com.

SHARES RATED AS NEUTRAL
BY A MAJORITY OF ANALYSTS

Financial analysts continue to express great interest
in our Company. This is reflected by the fact that we
are actively tracked and covered by 35 equity ana-
lysts, known as sell-side analysts. As of the end of
2013, 13 analysts rated our shares as “buy”, 20 ana-
lysts voted for “hold” and two analysts recom-
mended investors to “sell” their shares. Some ana-
lysts changed their previous positive assessment in
light of the intensified debate on reimbursement
cuts for dialysis services.

SUCCESSFUL INVESTOR
RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

Our investor relations work in 2013 again focused
on delivering comprehensive, transparent and timely
information simultaneously to all capital market
participants. This included disclosing information
on the strategy and management principles of
Fresenius Medical Care, its operational and financial
business developments and the Company'’s outlook

— T.1.4.7 Geographical distribution of identified shares
figures rounded in M
2014" 20132
Number of Number of

shares in % shares in %
North America 62.55 37.0 74.49 41.6
Germany 15.67 9.3 14.79 8.3
Great Britain 56.78 33.6 51.12 28.5
France 11.94 7.1 14.39 8.0
Norway 5.57 3.3 5.74 3.2
Rest of Europe 12.26 7.2 13.31 7.4
Rest of the world 4.32 2.5 5.28 3.0
» Shares attributable to regions 169.09 100.0 179.12 100.0
Private investors 24.12 - 24.44 -
» Identified shares based on free float 193.21 - 203.56 -

" As per shareholder structure analysis, January 2014.
2 As per shareholder structure analysis, January 2013.
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to a wide audience encompassing not only share-
holders, other capital market participants and ana-
lysts, but also employees, journalists and the general
public. Our aim is to make a significant contribution
to increasing the value of Fresenius Medical Care in
the long term by means of effective financial com-
munication. In doing so, we fulfil all of the statutory
requirements and guidelines that apply to us in both
the u.s. and Germany. These include the regulations
of Deutsche Borse and the NYSE, as well as the Ger-
man Securities Trading Act (WpHG), the German
Corporate Governance Code and the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. More information on this and other corporate
governance issues can be found in the “Corporate
governance report” starting on page 128.

Basic share data

In 2013, we again maintained our contacts with
financial analysts and institutional and private inves-
tors worldwide. We presented Fresenius Medical
Care and answered questions about our business
performance and the Company's future in around
750 one-on-ones with analysts and investors. In addi-
tion, we showcased the Company and its pros-
pects at 15 roadshows and 26 investment confer-
ences around the globe. Private investors also play
an extremely important role. For this reason, we
took part in events organized for private investors by
the German Association for the Protection of Share-
holders (Deutsche Schutzvereinigung fur Wertpapier-
besitz, bsw), among other things.

— T.1.4.8

No par value bearer
Share type ordinary share
Stock exchanges
Germany: Frankfurt Stock Exchange/Prime Standard FME
U.S.: New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) FMS
Security identification codes
Securities No. (WKN) 578580
ISIN DE0005785802
CUSIP No. (NYSE) 358029106
Reuters
XETRA FMEG.DE
Frankfurt Stock Exchange FMEG.F
ADR NYSE FMS.N
Bloomberg
XETRA FME GY
Frankfurt Stock Exchange FME GR
ADR NYSE FMS US
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In 2014, we intend to inform our investors and
analysts about current business developments, our
strategy and the associated medium-term targets for
the fourth time as part of the Capital Markets Day in
New York. We previously welcomed numerous ana-
lysts and investors at this event in 2005, 2007 and
2010.

2013 was another successful year for the Investor
Relations department of Fresenius Medical Care.
Irrespective of its moderate share price performance
over the course of the year, our Company was again
recognized for its outstanding work. The Thomson
Reuters news agency awarded Fresenius Medical
Care its prize for best IR work in the “MedTech and
Services” category for the eighth time in a row. A
survey carried out by the u.s. magazine “Institu-
tional Investor” ranked our Company highest in the
“healthcare” category in Europe for the sixth year in
succession.

On our website www.fmc-ag.com, we also provide
the following information:

» price information on our share listed on the Frank-
furt and New York stock exchanges,

» publications such as quarterly reports, annual re-
ports, investor news and ad hoc disclosures,

» full-year and interim reports in the form of live
webcasts of analyst meetings and conference calls,
including corresponding information and presen-
tation material,

» live transmission of the Ce0’s speech to the Annual
General Meeting,

» financial calendar with information on reporting,
the Annual General Meeting and other events.

In addition, it is possible to contact us directly via

e-mail on our website, e.g. to receive automatic up-
dates on Company developments in the future.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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— T.1.4.9 Key figures for Fresenius Medical Care’s share
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Number of shares’ in M shares 301.45 302.74 300.16 298.28 295.75

Share prices (Xetra trading)

Year-high in € 55.60 59.51 55.13 45.79 37.71
Year-low in€ 47.00 50.80 41.11 36.10 26.07
Year-end price in € 51.73 52.31 52.50 43.23 36.94
Average daily trading volume in shares 820,387 682,226 825,970 824,535 1,040,200

Share prices (ADR NYS)

Year-high ins 36.07 38.93 39.96 32.01 27.48
Year-low ins 31.02 32.13 27.88 23.71 17.83
Year-end price in$ 35.58 34.30 33.99 28.85 26.51

Market capitalization

Year-end in €M 15,594 15,986 15,930 13,143 11,045
Year-end inSM 21,434 21,092 20,621 17,270 15,911
Exchange rate Sto€ 1.3745 1.3194 1.2945 1.3141 1.4406

Index weight

DAX in % 1.37 1.64 2.16 1.36 1.31
Dividend

per share in € 0.777 0.75 0.69 0.65 0.61
Dividend yield? in % 1.5 1.4 1.3 1.5 1.7
Total payout in €M 2322 230 210 197 183

Basic earnings per ordinary
share (EPS)

Number of shares* in M shares 301.88 301.14 299.01 296.81 294.42
Basic earnings per ordinary
share (EPS) ins 3.65 3.89 3.54 3.25 2.99

As of December 31 of the respective year.

2013: Subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014.
Based on end of the respective year.

Weighted average number of outstanding shares.

A woN =
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CHAPTER 2.1

Operations and strategy

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading provider of dialysis
products and services. Dialysis is a vital blood cleansing procedure that
substitutes the function of the kidney in case of kidney failure.

LEADING PROVIDER OF
DIALYSIS PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

As a vertically integrated company, Fresenius Medical
Care offers products and services along the entire
dialysis value chain. In the year under review, we
further expanded our business with dialysis products
and in particular our services business. We now care
for more than 270,000 dialysis patients in 3,250 pro-
prietary dialysis clinics in over 45 countries world-
wide. We are continuously developing this network
of clinics — the largest and most international in the
world — to accommodate the ever growing number
of dialysis patients. At the same time, we operate
more than 40 production sites on all continents,
making us the leading provider of dialysis products
including dialysis machines, dialyzers and disposable
accessories. The Company’s most important plants
for dialyzer production are in St. Wendel (Germany),
Ogden, Utah (u.s.) and Buzen (Japan). We manufac-
ture dialysis machines in Schweinfurt (Germany) and,
since merging our machine production with a distri-
bution warehouse in 2013, in Concord, California
(U.S.). We also maintain further manufacturing facil-
ities worldwide which cover local demand for dialy-
sis products as a rule. Further information on our
production activities can be found in the “Procure-
ment and production” chapter starting on page 78; a list
of our major subsidiaries can be found on page 279.

Fresenius Medical Care is organized regionally and
divided into the regions North America, EMEA (Europe,
Middle East, Africa), Latin America and Asia-Pacific.
Our business segments are grouped into North
America and International, which in turn comprises
the EMEA, Latin America and Asia-Pacific regions.
Fresenius Medical Care’s corporate headquarters are
in Bad Homburg v.d. H., Germany. The headquarters
of North America, our most important region in
terms of revenue, are in Waltham, Massachusetts
(U.s.). An overview of Fresenius Medical Care’s main
locations can be found in chart 2.1.1 on page 40.

Management and control

Since February 2006, Fresenius Medical Care has
had the legal form of a partnership limited by
shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, KGaA).
The corporate structure of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co.KGaA as well as the Company’s manage-
ment and supervisory structure are set out in the
“Corporate governance report” starting on page 128. The
Members of the Management Board are presented
starting on page 18; information on the positions of the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board can
be found starting on page 275.

Reporting on the basis of u.s. GAAP
Fresenius Medical Care reports on the basis of u.s.
GAAP (United States Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles) with the u.s. dollar as the reporting cur-
rency. This is due to the Company’s high business
volume in the u.s. Furthermore, the Company pre-
pares its reports in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRs).

Our products, services and
business processes

At the end of 2013, about 2.519 M patients regularly
underwent dialysis worldwide. Dialysis is a vital
blood cleansing procedure that substitutes the func-
tion of the kidney in case of kidney failure. It removes
toxins and surplus water from the body, which are
normally discarded through urination in healthy in-
dividuals, as the patient’s kidneys can no longer ful-
fill this task. We distinguish between two types of
dialysis treatment: hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal
dialysis (PD). In the case of HD, a hemodialysis
machine controls the flow of blood from the patient
through a special filter, the dialyzer. With pp, the
patient’s peritoneum is used as a dialyzing mem-
brane. Fresenius Medical Care's business encom-
passes both therapy methods.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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— C.2.1.1 Major locations

=15

Waltham, U.S.

North America
Dialysis products: 9%
Dialysis services: 91%

01
03

14,610

Revenue in $M

3,250
Clinics

40,456,900

Dialysis treatments

Latin America

Dialysis products: 30 %
270,122 9 VSIS Proc °

g Dialysis services: 70 %
Patients

America

Waltham, U.S.
Regional headquarters North America

01 Ogden, U.S. 05 Irving, U.S. 09 Jaguariuna, BR
Dialyzers Hemodialysis concentrates Dialysis solutions

02 Concord, U.S. 06 Reynosa, MX 10 Pilar, AR

Dialysis machines Tubing systems Hemodialysis concentrates &
03 Toledo, U.S. 07 Guadalajara, MX dialysis solutions
Hemodialysis concentrates Dialysis solutions

04 Montreal, CA 08 Santafé de Bogota, CO

Hemodialysis concentrates Dialysis solutions

V Headquarters
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90,690

Employees

Bad Homburg, GER

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Dialysis products: 54%
Dialysis services: 46%

Europe

Bad Homburg, GER

Asia-Pacific

Dialysis products: 67 %
Dialysis services: 33%

Production sites

Company headquarters and regional headquarters for Europe,

Hong Kong, CN

Asia-Pacific

Hong Kong, CN
Regional headquarters

Middle East, Africa and Latin America Asia-Pacific

11 Schweinfurt, GER 16 Krems, AT 19 Inukai, JP
Dialysis machines Adsorbers Fiber bundles
12 St. Wendel, GER 17 Vrsac, SRB 20 Buzen, JP

Dialyzers &bags for peritoneal dialysis

13 L'Arbresle, FR
Dialyzers & hemodialysis concentrates

14 Palazzo Pignano, IT
Tubing systems

15 Canosa, IT
Bags for peritoneal dialysis

Dialyzers, dialysis solutions &
tubing systems

Dialyzers & dialysis solutions

21 Changshu, CN

18 Antalya, TR
Tubing systems

Tubing systems

22 Ipoh, MY

Water treatment systems

23 Smithfield, AU
Hemodialysis concentrates

24 Scoresby, AU
Dialysis chairs
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As a globally leading company, Fresenius Medical
Care offers dialysis services and products in more
than 120 countries around the world with a focus on
the following areas:

Hemodialysis:
treatment in specialized clinics

Most dialysis patients undergo hemodialysis (HD) in
specialized clinics. HD is by far the most common type
of renal replacement therapy, accounting for around
89% of all cases worldwide. It requires the use of spe-
cial products, primarily hemodialysis machines and
dialyzers that are connected to the device and act as
“artificial kidneys”, filtering toxic substances and wa-
ter from the patient’s blood. Fresenius Medical Care
is the world’s leading manufacturer of these and
other dialysis products for use in both our own and
third-party clinics. Further information can be found
in the “Dialysis market” section starting on page 51 and in the
glossary on page 284.

Home dialysis:
still a niche market

The two types of home dialysis are peritoneal dialy-
SiS (PD) — see glossary on page 287 —and home hemodialysis.
In the year under review, about 11% of all dialysis
patients worldwide underwent pb. Home hemodial-
ysis continues to be a niche market: At the end
of 2013, only around 0.6% of all dialysis patients
received this treatment. We provided products to
approximately 50,000 PD patients and more than
3,800 home hemodialysis patients by the end of 2013;
as a result, around 19% of all PD patients and approx-
imately 27% of all home hemodialysis patients use
our dialysis products.

Acute dialysis:
when the kidneys suddenly stop working

Generally, dialysis patients suffer from chronic kid-
ney failure, a disorder which in most cases develops
gradually over many years. But in acute medical
emergencies, patients may also be in need of dialysis
because of rapid kidney failure, for instance after a
serious accident. Fresenius Medical Care also offers
products and services for acute dialysis.

Dialysis drugs:
expanding our product range

Usually, patients undergoing dialysis require medica-
tion to counteract anemia and control their mineral
metabolism. This chiefly comprises agents to stimu-
late red blood cell production, known as ESAS
(erythropoiesis-stimulating agents), iron compounds,
phosphate binders, vitamin D preparations and calci-
mimetics; see glossary on page 286.

As well as using dialysis drugs in our own dialysis
clinics, we sell them to third parties. We mainly
source EPO and vitamin D from specialized providers.
We produce phosphate binders and iron compounds
ourselves and in a joint venture with the Swiss com-
pany Galenica. The phosphate binder Velphoro (PA21)
was approved by the u.s. Food and Drug Adminis-
tration in 2013 and will be introduced in the u.s. mar-
ket by Fresenius Medical Care North America in 2014.
Dialysis drugs enable us to expand our product port-
folio horizontally beyond providing dialysis products
and services; they therefore fit in perfectly with our
strategic focus.

Laboratory services:
complementing our range of services
Nephrologists rely on extensive laboratory tests to
tailor dialysis to each patient. The laboratory re-
sults have a significant impact on the quality of
patients’ treatment and therefore their quality of
life. In 2013, Spectra Laboratories, one of our sub-
sidiaries in the u.s., provided around 62 M labora-
tory tests for some 215,000 patients in our own as
well as in external dialysis clinics. Many of these
tests are used to regularly check the water and
electrolyte as well as the mineral balance and the
hemoglobin needed for oxygen production in the
blood. In 2013, Spectra Laboratories acquired the
business of Shiel Medical Laboratory in the u.s.
This laboratory service provider performed approx-
imately 10 M laboratoy tests in 2013 for a broad base

of over 4,000 physicians.
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Fresenius Rx:
the pharmacy service

Our pharmacy service in the u.s., Fresenius Rx,
mainly provides drugs and diabetes tests for renal
patients. Fresenius Rx sends the necessary drugs
straight to the patient’s home or to the responsible
dialysis center. In addition to shipping products,
Fresenius Rx coordinates the supply of drugs to pa-
tients in collaboration with the responsible clinic
staff, notifies doctors and patients when new pre-
scriptions have to be issued, and points out if or-
dered drugs are not compatible or if dosages have
to be adjusted.

Fresenius Vascular Care:

meeting vascular access needs
Hemodialysis treatment requires a permanent vascu-
lar access. Fresenius Vascular Care is one of the big-
gest clinic networks for interventional radiology in
North America. It mainly deals with meeting dialysis
patients’ vascular access needs. By providing outpa-
tient treatment, we help to minimize lengthy and
cost-intensive stays in hospital and enable our pa-
tients to return to their normal surroundings as
quickly as possible. We operate a total of 46 Fresenius
Vascular Care clinics in the u.s., 33 of which are joint
ventures. We also have three proprietary centers in
Portugal specialized in vascular access treatment. In
addition, we opened a center for vascular surgery
services in Taiwan.

Dialysis:

also possible on vacation and business trips
Usually, patients requiring regular dialysis are very
constrained in their mobility. Vacations or business
trips to other countries seem impossible. For
patients on HD or PD who wish to travel, Fresenius
Medical Care offers a complimentary reservation
service for dialysis treatment outside their normal
environment. We use not only our own global net-
work of clinics for this, but also certified third-party
dialysis providers, enabling dialysis patients to re-
ceive their vital treatment in many areas around the
world.

Major markets and competitive position
Largest dialysis services provider in the world
Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading pro-
vider of dialysis services with a market share of
about 11% based on the number of patients treated.
As well as providing services to most dialysis pa-
tients, we operate more dialysis clinics than any
other company: In 2013, we ran 3,250 (2012: 3,160)
clinics worldwide. We treated 63% of our patients in
North America, 19% in Europe, 1% in Latin America

and 7% in the Asia-Pacific region.

Market leader in dialysis products
Our dialysis products accounted for around 34% of
the global market in 2013 (2012: 33%), which means
that we are still the market leader in this area. The
market share of our key products — dialyzers and
dialysis machines — was even higher at around 43%
(2012: 44%) and 55% (2012: 55%), respectively.

Detailed information on the major markets and the
position of Fresenius Medical Care can be found in
the “Dialysis market” section starting on page 51.

Legal and economic conditions

Fresenius Medical Care provides life-saving products
and therapies for patients suffering from chronic
kidney failure and is therefore exposed to economic
cycles to a relatively small extent. This sets us apart
from manufacturers of consumer goods, for in-
stance, whose products are subject to a more cycli-
cal demand.

Reimbursement schemes for dialysis treatments dif-
fer from country to country and often even within
countries. Fresenius Medical Care provides dialysis
services in more than 45 countries with different
economic conditions. Thanks to our international
experience, we are able to support the efforts of
national healthcare systems to create suitable remu-
neration structures, adapt our business to local con-
ditions and therefore operate on a profitable basis.
Further information can be found in the “Dialysis
market” section starting on page 51.
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As a life-saving treatment, dialysis is subject to the
highest safety and quality standards. This applies to
the production of our dialysis products as well as the
implementation of dialysis treatments at our own clin-
ics. These underlying requirements are stipulated in
numerous national and international legal provisions,
standards and norms, which are the basis for our cor-
porate activities. In addition to the legally prescribed
standards, we have developed in-house guidelines
that go beyond the statutory provisions in many areas.
For more information, see the chapter “Our dialysis
services business” starting on page 87 and the chapter “Pro-
curement and production” starting on page 78.

Demographic factors are one major reason why dial-
ysis markets continue to grow. They include aging
populations and an increasing incidence of diabetes
and high blood pressure, two diseases that often
precede the onset of chronic kidney failure. In recent
years, forecasts of the occurrence of these two dis-
eases have continuously been adjusted upwards. In
addition, the life expectancy of dialysis patients is
increasing primarily due to ongoing improvements
in the quality of treatment and higher standards of
living, even in developing countries.

STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES,
AND CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

For Fresenius Medical Care, acting sustainably and
responsibly is essential to enable us to continue in-
vesting successfully in our employees, research and
development, production and in developing our
fields of business now and in the future. We mea-
sure our success on the basis of clearly defined per-
formance indicators and targets. Further informa-
tion about our financial goals in 2014 can be found in
the “Outlook” chapter starting on page 121.

Thanks to our financial stability, we benefit from at-
tractive corporate financing and a degree of flexibil-
ity that we aim to maintain in the future. For the
next few years, we intend to continue pursuing our
goal of consolidating our position in a financially re-
sponsible manner.

Long term strategy to increase
the Company’s value

As the world’s leading provider of products and
treatments for patients with chronic kidney failure,
we gear our actions to our vision of creating a future
worth living for dialysis patients worldwide, every
day. That is what we aspire to and what motivates
us. Fresenius Medical Care’s corporate strategy is
our blueprint for turning this vision into reality. Our
aim is to maintain our position as the world’s lead-
ing provider of top-quality dialysis treatments and
products and to use it as a basis for sustainable,
profitable growth. In this way, we intend to contin-
uously increase Fresenius Medical Care’s company
value and create added value for patients, health-
care systems and investors worldwide.

The groundbreaking maxim of our corporate strat-
egy is still to fully capture our potential as a vertically
integrated company. This means that we systemati-
cally use the advantages that arise from covering the
complete value chain of dialysis.

Our strategy is based on an in-depth analysis of the
major trends affecting Fresenius Medical Care:

» Increasing prevalence of lifestyle diseases
Diseases such as high blood pressure and diabetes
are becoming increasingly common due to factors
such as a lack of exercise, an unhealthy diet and
obesity. In the long term, the damage that these
diseases can cause in the human body also affects
the kidneys.

» Demographic change and a growing world popu-
lation

Average life expectancy is increasing, resulting in a
growing share of elderly people in the population.
However, kidney function deteriorates with age. In
combination with harmful influences such as high
blood pressure over many years, diabetes or lipid
metabolism disorders, low kidney function can lead
to chronic kidney failure. Demographic trends are
therefore a major factor in the growing number of
dialysis patients, which is expected to rise from 2.5m
in 2013 to 3.8 M worldwide in 2020.
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» Improved access to medical care

In many countries, thanks to increasing wealth and
ongoing efforts to establish and expand balanced
and sustainable healthcare systems, a large number
of patients now have access to suitable dialysis
treatment for the first time. We expect this trend to
continue, and the resultant demand for high-quality
products and treatments to increase.

» Changes in the healthcare industry

The healthcare industry is in a process of transforma-
tion, not least due to the developments mentioned
above. Calls for the healthcare industry to find new
answers to rising cost pressure worldwide while
safeguarding and enhancing the quality and scope
of healthcare provision are getting louder. We firmly
believe that demand for holistic care of kidney pa-
tients will continue to grow, and that the focus in
future will no longer be on individual dialysis prod-
ucts or services, but on a combination of all areas of
application related to dialysis.

Against this background, Fresenius Medical Care’s
corporate strategy is based on four pillars that will
govern our actions in the years ahead:

» Growing continuously and expanding our global

presence
» Tapping into new business areas

— C.2.1.2

Growing continuously and

Fresenius Medical Care’s corporate strategy

» Enhancing products and treatments
» Fostering operational excellence and flexibility

Based on these four pillars, we have devised specific
measures that will form the main thrust of our cor-
porate activities in the future.

Growing continuously and expanding
our global presence

We are committed to actively shaping the develop-
ment of the industry while benefiting from the
global growth of the market. We do this, for exam-
ple, by giving more and more people access to
life-saving dialysis treatment and developing innova-
tive products and therapies that improve our patients’
quality of life. We play a part in the industry’s devel-
opment by entering into strategic alliances with var-
ious healthcare institutions, for example.

To strengthen our market position, we have devel-
oped various approaches ranging from organic
growth to the continuous assessment of acquisi-
tions. Our acquisition activities are focused on small
to medium-sized enterprises that supplement our
existing portfolio. For example, we regularly assess
whether we can expand our network of dialysis clin-
ics through purchases in markets that are particu-
larly attractive for our business. In selecting acquisi-
tions, we apply strict strategic and financial criteria.

Tapping into

expanding our global presence

v

v

new business areas

v

v
FRESENIUS
¥ MEDICAL CARE

Creating a future worth living.
For dialysis patients. Worldwide. Every day.

T

Enhancing products

T

Fostering operational

and treatments

excellence and flexibility
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Another requirement for lasting, profitable growth is
gearing our business activities to attractive future
markets. One way of tapping into new markets and
further expanding our presence is through public
private partnerships (PPp) in the dialysis business.
The public sector also benefits from a dialysis infra-
structure in the form of high quality standards, en-
abling it to care for more patients more effectively
and at a lower cost. Fresenius Medical Care is al-
ready involved in several ppp initiatives in Europe,
Africa, Asia and Australia. We intend to expand stra-
tegic alliances such as these in future.

Tapping into new business areas
Fresenius Medical Care’s main focus is on compre-
hensive care for dialysis patients and dialysis-related
treatments. In many regions, in addition to our
products, dialysis treatment itself and a wide range
of dialysis drugs, we offer an increasing number of
additional services for patient care. These include
laboratory and pharmacy services as well as services
relating to vascular access, an essential aspect of
treatment for dialysis patients. Thanks to this inte-
grated healthcare approach, we can tap into new
business areas and meet the growing demand for
comprehensive care of patients with kidney disease.
It also enables us to integrate the individual treat-
ment steps with the aim of further improving the
quality of care for our patients and to relieve pres-
sure on the healthcare system.

Enhancing products and treatments
Developing innovative products and continuously
improving our dialysis treatments are integral parts
of our sustainable growth strategy. As a vertically
integrated company, we benefit from direct access
to the opinions and experience of patients and ex-
perts at our own dialysis centers.

We operate a global network of research and devel-
opment sites. This has the advantage of enabling us
to familiarize ourselves with local requirements and
respond to them quickly. At the same time, chronic
kidney failure is increasingly becoming a global
problem, and demand for improved, high-quality
yet cost-efficient products is growing worldwide.
This gives rise to a large number of synergies in the
area of product development that we intend to

leverage even more in future. In 2013, we reorga-
nized our Research and Development department,
giving it a more global focus to capture this poten-
tial and specifically promote the exchange of
knowledge between regions. For further informa-
tion, see the “Research and development” chapter

starting on page 72.

The quality and safety of our products and services is
given top priority at Fresenius Medical Care. We
consider these aspects to be just as important as our
patients’ quality of life. Right from the development
of products and treatments, we put our patients
first. Confidence in the quality of our products and
services makes us a reliable partner for patients,
doctors and care staff alike. We will continue to
focus on the quality of our products and services in
the future.

Fostering operational excellence and flexibility
In a challenging economic environment, we also
place importance on enhancing Fresenius Medical
Care's profitability in the long term and positioning
and managing the Company even more efficiently.
In the future, we aim to further optimize and mod-
ernize our administrative structures and processes
and make greater use of synergies, for example in
our Global Manufacturing Operations and Global
Research and Development divisions. In this way, we
aim to meet the rising demand and create the right
conditions to enable us to respond more flexibly to
changes in the market.

However, at the same time, we also intend to use
our decentralized structure in future to help us be a
strong, reliable local partner, respond quickly to cus-
tomers’ specific needs and changes in our markets
or in the regulatory environment, and gain access to
new markets.

Financial strategy

Besides optimizing our financing costs, Fresenius
Medical Care's financial strategy gives top priority to
financial flexibility. The Company ensures this flexibil-
ity by using a wide range of financial instruments and
diversifying its activities with investors and banks to
a greater extent. Our financing profile is character-
ized by a wide spread of maturities up to 2022.
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Our main financing instrument is the syndicated
credit agreement with a revolving credit facility and
a long-term loan. In addition, we use several other
medium-term and long-term financing instruments.

In our long-term financial planning, we focus pri-
marily on the debt/EBITDA ratio. Fresenius Medical
Care holds a strong position in the growing dialysis
market, which is generally considered to be non-
cyclical. This sector is characterized by relatively sta-
ble cash flows. For further information on our finan-
cial strategy, see the “Financial situation” section

starting on page 66.

Key performance indicators

To manage the Company, Fresenius Medical Care’s
Management Board uses various financial ratios that
are geared to strategic and operating targets. The
aim is to ensure the Company’s long-term success.
These key performance indicators are an essential
component of forecast reporting. In addition, a large
number of financial and non-financial performance
indicators are compiled, checked and, in some cases,
incorporated into forecast reporting.

An overview about the key performance indicators
of Fresenius Medical Care can be found in table 2.1.3 on
page 48.

Other performance indicators
In addition to the ratios listed in table 2.1.3 on page 48 We
use other indicators based on the following return
calculations:

» ROIC (return on invested capital) expresses how
efficiently a company allocates the capital under
its control or how well it employs its capital with
regard to a specific investment project. Fresenius
Medical Care’s RoOIC in 2013 of 7.7% was at a compa-
rable level as in the previous year (2012: 8.1%).

» ROOA (return on operating assets) expresses how
efficiently the Company’s total employed capital is
managed by calculating profit in relation to total
capital. Fresenius Medical Care’s ROOA in 2013 of
10.5% was also at a similarly high level as in the pre-
vious year (2012: 11.4%).

» ROE (return on equity) provides an insight into
a company’'s earning power. To calculate ROE,
the Group's net income (net income attributable to
shareholdersofFreseniusMedicalCare AG & Co. KGaA)
is placed in relation to employed shareholder capital
(capital of shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co.KGaA). At 12.0% in 2013, ROE (after tax)
slightly decreased compared to 2012.

» When calculating our cost of capital, we use the
WACC (weighted average cost of capital) formula.
The wacc is derived using the weighted average of
costs incurred for equity and debt. Fresenius Medical
Care's WACC in 2013 was at 6.7%, after 6.8% in the
previous year. Comparing the Company’s WACC with
its RoIC of 7.7% reveals that in 2013, Fresenius Medical
Care not only generated its capital costs, but also
increased its shareholder value.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013
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We manage our investments by means of a detailed
coordination and evaluation process. The Manage-
ment Board sets the investment budget for the
Group as well as the investment targets. Before con-
crete investment projects or acquisitions are realized,
our internal Acquisition Investment Committee (AIC)
examines the individual projects and measures tak-
ing into account the required and potential return
on investment. The investment projects are evalu-
ated based on commonly used approaches such as
the net present value and internal interest rate
methods; payback periods are also included in the
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assessment. In this way, we try to ensure that we
only make and implement investments and acquisi-
tions that actually increase shareholder value.

Further information on acquisitions can be found in
the sections “Acquisitions and divestitures” on page 58,
and “Financial situation” starting on page 66.

Details on the development of these indicators as
well as other financial figures can also be found in
the chapter “Results of operations, financial situa-
tion, assets and liabilities” starting on page 62.

— T.2.1.3 Key performance indicators of Fresenius Medical Care
Definition 2013 2012

Proceeds from the sale, letting or leasing of products and provision

Revenue of services $14,610 M $13,800 M

Operating income

(EBIT) Indicator for assessing earnings power $2,256 M $2,219 M

Operating income Ratio of operating income to revenue; indicator for assessing

margin (EBIT-margin)  profitability 15.5% 16.1%
Earnings after taxes and net income attributable to non-controlling

Net income growth interests; indicator for assessing earnings power -6% 11%

Basic earnings per or- Net income divided by the weighted average number of shares

dinary share growth  outstanding during the year -6% 10%
Ratio influencing the capital employed in the Company in the form of

Capital expenditures  replacement and expansion investments $728 M $666 M
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents from business operations in

Net cash provided relation to revenue; indicator for a company’s solvency and internal

by operating activi- financing potential (funds available for replacement and expansion

ties in % of revenue  investments) relative to revenue 13.9% 14.8%
Freely available cash flow after capital expenditures in relation to

Free cash flow in % revenue; indicator for the funds available for acquisitions, dividends

of revenue and loan repayments relative to revenue 8.9% 10.0%
Debt divided by EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion and amortization) adjusted for other non-cash expenditures;

Debt/EBITDA ratio indicates how long it takes to repay debts from own funds 2.8 2.8
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CHAPTER 2.2

Business environment

The global economy picked up slightly in 2013. This was again largely due to
impetus from emerging countries, supported by the economic recovery
in Europe. The dialysis market is growing worldwide. At the end of 2013,
approximately 2.5 M dialysis patients were being treated.

OVERALL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

The global economy showed moderate growth in
2013. The outlook improved, especially in many of the
more advanced economies. By contrast, the trend in
most emerging countries remained constant. Conse-
quently, the growth rate of the global gross domes-
tic product (GDP) was virtually unchanged: In 2013, it
amounted to 2.9%, compared to 3.1% in 2012.

Economic development in our North America
and International segments

North America segment: The budget dispute in the
u.s. regarding the lifting of the federal debt ceiling
was an ongoing obstacle to all fiscal policy decisions
in fall 2013. A compromise was reached at the last
minute, averting the threat of sovereign default for
the time being. This standoff had affected economic
growth: GDP in the U.s. rose by just 1.6% in 2013,
compared to a 2.8% increase in 2012.

International segment: The economies in our Inter-
national segment developed at different rates. In the
euro zone, the economy slowly emerged from reces-
sion for the first time in almost two years in 2013. The
growth rate in emerging countries remained high in
2013, although it was slower than in previous years in
some key markets such as Brazil, Russia, India and
China. It was particularly of significance in China,
which had set the pace for the global economy in the
past decade with its strong growth. The economic
performance of countries in the Latin America region
varied considerably, as in the previous year: Some ex-
panded, while in others growth was more modest.
Overall, the GDP in the region was 2.7% in 2013, com-
pared to the previous year’s growth rate of 2.9%.

Energy prices still high, commodity prices lower
Energy costs, especially of oil, fuel and electricity, re-
mained high on average. Prices for commodities fell
sharply in some cases, especially in the first half of
the year, characterized by sharp fluctuations. Prices

— T.2.2.1 Real gross domestic product
Change compared to the previous year in %
Gross domestic product

2013 2012
u.s. 1.6 2.8
Germany 0.4 0.7
Euro zone -0.4 -0.7
China 7.5 7.8
India 4.0 3.7
Asia 6.3 6.6
Latin America 2.7 2.9
» Worldwide 2.9 3.1

Source: Institute for the Global Economy at the University of Kiel “Weltkonjunktur im Winter 2013”, December 19, 2013
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stabilized somewhat in the second half of the year,
but they were down on the previous year. For
Fresenius Medical Care, an increase in commodity,
transport and energy costs of 1% generally means a
reduction in the Company’s result after tax of approx-
imately 0.9%. Fresenius Medical Care counters these
price fluctuations by concluding long-term supply
contracts. This allows us to limit the negative effects
of short-term price rises on the Company’s results.

Fresenius Medical Care
largely non-dependent on economic cycles
Compared with other industries, the dialysis market
is only very slightly affected by macroeconomic
impacts: Demand for medical care as a whole, includ-
ing life-preserving products and services for kidney
patients, is rising because of the aging population.

— C€.2.2.2

Q12012 Q2 2012 Q3 2012

1.40

Exchange rate development U.S. dollar/euro

Q4 2012

Consequently, the dialysis market is a growth mar-
ket. Fresenius Medical Care is therefore only depen-
dent on economic cycles to a limited extent. Our
business is rather impacted by government reim-
bursement rates and remuneration systems. Dialysis
is a vital medical service, which is why it is usually
paid for by the responsible healthcare system; see
also the “Dialysis market” chapter starting on page 51.

Exchange rate development characterized
by a stronger and stable euro
For Fresenius Medical Care, the changes in currency
parity are relevant because we sell our products on
global markets. We report in u.s. dollars. Most of
our revenue is generated in u.s. dollars, and is there-
fore not subject to currency fluctuations. Our other
business activities are affected by the development

Q12013 Q2 2013 Q32013 Q42013

1.20

— S/€ Annual average Quarterly average
Source: Reuters data, own calculations

— T.2.2.3 Sensitivity analysis

10% appreciation in currency against the U.S. dollar
Impact on sales of
Fresenijus Medical Care
2013
Euro ~1.5%
Other European currencies ~0.5%
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar ~0.3%
Japanese Yen ~0.1%
Other Asian currencies ~0.5%
South American currencies ~0.5%

Source: Company data and estimates
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of the exchange rate not only against the u.s. dollar,
but also against the euro, as some of the key pro-
duction facilities are situated in the euro zone. We
minimize our transaction risks, i.e. risks arising from
foreign currency items or exchange rate fluctuations,
through our global network of production facilities,
which is geared towards meeting demand in our di-
alysis products business: Often, our production facil-
ities are based in the markets that they serve, so that
costs are incurred in the same currency in which we
generate our sales. In our largest business area, our
services business, the risk of exchange rate fluctua-
tions is relatively low because we provide our ser-
vices locally and therefore in the respective currency.

Currency translation effects particularly stem from
the relative development of the u.s. dollar and the
euro. After the u.s., Europe — particularly the euro
zone — is one of the most important business regions
for Fresenius Medical Care. Overall, translation ef-
fects on revenue and other key income items were
of minor significance in 2013 as a result of the stron-
ger and consistent euro against the u.s. dollar com-
pared with the previous year, as well as the develop-
ment of the other exchange rates.

Further information on the economic environment
can be found in the “Comparison of the actual busi-
ness results with forecasts” section starting on page 59
and in the “Outlook” chapter starting on page 121.

— T.2.2.4

Patients with chronic kidney failure in 2013

DIALYSIS MARKET

The dialysis market is growing worldwide. With our
decades of experience, we can provide patients with
high-quality dialysis products and services from a
single source. We are therefore ideally placed to ex-
pand our business further and consolidate our posi-
tion as market leader.

Collecting and analyzing market data
Reliable information on the development of the
dialysis market and its general conditions is an im-
portant prerequisite for the success of our business.
To obtain and manage representative market infor-
mation, Fresenius Medical Care has developed its
own tool, the Market & Competitor Survey (Mcs). We
use it to collect and analyze relevant dialysis market
and competitor data and then leverage it within the
Company. We use this information as a basis for
strategic decisions in the areas of management, re-
search and development and marketing, as well as
for our external reporting, such as the annual report.
Unless otherwise stated, the data in this chapter is
based on the mcs survey. By regularly adapting it,
we account for new trends such as changes in the
use of certain treatments as well as in the structure
of our competitive environment due to the entry of
new providers, for example.

Patients with chronic kidney failure 3.194 100%
of which on dialysis 2.519 79%
Hemodialysis (HD) 2.250 71%
Peritoneal dialysis (PD) 0.269 8%
of which with transplants 0.675 21%

Source: Company data and estimates
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Industry-specific environment
Patient numbers rising worldwide
Chronic kidney failure is a global disease. At the end
of 2013, approximately 3.194 M patients were being
treated.

At a regional level, the incidence of chronic kidney
failure varies. Prevalence, i.e. the relative number of
people being treated for end-stage renal disease in
a particular country, also differs significantly from
one country to another. The prevalence rate, mea-
sured in patients per million population (pmp), can
be well below 100 in developing countries. On aver-
age, the figure in countries in the European Union is
just over 1,100 pmp. Countries such as Japan and the
u.s. have very high figures, in some cases well over
2,000 pmp. Taiwan has a rate of more than 3,000
pmp. There are various reasons for the significant
divergence in prevalence rates:

» The countries differ demographically, as age struc-
tures in the population vary worldwide.

» The incidence of risk factors for kidney disease
such as diabetes and high blood pressure diverges.

» The genetic predisposition for kidney disease dif-
fers across the world.

» Access to dialysis is still limited in many countries.
As a result, many kidney failure sufferers are not
treated and thus do not appear in prevalence statistics.

» Cultural factors such as nutrition play a role.

The number of dialysis patients rose by around 7%
in 2013. In the u.s., Japan, and Western and Central
Europe, we again recorded below-average growth
in the number of patients in 2013. In these regions,
prevalence is already relatively high and patients
generally have reliable access to treatment, nor-
mally dialysis. In economically weaker regions,
growth was above average — an indication that ac-
cess to dialysis treatment in these countries is still
limited but is gradually improving. In addition to
easier access to dialysis resulting in more precise
recording of patient numbers, other factors contrib-
uting to a rise in global prevalence include the
spreading incidence of illnesses that cause renal
damage, such as diabetes and high blood pressure,
as well as the general aging of the global popula-
tion due to medical advances.

Comparison of treatment methods
Of the 2.519 M patients who were undergoing dialy-
sis treatment at the end of 2013, 2.250Mm, or about
89%, were treated with hemodialysis and around

— T.2.2.5 Dialysis patients: regional development

2013 Change
North America 568,000 ~5%
U.s. 452,000 ~4%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 639,000 ~4%
EU 341,000 ~2%
Asia-Pacific 1,060,000 ~10%
Japan 318,000 ~2%
Latin America 252,000 ~6%
» Worldwide 2,519,000 ~7%

Source: Company data and estimates
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269,000 (11%) with peritoneal dialysis; see glossary on
page 283. In a global comparison of treatment meth-
ods, hemodialysis is clearly the most commonly used.

Dialysis patients can be treated either in a dialysis
center or in their own home. Treatment options
available for home therapy are home hemodialysis,
which is relatively uncommon so far, and peritoneal
dialysis. The ratio of patients treated in dialysis cen-
ters to patients on home dialysis varies from region
to region.

The third option for treating patients with end-stage
renal disease is kidney transplantation. Approxi-
mately 675,000 patients were living with a trans-
planted kidney at the end of 2013. However, for
many years now, the number of donated organs
worldwide has been significantly lower than the
number of patients on transplant waiting lists. De-
spite extensive efforts by regional initiatives to in-
crease awareness of kidney donation and get more
people to donate, the share of patients receiving
kidney transplantation compared to other treatment
methods has remained relatively unchanged over
the past ten years.

Our customers are mostly

health insurers and companies
Fresenius Medical Care’s most important customers
are state-owned or public health insurers, private
health insurers, and companies. The largest private
customer, which is also the world’s second-largest
provider in the dialysis services sector after
Fresenius Medical Care, is DaVita in the u.s. We gen-
erated around 1% of our revenue with DaVita in the
last fiscal year.

— T.2.2.6

Regional breakdown of in-center dialysis and home dialysis

Healthcare and reimbursement systems

vary from country to country
As renal replacement therapy is a life-saving medical
service, patients do not usually have to pay for dial-
ysis themselves. Instead, the costs are borne by the
responsible healthcare system. The reimbursement
systems for dialysis treatment — in other words, the
schemes used by healthcare systems to pay for dial-
ysis services — differ from one country to another
and often vary even within countries. The factors
determining reimbursement include regional condi-
tions, the kind of treatment provided, regulatory is-
sues, and the type of dialysis service provider (public
or private).

The healthcare debate in some countries is currently
focused on establishing reimbursement structures
based on treatment quality (pay for performance).
Here, more responsibility is transferred to the medi-
cal service provider, subject to transparency and
quality criteria. The aim of such reimbursement mod-
els is to ensure high-quality treatment combined
with lower overall costs for the healthcare system.

One example of a reimbursement model based on
qualitative criteria is the bundled reimbursement
system for dialysis introduced in 2011 in the u.s., our
biggest sales market. It applies to dialysis treatment
for patients in the u.s. who are predominantly cov-
ered by national health insurance (Medicare patients).
All products and services that used to be reimbursed
according to the composite rate as well as services
that were refunded separately in the old system,
such as the administration of certain intravenous
drugs and diagnostic laboratory tests, are now paid
in a lump sum. This bundled reimbursement rate is

In-center dialysis Home dialysis

Europe/Middle East/Africa 93 % 7%
Latin America 88 % 12%
Asia-Pacific 90 % 10 %
North America 82 % 18 %
» Worldwide 89% 1%

Source: Company data and estimates
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adapted to patients’ characteristics such as age and
weight; it can also be adjusted for patients who re-
quire exceptional medical care, which is more costly.
The u.s. reimbursement system also takes into ac-
count quality parameters such as the regulation of
the hemoglobin content of the blood (anemia man-
agement) and the effectiveness of dialysis treatment.
With our vertical business model, we are very well-
placed to work with reimbursement systems based on
qualitative criteria, such as the system in the u.s., and
are also well-equipped for any future adjustments.

Effective, January 1, 2014 some of the described pa-
rameters of the reimbursement system have been
changed. As a consequence, the reimbursement rate
will be stable in the next two years compared with
2013 but the raising costs due to inflation will not
be covered anymore. This is another financial blow

to our Company, after we were hit hard by the auto-
matic budget cuts (sequestration) in the last finan-
cial year to reduce the government debt in the u.s.,
as they also affected the dialysis sector. More infor-
mation can be found in the “Outlook” chapter starting
on page 121 and in the “Results of operations” section

starting on page 62.

Fresenius Medical Care in a global comparison
We estimate the volume of the global dialysis mar-
ket to be around $75BN for 2013. Measured in terms
of u.s. dollar, there is no percentage change com-
pared to the previous year due to strong exchange
rate effects. In constant currency the market volume
increased by 4%. We expect the following approxi-
mate breakdown for this market volume: dialysis
products at around $14BN and dialysis services (in-
cluding dialysis drugs) at approximately $61BN.

— T.2.2.7 Market position relating to major product groups in 2013
1stplace 2nd place
Dialyzers Fresenius Medical Care Baxter’
Dialysis machines Fresenius Medical Care Nikkiso
Concentrates for hemodialysis Fresenius Medical Care Baxter’
Bloodline systems Fresenius Medical Care Baxter’

Products for peritoneal dialysis

Baxter' Fresenius Medical Care

" Baxter including the Gambro acquisition completed in September 2013.
Source: Company data and estimates

— C€.2.2.8

36% Others »

Dialysis products in 2013

Market share, based on revenue

4 34% Fresenius Medical Care

<€30% Baxter'

" Baxter including the Gambro acquisition completed in September 2013.
Source: Company data and estimates
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Two major providers in the dialysis

product market
The main dialysis products include dialyzers, hemo-
dialysis machines, concentrates and dialysis solu-
tions, along with products for peritoneal dialysis; see
glossary starting on page 283. In terms of revenue, the two
largest manufacturers of dialysis products together
accounted for approximately 64% of the worldwide
market in 2013. With a market share of 34%,
Fresenius Medical Care was the market leader in this
segment, followed by Baxter with 30%. The remain-
ing, mainly Japanese, dialysis product providers all
held market shares in the single-digit percentage
range.

Dialyzers for hemodialysis are the largest product
group in the dialysis market with a worldwide sales
volume of around 250M units in 2013. Around 106 M
were made by Fresenius Medical Care, meaning that
we comfortably held the largest market share in this

— C€.2.2.9

45 % Others »

Hemodialysis products in 2013

Market share, based on revenue

segment. We set a new record in terms of unit sales
in the u.s., our largest single market, with more
than 41m dialyzers sold in 2013. Hemodialysis ma-
chines constitute another key segment of our prod-
uct business. Here, too, we are the clear market
leader: Of the more than 80,000 dialysis machines
sold worldwide in 2013, some 55% were produced by
Fresenius Medical Care. The u.s. is our biggest sales
market for dialysis machines. In the reporting year,
more than 94% of the dialysis machines sold there
were made by Fresenius Medical Care. Our 2008 se-
ries machine is the most common dialysis system in
the u.s. with more than 119,000 units in use.

China was our second-largest market after the u.s.
for sales of new hemodialysis machines in the repor-
ting year: We delivered approximately 6,800 ma-
chines there in 2013. Over 40% of all hemodialysis
machines currently in use in China are produced by
Fresenius Medical Care.

437 % Fresenius Medical Care

<18 % Baxter’

" Baxter including the Gambro acquisition completed in September 2013.
Source: Company data and estimates

— C€.2.2.10

8% Others »

Peritoneal dialysis products in 2013
Market share, based on revenue

< 21% Fresenius Medical Care

<71 % Baxter’

" Baxter including the Gambro acquisition completed in September 2013.
Source: Company data and estimates
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In the area of peritoneal dialysis, we account for 21%
of the global market in terms of revenue; see also
chart 2.2.10. on page 55. In the u.s., we hold a market
share of 42%. Further information on our position in
the home dialysis market comprising home hemodi-
alysis and peritoneal dialysis can be found in the
“Home dialysis: still a niche market” section on page 42.

Dialysis services:
patients mostly treated in dialysis centers
Renal patients generally receive dialysis treatment in
clinics or dialysis centers, which they visit three
times a week for several hours. They are treated ei-
ther during the day or overnight while they sleep.
Further treatment options include home dialysis,

— C.2.2.11 Dialysis clinic operators in 2013
Share of patients treated
North America 18% 64% 18%
u.s. 1_% 79% 20%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 61% 15% 24%
EU 57% 21% 22%
Asia-Pacific 52% 6% 42%
—
Japan 20% 80%
Latin America 15% 22% 63%
» Worldwide 43% 23% 34%
wm Public  wm Private companies wm Private individuals
Source: Company data and estimates
— C.2.2.12 Dialysis providers in the different regions in 2013
Number of patients treated

North America
Fresenius Medical Care 171,440
DaVita 161,000
US Renal Care 14,000

—
Europe
Fresenius Medical Care 51,541
Diaverum 18,600
Kuratorium fir Dialyse 18,500
Asia-Pacific
Fresenius Medical Care 17,869
Zenjin-Kai 6,000

-
Showai-Kai 5,000

-
Latin America
Fresenius Medical Care 29,272
Baxter’ 8,700

—_—
Diaverum 4,100

-

" Baxter including the Gambro acquisition completed in September 2013.
Source: Company data and estimates
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which patients mostly carry out themselves at home
under expert guidance and with the necessary ac-
cessories, or dialysis on vacation, for example on a
cruise ship or at a resort; Fresenius Medical Care also
offers services for these special cases. However, the
vast majority of dialysis services involve conven-
tional treatment in clinics or centers.

In 2013, most dialysis patients were treated in one of
around 35,600 dialysis centers worldwide, with an
average of some 70 patients per center. The organi-
zation of the centers also differs significantly de-
pending on whether the healthcare systems in the
individual countries are mainly state-run or privately
operated: There are approximately 6,100 dialysis clin-
ics in the u.s. and about 5,500 in the European Union
(EU). Whereas only approximately 1% of patients in
the u.s. are treated by publicly funded clinics, in the
EU, this figure is around 57%. In Japan, on the other
hand, private nephrologists (doctors specializing in
renal care) play a key role; around 8o% of dialysis
patients are treated in their facilities.

Fresenius Medical Care can operate its own therapy
centers in countries where the healthcare system
allows private-sector companies to provide medi-
cal services and an appropriate reimbursement sys-
tem is in place. For some years now, healthcare
systems in a large number of countries have been
under pressure to improve the quality of treatment
while keeping healthcare costs as low as possible.
Some countries have therefore started to contem-
plate whether and how specialized private compa-
nies can help them in this. Other countries are only
just setting up their healthcare systems and are
interested in working with healthcare companies
with a good reputation for high-quality services
with the aim of developing modern treatment
standards. In both cases, Fresenius Medical Care,
as an experienced vertically integrated provider, is
the right partner: With our high-quality and inno-
vative products and services, we are ideally posi-
tioned to continue expanding our position on the
dialysis market.

— C€.2.2.13 Top 5 dialysis providers worldwide in 2013
Number of patients treated
Fresenius Medical Care 270,122
DaVita 166,000
Diaverum 23,000
—
Kuratorium fur Dialyse 18,500
—
US Renal Care 15,000
—
Source: Company data and estimates
— C.2.2.14 Fresenius Medical Care: patients treated in 2013
North America 30% 70%
u.s. 37% 63%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 8% 92%
—
EU 11% 89%
Asia-Pacific 2% 98%
-
Japan 100%
Latin America 12% 88%
» Worldwide 11% 89%

m fresenius Medical Care wm Other providers
Source: Company data and estimates
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In this respect, the Chinese market is becoming
increasingly important for our business: The Chinese
government has introduced numerous initiatives to
develop a modern healthcare system with corre-
sponding reimbursement structures — an important
prerequisite for opening the market for dialysis ser-
vices to international providers. For the time being,
we will continue to drive our future growth in the
Chinese market primarily through cooperation with
local clinics and management contracts. So far, this
applies to 100 clinics (previous year: 72 clinics), which
we provide with dialysis machines and disposable
products.

In the u.s., Fresenius Medical Care together with the
second-largest provider DaVita care for over 70% of
all dialysis patients; the level of concentration with
regard to dialysis clinics is therefore already rela-
tively high. In the reporting year, Fresenius Medical
Care maintained its position as market leader, treat-
ing around 167,000 patients, approximately 37% of all
dialysis patients in the u.s. (2012: around 160,000 pa-
tients, approximately 37%).

Outside the u.s., the dialysis services business is con-
siderably more fragmented: With 1,140 dialysis clinics
and more than 100,000 patients in approximately
45 countries, Fresenius Medical Care operates the larg-
est and most international network of clinics by far.

Overall, Fresenius Medical Care further consolidated
its position as the clear market leader in the dialysis
services business in the reporting period, treating
270,122 dialysis patients (2012: 257,916) in 3,250 clinics
(2012: 3,160) in the past year.

Dialysis drugs supplement our range
Usually, patients undergoing dialysis require medica-
tion to counteract anemia and to control their min-
eral metabolism — both of which are consequences
of chronic kidney failure. In 2013, the market volume
of dialysis drugs amounted to about $8.2BN, based
on data from the market research institution 1ms
MIDAS® and our own internal estimates. The majority
of this is allotted to a few drug classes. Approxi-
mately $5.0BN, representing almost two thirds of
the total market for dialysis drugs, is generated
with erythropoesis-stimulating agents for treating

anemia. We source them from the American com-
pany Amgen and its partners, for example. Phos-
phate binders used to control bone metabolism, on
the other hand, are produced in-house, both for use
in our own dialysis centers as well as for distribution
to third parties. The market volume of phosphate
binders was about $1.4BN in the previous year. We
produce iron compounds for the treatment of ane-
mia as part of a joint venture with Galenica - Vifor
Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. We also
use them in our own clinics and distribute them to
third parties. For the amount of kidney disease the
market volume of intravenous iron compounds such
as these amounted to around $445M in 2013.

EVENTS SIGNIFICANT
FOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Management Board changes

As planned, Rice Powell succeeded Dr. Ben J. Lipps as
Chief Executive Officer (ceo) of Fresenius Medical
Care and Chairman of the Management Board, ef-
fective January 1, 2013. Previously, he served as Vice
Chairman and Member of the Management Board
responsible for the North America region. Further-
more, Ronald Kuerbitz succeeded Rice Powell as
Member of the Management Board responsible for
the North America region, also effective January 1,
2013. Ronald Kuerbitz joined Fresenius Medical Care
North America in 1997, having held various positions
within the Company and most recently serving as
General Counsel and Chief Administration Officer
responsible for Market Development and Adminis-
tration. Effective March 1, 2013, Fresenius Medical
Care has expanded its Management Board and has
appointed Dr. Olaf Schermeier as a new Member of
the Management Board with responsibility for our
global research and development activities.

Acquisitions and divestitures
Our investment strategy remained unchanged in
2013. We stepped up investments in our future
growth by continually expanding our network of
clinics and product business and by increasing our
production capacities. In particular, we further ex-
panded our service business in the context of our
acquisition activities. In the reporting year, this was
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also reflected by our acquisitions budget of about
$500M, the bulk of which was used for the $150m
acquisition of the u.s. laboratory services provider
Shiel Medical Laboratory. We completed the acquisi-
tion in November 2013. Further information about
our investments and acquisitions can be found in
the “Financial situation” section starting on page 66 and
in the “Financial report” starting on page 182.

Financing and capital structure

In the past financial year, Fresenius Medical Care
simplified its capital structure with a mandatory con-
version of the outstanding non-voting preference
shares into ordinary shares at a ratio of 1:1. The con-
version was completed on June 28, 2013 in line with
a resolution approved by the Annual General Meet-
ing in May 2013. Overall, approximately 3.97 m prefer-
ence shares were converted into ordinary shares,
equivalent to around 1.3% of the Company’s share
capital at the time of the conversion.

Furthermore, Fresenius Medical Care completed a
share buyback program in August of the past finan-
cial year. In total, the Company acquired approxi-
mately 7.5M ordinary shares with a total volume of
€385M (around $500M). The program was financed
from cash flow as well as previously agreed credit
lines.

The number of outstanding shares fell by about 3.5 m
in net terms as a result of the share buyback pro-
gram; it stood at about 301.45Mm at the end of 2013.

Business environment

The Company’s business environment remained
largely unchanged in many markets in 2013, as did
the relevant legal frameworks for our business.
However, we are increasingly having to operate in
an environment that does not take sufficient ac-
count of inflation and the resultant cost increases. In
our largest sales market, the u.s., business was
negatively impacted by the automatic budget cuts
(sequestration) of 2% and the associated reductions
in reimbursement rates for dialysis treatment of
state-insured patients. Without these reimburse-
ment cuts, operating income would have been $56 M
higher in the financial year 2013.

COMPARISON OF THE ACTUAL BUSINESS
RESULTS WITH FORECASTS

Fresenius Medical Care looks back on a satisfactory
fiscal year: We once again were able to sustain our
growth path. We have largely met our targets for 2013.
At the beginning of the reporting year, we expected
revenue of around $14.60BN for the financial year
2013. In actual fact, we increased revenue by 6% to
$14.61BN. All regions — North America, Europe/Middle
East/Africa, Asia-Pacific and Latin America — contrib-
uted to the expansion in business.

At the beginning of the year, we set a target range
of $1.10BN to $1.20BN for net income. As the year
progressed, we slightly adapted our target for the
financial year 2013. The top end of the net income
forecast was adjusted from $1.20BN to $1.15BN in
our report on the second quarter of 2013. At that
time, the previously enforced and controversial u.s.
budget cuts (sequestration) looked unlikely to be
revised again. We generated net income of $1.11BN
in the financial year, within our target range. Com-
pared with last year net income fell by 6%. But in
our view profitability of Fresenius Medical Care did
not decline. This can be seen in the development of
the net income adjusted for special items. Com-
pared to the adjusted net income of $1.05BN in 2012
which excludes an investment gain of $140M, net
income rose by 6% in 2013. Further information
can be found in the “Results of operations” section

starting on page 62.

The expected steady growth of the dividend is re-
flected in our dividend proposal: Subject to approval
by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014, the
dividend per ordinary share will increase by 3% to
€0.77 (2012: €0.75). More information on the dividend
proposal can be found in the “Dividend continuity”
section on page 32.

We earmarked around $700M for capital expendi-
tures and around $500 M for acquisitions in 2013. We
remained within our target and used $728 M for cap-
ital expenditures (net) — corresponding to 5.0% of
revenue — and $478M for acquisitions less divesti-
tures. For further information, see the “Financial sit-
uation” section starting on page 66.
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Driven by earnings development and ongoing excel-
lent management of accounts receivables, net cash
provided by operating activities in 2013 was $2.03 BN.
At 13.9% of revenue, it was therefore well above the
target of 10% of revenue.

According to our forecast, the leverage ratio (de-
fined as the ratio of total financial debt to earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortiza-
tion =debt/EBITDA ratio) should have been not above
3.0 by the end of 2013. The actual debt/eBITDA ratio
was 2.8 as at the reporting date, and therefore also
developed better as predicted.

The number of employees at Fresenius Medical Care
(full-time equivalents) grew from 86,153 at the end
of 2012 to 90,690 at the end of 2013, reaching our
forecasted figure of more than 90,000. The Company’s
organic growth and acquisitions, especially in North
America, were key contributing factors.

Research and development expenditures aimed at
boosting and enhancing Fresenius Medical Care’s
ability to adapt to future requirements amounted to
$126 M, not quite meeting our target of around

$140M. This discrepancy was mainly due to delays
in hemodialysis and pharmaceutical projects. Our re-
search and development activities are focused on
further developing existing product groups. Details
can be found in the “Research and development”
Chapter starting on page 72.

The dialysis market developed as we had predicted:
The number of patients worldwide grew by around
7%. As expected, there were no significant changes
compared to the previous year concerning the allo-
cation of dialysis patients to different treatment
methods. Hemodialysis continued to be by far the
most important method used to treat chronic kid-
ney failure in 2013. For further information, see the
“Dialysis market” section starting on page 51.

THE MANAGEMENT'S GENERAL
ASSESSMENT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Performance in the financial year 2013 was satisfac-
tory: We achieved our targets and continued on our
growth path. Despite the difficult general conditions
— particularly the reimbursement cuts in one of our

— T.2.2.15 Targets and results for 2013
Target
Results 2013 Targets 2013 achieved
Revenue $14.61BN >$14.6BN v
Bottom end of the range
Net income’ $1.11BN  of $1.10BN to $1.15BN v
+3% per ordinary share  Based on development of
Dividend? to €0.77 earnings v
Investments, net $728M ~$700M v
Acquisitions, net $S478 M ~$500M v
Debt/EBITDA ratio 2.8 <3.0 v
Number of employees 90,690 > 90,000 v
Research and development expenses $126 M ~$140M

" Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.

2 Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014.
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most important markets, the U.s. — we set a new
revenue record of $14.61BN (up 6% on 2012). At the
same time, we also improved our global market po-
sition. With the revenue growth attained at regional
level, we have also consolidated our local market
positions.

In addition, Fresenius Medical Care continued to
boost its profitability in the year under review. We
believe that performance is best reflected by net in-
come adjusted for special items. Compared with
2012, net income attributable to shareholders of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.KGaA rose by 6% to
$1.11BN. However, we did not maintain the same
pace of growth as previous years in 2013. The effects
of government cuts will have a more pronounced
impact on our earnings in 2014. Consequently, we
will progress with our existing measures to improve
efficiency.

Our investing activities are continuing apace. We
again spent more than $1.2BN on investments in-
cluding acquisitions in 2013. Expansion of our service
business and production capacity accounted for the
bulk of this. In 2014, our investing activities are likely
to increase even further, amounting to around
$1.3BN. We are confident that we can achieve a stra-
tegic positioning for the Company that will allow us
to successfully continue on our growth path in the
longer term.
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CHAPTER 2.3

Results of operations,
financial situation, assets and liabilities

The financial year 2013 was very successful:
We achieved sound results despite challenging market conditions.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue

In the year under review, Fresenius Medical Care in-
creased its revenue by 6% to $14.61BN, also corre-
sponding to a 6% growth rate in constant currency
terms. The organic revenue growth amounted to 5%,
while acquisitions (net) accounted for 1% of reve-
nue growth. Revenue from dialysis services rose by
6% (+7% on a constant currency basis) to $11.13BN.
Revenue from dialysis products was up 5% to
$3.48BN. On a constant currency basis, the increase
was also 5%.

Revenue in North America, still our most important
business region with a share of 66%, was $9.61BN in
2013, 6% above the $9.03 BN generated in the previ-
ous year. The organic revenue growth amounted to
4%, while acquisitions (net) accounted for 2% of

revenue growth. Revenue from dialysis services im-
proved by 7% to $8.77 BN in 2013 (2012: $8.23 BN). Rev-
enue from dialysis products increased by 4% to
$834 M (2012: $801M).

Revenue in the International segment, which in-
cludes all regions outside North America, improved
by 5% to $4.97 BN (+6% at constant currency) in 2013.
Acquisitions (net) had the positive effect to increase
revenue by 1%, while organic growth was 5%. Reve-
nue from dialysis services in the International seg-
ment grew by 4% over the previous year to $2.36 BN.
In constant currency terms, this represents an in-
crease of 7%. Revenue from dialysis products rose by
5% to $2.61BN in 2012, corresponding to 5% growth
in constant currency terms.

At the end of 2013, we operated 3,250 dialysis clinics,
3% more than 2012. We treated 270,122 dialysis

— T.2.3.1 Revenue by segment
in SM
Acquisitions/
Exchange Organic divestitures
2013 2012 Change rate effects growth (net)
North America
Dialysis products 834 801 4% 0% 4% 0%
Dialysis services 8,772 8,230 7% 0% 4% 3%
» Total 9,606 9,031 6% 0% 4% 2%
International
Dialysis products 2,612 2,478 5% 0% 5% 0%
Dialysis services 2,358 2,262 4% -3% 6% 1%
» Total 4,970 4,740 5% -1% 5% 1%
Worldwide
Dialysis products’ 3,480 3,308 5% 0% 5% 0%
Dialysis services 11,130 10,492 6% -1% 5% 2%
» Total 14,610 13,800 6% 0% 5% 1%

" Including revenue generated by corporate functions in the amount of $34 M for 2013 and $29 M for 2012.
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patients in the year under review, an increase of 5%.
The number of treatments rose by 5% to around
40.46 M in the reporting year.

The largest business region in the International seg-
ment is Europe/Middle East/Africa (EMEA). Here, rev-
enue rose by 5% to $3.02 BN in the past financial year.
On a constant currency basis, revenue was up 3%.
The region’s share of total revenue was 21% (2012:
21%). By the end of 2013, we were treating 51,541
patients in 632 dialysis facilities, over 2,600 patients
or 5% more than twelve months before. In 2013, we
generated revenue of $1.41BN from dialysis services
in this region, up 5% over the preceding year. In con-
stant currency terms, this represents a 4% increase.
Revenue from dialysis products totaled $1.62 BN, up
4% year-on-year. In constant currency terms, we
posted revenue growth of 2%.

Revenue in the Latin America region increased by
5% to $843M (15% based on constant currencies).
The share of total revenue was unchanged from the
previous year at 6%. Revenue from dialysis services
grew by 5% (+17% in constant currency terms) to
$589 M. Revenue from dialysis products amounted
to $254 M, an increase of 3% compared to the pre-
vious year (+9% in constant currency terms). By the
end of 2013, more than 29,000 patients were re-
ceiving dialysis treatments in the 231 clinics in this
business region.

The Asia-Pacific region recorded an increase in reve-
nue of 6% to $1.10BN. This corresponds to 8% reve-
nue growth based on constant currencies. The share
of total revenue of this region fell from 8% in 2012 to
7% in 2013. Revenue from dialysis services fell by 2%
(+2% on a constant currency basis) to $363 M. Reve-
nue from dialysis products rose by 10% (+12% on a
constant currency basis) to $741M. By the end of
2013, we were treating almost 18,000 patients in
254 dialysis facilities.

Earnings
Operating income (EBIT)
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) rose by 2%
10 $2.26 BN in 2013.

In North America, operating income improved by 1%
to $1.62 BN in 2013. The operating income margin de-
creased from 17.9% in 2012 t0 16.9% in 2013.

In the International segment, operating income was
up 6% to $858M in 2013 compared with $809M in
2012. At 17.3%, the operating margin was slightly
higher than the previous year’s figure of 17.1%.

Corporate costs increased in the course of 2013, as
expected, particularly due to the higher legal and
consultancy fees. The total corporate operating ex-
penditures amounted to $226 M in 2013, after $205M
in 2012.

— T.2.3.2 Revenue by region
in SM

Percentage
of total
2013 2012 Change revenue
North America 9,606 9,031 6% 66 %
Europe/Middle East/Africa 3,023 2,893 5% 21%
Latin America 843 804 5% 6%
Asia-Pacific 1,104 1,043 6% 7%
Corporate 34 29 15% 0%
» Total 14,610 13,800 6% 100 %
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Net income
Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co.KGaA fell by 6% to $1.1BN in
the financial year 2013. Excluding an investment gain
of $140M in 2012, net income rose by 6% from
$1.05BN to $1.11BN (in 2013).

Gross profit
Gross profit in 2013 amounted to $4.74BN, up 3%
compared to 2012. The gross profit margin declined
from 33.3 to 32.4%. The decrease in the margin is
largely due to the lower gross profit margin in North
America.

Selling, general and administrative expenses rose by
8% t0 $2.39BN (2012: $2.22BN) and from 16.1t0 16.4%
as a percentage of revenues.

Depreciation totaled $648M in 2013 compared with
$603 M in 2012. Depreciation as a percentage of reve-
nue remained unchanged at 4.4%.

Research and development expenses increased from
$112M in 2012 to $126 M as a result of the constant
enhancement of existing product groups.

— T.2.3.3 Patients
2013 2012 Change
North America 171,440 164,554 4%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 51,541 48,902 5%
Latin America 29,272 26,956 9%
Asia-Pacific 17,869 17,504 2%
» Total 270,122 257,916 5%
— T.2.3.4 Treatments
in M
2013 2012 Change
North America 25.66 24.41 5%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 7.73 7.49 3%
Latin America 4.42 4.10 8%
Asia-Pacific 2.65 2.59 2%
» Total 40.46 38.59 5%
— T.2.3.5 Clinics
2013 2012 Change
North America 2,133 2,082 2%
Europe/Middle East/Africa 632 608 4%
Latin America 231 225 3%
Asia-Pacific 254 245 4%
» Total 3,250 3,160 3%
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Net interest
Net interest expenses in 2013 amounted to $409 M,
after $426m in 2012. This development mainly
stemmed from the reduction of the average debt as
well as lower interest rates as a result of the expiry
of interest-rate swaps and of one-time costs related
to the 2012 credit agreement in 2012.

Detailed information can be found in the “Financial
situation” section starting on page 66 and in the “Finan-
cial report" starting on page 180.

Tax rate
Income tax in the year under review amounted to
$592 M, compared to $605M in 2012. This corresponds
to an effective tax rate of 32.0%, after 31.3% in 2012.

Basic earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per share (eps) fell by 6% in 2013 to
$3.65, compared with $3.89 in 2012. Excluding the
investment gain of $140M in 2012, basic earnings
per share rose by 6% from $3.43 to $3.65. The av-
erage weighted number of shares outstanding in
2013 was around 303.8M (2012: 305.1M). The de-
crease in the number of shares outstanding re-
sulted from the share buyback program, which
was completed in August 2013 as scheduled. This
was partly offset by the exercise of stock options
in the past twelve months. Details on how basic
earnings per share are derived can be found in the
“Financial report” on page 242.

— T.2.3.6 Operating income (EBIT)
in SM
2013 2012 Change
North America 1,624 1,615 1%
International 858 809 6%
Corporate (226) (205) 10%
» Total 2,256 2,219 2%
— T.2.3.7 Condensed statement of income
in SM
2013 2012 Change
Revenue 14,610 13,800 6%
Cost of revenue 9,872 9,199 7%
» Gross profit 4,738 4,601 3%
In % of revenue 32.4 333 -
» Operating income (EBIT) 2,256 2,219 2%
Investment gain 0 140 -
Interest expense, net 409 426 -4%
» Earnings before taxes 1,847 1,933 -4%
» Net income! 1,110 1,187 -6%

" Net income attributable to the shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
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Value added statement

The value added statement reflects Fresenius Medical
Care's total economic output in 2013. All outlays,
such as the consumption by value of purchased
goods and services, as well as depreciation and
amortization have been deducted from the Company'’s
performance. The value added of Fresenius Medical
Care in 2013 was $7.50BN, up 3% from $7.27BN in
2012. The bulk of this, 69% or $5.20BN, was paid to
staff, while 8% or $592m went to the public sector.
Lenders partook of around $448 M or 6%. The share-
holders and other partners received around 6% or
$454 M. $802 M from the value added remained in the
Company for reinforcement of the business.

Order situation

Just under three-quarters of Fresenius Medical Care’s
business model involves services that are not de-
fined by project-related incoming orders. Product
business, which chiefly consists of single-use prod-
ucts, is mainly characterized by consistent long-term
demand rather than product-related orders. For
these reasons, reporting of the order volume is not
an informative indicator for the income develop-
ment of Fresenius Medical Care.

ERATIONS,
SETS AND LIABILITIES

FINANCIAL SITUATION

Our investment and financing strategy did not
change substantially in the past financial year. This is
also due to our business model, which is based on
stable and high cash flows, allowing a more consis-
tent and higher level of debt than might be the case
in other industries. We still regard our refinancing
options as being very stable and flexible. In the cur-
rent financial year, the focus of our investing activi-
ties is on our dialysis services business.

Principles and objectives of

financial management
Besides optimizing our financial costs, financial flex-
ibility takes top priority in Fresenius Medical Care’s
financing strategy. The Company ensures this flexi-
bility by using a wide range of financial instruments
and securing a high level of diversification with re-
gard to our investors and banks. Our financing pro-
file is characterized by a wide spread of maturities
up to 2022.

The main financing instrument is the syndicated
credit agreement with a revolving credit facility and
a long-term loan. In addition, we use several other

— T.2.3.8 Value added statement
in SM
2013 2012

Creation

Company output 14,668 100 % 13,839 100%
Outlays (6,525) -44 % (5,962) -43%
Gross value added 8,143 56 % 7,877 57 %
Depreciation and amortization (648) -4 % (603) -4%
» Net value added 7,495 52 % 7,274 53%
Utilization'

Staff 5,199 69 % 4,872 67 %
Public sector 592 8% 605 8%
Lenders 448 6 % 470 7%
Shareholders and other partners 454 6% 436 6%
Company 802 1% 891 12%
» Net value added 7,495 100 % 7,274 100%

Assuming the distribution of 2013 profits is approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014.
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mid and long-term financing instruments, mainly in-
cluding senior, unsecured notes in euro and u.s. dol-
lar and to a lesser extent, senior, unsecured euro
notes with fixed-rate and floating-rate tranches.

With only partially drawn credit facilities and our ac-
counts receivable, we have sufficient financial re-
sources. Our target for committed and unutilized
credit facilities is between $300Mm and $500m. Our
main 2014 financing needs are the principal pay-
ments under the syndicated credit agreement and
repayment of a loan from the European Investment
Bank, each totaling approximately $200 M, as well as
the dividend payment estimated at $320m and a
payment of around $100Mm for settlement of insol-
vency proceedings. These payments are to be fi-
nanced from the cash flow and existing credit facili-
ties, and possibly by incurring additional debts.

In our long-term financial planning, we focus pri-
marily on the leverage ratio, defined as the debt/
EBITDA ratio. This sets our total financial debt in rela-
tion with our earnings before interest, taxes, depre-
ciation and amortization (EBITDA). Fresenius Medical
Care holds a strong position in the growing dialysis
sector, which is considered in general non-cyclical.

This industry is characterized by relatively stable cash
flows. Our market position is further supported by a
high creditworthiness of most of our customers. A
substantial portion of our accounts receivables are
generated by governmental healthcare institutions.
While payment and collection practices vary not
only between countries but also between individual
authorities, governmental payors usually represent a
lower to moderate credit risk. This allows us a more
consistent and higher level of debt than may be the
case in other industries. At the end of 2013, the debt/
EBITDA ratio remained unchanged at 2.83 in compar-
ison to the previous year. Further information on this
can be found in the “Strategy, objectives, and corpo-
rate management” section starting on page 44 as well as
the “Outlook” chapter starting on page 121.

For detailed information on financing, please see the
“Financial report” starting on page 180 and the “Outlook”
chapter starting on page 121.

— T.2.3.9 Major financing instruments of Fresenius Medical Care

Amount in M Coupon Maturity
Credit agreement revolving facility ~$1,290 - October 30, 2017
Credit agreement term loan A $2,600' - October 30, 2017
Senior notes 2010-2016 €250 5.50% July 15, 2016

3-month-Euribor

Senior notes 2011-2016 €100 +3.50% October 15, 2016
Senior notes 2007-2017 $500 6.875% July 15, 2017
Senior notes 2011-2018 $400 6.50% September 15, 2018
Senior notes 2011-2018 €400 6.50% September 15, 2018
Senior notes 2011-2021 $650 5.75% February 15, 2021
Senior notes 2011-2021 €300 5.25% February 15, 2021
Senior notes 2012-2019 €250 5.25% July 31, 2019
Senior notes 2012-2019 $800 5.625% July 31, 2019
Senior notes 2012-2022 $700 5.875% January 31, 2022
Euro notes €45" - October 27, 2014
Accounts receivable facility $800 - January 15, 2016

Original amount before amortization.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



68

2

.3

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,
FINANCIAL SITUATION, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Credit rating
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services confirmed Fresenius
Medical Care’s corporate credit of “BB+" and gave a
“positive” outlook. The rating from Moody’s remains
“Ba1” with a “stable” outlook. Fitch is currently re-
viewing its rating for the Company.

Effect of off-balance-sheet financing
instruments on our financial situation and assets
and liabilities
Fresenius Medical Care is not involved in any off-bal-
ance-sheet transactions that could have or will be
likely to materially affect the Company’s financial
situation, profit and loss position, liquidity, invest-

ments, assets or capitalization.

Liquidity analysis

Our main sources of liquidity are our net cash pro-
vided by operating activities and credits granted by
third parties, as well as the use of other financing
instruments as required. We need these resources
primarily to finance working capital, to fund acquisi-
tions, to build, expand and equip our own dialysis
centers and production facilities, and to repay debt
and to pay dividends. For detailed information on
liquidity, please see the “Financial report” starting on
page 180.

— T.2.3.10

Credit rating

17" consecutive dividend increase
Fresenius Medical Care will propose the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting the 17™ consecutive dividend increase.
The recommended dividend per ordinary share is ex-
pected to increase by 3% from €0.75 for 2012 to €0.77
for 2013. The total dividend payout expected will
amount to approximately €232Mm (2012: €230M). For
further information on dividends, please refer to the
“Dividend continuity” section on page 32.

Capital expenditures and acquisitions
In 2013, Fresenius Medical Care spent $1.21BN on
capital expenditures, acquisitions and the purchase
of intangible assets. $771M of this was spent in the
North America segment, $268M in the International
segment and $167 M for corporate functions.

Total net investment in property, plant and equip-
ment was $728 M, up from $666 M the year before. A
large portion of capital expenditures — $447m — con-
cerned equipping existing and new clinics. In addi-
tion, $166 M was invested in the maintenance and
expansion of production capacity, primarily in Ger-
many, North America, France and China. $135M was
spent for the equipment of distribution companies.
This includes amongst others the capitalization of
dialysis machines provided to customers — mainly in

Senior Senior

secured unsecured

Corporate credit rating Outlook debt debt

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2013 2013 2013

Standard & Poor's BB+ BB+ BB BB BB Positive BBB-— BB+
Moody'’s Ba1 Ba1 Ba1 Ba1 Ba1 Stable Baa3 Ba2
Fitch? BB+ BB+ BB+ BB BB Positive BBB— BB+

" Fitch is currently reviewing its rating for the Company.
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the International segment. A small amount of $20m
was generated by divestitures. Capital expenditures
in property, plant and equipment amounted to some
5% of overall revenue, at the same level as in the
previous year.

45% of net investments were used for expansion ac-
tivities, while 55% were spent on maintaining exist-
ing production sites and dialysis clinics.

In geographical terms, 51% of our net investments
were made in North America, followed by corporate
functions with 23%, Europe with 19%, Asia-Pacific
with 4% and Latin America with 3%.

In 2013, $496 M was spent on acquisitions primarily
related to the purchasing of dialysis clinics and the
business of Shiel Medical Laboratory in the u.s. as
well as the granting of an investment-type loan as
credit facility. $412m of this sum is related to the
North America segment, $82M to the International
segment and $2M to corporate functions.

— T.2.3.11 Net investments and

acquisitions by segment
in SM

Cash flow analysis

Our consolidated statement of cash flows gives an
insight into how our Company has generated and
used cash and cash equivalents (cash flow). In con-
junction with the other main components of the
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated
statement of cash flows provides information that
helps to assess the changes to our net assets and our
financial structure (including liquidity and solvency).

Net cash provided by operating activities was almost
unchanged from the previous year at $2.03BN in
2013. Cash flows were used for investing activities
(expenditures and acquisitions). A detailed descrip-
tion of additional factors is presented in the “Finan-
cial report" starting on page 180.

In 2013, we observed some regional differences in
the payment patterns of our customers. The days
sales outstanding, in other words the number of
days that pass before customers settle outstand-
ing invoices of Fresenius Medical Care, decreased

4% Asia-Pacific »
3% Latin America »

19 % Europe/Middle East/Africa »

23 % Corporate »

Of which acquisi- Absolute

Of which tions/intangible change

property, plant  assets and other Of which compared to

2013 2012 and equipment investments divestitures 2012

North America 771 1,914 374 412 15 (1,143)

International 268 192 189 82 3 76

Corporate 167 175 165 2 0 (8)

» Total 1,206 2,281 728 496 18 (1,075)
— C.2.3.12 Net investments in property, plant and equipment by regions

< 51% North America
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significantly once again in the year under review.
The days sales outstanding in the North America
segment were reduced by a further two days in 2013.
In the International segment, the improved payment
behavior of individual European countries has con-
tributed essentially to a decline in days sales out-
standing of five days. The high days sales outstand-
ing in this segment compared to the North America
segment mainly reflect the average payment delays
by government and private entities.

In the year under review, we achieved a free cash
flow of $1.31BN compared to $1.37BN in 2012. Taking
account of payments for acquisitions (net of divesti-
tures) of $478 M (2012: $1,615 M), we achieved a free
cash flow after acquisitions and divestitures of
$829 M compared to $—242 M in the previous year.

For further information, please see the “Capital ex-
penditures and acquisitions” section starting on page 68.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

We recorded an increase in total assets and im-
proved our asset situation once again in the year un-
der review. The key balance sheet indicators reflect
our sustainable growth and successful performance.

Balance sheet structure analysis
The Group's total assets increased by 4% year-on-
year to $23.12 BN. The growth rate on a constant cur-
rency basis was also 4%.

— T.2.3.13 Days sales outstanding
in days, December 31
2013 2012 Change
North America 53 55 -2
International 110 115 -5
» Total 73 76 -3
— T.2.3.14 Abbreviated statement of cash flow!
in SM
2013 2012 Change
Cash at the beginning of the year 688 457 50%
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,035 2,039 0%
Net cash provided by investing activities (1,206) (2,281) -47%
Net cash provided by financing activities (808) 468 -
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (26) 5 -
Cash at the end of the year 683 688 -1%
Free cash flow 1,307 1,373 -5%
" A detailed representation can be found in the “Financial report” starting on page 198.
— C.2.3.15 Net cash provided by operating activities
in SM
2013 2,035
2012 2,039
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,
FINANCIAL SITUATION, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets rose by 4% (+4% on a constant
currency basis) to $16.83BN at the end of 2013. This
corresponds to approximately 73% of the Group's
total assets. The increase in non-current assets in
absolute terms is mainly attributable to acquisitions
and capital expenditures.

Non-current assets include goodwill of $11.66BN
(previous year: $11.42 BN), primarily from the acquisi-
tion of Renal Care Group, Inc. in 2006 and the acqui-
sition of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc. in 2012 as well
as the founding of Fresenius Medical Care in 1996.
Property, plant and equipment increased by 5% to
$3.09 BN in the year under review, largely as a result
of capital expenditures. Further information can be
found in the “Capital expenditures and acquisitions”
section starting on page 68.

Current assets increased by 3% (+3% on a constant
currency basis) to $6.29BN at the end of 2013. The
main reason for this development was the 6%
increase in inventory, which was primarily attribut-
able to the Group's business growth. Further informa-
tion can be found in the “Financial situation” section
starting on page 66.

On the liability side of the balance sheet, equity in-
creased by 3% to $9.49BN as of year-end 2013. This
was primarily due to the net profit for the period,
the exercise of stock options and the additional
payment for the conversion of preference shares
into ordinary shares. The equity base was reduced
by the acquisition of treasury shares and the divi-
dend payment for 2012, as well as foreign-currency
translation adjustments and the fair value measure-
ment of minority interests of other shareholders
with put options. The equity ratio was unchanged
year-on-year at 41%.

Liabilities increased by 4% (+3% on a constant
currency basis) to $13.63BN. Financial liabilities
amounted to $8.42BN after $8.30BN in the previous
year. Of this figure, $0.67 8N related to current finan-
cial liabilities (2012: $0.46 BN). Non-current financial
liabilities amounted to $7.75BN after $7.84BN in the
previous year. 72% of financial liabilities were u.s.
dollar-denominated compared with 73% in the pre-
vious year.

Further information can be found in the “Financial
report" starting on page 180 and page 196.

— T.2.3.16 Balance sheet structure
inSM
As % As %
2013 of total assets 2012 of total assets
Assets

Non-current assets 16,833 73% 16,199 73%
Accounts receivable 3,190 14% 3,157 14%
Inventories 1,097 5% 1,037 5%
Other assets 2,000 8% 1,933 8%
Current assets 6,287 27 % 6,127 27%
» Total assets 23,120 100% 22,326 100%

Equity and liabilities
Equity 9,485 41% 9,207 41%
Non-current liabilities’ 10,081 44 % 9,949 45%
Current liabilities 3,554 15% 3,170 14%
Liabilities 13,635 59% 13,119 59%
» Total equity and liabilities 23,120 100% 22,326 100%

" Including minority interests of other shareholders with put options.
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Research and development

Developing new products and improving our dialysis treatments
are integral parts of our growth strategy. Our employees in the Research
and Development department (R & D) also benefit from direct access
to the opinions and experience of patients and experts at our own dialysis
centers. In the year under review, we restructured our R&D department,
enabling us to leverage this potential even further and promote the
exchange of knowledge and technology between different regions even
more systematically.

GLOBAL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

We sell our products in more than 120 countries
around the world. The market conditions in some of
these countries vary considerably. Fresenius Medical
Care successfully takes this disparity into account
with its differentiated product range. Our familiarity
with the specific features of our markets helps us to
create trust and build rapport with our patients. Our
R&D teams also benefit from this: As our product
development is decentralized, we can address re-
gional requirements quickly.

However, chronic kidney failure is fast becoming a
global problem, leading to growing demand for im-
proved, high-quality yet cost-efficient treatment
methods. For our R&D teams around the world, this
increasingly results in synergies that we intend to
leverage even more efficiently in future. To account
for this trend, we restructured our research and de-
velopment organization in the 2013 financial year.
This involved expanding the Management Board to
include a member responsible for research and de-
velopment and pooling our global R&D activities.
The aim is to build a global rR&D function that effi-
ciently develops compelling products for the inter-
national market. We will do this in three steps:

Step 1: global portfolio management
The newly formed worldwide rR&D organization in-
corporating global portfolio management will en-
able us to focus our development pipeline increas-
ingly on growth areas and markets. In 2013, based
on the new portfolio management process, we took
major decisions to apply the technologies developed

in the European R& D centers to the product require-
ments in developing countries in a more targeted
way.

Step 2: global product platforms

By managing product development globally and
creating a modular assembly system, we aim to
standardize the basic functions of our therapy sys-
tems at an international level. At the same time, this
will enable us to respond to local requirements with
suitably adapted end products. In this way, we in-
tend to reduce development times and achieve
economies of scale in purchasing. This step also al-
lows us to pool our development resources more
effectively for innovations and technological devel-
opments. The standardized platform architecture
comprises mechatronic assemblies such as blood
pumps and sensors, as well as software.

Step 3: global project management and global
development processes

By introducing globally applicable project manage-
ment standards, structures and development pro-
cesses, we will be able to make our project man-
agement even more efficient. For example, we
intend to split responsibility for completing the var-
ious development projects on time and on budget
among our different treatment areas. Another ele-
ment of this optimization process will be to involve
other operating units, including marketing and pro-
duction, more closely in the development process
to ensure a smooth transition to production for
newly developed products, for example. By bun-
dling activities such as process management and
technical documentation worldwide, we also aim to
contribute to continuously improving efficiency.
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THE FOUR CORE AREAS
OF OUR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Our activities in the area of research and develop-
ment focused on the following four major trends in
the past year:

» Advances in medicine and technology:

Dialysis has only been available as a standard treat-
ment for chronic kidney failure for only about
50 years. However, we are finding out more and
more about the complex interactions and concomi-
tant effects that occur with kidney failure. At the
same time, the technological possibilities for treat-
ing patients are also improving. Our R&D is geared
towards quickly turning new findings into mar-
ket-ready products, enabling us to offer patients
gentler, safer and more individual treatment. Our
technological developments in the year under re-
view focused on the area of information technology.
The aim is to find technologies to gradually reduce
the size of products and simplify their use, on the
one hand, and to integrate various treatment ele-
ments to create holistic therapy systems on the
other. Another focus is on enhancing our dialyzers
and other disposable products for both hemodialysis
and acute treatment. We are also working on prom-
ising methods such as sorbent technology for treat-
ing the dialysis solution.

» Sustained growth in patient numbers:

More people now suffer from chronic kidney failure
than ever. It is estimated that by 2020, there will be
around 3.8 M kidney patients worldwide. This devel-
opment is exacerbated by the increase in the num-
ber of people suffering from diseases such as high
blood pressure and diabetes — typical precursors of
kidney failure that are becoming more and more
common due to factors such as a lack of exercise, an
unhealthy diet, or obesity. This results in a higher
cost burden for healthcare systems and limited avail-
ability of trained personnel for dialysis centers. This
again boosts demand for home therapies such as
peritoneal dialysis and home hemodialysis. These
therapy areas as well as associated technologies and
products are therefore a key aspect of our R&D ac-
tivities. Treatment at home provides patients who

are suited to it with greater freedom in their daily
lives and helps to free up the limited capacity in di-
alysis clinics. In the year under review, a core area of
our R&D work was the development of home hemo-
dialysis systems with the aim of integrating them
into the daily lives of home dialysis patients as far as
possible while continuing to guarantee an optimum
treatment quality and length of treatment. One im-
portant aspect of this is making the systems smaller
and easier to transport, while another is significantly
reducing the amount of water required. The size and
complexity of the treatment systems is a particular
challenge here. Thanks to their low water consump-
tion, our new solutions are extremely resource-effi-
cient and flexible and can be used almost anywhere,
giving home dialysis patients maximum indepen-
dence and mobility.

» Increase in concomitant diseases:

Patients with chronic kidney failure are getting
older. This is partly because society is aging overall
and the risk of suffering from end-stage renal dis-
ease increases with age. Another reason is that ad-
vances in medicine are raising the life expectancy
of kidney patients. The older patients are, however,
the greater the likelihood of concomitant diseases
occurring, for example severe cardiac and vascular
conditions. Based on their growing prevalence and
new scientific insights, these are increasingly be-
coming a focal point of our research and develop-
ment: We are are stepping up our work on diag-
nostic and therapy systems that go beyond dialysis
itself.

» Rising cost pressure in healthcare:

An aging population, the spread of chronic illnesses,
and the aspiration to offer new or improved tech-
nologies in patient care all present major long-term
financial challenges to healthcare systems. Even
more reason for Fresenius Medical Care to abide
by a principle that is also specified in our internal
research guidelines: Innovations not only have to
be of a high quality, but they must also be afford-
able so that patients can benefit from them. Based
on our experience in operating our own dialysis
clinics, we do not consider these to be incompati-
ble demands.
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DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN 2013

We pressed ahead with enhancing our products
once more in 2013 as well as introducing and further
establishing several major innovations in our mar-
kets. Examples of key products are the 5008 Cordiax
therapy system as well as the 5008 and u.S. 2008K
platforms for home hemodialysis. These develop-
ments are in line with greater efforts to move hemo-
dialysis treatment to the patient’'s home environ-
ment whenever possible both on medical and
economic grounds. The products introduced by
Fresenius Medical Care for this purpose are designed
to meet the increased requirements of this treat-
ment environment in terms of patient safety and
user guidance.

With the launch of the biBag for the 2008T hemodi-
alysis device, a dry bicarbonate concentrate that dis-
solves in the device, we have contributed to further
improving dialysis treatment: The biBag makes rou-
tines in hemodialysis more efficient while increasing
patient safety during treatment because it prevents
confusion between the concentrates used.

Furthermore, we have introduced process enhance-
ments and improvements in the area of high-volume
HDF. Our aim here is to make the positive effects of
this treatment method, which are now clinically
proven, accessible to even more patients.

Fresenius Medical Care was again recognized for its
innovative products last year. For example, the busi-
ness magazine Forbes included us in its list of the
world’s most innovative companies for the third
time in a row, while Fresenius Medical Care was
hailed as one of the most important technology
companies in the healthcare industry in the Spanish
trade press.

RESULTS OF OUR CLINICAL RESEARCH

In addition to developing new products and proce-
dures and continuously enhancing existing ones, we
are also active in relevant areas of clinical research
such as chronic kidney failure in the broadest sense
and technologically related blood purification proce-
dures.

In 2013, we again undertook clinical studies to exam-
ine the automatic regulation of the electrolyte bal-
ance. The overall electrolyte balance of the human
body and the individual electrolyte concentrations in
the various bodily fluids and tissues are hugely sig-
nificant for the functioning of the entire organism.
In healthy people, the natural kidney assumes the
complex task of regulating this; in patients with
end-stage renal disease, dialysis has to perform this
function. Particularly in hemodialysis, where the di-
alysis solution is continuously being produced by a
dialysis machine, it is possible to influence these pro-
cesses favorably by adapting the dialysis solution
accordingly. The underlying issues are extremely
complex, and we need to test these thoroughly in
clinical studies before we can offer an automated
method of this kind as a routine procedure to aid
physicians. We are currently performing clinical tests
on such a procedure.

Another focus of our clinical studies at present is
peritoneal dialysis (PD) and especially overhydration,
which affects over half of PD patients. In a study that
we published in 2013, we demonstrated that active
fluid management has many benefits for patients: It
increases their survival rate, reduces the number and
duration of hospital stays, and improves the mainte-
nance of residual renal function. In the area of he-
modialysis, our Body Composition Monitor (BCM)
analysis system is already an integral part of therapy
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and enables us to determine the individual fluid sta-
tus and body composition of each patient. The pub-
lished study shows that the Bcm can also be used to
improve fluid management in PD patients, thus in-
creasing their life expectancy.

In another study, we are assessing the benefits of a
low-sodium PD solution for patients with high blood
pressure compared to a conventional solution al-
ready available on the market. The aim is to reduce
high blood pressure and improve the sodium and
water balance in the body. High blood pressure and
sodium and water deposits are typical concomitant
effects in PD patients.

EXTENDING COOPERATION IN RESEARCH

We work with universities and research institutes
around the world that operate in our specialist field.
One example is the Danube University Krems in
Austria, where we have funded research into extra-
corporeal blood purification processes with sorbents
for some 20 years. This long-standing partnership
with an excellent team of specialists was ultimately
one of the reasons why we decided to invest further
in our Krems facility.

We also maintain close contact with research insti-
tutes in the u.s., where our cooperation partners
include renowned universities as well as the Renal
Research Institute (RRI). The RRI was founded in 1997
as a joint venture between Fresenius Medical Care
North America and the Beth Israel Medical Center, a
hospital in New York. Today, as a wholly-owned en-
tity, it is a leading institute in the field of clinical
treatment and research into chronic kidney failure.
Together, we are working on some fundamental is-
sues related to dialysis treatment. These include the
complex causes of kidney disease, particular aspects

of treating children with kidney disease, or issues
such as fluid management in dialysis patients or the
effects of kidney disease on the natural acid-base
balance in the human body.

Our R&D projects are mainly carried out by our own
employees and research departments. So far, we have
only used third-party services for these purposes to a
small extent. In collaborating with national and inter-
national universities and other scientific institutions,
we use various financing models. Some of our re-
search alliances are also publicly funded.

RISE IN R& D EXPENDITURE

In the year under review, Fresenius Medical Care
spent a total of around $126 M on research and de-
velopment (2012: $112M). Similar to previous years,
R& D expenditure corresponded to around 4% of our
dialysis product revenue and slightly less than 1% of
our total revenue.

At the end of 2013, our patent portfolio comprised
some 5,560 property rights in approximately 890 pat-
ent families, i.e. groups of patents linked to an in-
vention. Our development work in the year under
review produced around 85 additional patent fami-
lies, including in the areas of extracorporeal treat-
ment methods and water balance management.
Fresenius Medical Care is working on an ongoing
basis on innovative, multifunctional blood cassettes
that could be used in extracorporeal treatment
methods to significantly improve their handling, pa-
tient safety and therapeutic effectiveness in the fu-
ture. This area is also the subject of research by com-
petitors. Having a broad portfolio of patents
- regardless of whether they have already been con-
verted into products — will give us a wide range of
options in future. Another therapeutic topic with a
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very high degree of medical innovation is the man-  In 2013, 552 highly qualified employees worked in
agement of dialysis patients’ water balance, which R&D at Fresenius Medical Care worldwide (2012:
we aim to improve by developing hardware and 530). They come from various backgrounds: Physi-
software for the Body Composition Monitor (BCMm). cians work side by side with software specialists,
The BcM records and assesses kidney patients’ long-  business economists and engineers in interdisci-
term fluid status. Clinical studies carried out over plinary teams.

the past two years prove just how crucial this is to

their survival. We have made various patent appli-  Our largest R& D unit with around 350 employees is
cations to accompany our ongoing product devel-  in Europe; charts 2.4.4 and 2.4.5 provide information on
opment in this area. their qualifications and professional background.
— T.2.4.1 Expenditures for research and development
inSM
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
» Total 126 112 111 97 94
— T.2.4.2 Number of patents
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
» Total 5,560 4,850 4,415 3,601 2,850
— T.2.4.3 Number of employees in R&D
full-time equivalents
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
» Total 552 530 530 503 477
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Most activities are carried out at the German sites
Schweinfurt and Bad Homburg. Other rR&D sites
are in St.Wendel (Germany), Bucharest (Romania)
and Krems (Austria). In the u.s., the Company main-
tains centers of excellence for device development
in Concord and Lake Forest, California, and one for
the development of dialyzers and other disposable
products in Ogden, Utah. Development activities in
Hong Kong and Changshu (China) are focused on
meeting the growing demand for cost-effective

dialysis systems. The global rR&D organization co-
ordinates cooperation and technology exchange
between the various sites.

As part of our innovation culture, we also strive to
carry out research and development responsibly. For
more information on this, see the “Responsibility”
chapter starting on page 98.

— C.2.4.4 Qualifications of R&D employees in Europe
1% Master craftsmen »
. . <434 % Technicians
32 % University graduates »
<433 % Graduates from University of Applied Sciences
— c.2.4.5 ————— Professional background of R&D employees in Europe

3% Chemistry »

4% Medicine »
6 % Biomedicine »

8% Physics »

16 % Others »

19 % Software specialists »

<25 % Electronics

<19 % Mechanics
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Procurement and production

As the industry leader with many years’ experience in dialysis,
we can call on considerable internal resources in production.
These include manufacturing capacity in all regions as well as expertise
in complex production technologies and processes. Furthermore we
have extensive skills in quality management, procurement and logistics
for sophisticated medical products.

CENTRAL GLOBAL MANUFACTURING
OPERATIONS DIVISION:
EFFICIENCY IN THE VALUE CHAIN

The Global Manufacturing Operations division (GMO)
bundles Fresenius Medical Care’s activities across all
regions in the areas of purchasing, production in-
cluding quality management, and many of its distri-
bution activities. This centralized approach enables
us to

» further increase the efficiency of our processes,

» optimize cost structures,

» improve returns on our invested manufacturing-
related capital,

» respond more flexibly,

» fulfill our commitment to meeting high quality and
safety standards.

In this way, we are able to make a lasting contribu-
tion to the success of our operations.

With a focus on quality, costs and availability, Gmo
has successfully introduced state-of-the-art infra-
structure, processes and systems in the last few
years, as well as bundling and optimizing existing
structures.

At the end of 2013, MO had 13,706 employees (2012:
13,247) at more than 40 production sites in around
25 countries. In the sections below, we describe the
functions and activities of the Gmo division along
our value chain.

STRATEGIC PURCHASING:
TRUST-BASED SUPPLIER RELATIONSHIPS,
CONSISTENT QUALITY

The aim of our strategic purchasing is to ensure
the availability, safety and quality of the materials
we use in production. Our employees in purchas-
ing in Europe, the u.s., and Asia work closely to-
gether to coordinate their respective procurement
strategy and continuously optimize purchasing
processes and their supplier portfolio. Our goal is
to further expand Fresenius Medical Care's com-
petitive and globally balanced supplier network,
thus ensuring the flexible supply of raw materials
from different currency areas.

The purchasing volume for materials and bought-in
services within GMoO totaled approximately $1.3BN
in 2013, roughly on a par with the previous year. The
entire costs of materials were $ 4.7 BN in 2013. Relative

— C.2.5.1 Global Manufacturing Operations (GMO)
Product Purchasing Production Distribution Regional
development # Ly | ,|to distribution distribution tc_)
i centers sales companies
and customers

A
Only part of GMO in
North America
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to our revenue costs of materials were 32% and
therefore did not change compared with last year.

Our procurement strategy focuses on purchasing
high-quality materials and components at optimum
economic conditions through long-term mutual rela-
tionships with our suppliers. We select our suppliers
very carefully according to their suitability and per-
formance, and develop innovative products and pro-
cesses together with key suppliers.

To help us respond even more effectively to the vol-
atility of the commodities markets, we are continu-
ously expanding our risk management in purchas-
ing. In the year under review, we mainly focused on
further diversifying our supplier portfolio to avoid
being dependent on one or just a few suppliers for
core materials and key components. This enables us
to avoid bottlenecks and minimize price fluctua-
tions. In addition, we are increasingly working with
multinational suppliers that can produce and deliver
materials in more than one region; we are also step-
ping up our purchasing activities in Asia and Eastern
Europe. With the help of uniform forecasting and
market analysis tools as well as criteria for monitor-
ing, e.g. credit ratings, punctuality and delivery
quality, we can manage our relationships with our
suppliers across all regions and identify any risks at
an early stage.

By increasingly standardizing our procurement pro-
cesses, centralizing them and making them more
transparent, we can continuously boost our effi-
ciency in purchasing while ensuring a constant sup-
ply of materials and maintaining our quality level. In
the reporting year we integrated the regions Asia-
Pacific and Latin America into our strategic purchas-
ing system to further standardize purchasing pro-
cesses in these regions. We also set up a transnational
analysis platform to standardize the decision-mak-
ing process whether to make or buy components.

We also launched a strategic purchasing initiative
that focuses on the ecological and social aspects
of the procurement process in the reporting year.
The emphasis is on the criteria of environmentally
sound and sustainable production as well as fair and
humane working conditions at our suppliers. We in-
tend to expand this initiative worldwide over the
next few years.

OUR PRODUCTION SITES:
ALLOCATION OF TASKS IN A GROWING
GLOBAL NETWORK

Our production strategy is geared towards manufac-
turing top-quality products in the right place, at the
right time, and at the best possible price. We are
able to implement this strategy successfully thanks
to our network comprising both large production
sites for technically sophisticated products that are
sold worldwide and production facilities that primar-
ily supply products regionally.

For example, we produce dialysis machines at two
sites: in Schweinfurt (Germany) and in Concord
(U.S.). Most of our other products are manufactured
directly in the regions in which they are needed.
We produce and assemble dialyzers at our facilities
in Ogden (u.s.), St.Wendel (Germany), LArbresle
(France), and Buzen (Japan), among others. Concen-
trates for hemodialysis are manufactured, for exam-
ple, in Germany, Great Britain, Spain, the u.s.,
Argentina, and Australia.

Most of the solutions used for peritoneal dialysis are
supplied by our production sites in St. Wendel and
Ogden.

Our largest sites in terms of production volume are
in the u.s., Germany and Japan. chart 2.1.1 on page 40
presents an overview of our main production sites.
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Some of our production sites have longstanding ex-
perience in manufacturing certain products. As our
centers of excellence, they use their expertise in
core technologies and materials to advise our local
production sites on harmonizing their processes.
With this approach, we encourage the exchange of
particularly successful procedures and methods be-
tween the different regions and sites.

At the same time, we are continuously assessing
new opportunities for the different regions to supply
each other with products and components. In this
way, we aim to further increase efficiency in our pro-
duction network and ensure that we can continue to
meet the growing demand in future. Thanks to har-
monized processes as well as standardized materials
and product components, the whole Company ben-
efits from production capacity in different regions.

Production facilities expanded

In the year under review, we started construction of
a new production facility in VrSac, Serbia, which is
scheduled to open at the end of 2014. This will dou-
ble our production capacity in Serbia for specific dis-
posable products such as bloodline systems, en-
abling us to cover the expected growth in demand
in Europe and Latin America in the years ahead.

In addition, we continued to extend and modernize
many of our production sites in 2013. For example, in
St.Wendel, we expanded our production capacity
for polysulfone fibers — a key component of our dia-
lyzers — with two new spinning systems, which were
put into operation at the start of 2014. At our plant
in L'Arbresle (France), we added a third production
line for dialyzers. By expanding our production site
in Changshu (China), we are able to meet the rising
local demand for dialyzers in particular. We also ex-
tended our plant SisTer in Palazzo Pignano (Italy) by
an automatic tube coils packaging system and new
extrusion lines.

Furthermore, we continued to modernize produc-
tion of our dialysis machines in Schweinfurt as well
as optimizing the internal logistics processes at this
plant and further increasing production capacity. In
the 2013 financial year, we relocated our dialysis ma-
chine production in the u.s. together with a distribu-
tion warehouse to Concord, California. The aim was
to minimize transport and to benefit from greater
capacity for developing and producing new products.

Highest quality standards

At Fresenius Medical Care, we believe that our prod-
ucts and therapies must be of the highest quality
and as reliable as possible to ensure the best medi-
cal care for our patients and customers. To meet our
own high standards as well as the numerous regula-
tory requirements, we have installed comprehensive
quality management systems in our business regions.
These ensure that all of our products and procedures
comply with quality and safety standards from de-
velopment, market approval, manufacture and use
in clinics, right up to training customers and dealing
with complaints. The quality management systems
used in our production processes combine internal
regulations, processes and procedures that meet the
demands of generally recognized external standards
and guidelines as well as representing best practice.
Our plants apply recognized quality management
tools such as Lean Six Sigma — see glossary on page 287.

Fresenius Medical Care has established comparable
processes in production in all regions to ensure ad-
herence to in-house quality standards and legal re-
quirements. In addition, some of our production sites
are certified according to several regional quality
standards. This helps to boost our flexibility while
minimizing the risk of supply bottlenecks. To further
harmonize our processes and link them throughout
the company, we launched a project in the year under
review to further integrate and standardize the qual-
ity management system. This systematically compares
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the methods used in different regions; then the best
possible solution is implemented in all divisions, while
maintaining the highest quality standards.

Lean Strategy 2013—2016 developed

Based on the processes of Lean Management and
process control with the Six Sigma method, we have
launched and continuously enhanced the global ini-
tiative Fresenius Operating System (FOSY) in the GMO
division in recent years. The aim of Fosy is to im-
prove quality in production and cut costs, thus in-
creasing our operational efficiency. We are guided in
this by the following four principles:

» Customers’ needs and quality are our top priorities.
» We rely exclusively on sound business processes.

» The just-in-time principle applies in all our admin-
istrative and operational activities.

» We ensure an efficient flow of information, mate-
rials and processes.

Building on this, we developed our Lean Strategy
2013—-2016 in the year under review, defining the
following goals:

» to introduce the continuous improvement process
as a long-term management philosophy in all depart-
ments of M0 and in product development,

» to jointly develop and implement lean projects and
workshops at the various production sites,

» to support employees through lean training,

» to set up an in-house consulting group for our
Lean Management sectors.

DISTRIBUTION IN THE REGIONS

In North America, GMO manages the entire value
chain from purchasing raw materials to delivering
finished products to our customers. In the other
regions, GMQ's responsibility only goes as far as de-
livering finished goods to our central distribution
centers; the regions themselves are responsible for
the further stages of the supply chain.

Our regional supply chain management teams work
closely with gmo and Sales and Marketing to
enable production capacity and inventory manage-
ment to be aligned even more closely with medi-
um-term demand patterns. In addition, we are con-
tinuously expanding our planning system for
demand assessment and inventory management
with respect to our most important disposable
products. A special distribution logic ensures that
production orders for the same products and man-
ufacturing methods are efficiently spread among
the relevant production sites.

In the year under review, we started harmonizing
and optimizing our inventory management systems
in Europe. As a result, we expect inventories to be-
come even more transparent, enabling us to man-
age them even more efficiently and flexibly from a
central point in the future.

In addition, we set up a strategic purchasing func-
tion within our supply chain department in 2013 for
the Europe, Middle East, Africa and Latin America
regions (EMEALA) to enable us to procure goods cen-
trally. These are additional products used in our own
dialysis centers, such as dressings or plasters, as
well as dialysis products that we do not manufac-
ture ourselves but sell to third parties as a full-ser-
vice provider.
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We are continuously enhancing our products based on our longstanding
experience and extensive technical expertise. Our aim is to constantly
optimize the dialysis treatment, minimize the risk factors for cardiovascular
diseases, make life easier for dialysis patients, and improve their quality of
life. Our main considerations in developing and manufacturing our dialysis
products are their quality and safety.

PRODUCTS FOR HEMODIALYSIS

Hemodialysis (HD) is by far the most common type
of therapy for chronic kidney failure. In dialysis cen-
ters, the patient’s blood is filtered outside the body
in a so-called dialyzer. In this process, toxins and
excess water are removed from the blood, while
blood cells and important proteins are held back.
Blood circulation is monitored and controlled by a
dialysis machine during treatment. Fresenius Medical
Care offers a comprehensive range of products for
HD, including machines and modular machine
components, dialyzers, bloodline systems, HD solu-
tions and concentrates, needles, water treatment
systems, data processing and analysis systems, and
dialysis chairs.

Dialysis machines
Computer-driven dialysis machines perform key tasks
during hemodialysis: They pump blood from the
patient’s body through a bloodline system into the
dialyzer. A dialysis fluid absorbs the toxins and ex-
cess water filtered out of the blood and transports
them out of the body. The dialysis fluid is fed into
the dialyzer via a separate cycle. The device can also
add an anti-coagulation drug to the blood. In addi-
tion, the machine has various automatic monitoring
and control functions that should ensure a safe and
efficient dialysis treatment. The special design of our
hemodialysis machines allows treatment to be tai-
lored to patients’ individual needs and makes it eas-
ier for us to constantly enhance our devices and
modules.

Fresenius Medical Care is the clear market leader in
this product segment with its 2008T, 40085 classic
and 5008 CorDiax series dialysis machines. We sold
44,000 dialysis machines worldwide in 2013 (2012: 42,350).
This means that more than one in two systems sold
are produced by Fresenius Medical Care.

The 5008 CorDiax therapy system features an ex-
tremely intuitive user interface. Its touchscreen
makes the device easy and safe for doctors and
nursing staff to use. In addition, this dialysis ma-
chine allows for HighVqume HDF — see glossary on page 285
— as a standard feature. The 5008 CorDiax series en-
ables very easy and safe HDF treatments with a high
replacement volume. HighVolume HDF has a positive
effect on dialysis-related cardiovascular risk factors
in many ways. It is currently recognized as the most
effective form of dialysis treatment, and comes clos-
est to the function of a healthy kidney. The 4008s
classic system boasts impressive standard features
and delivers very high treatment quality as well as
reliability and safety at a low price. This gives even
more dialysis patients easier access to high-quality
dialysis treatment, for instance in regions with a
poor infrastructure.

The 2008T dialysis machine for the North American
market combines state-of-the-art treatment technol-
ogy with the Fresenius Clinical Data Exchange (CDx)
system, a software to record and exchange clinical
data. This gives nursing staff direct on-site access to
dialysis treatment data and all other clinical data
that was previously recorded and stored in different
sources. As a result, this integrated treatment sys-
tem simplifies routines as well as billing.
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Dialyzers

The dialyzer assumes key functions of the kidney.
The patient’s blood flows through a plastic tube
approximately 30 centimeters long with up to
20,000 ultra-thin fibers. These extremely high-per-
formance fibers are made of Fresenius Polysulfone,
a special plastic characterized by exceptional
cleansing properties and blood compatibility. This
material is the result of our pioneering work in the
development and production of dialyzers, and sets
new standards in dialysis. The Helixone membrane,
also developed and produced by Fresenius Medical
Care, is an enhanced form of Polysulfone.

Fresenius Medical Care also leads the field world-
wide in the area of dialyzers. We offer a wide range
of them with our Fx and Fx CorDiax dialyzer series as
well as the Optiflux series in North America. These
meet the specific requirements of various therapy
methods as well as patients’ individual needs.
Fresenius Medical Care has also developed dialyzers
with a low blood-priming volume specifically for
treating children with dialysis.

Fresenius Medical Care sold about 106 M dialyzers in
2013 (2012: 100 M). The Company therefore accounts
for almost half of the global market with regard to
this product group.

From manufacturing membranes to packaging,
Fresenius Medical Care carries out the entire produc-
tion process for dialyzers under one roof. This helps
to ensure high quality standards.

Analysis systems

Overhydration is a widespread problem among dial-
ysis patients and a significant cause of cardiovascu-
lar diseases. In addition, it can reduce the effective-
ness of medication prescribed for illnesses associated
with kidney failure. An optimum fluid balance is
therefore a key challenge in treating patients with
chronic kidney failure.

The patient’s individual fluid status can be measured
extremely well with the Fresenius Medical Care Body
Composition Monitor analysis system. The results
can also be used to track and better understand the
correlation between overhydration and blood pres-
sure in each patient.

The Crit-Line analysis device developed for the
North American market also measures changes in
hemodialysis patients’ fluid balance during treat-
ment. This makes it possible to identify risk pa-
tients who are severely overhydrated but other-
wise show no clinical symptoms. Crit-Line is also
used to support the treatment of anemia in kidney
patients.

PRODUCTS FOR PERITONEAL DIALYSIS

In peritoneal dialysis (D), the peritoneum acts as a
natural filter. It has similar properties to the dialyzer
membranes: Certain substances can permeate its
pores, while others are held back. pb is carried out
by patients themselves at home or out and about,
for example at work. Most PD patients still have a
certain degree of residual kidney function. We offer
systems and solutions for continuous ambulatory
peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and automated peritoneal
dialysis (ApPD). Both therapies are supported by our
patient management software.

Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis

In continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD),
the dialysis solution is fed manually from a bag
through a catheter into the patient’s abdominal cav-
ity, where it is flushed through the peritoneum. This
process is carried out three to five times a day. After
four to five hours, the patient drains the dialysis
solution — now mixed with metabolic products —
into an empty bag and replaces it with new solution.
This ensures that the blood is continuously and gen-
tly cleansed.
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The stay.safe system is provided by Fresenius Medical
Care for cAPD. It consists of a bag filled with fresh
dialysis solution, an empty bag for the used solution,
a system of tubes, and the DIsc, a central control
switch specially developed by Fresenius Medical
Care. Thanks to the pisc technology, all treatment
steps can be performed safely and easily in a defined
sequence, virtually eliminating operating errors. In
addition, the pisc features a special valve system
that prevents bacteria from entering the catheter
and causing an infection in the peritoneum. All stay.
safe components are made of Biofine, an environ-
mentally friendly plastic developed by Fresenius
Medical Care comprising only carbon and hydrogen.
Products made of Biofine can either be recycled or
disposed of in an environmentally friendly way. The
PD-Paed system is a product combination that is spe-
cifically approved for infants and small children with
a body weight of up to 221b. It is suitable for treating
chronic and acute kidney failure and also enables
treatment in an incubator.

Automated peritoneal dialysis
Automated peritoneal dialysis (ApPD) is mostly carried
out at night. A special device called a cycler per-
forms the exchange of dialysis fluid. In the evening,
the patient connects up with the cycler, which then
automatically replaces the dialysate several times
during the night after it has been in the abdominal
cavity for just a short time. The cycler ensures that
the dialysis solution mixed with metabolic products
is fed in and drained out. This ensures that the blood
is continuously cleansed at night and that no treat-
ment is required during the day.

Fresenius Medical Care offers modern cyclers for
APD such as sleep.safe and the Liberty Cycler specifi-
cally for the North American market. They are simple
and safe to operate thanks to user-friendly software,
easy to carry and allow patients to sleep comfort-
ably during overnight treatment. In the cycler, a
hydraulic pump controlled by several pressure sen-
sors performs the fluid exchange. A microprocessor

monitors the entire treatment process, and the bags
are automatically connected by means of barcode
recognition. An integrated heater warms up the di-
alysis fluid before it is fed into the abdomen. Chil-
dren can also be treated with a special version of the
sleep.safe.

Patient management software
We offer various patient management programs in
our regions that support both cAPD and APD treat-
ment. They include PatientOnLine, 1Qsystem, Pack-pD,
and FITTesse. These programs help medical staff to
tailor dialysis treatment to the patient’s individual
needs.

Fresenius Medical Care also produces and sells a
host of other products that are essential for perito-
neal dialysis such as catheters, disinfectant, or heat-
ing plates for safely and conveniently heating the pD
fluid to body temperature.

PRODUCTS FOR FURTHER HOME THERAPIES

Home hemodialysis (home HD) is an alternative to
dialysis in a clinic. With this form of therapy, patients
perform their own dialysis treatment at home, usu-
ally with the assistance of a partner or trained per-
sonnel. Patients must be instructed in using the sys-
tem at a training center or a clinic.

Fresenius Medical Care’s home HD products are ex-
tremely safe. In certain cases, patients can be con-
nected to the dialysis center from home via a data
line to ensure even greater safety. Fresenius Medical
Care also supports home HD patients with compre-
hensive, easy-to-understand training and special
services.

Our home HD therapy systems — the 2008k@home for
the North American market and a home HD variant
of the 50085 CorDiax — are specifically geared to the
requirements of this form of treatment.
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PRODUCTS FOR ACUTE DIALYSIS

Continuous renal replacement therapy is used as
part of routine clinical practice to treat acute kid-
ney failure in critically ill patients in intensive care
units.

Fresenius Medical Care has developed multiFiltrate,
a therapy system that can be used for a wide range
of continuous treatments. Special therapy options
are also available for children’s intensive-care wards.

To prevent blood coagulation during dialysis treat-
ment, heparin is generally administered to patients.
Fresenius Medical Care was the first company to
develop a system for continuous renal replacement
therapy that uses citrate as an anticoagulant, the
multiFiltrate Ci-Ca. In contrast to heparin, citrate
only prevents coagulation in the blood circulation
outside the body. This helps patients in particular
with acute bleeding or a susceptibility to bleeding,
for example caused by an injury or after an oper-
ation.

PRODUCTS FOR OTHER
BLOOD-CLEANSING PROCEDURES

Extracorporeal blood cleansing is used not only to
treat chronic kidney failure, but also to support the
liver function on a temporary basis. Excess blood
fats or pathogenic antibodies can also be removed
in this way.

Liver support therapy

The liver performs numerous vital functions in the
body. If it cannot fulfill them adequately due to ill-
ness, harmful substances quickly build up in the pa-
tient’s blood. This can lead to life-threatening symp-
toms and, in extreme cases, even make a liver
transplant necessary. To bridge the gap until the
transplant or to prevent one altogether, fast and ef-
fective treatment is required.

Fresenius Medical Care's Prometheus therapy sys-
tem combines hemodialysis treatment with an ad-
sorptive method, thus temporarily relieving the liver.

Therapeutic apheresis
Therapeutic apheresis is a medical process whereby
specific pathogenic components are removed from
the blood or plasma outside the body. It is mainly
used in patients who can no longer be treated suc-
cessfully with medication.

The therapeutic removal of specific blood fats (lipo-
proteins) is called lipoprotein apheresis (LbL or lipid
apheresis). DALI and MONET are two effective and gen-
tle therapy methods developed by Fresenius Medical
Care for LDL apheresis. Treatment usually lasts one to
two hours. Treatment once a week is sufficient for
most patients.

Immunoapheresis is a therapy option for removing
antibodies that cause diseases or rejection following
a transplant. Immunosorba and Globaffin are two
different sorbents offered by Fresenius Medical Care
for immunoapheresis. During treatment, plasma is
separated from the blood and fed through one of
the two sorbents. This binds the antibodies so that
they accumulate in the sorbent and are removed
from the plasma.

DIALYSIS DRUGS

Our kidneys not only perform the important func-
tion of excreting certain toxins of the patient's
blood, they also produce hormones such as vita-
min D for healthy bone metabolism and erythropoi-
etin (Ep0), which stimulates the formation of red
blood cells. In addition, the kidney regulates the
body’s mineral balance. Although dialysis can per-
form some functions in patients with kidney failure
to a large extent, patients must also take drugs to
replace missing hormones and keep the body's min-
eral levels balanced.
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Minerals such as phosphate — which is important for
the bones and the energy balance — and potassium
are constantly absorbed from food. However, exces-
sive phosphate levels can contribute to arteriosclero-
sis, and excessive potassium content in the blood
can cause cardiac arrhythmias. In healthy people,
these excess minerals are excreted via the kidneys.
In dialysis patients, the phosphate and potassium
content in the blood can rise to dangerous levels
between treatments. Drugs such as phosphate and
potassium binders are taken at mealtimes. They bind
phosphate or potassium while it is still in the intes-
tine, thus controlling the increase in blood values.
Fresenius Medical Care offers several phosphate
binders for patients with various needs.

Anemia is a common complication among patients
with chronic kidney failure. To treat it, the body
must be supplied with sufficient quantities of iron.
The iron compounds sold by Fresenius Medical Care
in collaboration with Vifor Pharma are among the
most widely used on the market.

Fresenius Medical Care plans to continuously ex-

pand its range of pharmaceuticals for treating pa-
tients with chronic kidney failure.
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Our unrivaled experience as a provider of both dialysis services and
products makes us a valued partner in the healthcare system.
We care for more than 270,000 dialysis patients in a network comprising
a total of 3,250 dialysis clinics in more than 45 countries.

COMPREHENSIVE CARE WITH
NEPHROCARE AND ULTRACARE

Providing comprehensive care is a key factor when it
comes to offering the best possible treatment qual-
ity to patients with chronic kidney disease. We take
all aspects of treatment into account, from the pa-
tient’s vascular access to high-quality dialysis as well
as individual diet programs and supplementary ser-
vices. With our UltraCare and NephroCare brands in
the North America and International segments, we
have established a comprehensive patient care con-
cept as the standard in our own clinics and in home
dialysis. This enables us to achieve a lasting improve-
ment in our patients’ quality of life while keeping
costs for healthcare systems in check.

Our therapy concept is based on the following prin-
ciples:

» We use our own high-quality products, pharma-
ceuticals and procedures in our clinics and for treat-
ing home dialysis patients; these are continually re-
fined by our research and development team.

» We provide our patients with comprehensive treat-
ment and medical advice from qualified clinic per-
sonnel and physicians.

» We try to create a safe and pleasant atmosphere in
our dialysis clinics for both patients and employees.

» We systematically improve our performance and
efficiency by working according to both external
and internal quality standards as well as continually
analyzing and assessing treatment data in our own
clinics.

In line with these principles, our dialysis clinics are
subject to specific standards relating to patient care,
hygiene in clinical practice, clinic design, and the
purity of water used in treatment, to name just a
few. In many dialysis centers, nutrition specialists
and social workers assist our teams of doctors and
dialysis specialists. To help patients better under-
stand the issues of living with dialysis, we also pro-
vide our own educational material such as films and
patient journals.

In our regions, medical advisory boards and commit-
tees assist and advise us on developing our treat-
ment standards and services. These are then contin-
uously enhanced in internal expert working groups.
One example is the first government-certified Patient
Safety Organization (pso) for kidney diseases in
North America. All employees at our clinics in the
uU.s. report critical incidents to the pso, which uses
them to develop recommendations for optimizing
processes.

The International segment:
diverse and complex
Our services business in the International segment
is characterized by the diversity and complexity of
the different healthcare and remuneration systems.
Therefore, uniform quality and management stan-
dards are crucial to our patients’ quality of life, our
employees’ satisfaction and our own commercial
success. The NephroCare Excellence system in the
EMEALA region (Europe, Middle East, Africa and Latin
America) enables us to operate successfully and
offer our patients the best possible quality of life
even under such heterogeneous conditions. Nephro-
Care Excellence is a system that incorporates defined
quality and business targets, standards and values to
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support those responsible for implementation at
regional and national level. In 2014, we will supple-
ment this system with a medical benchmarking tool
called Medical Patient Review.

Our clinical information system EuCliD enables us to
obtain, compile and regularly examine our patients’
key medical quality indicators and then make any
necessary treatment adjustments for the patient’s
benefit. The data helps to determine the health of
individual patients more precisely and thus provide
each patient with the best possible treatment.

Services expanded in North America
In North America, the changes in the u.s. reimburse-
ment system for state-insured patients have particu-
larly impacted our dialysis business in recent years —
see “Healthcare and reimbursement systems vary
from country to country” starting on page 53. In view of
these changes, we have continuously expanded the
scope of our services. In addition to dialysis treat-
ments in our 2,133 proprietary clinics in North Amer-
ica, we provide a pharmacy service, special labora-
tory tests and services relating to vascular surgery (in
particular vascular access for dialysis patients), for
example — see “Operations and Strategy” chapter

starting on page 39.

UltraCare is a therapy concept that is geared toward
these specific conditions in the North American mar-
ket. It enables us to offer medical care to dialysis
patients thanks to innovative and efficient programs,
state-of-the-art technology and continuous treat-
ment quality improvement.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT
IN OUR DIALYSIS CENTERS

As at our production sites, special quality manage-
ment systems are in place at our dialysis centers,
which we regularly inspect ourselves as well as hav-
ing them checked by third parties. In Europe, for ex-
ample, this is performed by the technical certifica-
tion organization TOv. Its experts inspect our clinics
in annual audits to control conformance to the
150 9001 standard for quality management and the
150 14001 standard for environmental management.

In the u.s., our clinics are monitored by the Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (cms), a public
healthcare authority.

Clinical quality data
in line with recognized standards
We measure and assess the treatment quality at our
dialysis clinics on the basis of generally recognized
quality standards, such as industry-specific clinical
benchmarks, as well as our own quality targets. In
2013, we again provided our patients all over the
world with top-quality treatment, as shown by the
current medical quality parameters in table 2.7.1.

The Kt/V value shows whether a patient has been
detoxified effectively during dialysis. It provides in-
formation on urea content in the blood. Urea is
mostly excreted by healthy kidneys. In dialysis pa-
tients, it has to be filtered out of the blood using
renal replacement therapy. The Kt/V value of more
than 1.2 recommended by general guidelines and
standards was again attained in our clinics in 96% of
cases in 2013.

In addition, we aim for a specific hemoglobin level in
our patients. Hemoglobin is the component of red
blood cells that transports oxygen around the body.
Too little hemoglobin in the blood implies anemia,
which typically occurs in patients with chronic kid-
ney failure. Besides dialysis, anemia is treated with
iron supplements and the hormone compound
erythropoietin (EPO) see glossary on page 285.

The level of albumin in the blood is indicative of a
patient’s general nutritional status. Phosphate con-
centrations show whether treating the patient with
dialysis and medication is sufficient to enable the
body to absorb phosphate ingested with food.
Healthy people excrete excess phosphate via the
kidney, but a diseased kidney is unable to do this. If
the phosphate concentrations in the blood are too
high, this can lead to bone diseases, parathyroid
gland damage, and atherosclerosis, among other
conditions. The number of days dialysis patients
spend in hospital is also an important indicator for
us. Days spent in hospital significantly reduce the
quality of life of dialysis patients and are also ex-
tremely cost-intensive for the healthcare system.
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To guarantee a sufficient blood flow and ensure that
dialysis treatment is effective, a permanent arterio-
venous vascular access is necessary. In this context,
we record the number of patients who do not use a
hemodialysis catheter as a vascular access for dialy-
sis treatment see glossary on page 284. As catheters are as-
sociated with serious infections and more days spent
in hospital, we are committed to further increasing
the number of patients without catheters.

Quality surveys
to ensure continuous improvement
We regularly carry out patient surveys to find out
where we can make further improvements and in
which areas we should expand our services.

Quality data

for the fourth quarter of respective years, in %

Since 2012, the content of patient satisfaction sur-
veys in North America has been specified by the
state-run public healthcare authority cms (Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services), and the sur-
veys themselves have been conducted by an in-
dependent company in order to ensure confidential-
ity and anonymity. Health-related quality of life is
another key factor that we regularly measure in pa-
tient surveys. We use the results to inform and train
both our patients and our clinic staff in a more tar-
geted way with the aim of improving our patients’
quality of life in the long term.

Europe/
Middle East/
Possible impact U.s. Africa Asia-Pacific’
if too low
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Possibly more days
spent in hospital;

— T.2.7.1
Description
Effectiveness of dialysis:
measures how well the
Kt/V > 1.2 patient was detoxified

higher risk of mortality 97 97 96 95 96 97

Hemoglobin = 10-12 g/dl
Hemoglobin = 10-13 g/dI
(international)

Hemoglobin is responsible
for transporting oxygen
around the body

Indicative of anemia 81 82 78 78 68 68

Calcium 8.4-10.2mg/dl
Albumin > 3.5g/dI?
Phosphate < 5.5 mg/dl

Measures the patient’s
nutritional status
and mineral balance

Higher risk of mortality 66 66 77 78 70 71

Patients without catheter
(>90 days)

Measures the number
of patients with vascular
access

Possibly more days
spent in hospital? 83 82 83 83 92 94

Days in hospital
per patient

The result of
complications during
dialysis

Restriction to patients’
quality of life

[V

Figures based on:

- KDOQI guidelines (Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative) from the U.S.

— EBPG standard (European Best Practice Guidelines) from Europe.
- KDIGO guidelines (Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes), a recent global initiative, which is gaining in significance.

Includes data from the dialysis service provider Jiate in Taiwan and the Philippines.
International standard BCR CRM470.
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SERVICE FOR PATIENTS AND PARTNERS

For Fresenius Medical Care, a holistic quality concept
means providing the best possible patient care, even
beyond dialysis products and services. We therefore
offer advice for patients and healthcare partners as
well as other services in addition to our core offering
as a dialysis company.

Advice and care programs enhanced

The better informed kidney patients are about their
illness and how they themselves can influence the
course of the disease, the better the treatment re-
sults usually are. This is why Fresenius Medical Care
places great value on educating dialysis patients and
providing them with intensive medical advice. This
includes special training programs for patients and
their families. They also have the benefit of helping
our clinic employees to empathize more strongly
with patients so that they can respond even more
effectively to patients’ needs and motivate them to
adhere to their treatment plan in a more disciplined
manner.

In the International segment, our Kidney Options
program, which we further expanded in the year un-
der review, is geared towards patients in the prelim-
inary stages of chronic kidney failure. In addition to
a host of information material, our Kidney Options
Forum events give patients the opportunity to talk
with experts and other patients and find out about
therapy options. In the u.s., our Treatment Options
Program (top) is available to educate patients and
families on the various treatment options for chronic
kidney failure.

The first phase of treatment is often especially diffi-
cult for dialysis patients as their daily routine changes
drastically: They need to schedule several hours for
treatment a few times a week, the range of food
they are allowed to eat is restricted, and they are
required to take a number of drugs every day while

greatly reducing their fluid intake. Many patients
find it difficult to muster the necessary discipline for
this treatment plan, especially when they know little
about their illness. We offer the RightStart program
in North America to train new patients during this
critical first therapy phase beyond their visits to our
clinics and to boost their confidence. This program
enables us to provide our patients with comprehen-
sive information on the course of their illness and
treatment, the importance of a high-quality vascular
access, a healthy diet and specific treatment needs
and show how they themselves can help to signifi-
cantly improve their quality of life. The information
material is specially tailored to the first four months
of treatment at home or in a dialysis clinic. We also
offer a comprehensive introductory program for pa-
tients at our dialysis centers in the EMEALA region,
the Patient Introduction Package. The aim is to make
the transition to life on dialysis easier for patients
and provide them with a wide range of individual
information.

The vascular access, through which dialysis treat-
ment is carried out, is a patient’s lifeline. It is crucial
that patients are actively involved to ensure that di-
alysis treatment is carried out without complications
in the long term. We offer a Fistula Care Package to
help them clean their vascular access every day.

To enable us to give our patients the customary level
of medical support even in the case of a lengthy stay
in hospital, we run a program for inpatient care in
North America (Renal Inpatient Care Management).
Specially trained Fresenius Medical Care dialysis spe-
cialists work closely with hospitals to address pa-
tients’ individual medical needs and make the transi-
tion from inpatient to outpatient dialysis as smooth
as possible for patients, thus reducing the length of
their stay in hospital. In addition, our dialysis special-
ists help patients to find an outpatient dialysis center,
coordinate appointments and train them in the tran-
sition phase.
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Patient programs
for home therapies expanded
In addition to holistic treatment concepts for our
patients in dialysis centers, we offer various home
dialysis programs.

In the North American market, we have developed
UltraCare at home, a home dialysis program that not
only supplies patients with our products, but also
provides supplementary services to boost the suc-
cess of home therapy. These include ongoing train-
ing and support for our patients and their partners
from doctors, dieticians, social workers and other
members of the dialysis support team, technical as-
sistance and constant access to the dialysis center.

In the EMEALA region, we have developed a holistic
treatment concept specifically for peritoneal dialy-
sis under the brand name P3. This is designed to
improve patients’ quality of life and supports nurs-
ing staff, doctors and patients every step of the
way during therapy. The p® program enables us to
align the medical parameters of peritoneal dialysis
even more closely to patients’ needs to ensure that
their dialysis treatment at home is as successful as
possible.

Training programs intensified
In the complex and comparatively new medical dis-
cipline of dialysis, training doctors and nursing staff
on an ongoing basis is just as important as providing
advice to patients. The Advanced Renal Education
Program (AREP) is our U.S. internet-based training
program for the treatment and care of dialysis pa-
tients. It offers full and half-day seminars for ne-
phrologists as well as e-learning courses for doctors
and nursing staff — see also “Employees” chapter
starting on page 92. We have also stepped up training on
quality issues in dialysis for doctors in Asia, Africa
and the Middle East. Treatment standards are often
still being developed in these regions, and demand
for professional advice is correspondingly high.

Fresenius Medical Care also organizes conferences,
lectures, and workshops around the world in con-
junction with international nephrology experts.

Dialysis services in emergency situations

To ensure that patients’ vital dialysis treatment is not
interrupted even in extreme weather conditions
such as severe storms or floods, Fresenius Medical
Care’s professional emergency response teams are
called into action in affected regions. Their task is to
protect patients and employees in emergency situa-
tions, for example during natural disasters or pan-
demics, and to give patients the best possible care,
even under difficult conditions. In November 2013
our crisisteamsandvolunteers from Fresenius Medical
Care went into action in regions on the Philippines
that were affected by the Typhoon Haiyan to help
patients and provide them with their life-sustaining
dialysis treatments.

In North America, the Fresenius Medical Care Inci-
dent Command Center coordinates emergency task
forces in critical situations, for example during hurri-
canes, storm surges or in the tornado season. The
Incident Command Center is in close contact with
the u.s.-wide Kidney Community Emergency Re-
sponse Coalition (KCER). This is a network of different
organizations and institutions, such as patient and
professional nephrology associations, dialysis pro-
viders, hospitals, and authorities such as the Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) and the cms. By work-
ing with KCER, we can closely coordinate our crisis
management as needed with the activities of gov-
ernment emergency organizations, such as the Fed-
eral Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), a U.S.
national coordination office for disaster relief, and
the United States Department of Homeland Security,
which FEMA reports to.
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Employees

Fresenius Medical Care owes its business success and its leading position
in the dialysis market to the commitment of its employees. We offer them
a rewarding working environment and good long-term prospects for their
future careers. By recruiting talented new employees and specifically
supporting their development within the Company, we are also investing in
the future of our Company.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES CONTINUES
TO GROW

As of December 31, 2013, Fresenius Medical Care em-
ployed a total of 90,690 members of staff (full-time
equivalents) in more than 50 countries. Our workforce
therefore increased by 5% or more than 4,500 employ-
ees in absolute figures compared to the previous year.
This was attributable to our continued organic growth
as well as to acquisitions, especially in the area of
dialysis services: In the reporting year, acquisitions ac-
counted for 2% of the increase in employee numbers
worldwide. In the past ten years, the number of em-
ployees has risen by more than 8% a year on average.

At the end of the reporting year, 60% of our employ-
ees were based in North America, 23% in the EMEA
region (Europe, Middle East, Africa), 10% in Latin
America and 7% in the Asia-Pacific region. Our staff
count grew most in the North America region in the
past year with a rise of 3,053 employees, followed by
the EMEA region with an increase of 640 employees,
in particular due to the expansion of our clinic net-
work as a result of acquisitions.

Personnel expenses at Fresenius Medical Care rose
to $5.20BN in 2013 (2012: $4.87 BN). This equates to 36%
(2012: 35%) of revenue. Average personnel expenses
per employee stood at $57,335 (2012: $56,546).

— C.2.8.1 Number of employees
full-time equivalents
2013 90,690
2012 86,153
2011 79,159
2010 73,452
2009 67,988
— T.2.8.2 Employees by functional area
full-time equivalents
2013 2012 Change Share
Production and services 73,069 69,963 3,106 80%
Administration 14,675 13,379 1,296 16%
Sales and marketing 2,394 2,281 113 3%
Research and development 552 530 22 1%
» Total 90,690 86,153 4,537 100%
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In Germany, Fresenius Medical Care employed ap-
proximately 4,400 people (2012: about 4,300) at the
end of the reporting year, accounting for around 5%
(2012: 5%) of the total workforce. This underscores
our high degree of internationalization. The average
age of our employees in Germany was 42.7 years,
somewhat above the previous vyear's figure
(42.2 years). The average length of employment in
the Company increased from 11.2 years in 2012 to
11.5 years in 2013. The staff turnover rate was once
again low at 2.9% (2012: 2.8%).

PROMOTING DIVERSITY IN THE COMPANY

Fresenius Medical Care brings together a wide range
of cultures and talents worldwide. As a global

company, we value the diversity that our employees
provide in the form of personal strengths, character-
istics, interests and ideas. We want to continue pro-
moting diversity in the Company in the future and
raise awareness of it in all regions as one of the
Company's strengths.

One key issue in this respect is the percentage of
men and women in the Company as a whole as well
as in management positions. In 2013, 69% of employ-
ees were women (2012: 70%). With 33% (2012: 31%),
Fresenius Medical Care also has a relatively high pro-
portion of women in upper management positions.
When recruiting staff, our focus is on potential em-
ployees’ qualifications; gender is not a determining
factor. For this reason, we still do not intend to in-
troduce fixed quotas.

— T.2.8.3 Employees by region
full-time equivalents

2013 2012 Change Share
» North America 54,314 51,261 3,053 60%
Dialysis services 45,651 42,767
Dialysis products 8,663 8,494
» Europe/Middle East/Africa 21,327 20,687 640 23%
Dialysis services 13,240 12,845
Dialysis products 8,087 7,842
» Latin America 8,946 8,400 546 10%
Dialysis services 7,573 7,170
Dialysis products 1,373 1,230
» Asia-Pacific 5,963 5,682 281 7%
Dialysis services 3,543 3,514
Dialysis products 2,420 2,168
» Worldwide 90,690 86,153 4,537 100%
Dialysis services 70,007 66,296
Dialysis products 20,543 19,734
Corporate' 140 123

The divisions Global Manufacturing Operations and Research and Development are not included.
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CREATING AN ATTRACTIVE WORKING
ENVIRONMENT

We aim to create an attractive working environment
that enables our employees to combine their profes-
sional and family lives. With flexible working hours,
part-time work models, childcare allowances, and
healthcare and sports programs, we contribute to this.

Embracing a work-life balance

To supplement our other working time models, we
have introduced compensation time accounts in
Germany. In addition to a salary component in line
with collective pay agreements, employees can “pay”
value equivalents such as vacation days or compen-
sation components into these personal time ac-
counts and use them later, for example for their pro-
fessional development or a flexible transition to
retirement. The aim of this program is to offer em-
ployees attractive long-term prospects within the
Company and thus benefit from their experience for
as long as possible.

Healthcare management and occupational
safety programs expanded

We offer our employees at the different locations a
wide range of programs to promote their health,
adapted to their requirements and workloads. These
include Company sports courses, information and
events relating to health and exercise, as well as reg-
ular health checks for managers.

In the past financial year, we introduced an employee
support program at a number of locations in Germany

in cooperation with an external partner. This service,
which is available around the clock, offers fast, un-
bureaucratic counseling and psychosocial support
for employees in crisis situations or in the event of
burn-out or other mental illness. In the u.s., too, we
provide confidential counseling and other support
services jointly with an external partner.

Furthermore, in 2013 we introduced a central occu-
pational safety management system for the EMEA
region (Europe, Middle East, Africa) with the aim of
establishing a common standard for the wide range
of individual solutions. We plan to develop these
standards further over the coming years.

STRENGTHENING PERSONNEL
DEVELOPMENT

We place great value on enabling our employees to
apply their individual skills in our Company to the
best of their ability and to continue on their career
path as a specialist, manager or project leader.
Fresenius Medical Care is constantly expanding its
training portfolio.

Life-long learning, continuous feedback on perfor-
mance and work quality, and professional challenges
in line with our employees’ abilities, including the
opportunity to work abroad, are key instruments of
our Company-wide personnel development pro-
gram. This enables us to offer talented employees
clear career prospects while ensuring effective suc-
cession planning.

— T.2.8.4 Percentage of men and women in the Company
2013 2012
Total employees in %
Male 31 30
Female 69 70
Employees in upper management positions in %
Male 67 69
Female 33 31

Source: Company data, based on headcount
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New program set up for managers
Our managers and employees with leadership po-
tential are given the opportunity to take part in spe-
cific training programs.

» Global Executive Challenge (GEC) is a worldwide
program for employees in management positions.
The program is designed to use the gained know-
ledge in the daily routine of the participants and to
strengthen their leadership skills.

» Fresenius Advanced Management Program is a
Company-run program for developing employees in
upper management positions. The program is of-
fered in cooperation with Harvard Business School.

Promoting employees at our clinics

in line with demand
As one of the largest employers of medical personnel
worldwide, we place great value on providing our
specialist dialysis staff with a wide range of training
and further educational opportunities. We provide
needs-based training for employees at our clinics,
mostly at a regional level. Examples from the u.s. in-
clude:

» UltraCare Clinical Advancement Program (UCAP), one
of our development programs specifically for dialysis
specialists. We have continuously developed the
program over the past few years. UCAP consists of
five stages of training, each building on the last, and
is aimed at new and experienced employees in our
clinics as well as staff in the areas of home therapy
and acute dialysis. It helps dialysis specialists to de-
velop and expand their knowledge and leadership
skills and prepares them for the next step in their
career, for example as a clinic manager, health
trainer for patients, or mentor to clinic staff. In the
reporting year, more than 3,100 dialysis specialists
were enrolled in the program.

» Mentor Connection, a mentoring program in North
America in which experienced nurse managers
coach, support and offer advice to new colleagues.
In this way, we support managers on-site in our clin-
ics and enable them to settle into their new leader-
ship positions more quickly.

E-learning further enhanced

A medium that continued to gain in importance
once again for personnel development at Fresenius
Medical Care across all functional areas is e-learning
—digital training courses via the internet and intranet.
In the reporting year we completely revised our
e-learning system into an interactive platform.
Among other things the new so-called Fresenius
Learning Center offers trainings in virtual classrooms
and enables joint learning independently from the
location of each participant. We are also continu-
ously developing a special e-learning portal in the
u.s. as a learning tool offering a wide variety of sub-
jects. We aim to integrate e-learning into personnel
development to an even greater extent in future in
the form of blended learning.

TRAINING YOUNG PEOPLE

In Germany, we also invest in the Company’s future
by offering vocational training for young people.
As we train in association with the Fresenius Group,
we can offer young men and women a wide range
of prospects in a variety of trades, from electronics
technicians for devices and systems, IT specialists
and biological and chemical laboratory technicians,
industrial business management assistants, indus-
trial mechanics to Bachelor of Arts Accounting and
Controlling and Bachelor of Science Business In-
formation Technology. In the reporting year, we
also offered additional training opportunities in
Schweinfurt for process mechanics, industrial elec-
tricians for devices and systems and warehouse lo-
gistics specialists.

In 2013, we provided more than 2,350 apprentices
with vocational training together with the Fresenius
Group. In addition, in the past year more than 70 stu-
dents were enrolled in work-study courses such as
accounting and controlling, business information
technology, electrical engineering and healthcare
management that we offer in cooperation with the
Fresenius Group and several universities. We will
continue to expand the choice of work-study courses
to respond to growing internal demand.
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Fresenius Medical Care apprentices were once again
recognized for their outstanding performance in the
financial year, garnering local Chamber of Com-
merce awards. In previous years, we have been able
to take on all apprentices and work-study trainees
who completed their courses with good grades and
intended to stay in our Company.

Through our involvement in and with schools, we
aim to continue getting young people interested in
a career at Fresenius Medical Care. To this end, we
organize information days, visits to plants, intern-
ships and job application training courses. For exam-
ple, in September 2013 we were involved in the
“Training Night” at our Group headquarters in Bad
Homburg. At this event, students and parents were
able to find information about vocational training
and work-study courses as well as career prospects.
In Schweinfurt, where we produce dialysis machines,
we set up “wissenswerkstatt Schweinfurt e.V.” in
the reporting year in conjunction with other compa-
nies, associations and Schweinfurt city council. The
aim of the "wissenswerkstatt” is to make technol-
ogy more exciting and tangible for young people.

INCREASING MOTIVATION AND
IDENTIFICATION WITH THE COMPANY
WITH PERFORMANCE-RELATED PAY

Fresenius Medical Care is committed to paying its
employees in line with their performance and let-
ting them share in the Company’s success. Our

remuneration concept therefore comprises fixed
and variable components for most employees.

Bonuses increased again

We encourage our employees to identify with
Fresenius Medical Care by giving them a stake in our
Company's success. Annual bonuses for all employ-
ees in Germany are based on the operating earnings
(eBIT) of the Fresenius Group. In 2013, each eligible
employee received €2,164 for the preceding financial
year. Employees are given half of this amount in the
form of stocks. The other half is distributed as a cash
component.

Remuneration program as a long-term incentive

Since 2011, we have offered a remuneration program
as a long-term incentive. In this program, which is a
combination of a stock option plan and a phantom
stock plan, the exercising of options is linked directly
to the Company's success. Over a period of five
years, senior managers receive a total of up to 12m
options for bearer shares or phantom stocks. They
can exercise these after a period of four years on
condition that the adjusted earnings per share (EPs)
have increased by at least 8% in each year over the
four-year period. If this hurdle is cleared in one, two
or three years only, the options are reduced accord-
ingly. If earnings per share fall short of the mark
completely, the options are canceled. Some 800 se-
nior managers worldwide participated in this pro-
gram in 2013. Further information on the stock op-
tion plan and the phantom stock plan can be found
in the “Financial report”, starting on page 243.

— T.2.8.5 Profit sharing
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Figure in € 2,164 2,036 2,000 1,749 1,586
Number of eligible employees 3,325 3,231 3,068 2,918 2,765
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ENHANCING OUR ATTRACTIVENESS To strengthen our public image as an attractive em-
AS AN EMPLOYER ployer, we further enhanced our employer brand-

ing strategy in the year under review. It enables us
As well as retaining talented employees at Fresenius to address our target groups in an even more fo-
Medical Care, it is more important than ever that we cused way, for example in cooperation with univer-
position ourselves on the job market as an interest-  sities and other education institutions, at career
ing and attractive employer to gain new qualified fairs or on the internet, and emphasize the wide
employees. range of career opportunities for employees at
Fresenius Medical Care.
Fresenius Medical Care gives students the opportu-
nity to acquire practical experience in various areas
of the Company: We offer internships, research,
project and graduate programs, and cooperate
closely with higher education institutions to enable
talented young people to get to know us as an
attractive employer early on. One example is our col-
laboration with the University of Applied Sciences in
Wirzburg-Schweinfurt (FHwWS). As this college offers
students an excellent education in the fields of busi-
ness engineering, plastics technology, mechanical
engineering, engineering IT and especially electrical
engineering with a focus on medical and auto-
mation technology, many of its students and gradu-
ates are attractive potential employees for
Fresenius Medical Care and in particular for our
Schweinfurt plant, where we develop and manufac-
ture dialysis machines. For this reason, we have
signed a cooperation agreement with FHWS includ-
ing provisions on scholarships and student excur-
sions to the plant, as well as lectures and semes-
ter-long projects within various divisions of our
Company.

We get the opportunity to meet young researchers
through measures other than classic recruitment ac-
tivities by cooperating with international higher ed-
ucation institutions in the area of research and de-
velopment or by supporting young scientists, for
example with their doctoral thesis.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



98

CHAPTER 2.9
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Sustainable action is a key factor of our Company’s success. Responsible
corporate governance and trust-based dialog with our stakeholders are
firmly embedded in our code of conduct. In addition, we assume
responsibility for protecting the environment and endeavor to improve
the carbon footprint of our products and services.

Fresenius Medical Care is also committed to social causes worldwide.

SECURING THE COMPANY'S FUTURE
BY ACTING SUSTAINABLY

For Fresenius Medical Care, sustainability means act-
ing responsibly to achieve business success as well
as environmental and social progress. We distin-
guish between the following three areas:

» Economic responsibility
» Responsibility for the environment
» Social responsibility

Fresenius Medical Care's sustainability activities
again won plaudits in 2013. Our Company has fea-
tured in the prestigious Dow Jones Europe Sustain-
ability Index every year since 2009, and was also
listed in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index
for the first time in 2013. As part of the Carbon Dis-
closure Project (cop), which gathers and records in-
formation and data on co, emissions and climate
risks, Fresenius Medical Care significantly improved
its assessment compared with the previous year.

WE ASSUME ECONOMIC RESPONSIBILITY

Our business activities are based on responsible
management with a focus on integrity, sound corpo-
rate governance and adherence to compliance prin-
ciples. We also expect and encourage our employ-
ees and managers to behave impeccably from an
ethical standpoint. Our code of conduct, which is
applied in every division worldwide and forms the
framework for correct conduct towards our stake-
holders, shows how seriously we take our corporate
responsibility. It is based on our Company’s core val-
ues of quality, honesty and integrity, innovation and

progress, as well as respect, teamwork and dignity.
It also emphasizes our commitment to operate in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations
and our own Company policies. Our code of con-
duct and the underlying corporate values also in-
clude Fresenius Medical Care’s commitment to re-
specting human rights, and govern our actions, as
do the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Hu-
man Rights. Further information on corporate gover-
nance, compliance and the remuneration of Man-
agement Board and Supervisory Board Members at
Fresenius Medical Care can be found in the “Corpo-
rate governance report” starting on page 128.

We engage in dialog with our stakeholders
Fresenius Medical Care places great importance on
cultivating regular, trust-based dialog with its stake-
holders, including our suppliers. Our procurement
strategy is geared toward purchasing high-quality
materials and components through long-term mu-
tual relationships with our suppliers. In 2013, we also
launched an initiative in strategic purchasing that
focuses on the ecological and social aspects of the
procurement process. The emphasis is on environ-
mentally sound and resource-efficient production as
well as fair and humane working conditions at our
suppliers. In the next few years, we aim to roll out
this initiative worldwide to ensure that sustainability
is also taken seriously in the supply chain. Further
information can be found in the chapter “Procure-
ment and production” starting on page 78.

We treat our employees responsibly
Fresenius Medical Care is aware of its responsibility
towards its employees. By ensuring fair working and
pay conditions, continuous personnel development
and a healthy work-life balance, Fresenius Medical
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Care aims to become more attractive as an employer.
Further information can be found in the chapter
" Employees" starting on page 92.

We are continuously enhancing our occupational
safety measures and standards. In the u.s., we have
established a formal certified program to review en-
vironmental and occupational safety standards, to
which all production facilities and laboratories are
subjected on an annual basis. Audits are performed
to monitor compliance with regulations from the u.s.
Occupational Safety & Health Administration, the De-
partment of Transportation and the Environmental
Protection Agency in addition to state and local stat-
utes. At the end of August 2013, Fresenius Medical
Care North America received the “Safety in Excel-
lence Award” for the 14" time from the u.s. casualty
and property insurer CNA. This award honors the
Company'’s commitment to its employees’ health, to
safety, damage prevention and risk prevention.

In the EMEALA region (Europe, Middle East, Africa and
Latin America), we have consolidated our subsidiaries’
experience in the area of occupational health to cre-
ate a central management system for occupational
safety in line with the standard BS OHSAS 18001. This
system is now incorporated in our integrated manage-
ment system. In the past financial year, the first of our
dialysis clinics in Italy received the BS OHSAS 18001 cer-
tificate following a successful external audit. Our pro-
duction sites SisTer in Italy and SMAD in France have
now also been certified according to BS OHSAS 18001.

Research and development geared

to ethical standards
Whenever Fresenius Medical Care wants to launch a
new medical device or pharmaceutical product, the
Company is required by law to prove and extensively
document its effectiveness and safety based on
clinical studies. This means that it must be used with
a group of patients in a clinical environment over a
specified period.

Our industry is subject to extensive guidelines and
laws to ensure that no ethical principles are violated
during such studies, that physicians and institutions

carrying out studies on companies’ behalf have been
carefully selected based on their qualifications, and
that scientifically accepted methods are applied.
They include, for example, the declaration of the
World Medical Association, which prescribes basic
ethical principles for clinical research, eu directives
on pharmaceuticals (such as Directive 2001/20/EC),
the eu Medical Device Directive (MDD) and 15O stan-
dard 14155, which defines the criteria for clinical in-
vestigation and reporting in clinical research.
Fresenius Medical Care's clinical research is founded
on these regulations. In addition, we observe na-
tional laws and regulations such as the Pharmaceu-
ticals Act (AmMG) and the Medical Devices Act (MPG) in
Germany, or the u.s. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) regulations. Our own Fresenius Medical Care
Standard Operating Procedures combine these regu-
lations with internal rules to ensure that clinical
studies commissioned by us are carried out and doc-
umented properly. Before a study can even begin,
our application must be approved by ethics commit-
tees in the relevant countries.

We only use animal testing to obtain approval of
new products and forms of treatment where this is
prescribed by law. Such tests are carried out by
third-party research institutes in recognized test lab-
oratories, and are always first approved by an ethics
committee for animal testing. As a matter of princi-
ple, our strategy is to avoid animal testing and to
use alternative methods wherever possible. Further
information on our research and development can
be found starting on page 72.
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WE ASSUME RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

Environmental management enables us to imple-
ment environmental requirements and design our
operational processes to use resources as efficiently
as possible, thus saving on costs. We practice envi-
ronmental protection at our Company mainly with
the aim of optimizing the use of resources and re-
ducing the associated co, emissions. It also increas-
ingly supports our business divisions in creating
added value for our customers with eco-friendly
products and services. Last but not least, it ensures
that we as a Company take our responsibility to the
environment seriously.

Environmental management strategy
in our regions

Our decentralized corporate structure means that
we implement environmental management at a re-
gional level, as we do with most of our other oper-
ating areas. Our business regions step up their envi-
ronment-related activities from year to year. The
responsible environmental managers develop strate-
gies to enforce environmental protection at our pro-
duction sites and clinics and promote environmental
awareness among our employees. They also coordi-
nate environmental audits carried out by external
government agencies, institutions and our own au-
ditors at our production sites and clinics.

Environmental management is part of our integrated
management system in the EMEALA region. The Ger-
man technical inspection association TUv Sud regu-
larly controls compliance with the 150 14001 environ-
mental management standard at our Company
headquarters, in our certified plants and at the certi-
fied national clinic organizations. At the end of 2013,
eight of our European production sites (2012: seven)
and our medical product development were certified
according to 150 14001. In addition, the environmen-
tal management system was in place in 13 national
organizations in Europe (2012: also 13).

Our environmental program for the EMEALA region
defines five strategic environmental objectives. At its

production sites and clinics, Fresenius Medical Care
aims to:

» raise environmental awareness and encourage en-
vironmentally responsible behavior,

» enhance knowledge relating to strategic and oper-
ational environmental issues,

» increase the Company’s environmental performance,
for example its eco-efficiency,

» improve control of environmental risks,

» ensure that environmental regulations are com-
plied with.

Together with the respective business divisions, our
environmental managers have derived a large num-
ber of individual environmental objectives from
these requirements for the individual stages of the
value chain, for example for research and develop-
ment, our production sites, and our dialysis clinics.
For instance, we intend to recycle or incinerate at
least 85% of production waste in the EMEA region by
2015. We have also set ourselves the target of reduc-
ing water consumption by 10% on average, electric-
ity consumption by 6% and blood-contaminated
waste by 20% per dialysis treatment from 2012 until
2015. We exceeded our targets for water consump-
tion and waste reduction as early as 2013. Further
information can be found in the section “Environ-
mental management in our dialysis clinics” in this
chapter, starting on page 101.

Environmental management
at our production sites
In 2013, led by St.Wendel, our largest production
site in Europe, we developed performance indica-
tors for energy use and raw materials consumption
to verify the environmental performance of our pro-
duction processes. This also allows us to identify un-
tapped potential in a production process that has
already been largely optimized. In addition, we in-
troduced an energy management system certified
according to 150 50001 in St. Wendel, which we will
be expanding to all German sites in 2014. By evaluat-
ing the energy efficiency of all our processes and
systems in the course of this Germany-wide rollout,
we aim to identify further potential savings and
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derive measures from them. In the past financial
year, we started construction of a gas turbine to
generate energy in St.Wendel; in future, it is ex-
pected to supply 90% of the site’s electricity needs.
The new turbine also enables us to cut emissions on
site by around 30%.

In addition, we implemented further environmental
projects at our production sites worldwide in the
2013 financial year: At our SisTer plant in Italy, we
achieved an approximate 90% saving in packaging
materials by building new packing stations. At our
site in Walnut Creek and after the relocation to
Concord, California, in autumn 2013, we managed to
reduce waste by 75% year-on-year through various
initiatives. At our production site in Buzen, Japan,
we saved more than a quarter of the energy required
for sterilizing dialyzers with a new system for heat
recovery. And we have also implemented several
energy efficiency projects since 2011 at our Changshu
site in China: For example, we reuse waste water
from the reverse osmosis plant. In the area of pro-
duction, we have recycled condensation water
since 2012.

Further information on the environmental projects
at our production sites can be found in the maga-
zine starting on page 42.

Ecologically sustainable dialysis products

We are continuously endeavoring to make our prod-
ucts and processes more environmentally friendly,
for example by using new materials with improved
environmental properties or developing new tech-
nologies that further reduce the resource consump-
tion of our dialysis machines. The aim is to provide
our customers with added value by helping them to
save on costs or fulfill environmental requirements
better.

To enable us to improve and report on the Com-
pany’s environmental performance in the long
term, it is essential to track and analyze the impact
of our products and services on the environment
over their entire life cycle (ecological audit). In the
year under review, we therefore implemented the

“Comparative life cycle assessment” project, which

links information on product design, resource effi-
ciency in production, logistics and the use of prod-
ucts in dialysis. Data sources include in particular
internal environmental reports, product specifica-
tions and data from external ecological audit data-
bases. The aim of this project is to determine and
compare the ecological performance of different
products within a uniform product group on the
basis of the European Commission’s I1LCD (Interna-
tional Reference Life Cycle Data System) recom-
mendations. We carried out this project with nine
different types of acidic dialysis concentrates. Con-
sequently, we can now highlight especially envi-
ronmentally friendly products and provide substan-
tiated information on the environmental impact of
our products, for example in discussions with cus-
tomers. Moreover, we can use this information in
the development of new products and to improve
existing ones.

Environmental management in our dialysis clinics
One of our core objectives is to further reduce the
impact of dialysis treatment on the environment
while saving on resources and ensuring cost effi-
ciency. We manage this by using ecologically sus-
tainable dialysis products as well as constructing
environmentally friendly dialysis centers.

In 2013, we again pursued our aim of expanding our
portfolio of environmentally friendly dialysis clinics.
For instance, we opened an environmentally com-
patible dialysis clinic in Stockport, England, that is
certified with the BREEAM Excellent design seal
(Building Research Establishment Environmental
Assessment Method). This is a widely used certifica-
tion method for buildings based on particularly strict
and up-to-date environmental standards for sustain-
able design. We opened another “green” dialysis
clinic in Jossigny, France, where we introduced vari-
ous efficiency measures to reduce average water
consumption by 35% and electricity consumption by
20% compared with a standard dialysis unit. In addi-
tion, we have started building or renovating many
more environmentally friendly dialysis centers in the
EMEA region.
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In North America, internal guidelines also ensure
that the equipment, fixtures and furnishings in our
clinic buildings and interiors are as environmentally
compatible as possible. We meet or surpass industry
standards for the insulation of roofs, walls, doors
and windows. When purchasing water treatment
systems for dialysis, we also increasingly ensure that
these use resources and energy efficiently. In 2011, a
clinic in the u.s. equipped by Fresenius Medical Care
received environmental certification in accordance
with the u.s. LEED standard. LEED stands for “Leader-
ship in Energy and Environmental Design” and es-
tablishes guidelines for resource conservation and
sustainability in construction. In 2013, we also re-
ceived 150 14001 environmental certification for one
of our dialysis centers in the u.s. for the first time.

Following on from the previous year, we continued
our cooperation with the European Dialysis and
Transplant Nurses Association/European Renal Care
Association (EDTNA/ERCA) in the 2013 financial year.
This stems from the “Go Green in Dialysis” initiative,
which we launched in conjunction with EDTNA/ERCA
in 2009. One result of this cooperation was the publi-
cation in 2011 of environmental guidelines for dialysis
specialists, which are now available in eight lan-
guages. To further raise awareness of environmental
issues in dialysis clinics, we presented an award for
environmental protection in dialysis together with
EDTNA/ERCA for the first time in 2013 at the 42" Inter-
national EDTNA/ERCA Conference in Malmo (Sweden).
The award recognizes innovative ideas and outstand-
ing procedures and processes that contribute to en-
vironmental protection, particularly in hemodialysis.

In addition, we are continuously stepping up our
efforts to monitor the environmental status of our
European dialysis clinics: In the 2013 financial year,
55 dialysis centers in the EMEA region carried out a
self-assessment following the motto “How green is
your dialysis clinic?” to rate the extent to which key
environmental protection measures are already in
place on site. The questionnaire covered topics
such as clinic and building management, energy
and transport, water and concentrates, waste and
materials. For example, clinics were asked if they
have people in charge of energy, water and waste

management, whether environmental protection proj-
ects have been carried out and whether the building
is equipped with photovoltaic elements. The results
of the analysis demonstrate in particular the environ-
mental management of water consumption in our
dialysis centers.

A central element for managing the efficient use of
resources in our dialysis clinics in the EMEALA region
is our clinic software e-cons, which we have in-
stalled in our clinics since 2008 to establish a com-
prehensive environmental management system in
the region. Of our dialysis centers, 501 in Europe
(2012: 455) and 168 in Latin America (2012: 75) use
e-cons, enabling them to gather and compare envi-
ronmental performance data and implement poten-
tial improvements quickly. The results show that this
system has enabled us to systematically reduce wa-
ter and energy consumption as well as the amount
of blood-contaminated waste in our dialysis centers
in the past few years. They also show that we ex-
ceeded most of our reduction targets for dialysis
clinics based on the EMEALA environmental program
as early as 2013, two years earlier than the originally
set target date of 2015 — see charts 2.9.1, 2.9.2 and 2.9.3 on
page 103.

In the u.s., we are working to improve environmen-
tal management in our dialysis clinics with the help
of an external service company that records and doc-
uments energy and water consumption in all our clin-
ics on an ongoing basis. This company also checks
and settles the corresponding energy and water bills
and compiles analysis reports on subjects such as
greenhouse gas emissions and our carbon footprint.

In addition, we train our employees at our dialysis
centers to raise their awareness of how they
can contribute to environmental protection on a
day-today basis. For example, our environmental de-
partment in Bogota (Colombia) initiated a “Green
Day” for all employees with activities covering all
aspects of environmental protection. Furthermore,
as part of the “Environmental Leaders” program in
Colombia, we train volunteers in clinics, who then
go on to support the implementation of environ-
mental projects.
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WE ASSUME SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In a global market, Fresenius Medical Care has a
decentralized organization with a high degree of
responsibility at local level. This also applies to our
Company’s social commitment. As a result, we not
only support globally active organizations and proj-
ects, but also in particular regional and local initia-
tives, which are as diverse as our employees. Our
main focus in this respect is on projects aimed at
the common good that follow the principle of
helping people to help themselves and have a
long-term impact.

Commitment to a better quality of life
As a dialysis company, our objective is to continuously
improve the quality of life of kidney patients. Above
and beyond our core range of products and services,
we pursue this aim by cooperating globally with re-
gional and international associations and institutions
that champion the interests of dialysis patients. In ad-
dition, we develop our own initiatives to help patients
lead a healthier and more active life. In the u.s., for
instance, we sponsor the Renal Support Network, a
charitable association run by and for patients with
chronic kidney failure. This aims at providing patients
and their families with health information, giving

— C.2.9.1 Development of the average electricity consumption
per dialysis treatment
2009 100%
2010 103%
20M 101%
2012 98%
2013 97%
Source: Clinical software e-con5 for the region Europe, Middle East and Africa
— C.2.9.2 Development of the average water consumption
per dialysis treatment
2009 100%
2010 98%
20M 94%
2012 91%
2013 87%
Source: Clinical software e-con5 for the region Europe, Middle East and Africa
— C.2.9.3 Development of the average amount of blood contaminated waste
per dialysis treatment
2009 100%
2010 93 %
20M 80%
2012 74%
2013 69%

Source: Clinical software e-con5 for the region Europe, Middle East and Africa
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them more confidence in their everyday lives and
strengthening their initiative.

In Brazil, we provide financial and professional sup-
port to the Fundacao do Rim, a charitable founda-
tion committed to helping young dialysis patients in
the province of Rio de Janeiro. This organization
campaigns to provide children and adolescents with
medication and access to kidney transplants by rais-
ing the awareness of the authorities and the public,
and promotes the establishment of more pediatric
dialysis units in hospitals. At the same time, it orga-
nizes special programs for young patients, such as
exercise, art and music therapy classes, and trains
parents in how to deal with their children’s disease.

In Colombia, we have set up our own foundation to
help us promote our patients’ health and well-being
beyond actual dialysis treatment. The Fundacion
Fresenius is financed by donations from industry, our
employees and private individuals. For example, it pro-
vides patients with a hot meal after dialysis treatment;
for many of them, this is the only meal of the day. It
also offers free travel between home and the dialysis
center for patients in need. In the 2013 financial year, a
large number of patients also took part in cultural and
sporting events organized by the foundation.

In Argentina, one in three dialysis patients leave
school with no qualifications, and therefore have
difficulty reading and writing. Their low level of edu-
cation also limits patients’ quality of life. It makes it
harder for them to find a job, and amplifies the typ-
ical problems of living with dialysis, such as the need
to comply with the treatment plan and take medi-
cation in a disciplined fashion. As part of a joint

program with the Ministry of Education of Buenos
Aires province that we have been rolling out for sev-
eral years, we now offer classes at ten of our dialysis
centers for patients, enabling them to earn their
school-leaving certificate.

Using our expertise and network
for social commitment

Fresenius Medical Care organizes and supports sci-
entific conferences with international nephrology
experts as well as training programs for doctors and
dialysis specialists worldwide, thereby helping to en-
sure quality in dialysis. This is especially important in
regions where modern healthcare standards are still
being developed. One example of this is our partner-
ship with the Sustainable Kidney Care Foundation.
We support the foundation via our subsidiary, the
Renal Research Institute. This promotes projects,
mainly in Africa, to give patients with acute kidney
failure access to dialysis treatment in regions with-
out an existing supply structure.

Raising public awareness
Fresenius Medical Care is also involved in raising
health awareness among the general public. One ex-
ample is the “pre-EsrD” campaign in the u.s., which
aims to draw media attention to the risk of kidney
disease. The idea of the campaign is to motivate
people to pursue a lifestyle and diet that help them
to avoid kidney damage and completely prevent kid-
ney failure as far as possible. It also enables them to
recognize the symptoms of kidney disease and en-
courages them to get treatment in time before there
is no alternative to dialysis. To this end, we offer in-
formation to the media on chronic kidney failure
and interviews with our nephrologists.
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Our employees also use the World Kidney Day each
year to inform people about the negative impact of
kidney disease as well as the connection between
kidney and cardiovascular disease.

Our emergency aid in crisis situations

In crisis situations and in the event of global disas-
ters, the Company as a whole fulfills its responsibility
to society. We provide funds, dialysis machines and
medical supplies to institutions that need specific
aid at short notice. Our global crisis team can be
deployed immediately to provide help during hurri-
canes or other natural disasters. In November 2013
ourcrisisteamsandvolunteers from Fresenius Medical
Care went into action in regions on the Philippines
that were affected by the Typhoon Haiyan to help
patients and provide them with their life-sustaining
dialysis treatments. For more information about our
crisis teams, see the chapter “Our dialysis services
business” starting on page 87.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



106

CHAPTER 2.10

Risk and opportunities report

Risk and opportunities management is an integral component of manage-
ment and control within the Company. As a company with global
operations, Fresenius Medical Care is naturally exposed to risks associated
with its business activities. Ultimately, we can only leverage opportunities
for our business if we are willing to take certain risks. Many years of
expertise and our extensive knowledge of the markets enable us to uncover
and assess risks and opportunities for our business.

RISK MANAGEMENT

We see risk management as the ongoing task of de-
termining, analyzing and evaluating the spectrum of
actual and potential risks within the Company’s op-
erations and its environment, and, where possible,
taking corrective measures. The risk management
system, which is described in more detail below,
provides us with a basis for these activities. It
enables management to identify risks that could
jeopardize the growth or continued existence of
Fresenius Medical Care, and to take steps to mini-
mize any negative impact. As such, it is an important
component of Fresenius Medical Care’s manage-
ment and governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Risk management is part of Fresenius Medical Care’s
integrated management system. The main objective
is to identify potential risks as early as possible to
assess their impact on the business activities and,
where necessary, to take appropriate countermea-
sures. Opportunities are not covered by the imple-
mented risk management system. The two pillars of
our risk management are the corporate controlling
function, which is used for the identification and
steering of short-term risks and the internal risk
monitoring system, which is typically used for the
identification and steering of mid- to long-term risks.
In the monitoring system, regional risk managers are
responsible for identifying, assessing and managing
potential as well as existing industry and market-re-
lated risks in their region and reporting them to the
regional cFos. Twice a year, the regional chief finan-
cial officers send their aggregated risk management

reports to the central risk management coordinator
who consolidates the reports and presents them to
the Management Board. The main focus lays on ma-
terial risks that could have a total negative impact of
€25M or more in relation to the operating income.
The risk management reports contain further infor-
mation on potential risks. The Management Board is
informed directly and immediately of any newly
identified significant risks (for Risk reporting see chart
2.10.1 on page 107). The effectiveness of the risk manage-
ment system is monitored by the Audit and Corpo-
rate Governance Committee of the Supervisory
Board. More information is available in the “Report
of the Supervisory Board” starting on page 22 and in
the “Declaration on corporate governance” starting on
page 128.

In addition to risk reporting, standard reporting to
management is an important tool for managing
and controlling risks, as well as for taking preven-
tive measures in a timely manner. Therefore, the
Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care is
informed on a monthly basis about the industry sit-
uation, our operating and non-operating business,
and the outcome of analyses of our earnings and
financial position, as well as of the assets position
on a quarterly basis.

Part of our risk management system is the Global
Internal Audit department which is regularly in-
formed about the results of the risk management
system. IT audits a selected number of Company
departments and subsidiaries worldwide each year.
The department works according to internationally
accepted standards of the Institute of Internal Audi-
tors (11A). The scope of internal auditing is wide-
spread and involves, among others, the efficiency of
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controls over business processes, the reliability of
special parts of financial reporting and compliance
with accounting regulations and internal policies.
The Company’s locations and units to be audited are
determined annually on the basis of a selection
model taking various risks into consideration. This
annual audit plan is reviewed by the Management
Board and approved by the Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board. It
comprises financial audits of individual balance
sheet positions, as well as full audits of all business
processes of subsidiaries or business units. All audit
reports are presented to the Management Board.
The Global Internal Audit department is also respon-
sible for monitoring the implementation of mea-
sures documented in the reports. The Management
Board is informed about the implementation status
on a quarterly basis. The Audit and Corporate Gov-
ernance Committee of the Supervisory Board is also
informed of the audit results. In 2013, a total of
39 audits were carried out at the Company's various
worldwide sites.

Nevertheless it is important to note that even a func-
tioning and adequate risk management system like
the Company’s cannot guarantee that all risks are
fully identified and controlled.

— C€.2.10.1

Risk reporting

» | Management Board | <

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FOR THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING PROCESS

Fresenius Medical Care's internal control system
over financial reporting ensures compliance with ap-
plicable accounting standards. The goal is to provide
reasonable assurance that the Group financial state-
ments are issued in accordance with appropriate ac-
counting principles. The Company’s internal report-
ing process is generally carried out at four levels and
ensures that financial data and key figures are reli-
ably recorded, processed and controlled. At each of
these four reporting levels — the local entity, the re-
gion, the segment and the entire Group — the figures
and data are compared regularly on a monthly and
quarterly basis with the previous year’s values, bud-
get targets, and the latest projections. In addition,
the Management Board and the departments re-
sponsible for preparing the annual and consolidated
Group financial statements discuss in-depth all pa-
rameters, assumptions and estimates that substan-
tially affect the Group and segment results reported
externally. The Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Supervisory Board also reviews
current quarterly results and compares them with
budgets and projections.

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
of Supervisory Board

> ‘ Corporate Controlling and Accounting ‘ <

Risk management report International segment
and Group Corporate
(aggregated status reports)

Risk management report North America segment
(aggregated status reports)

4

Risk management International segment
and Group Corporate

4

Risk management North America segment ’»

————— Assessment of general and specific risks and identification of new risks;
review and consolidation of risks in the Risk Management Report.

—— Reporting and review of Risk Management Report.

—— Ad hoc risk reporting (considerable new risks).

~~~~~~~ Reporting of Risk Management Report.
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Control mechanisms and compliance
The internal control system contains guidelines and
instructions that ensure, for example, that all
Fresenius Medical Care transactions are presented
accurately, or that significant earnings and expenses
are only recorded after management approval.

Further control mechanisms to ensure reliable finan-
cial reporting and correct recording of transactions
within the accounting and the consolidation process
include automated and manual reconciliations, as
well as the separation of certain personnel functions
to prevent potential conflicts of interest. The fact
that all process owners assess the risks of their re-
spective processes in terms of their implications for
accounting also ensures that risks with a direct im-
pact on financial reporting are identified and that
controls are in place to minimize these risks. Changes
to accounting standards are discussed on an ongo-
ing basis and considered in the preparation of the
financial statements. Employees responsible for fi-
nancial reporting are given regular and extensive
training to be up to date with changes regarding
accounting standards. The consolidation is per-
formed centrally by the department which is respon-
sible for the group accounting. The basis for the
consolidation is derived from reporting packages
and sub-group consolidated financial statements
prepared and submitted by the local group entities.
The preparation of the reporting packages and the
sub-group consolidated financial statements is per-
formed according to the requirements and guide-
lines issued by the department which is responsible
for the group accounting.

Furthermore, Fresenius Medical Care has imple-
mented comprehensive quality management sys-
tems and a compliance program, which is moni-
tored continuously, in all of its regions with the
intention to ensure that its business activities are in
line with recognized standards as well as local laws
and regulations. Monitoring compliance is a man-
agement task at all the Company’s decision-making

levels. An important element of the compliance pro-
gram is the code of conduct that is effective in all
regions and considers the locally different legal and
ethical standards. It encourages our employees
worldwide to conduct themselves in a professional
and responsible manner at all times. More informa-
tion on this can be found in the “Compliance” sec-
tion starting on page 135.

Special control and transparency

requirements in the u.s.
As Fresenius Medical Care is also listed on the New
York Stock Exchange, it is required to adhere to the
requirements of the u.s. Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX).
Section 404 of this federal law stipulates that the
management boards of companies listed in the u.s.
must take responsibility for implementing and ad-
hering to an appropriate internal control system to
guarantee reliable financial reporting. Based on this
requirement, we review the design and operating
effectiveness of our internal control system over fi-
nancial reporting on a regular basis. These criteria
are also included in the review by the Company’s
independent auditors.

To assess the effectiveness of our internal control
system over financial reporting, we apply the criteria
of the coso model see chart 2.10.2. This was developed
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and is recognized as a
standard by the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (SEC). In accordance with the coso model,
Fresenius Medical Care's internal control system
over financial reporting is divided into the five levels
control environment, risk assessment, control activi-
ties, information and communication, as well as the
monitoring of the internal control system. Each of
these levels is regularly documented, tested and as-
sessed.

Our review of the internal control system over finan-
cial reporting complies with a specific sec guideline
(Commission Guidance Regarding Management's
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting).
For our review, we use a special software which takes
into account the definitions and requirements of this
guideline. In a first step, regional project teams coor-
dinate the assessment of the internal control system in
each region, after which the results are consolidated
for the whole Group. Based on this, management
then evaluates the effectiveness of the internal control
system for the current fiscal year. External advisers are
consulted as needed. A corporate steering committee
meets several times a year to review changes and new
requirements of the sox, to discuss possible control
deficiencies, and derive further measures. In addition,
in its meetings, the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Supervisory Board is informed regu-
larly of the results of management’s assessment.

As of December 31, 2013, management assessed
Fresenius Medical Care's internal control system
over financial reporting and deemed it effective.

Internal control systems over financial reporting are
subject to inherent limitations, no matter how care-
fully they are designed. As a result, there is no abso-
lute assurance that financial reporting objectives can

— C€.2.10.2

Control environment' »

Risk assessement’ »

Control activities »

Information and communication’ »

Monitoring" »

COSO-framework

‘ ’4 operitli:ci)r?asncial reporting
“ ”’

be met, nor that misstatements will always be pre-
vented or detected.

RISK AREAS

Of all the risks identified for the Group, the follow-
ing section examines those risk areas or individual
risks that could, as it stands today, materially affect
Fresenius Medical Care's financial position. Our busi-
ness operations may also be impacted by other
factors that we are not currently aware of or signifi-
cant changes in factors we do not currently deem to
be critical. To the extent possible and economically
viable, we obtain Group-wide insurance cover for
insurable risks.

Risks related to the economy as a whole

The international business activities of Fresenius
Medical Care are subject to a number of political,
legal and financial risks, which we carefully monitor
and assess in addition to the general development
of the global economy. We also conduct continuous,
intensive analyses of country-specific risks with our
international markets in mind.

<« Compliance

<« Activity 1
<« Activity 2
< Unit1
< Unit 2

" Entity level controls.
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Industry risks
Risks related to changes in the healthcare market
are of major importance to Fresenius Medical Care.
Key factors here are new products and therapies de-
veloped by competitors as well as regulatory changes
in the healthcare sector.

Company strategy and competition

We carry out research and development activities to
counter the risk of a competitor impairing our sales
opportunities with its products and processes or of
our strategy falling short of the trends in the mar-
ket. We work closely with the medical and scientific
communities to allow us to quickly identify and fur-
ther develop important technological and pharma-
ceutical innovations. These alliances also guarantee
that Fresenius Medical Care has extensive knowl-
edge of recent advances in alternative treatment
methods and enable us to evaluate and, if neces-
sary, adjust our corporate strategy. Based on this,
we analyze and evaluate trends and review the
progress of research and development projects on
an ongoing basis.

Additionally, we closely monitor the market, espe-
cially the products of our competitors and newly
launched dialysis-related products. This includes
pharmaceutical generics and patented drugs for
kidney patients, as they can affect the business
with drugs distributed by Fresenius Medical Care.
The Company maintains internal strategic depart-
ments that monitor the markets, whose main tasks
are to identify and analyze all activities that could
affect the dialysis market and the Group's business,
and communicate these within the Company on a
regular basis. This helps us to quickly react on new
market conditions.

Last but not least, our many years of experience and
our leading position in the dialysis industry give us a
competitive edge, as do the synergies resulting
from the teamwork between the various technical,
medical and academic institutions within our verti-
cally integrated Group.

Legal conditions in the healthcare sector

In the highly regulated environment in which we
operate, changes in the law, such as those relating
to reimbursement, can have a major impact on
Fresenius Medical Care’s business success and strat-
egy. For this reason, we not only carefully monitor
regulatory activities and planning, but also work
intensively with government healthcare agencies.

Details on the changes in the reimbursement system
in the u.s., our most important market, can be
found in the “Healthcare and reimbursement sys-
tems” section starting on page 53 and in the ”Capital mar-
ket and shares” chapter starting on page 28.

Risks associated with operating activities
We counter potential risks in our business with
products and services with preventive and quality-
enhancing measures.

Quality risks in production, for products
and processes

We ensure that we comply with legal and Company
product and production regulations first and fore-
most by means of extensive quality management
systems in our regions. In implementing these regu-
lations, our employees have access to documented
process and work instructions. Regular audits are
carried out by authorized quality management staff
at each of our production sites to ensure adherence
to the guidelines. The audits cover all areas and
aspects related to quality, from management and
administration to development, production and
customer satisfaction. Furthermore, the production
processes in our plants are inspected by external
bodies, for example in Europe by Technischer Uber-
wachungsverein (TUv) and by the Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) in the u.s.

We also apply the methods of Lean Management
and Six Sigma see glossary on page 287 in our plants. These
management tools are used to analyze and improve
all production processes to permanently reduce the
error rate. Our goal here is to achieve more consis-
tent production results and to continuously improve
the quality of our products and related production
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processes. Quality management in our production
sites is centrally coordinated by our international
business unit Global Manufacturing Operations
(GM0) with the aim of identifying and managing
quality risks even better. For further information on
GMO, see the “Procurement and production” chapter

starting on page 78.

Like all blood cleansing procedures that are per-
formed outside of the human body, dialysis is
associated with certain risks for the patient whose
occurrence could potentially damage Fresenius
Medical Care’s reputation. National as well as in-
ternational standards and laws stipulate binding
safety standards for dialysis products. In addition,
we have created our own quality guidelines for re-
search and development that in part exceed the
legal requirements.

We also document our research and development
work in comprehensive scientific studies and publi-
cations; we produce detailed product information
packs and instructions for users of our products, and
conduct risk and error analyses according to the
most stringent criteria. In addition, Fresenius Medical
Care focuses on developing procedures and devices
within the scope of a continuous product improve-
ment process, to minimize as far as possible the risk
of a patient being harmed due to a technical fault or
human error.

Quality risks for our services
The very nature of the medical services we provide
to patients at our dialysis clinics presents inherent
risks. These include operational risks, for example
in the area of hygiene. We counteract these with
strict organizational and operational procedures,
ongoing personnel training and by gearing our
working methods to patients’ needs. In Europe, for
instance, our healthcare services quality manage-
ment system, certified according to 1so 9001, is part
of our integrated management system. In the u.s.,
our quality improvement program successfully
complies with the standards outlined in the Kidney
Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (kDOGI) and the
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).

We assess both our treatment data and our meth-
ods in annual internal audits to enable us to im-
prove our processes and treatment results for the
long-term. Our clinic quality management system is
also audited each year by external certification in-
stitutes such as the German 1OV or cMms in the u.s.
As a consequence, we are able to quickly identify
quality flaws and risks and to remedy them in a
timely manner.

Our quality management also includes environmen-
tal management, as environmental resources are
used for manufacturing dialysis products and the
operation of dialysis centers produces clinical waste.
More information on this can be found in the
“RESpOﬂSib“ity" chapter starting on page 98.

Risks in research and development

The risk of goals not being achieved or being
achieved much later than anticipated is inherent in
the development of new products and therapies.
Most new products have to undergo comprehen-
sive, cost-intensive preclinical and clinical tests be-
fore they receive regulatory approval and are
launched on the market. All products, packages,
applications and technologies are continuously
and systematically monitored, tested and im-
proved. The development cycle for products made
by Fresenius Medical Care is generally substantially
shorter than for pharmaceutical products. It nor-
mally takes between two and three years from
concept to market launch. Fresenius Medical Care
counteracts risks in research and development
projects by regularly analyzing and assessing de-
velopment trends and reviewing the progress of
projects. Furthermore, we ensure that the legal
regulations governing clinical and chemical-pharma-
ceutical research and development are strictly ad-
hered to. Our research team for dialysis products
develops new products and technologies in close
cooperation with representatives from the medical
and scientific communities. For further information
see the “Research and development” chapter starting
on page 72.
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Patent risks

One of the typical patent risks faced by Fresenius
Medical Care is inadequate protection in the form of
patents for technologies and products developed by
the Company. This means that competitors could
copy our products without incurring comparable
development costs. To mitigate this risk, we have
installed a comprehensive patent management pro-
gram with defined processes, responsibilities and
reporting lines.

In addition, Fresenius Medical Care could infringe
the patent of a competitor and thus be liable for
damages; this could result in a ban on the Company
further selling the affected product. We minimize
this risk by systematically monitoring and reviewing
patent applications by competitors as well as issued
patents to ensure that our products do not infringe
the rights of third parties. However, as the claim of
a patent, i.e. its scope, cannot be determined until a
product has been launched, this risk can never be
fully eliminated.

Procurement risks

We impose comprehensive quality standards on sup-
pliers to counter the risk of low quality in sourced
raw materials, semi-finished goods and other com-
ponents. For example, we demand that our suppli-
ers provide certification from external institutes and
undergo regular audits; in addition, Fresenius Medical
Care carries out extensive evaluations of sample
products and regular quality control checks. We
source only high-quality products that are verifiably
safe and suitable from certified suppliers that meet
Fresenius Medical Care’s specifications and require-
ments and have a proven track record in manufac-
turing these materials. These suppliers are constantly
evaluated as part of our exacting supplier manage-
ment system.

Our purchasing strategy is aimed at developing
partnerships with strategic suppliers through long-
term contracts and building relationships with new
high-performing partners. At the same time we try

to ensure that we have at least two sources for all
supply and price-critical primary products (dual
sourcing, multiple sourcing). This strategy in combi-
nation with ongoing monitoring of market develop-
ments enables us to minimize the risk of bottleneck
situations considerably, even at times of limited
availability of materials. All relevant suppliers are sub-
ject to regular Company-wide performance and risk
monitoring. More information on this can be found
in the “Strategic purchasing: Trust-based supplier re-
lationships, consistent quality” section on page 78.

Fresenius Medical Care is also exposed to market-
driven price fluctuations for raw materials. By contin-
uously conducting market analyses, shaping supplier
relations and contracts in accordance with our
needs, and reviewing the use of financial instru-
ments on a case-by-case basis, we are able to coun-
teract these fluctuations to a certain extent. The
intense cooperation between our procurement
teams in different regions means that we are able to
benefit from international pricing advantages and
manage risks related to currency fluctuations or de-
pendencies on individual suppliers. More informa-
tion on this can be found in the “Strategic purchas-
ing: Trust-based supplier relationships, consistent
quality” section on page 78.

Personnel risks

Our Company's success depends to a large extent on
the dedication, motivation and abilities of our em-
ployees. We counter the risk of not being able
to win and retain sufficient qualified personnel with
extensive personnel marketing and recruitment
measures as well as personnel development pro-
grams for specific target groups.

Our continued growth in the area of dialysis services
in particular depends on our ability to recruit and
retain qualified care personnel. Especially in the u.s.,
where we operate most of our dialysis clinics, com-
petition for such employees is intense. As a result,
we are currently extending various measures and ini-
tiatives aimed at further increasing the satisfaction
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of our clinic personnel, maintaining their high level
of motivation and further lowering the fluctuation
rate in our clinics. We base these efforts on the re-
sults of extensive clinical employee satisfaction anal-
yses. Our UltraCare Clinical Advancement Program
(UCAP) in the U.s. is one example of such an initiative;
more information can be found in the “Employees”
Chapter starting on page 92.

Our personnel management department addresses
the overall risk of not being able to attract or retain
highly qualified personnel. Its job is to find and cul-
tivate new talents with targeted measures. Fresenius
Medical Care offers employees a challenging work
environment and long-term perspectives for their
professional development. Furthermore, our employ-
ees enjoy performance-based bonus payments and
attractive social benefits. Detailed information relat-
ing to personnel management can be found in the
“Employees” chapter starting on page 92.

Risks due to non-compliance

with laws and standards
Fresenius Medical Care has developed a code of
conduct that applies to employees in all regions,
specifying their conduct within the Company as well
as towards our patients, external partners and the
public, and encouraging them to comply with appli-
cable laws and Company standards at all times. To-
gether with our overall compliance program, this
code is intended to help us meet our own expecta-
tions and those of our partners, and to successfully
align our business activities to recognized standards
as well as applicable laws and regulations. Further
details on our compliance program can be found
starting on page 135.

Risk of dependency on major customers
In addition to a number of state-owned and public
health insurance funds, Fresenius Medical Care's
customers include private health insurers and com-
panies. Our biggest private-sector customer, u.s. di-
alysis clinics operator DaVita, is also the second larg-
est provider of dialysis services in the world. DaVita

accounted for about 1% of Fresenius Medical Care’s
total revenue in 2013.

Acquisitions and investments

Fresenius Medical Care assesses potential financial
risks arising from acquisitions and capital expendi-
tures early on with the help of internal and, if neces-
sary, external specialists. Potential acquisitions and
investments are analyzed by an internal committee
(Acquisition Investment Committee, AIC) based on
minimum requirements relating to a number of pa-
rameters, with the objective of ensuring that the de-
cision to buy or invest is profitable. The profitability
of acquisitions and investments is also monitored
after the event on the basis of these key indicators.
More information on corporate management and
control can be found starting on page 44.

Financial risks
The main financial risks that affect our Company are
currency and interest rate risks. We use derivative
financial instruments to protect us against these
risks, but not for trading or speculation purposes.
All transactions are conducted with highly rated

banks (the majority have at least an “A” rating) that
have been approved by the Management Board.

We use interest rate hedging instruments to avert
the risk of rising interest rates from our floating
rate long-term debt. A sensitivity analysis revealed
that if the relevant reference interest rates for the
Company like Libor increased by 50 basis points,
based on the current high level of hedging, the neg-
ative effect on the net income (attributable to share-
holders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.KGaA)
would be around 1%. The interest derivatives expire
in 2016.

Our foreign exchange exposures primarily result
from transactions such as sales and purchases
between Group companies located in different re-
gions and currency areas. Most of our transaction
exposures arise from sales of products from Group
companies in the euro zone to other international
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business units. The foreign exchange risks are there-
fore related to changes in the euro against various
other currencies. To hedge against these risks, we
generally use foreign exchange forward contracts.
The estimation and quantification of transaction
risks from foreign currencies is determined accord-
ing to the statistical model Cash-Flow-at-Risk (CFaR).
CFaR indicates the amount of a potential loss of the
forecasted foreign exchange cash flows of the next
twelve months that occurs with a probability of 95%.
As of December 31, 2013, Fresenius Medical Care's
CFaR amounted to $50.5 M. Please see the “Financial
report” for further details starting on page 187.

Debtor risks

To reduce the risk of delayed or non-payment by
customers, we evaluate the credit standing of new
customers and review the credit limits of existing
ones. We monitor outstanding receivables of exist-
ing customers while assessing the possibility of de-
fault. For further details on outstanding receivables
please see the “Financial report” on page 187.

Legal risks

Risks associated with litigation are continuously
identified, assessed and reported within our Com-
pany. Fresenius Medical Care is involved in various
legal proceedings resulting from our business opera-
tions. For details on ongoing proceedings and fur-
ther information on material legal risks to which
Fresenius Medical Care is exposed, please refer to
the “Financial report" starting on page 252.

Tax risks
Fresenius Medical Care is subject to tax audits, which
can lead to secondary changes in tax assessments and
assessments of withdrawal restrictions. Risks resulting
from this are continually identified and evaluated.
Further details on ongoing legal proceedings and
more information on major tax risks of the “Finan-
cial report" can be found on page 252.

IT risks

As Fresenius Medical Care continues to grow in size
and become more international, the processes
within the Company are increasingly complex. Ac-
cordingly, we are dependent to an ever greater ex-
tent on information and communication technolo-
gies to structure our processes and harmonize them
between different regions. Fresenius Medical Care
uses constantly updated and newly developed hard-
ware and software to prevent potential security risks
in the area of information technology (). With the
help of our Information Security Management
System (1sMs), which is based on the internationally
recognized security standard 150 27002, we continu-
ously enhance IT security guidelines and processes
within Fresenius Medical Care. Business data is
backed up regularly. The frequency of these backups
depends on how important the respective IT system
is for our business. Potential IT risks are covered by a
detailed disaster recovery plan, which is tested and
improved on an ongoing basis. Fresenius Medical
Care operates three data centers at geographically
separate locations, each with an associated disaster
recovery plan, to maximize the availability and data
security of our IT systems. We use a mirrored infra-
structure that creates a copy of critical systems,
including clinical systems as well as the communica-
tion infrastructure and servers. To minimize organi-
zational risks such as manipulation and unautho-
rized access, access is protected by passwords that
must be changed regularly. With our strategy of op-
erating three separate data centers (at major geo-
graphic regions) we further reduce the risk of com-
plete, worldwide system outages. Moreover,
Company guidelines relating to data protection,
which also regulate the assignment of access rights,
must be observed. Compliance is monitored with
controls including those relating to Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; please refer to page 106. Oper-
ational and security audits are carried out every year
both internally and by external auditors.
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Other operating risks
Potential risks from the construction of new produc-
tion sites or the introduction of new technologies
are considered early on in the planning stage and
reviewed on an ongoing basis. When building new
production units, we use internal milestones and
continuously monitor whether they are achieved.
Further preventive risk management measures limit
the effect of environmental factors on our business:
Many of our proprietary dialysis clinics have emer-
gency generators to ensure that life-saving dialysis
treatments can be continued even in the event of a
complete power failure. Furthermore, in the u.s. for
example, a Fresenius Medical Care emergency team
(disaster response team) steps in all-season during
natural disasters such as hurricanes to professionally
coordinate relief efforts and provide dialysis treat-
ment for patients in the affected regions. More in-
formation on this can be found in the “Dialysis ser-
vices in emergency situations” section starting on page 91.

Additional information about the risks of Fresenius
Medical Care can be found in our consolidated
financial statements and the 20F on our website at
www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Rela-
tions/Publications.

OPPORTUNITIES MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

In addition to systematic risk management, we en-
sure the Company'’s long-term success through ho-
listic opportunities management. The aim is to iden-
tify opportunities as soon as possible, assess them
and initiate suitable measures to turn them into
commercial success for Fresenius Medical Care.

Much of Fresenius Medical Care’s business is orga-
nized regionally. This enables us to identify indus-
try-specific trends and requirements as well as the
ensuing opportunities in the various regions at an
early stage and gear our actions towards them. To

make the most of business opportunities, we also
perform comprehensive quantitative and qualitative
analyses. These include evaluating market data and
studying research projects closely, while taking gen-
eral societal trends into consideration — see the
“Strategy, objectives, and corporate management”
section starting on page 44. We monitor general eco-
nomic, industry-specific, regional and local develop-
ments as well as regulatory changes in equal mea-
sure. The close cooperation between our strategy
and planning departments and managers from other
corporate divisions allows us to recognize opportu-
nities globally and as early as possible.

We evaluate the ideas for growth initiatives that we
develop on this basis in the course of our annual
budget planning, and continuously throughout the
year if required. We manage the necessary invest-
ments to implement the projects using a detailed
coordination and evaluation process. The Manage-
ment Board sets the investment budget for the
Group as well as the investment targets. Before con-
crete investment projects are realized, an internal
committee examines the individual projects and
measures, taking into account the return on invest-
ment and potential return. Among other things,
commonly used approaches such as the net present
value and internal interest rate methods are used
here; payback periods are also included in the as-
sessment. In this way, we try to ensure that we only
make and implement investments and acquisitions
that actually can shareholder value.
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OPPORTUNITIES

As a vertically integrated dialysis company, Fresenius
Medical Care can offer almost all of the products
and services that a patient with chronic kidney fail-
ure requires for treatment. Our 3,250 dialysis clinics
in more than 45 countries form the largest and most
international network in the world. As a result, we
possess valuable dialysis expertise that is unique in
the industry. Thanks to this wealth of experience,
we understand that high quality is not only the key
to a better quality of life for patients, but can also
make a significant contribution to reducing the costs
of healthcare. Based on this knowledge and our
business model, we see several opportunities for fur-
ther growth, which are explained in greater detail in
the following section.

Industry-specific opportunities

The dialysis market is a growth market that is gener-
ally unaffected by macroeconomic influences. This
can be partly explained by the fact that an aging
population requires increasingly comprehensive
medical care. In addition, due to the steady demand
for dialysis products and services, Fresenius Medical
Care is subject to economic fluctuations only to a
relatively small extent. More information on this can
be found in the “Overall economic environment”
section starting on page 49 and the “Outlook” chapter
starting on page 121.

Patient growth and demographic development
According to estimates, the number of people
worldwide suffering from chronic kidney failure and
requiring dialysis treatment is rising by around 6%
annually. This number is expected to reach around
2.7M in 2014. By 2020, the number of dialysis patients
amount to more than 3.8M. Several social trends
contribute to this growth in patient numbers. In Eu-
rope and the u.s., for example, these include the
aging population and the increasing incidence of di-
abetes and hypertension, two illnesses which fre-
quently precede the onset of chronic kidney failure.
In developing and emerging countries, the growing

population and the gradual access to dialysis caused
by the increase in wealth are key factors that boost
demand for dialysis products and services. We want
to continue to make a significant contribution to
meeting this demand in the future.

Changes in legal and political conditions
Whether or not private companies can offer dialysis
treatment in certain parts of the world and in what
form depends on the country’s healthcare system
and its legal framework. For Fresenius Medical Care,
opportunities to tap into new markets or to expand
its market share arise if a country opens up to pri-
vate dialysis providers or allows cooperation be-
tween public and private providers for example with
Public Private Partnerships. These decisions are in-
creasingly influenced by the following factors:

» In many countries, the resources for financing,
managing and providing healthcare services are be-
coming ever scarcer. This situation has worsened as
a result of the financial and economic crisis.

» At the same time, providing the population with
increasingly comprehensive medical services presents
a challenge for healthcare systems. This is due to
longer life expectancy and the associated increase in
concomitant diseases, or because fully-functioning
healthcare provision is still being established.

» Dialysis is a complex life-sustaining procedure,
which places high demands on a healthcare system
in terms of expertise and efficiency. For these rea-
sons, public healthcare providers are increasingly
looking to work with private providers to develop
high-quality, sustainable healthcare solutions for pa-
tients with chronic kidney failure. This presents a
huge opportunity for Fresenius Medical Care.

One example is Germany, the fifth-largest market
worldwide in terms of the number of dialysis pa-
tients. We lead the market here with our products.
Dialysis centers are predominantly operated by doc-
tors in private practice, hospitals, and non-profit
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organizations; however, for a number of years,
Fresenius Medical Care has also offered dialysis ser-
vices in medical care centers. These are facilities for
outpatient care managed by doctors with different
areas of expertise who are employed as salaried
physicians. At the end of 2013, we were involved in
16 medical care centers (2012: 14). As an experienced
partner, we want to continue to support our cus-
tomers in setting up new structures in the German
healthcare system, and take advantage of this op-
portunity to strengthen our business in the long
term. In Japan, where dialysis centers are primarily
managed by private nephrologists, new sales oppor-
tunities could also open up for private companies
such as Fresenius Medical Care in the long term if
these are approved as clinic operators in Asia’s larg-
est dialysis market.

Public private partnerships
In some countries, public private partnerships (PPP)
promise to be an attractive business model for
Fresenius Medical Care. These are contractually de-
fined project alliances between the public sector and
private companies in which both partners assume a
specified share of a project’s financing, tasks, risks,
and opportunities. Here, too, our broad expertise in
dialysis gives us a competitive edge, as it enables us
to make suitable offers for various levels of care for
hospitals and health insurances as well as local or
national authorities. Depending on the contract, we
can set up new dialysis clinics and install the equip-
ment, train medical personnel on quality, hygiene
and nutrition or manage the clinics ourselves on the
terms agreed. ppp therefore offers an opportunity
for both partners: The public sector benefits from
private investments in the dialysis infrastructure
based on high standards of treatment, from the
transfer of knowledge on quality, technology and
management issues, and from the operational effi-
ciency of a global dialysis company, helping it to pro-
vide patients with better and, at the same time,
more cost-effective healthcare. In turn, Fresenius
Medical Care can tap into new markets, expand its
market share, and extend its range of products and

services with new forms of healthcare thanks to the
PPP model. Partnerships of this type can also be the
first step towards complete privatization. We are
already part of ppp initiatives, for example in Bosnia,
Portugal, Peru, New Zealand, India, Indonesia, South
Africa, Russia, Kazakhstan and in the United Arab
Emirates. The contracts are tailored to the respective
needs of the partners involved as well as to the local
legal conditions.

Growing demand for integrated healthcare
Cost pressures on the one hand and the growing
number of patients on the other are causing an in-
crease in global demand for a comprehensive or in-
tegrated healthcare concept for patients with
chronic kidney failure. This is based on the principle
of combining all healthcare services and therapies
related to the treatment of kidney patients — possi-
bly going even one step further to include the treat-
ment of concomitant diseases — to create an inte-
grated program that is tailored to the patient’s
individual needs and the insurer’s requirements. De-
pending on the contract and which elements a
healthcare system prescribes as part of basic treat-
ment, this program can include, for example, special
supplementary medical tests, drugs for kidney pa-
tients, the insertion and medical care of the vascular
access connecting a patient to the dialysis equip-
ment (vascular access management), or the patient’s
travel to and from the dialysis center in addition to
dialysis itself. This comprehensive care from a single
source improves the way in which the different
stages of treatment are coordinated and managed,
minimizes complications and thereby avoids addi-
tional stays in hospital, which are a significant bur-
den for patients, as far as possible. This improves
the patient’s quality of life and the quality of treat-
ment while reducing the overall costs of treatment.

Payors increasingly no longer reimburse the compo-
nents of this type of integrated treatment sepa-
rately but combined in a “service bundle”, which is
linked to contractually defined, measurable treat-
ment targets on which the dialysis provider must
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provide regular reports (pay for performance). These
quality parameters are generally based on estab-
lished national and international guidelines regard-
ing good treatment practice for kidney patients and
in some cases even exceed them. Failure to meet
these criteria results in measures ranging from a re-
duction in the reimbursement to a full withdrawal
of the license.

Integrated healthcare using the pay for performance
model offers opportunities for all those involved:
Dialysis patients can enjoy a sustainably improved
quality of life; pooling healthcare provision with a
single provider reduces the overall costs of treat-
ment as resources are used more efficiently, and
makes these costs easier to control and calculate for
the public sector and for health insurers. Dialysis
providers can in turn expand their range of services
by providing the additional services required by the
contract. Fresenius Medical Care is particularly well
placed to offer integrated treatment programs with
a high level of quality for chronically ill kidney pa-
tients for several reasons: As a manufacturer of lead-
ing dialysis products and an operator of the largest
international dialysis clinic network worldwide, we
have long-standing experience in providing compre-
hensive care for dialysis patients. Thanks to the high
quality and reliability of our products and services,
we enjoy a very good reputation in the industry. In
addition, we use sophisticated internal feedback
instruments to measure and compare the success of
treatment at our clinics and to quickly identify any
potential for improvements. More information can
be found in the magazine starting on page 28.

Opportunities related to our business operations
Expanding our portfolio horizontally
Dialysis drugs supplement our range of dialysis ser-
vices and products, enabling us to expand our port-
folio horizontally. In line with our strategy and the
increasing trends towards integrated healthcare,
they offer the Company further opportunities for

growth.

New products and technologies

If patient numbers grow as strongly as anticipated,
cost pressure continues to rise, and the capacity of
clinics is no longer sufficient to treat all patients,
home therapies look set to take on a more crucial
role. This development offers Fresenius Medical
Care opportunities for growth. In the future, we will
continue to focus our R&D activities on home dialy-
sis and related technologies and products. Our key
objective is to reduce the usage of water for home
hemodialysis significantly to offer dialysis patients
efficient and flexible machines for as much indepen-
dency and mobility as possible. Additionally, we will
continue to expand our range of innovative prod-
ucts and technologies in the future to react to
growth opportunities, increasingly also with the aim
of satisfying demand for integrated care in the best
possible way.

Internal organization and procedures

The way in which Fresenius Medical Care's opera-
tional business is organized and managed presents
us with a series of opportunities that will help to
improve the Company’s success in the long term. For
example, we use the Lean Management and Six
Sigma methods to analyze and better coordinate our
production processes worldwide in order to further
reduce both our defect rates and manufacturing
cycles. We are systematically expanding environ-
mental management at our production sites and
clinics to improve our operating efficiency, for exam-
ple by saving resources; see the chapter “Procure-
ment and pl’OdUCtiOﬂ” starting on page 78.

Acquisitions
By expanding our dialysis services business through
acquisitions as well as sourcing expertise and rele-
vant technologies in the area of research and de-
velopment, we are investing in our future growth.
The close collaboration between our strategy and
planning departments and the managers responsible
for our acquisitions ensures that we are able to iden-
tify suitable potential acquisitions worldwide as early
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as possible. Further information on our acquisitions
in the year under review can be found in the section
“Acquisitions and divestitures” on page 58 and in the
section “Financial situation” starting on page 66.

Fresenius Medical Care's business model
Finally, our business model also provides opportuni-
ties for our Company's future growth. As a vertically
integrated dialysis company, we not only offer al-
most all of the products and services that a patient
with chronic kidney failure requires for treatment,
we also use these on a daily basis in our own clinics.
Consequently, we benefit from the feedback of our
patients, physicians and dialysis nurses worldwide in
developing and manufacturing new products as well
as in organizing our clinic management.

MANAGEMENT'S ASSESSMENT
OF OVERALL RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

The Management Board bases its assessment of
overall risk on Fresenius Medical Care’s risk manage-
ment system, which is regularly checked by third
parties and by senior management. The Company’s
overall risk situation is determined by the risks
described above. In 2013, there were no major
changes in the risk structure compared with the pre-
vious year. The Management Board is not currently
aware of any risks that threaten the continued exis-
tence of Fresenius Medical Care. The effectiveness
of this risk management system is monitored and, if
necessary, improved as part of the Company-wide
review of the integrated management system. The
Management Board will continue to expand our risk
management and its review of the associated man-
agement system to be able to identify, investigate
and assess potential risks even more quickly and
implement appropriate countermeasures. From an
organizational point of view, we believe that we
have created all the necessary conditions to allow us
to identify emerging risk situations early on and re-
act appropriately if need be.

We remain confident that our Group’s earning
power constitutes a sound basis for the growth
of our business and provides the necessary scope
to pursue any opportunities that arise for the
Company. In view of our leading position on the
dialysis market, our innovative strength, our com-
mitted staff and our structured processes for identi-
fying risks early on as well as in the area of opportu-
nity management, we firmly believe that we will
continue to successfully capture any opportunities
that may arise.
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Subsequent events

In March 2014 Fresenius Medical Care announced
two changes in the Management Board. Until the annual report’s
editorial deadline, no further significant events took place.

CHANGES IN
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

In March 2014 Fresenius Medical Care announced
two changes in the Management Board. Effective
April 1, 2014 Dominik Wehner will be new Member of
the Management Board responsible for the region
Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA). He succeeds
Dr.Emanuele Gatti who will discontinue his Man-
agement Board position effective March 31, 2014 as a
personal choice. Dr. Gatti will continue to support
Fresenius Medical Care in selecting strategic oppor-
tunities as well as represent the Company in several
external committees. In addition, and in combina-
tion with his academic activities, he will continue to
work for the Company to develop regenerative med-
icine and to improve dialysis and blood purification
therapies. Dominik Wehner began his career at
Fresenius Medical Care in 1994 and is currently Execu-
tive Vice President responsible for the regions Eastern
Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Also Dr. Rainer Runte, the Management Board Mem-
ber currently responsible for Global Law, Compli-
ance, Intellectual Property and Labor relations in
Germany, will step down from the Management
Board on March 31, 2014. Until such time a perma-
nent successor to Dr. Runte is named, David Kembel,
Chief Compliance Officer for Fresenius Medical Care
North America, will assume responsibility for Global
Compliance on an interim basis. Rice Powell as the
Chairman of the Management Board will assume
Dr. Runte’s remaining responsibilities until the search
for a General Counsel is complete. Dr. Runte will re-
main connected to Fresenius Medical Care through
his advisory role on matters of corporate law and
compliance.

ECONOMIC AND
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

There were no fundamental changes in the eco-
nomic and business environment in our field of activ-
ity. Dialysis continues to be a medically indispens-
able and life-saving treatment for acute or chronic
kidney failure for which there is no comparable al-
ternative treatment with the exception of kidney
transplantation.

We are currently not planning any major changes
which could lead to a significant impairment of the
asset, financial and earnings situation of our Company.

OVERALL ASSESSMENT
OF THE BUSINESS SITUATION

Fresenius Medical Care’s business development met
our expectations in the first weeks of 2014.

From today’s perspective, we expect to achieve our
revenue, earnings and the other performance ratios
as planned. At this report’s editorial deadline, the
current development of our business is basically in
line with our expectations.
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Having attained our targets once again in the last financial year,
we expect to perform moderately in 2014. Despite this, we are confident
that we are able to position our Company strategically in a way
that will allow us to continue on our growth path in the longer term.

BUSINESS POLICY

Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading dialysis
company. We aim to consolidate and build on this
position in the years ahead. As always, the ground-
breaking principle of our corporate strategy is to fully
utilize the potential of the vertically integrated com-
pany. This means that we rigorously use the advan-
tages that arise from covering the complete value
chain of dialysis. Fresenius Medical Care’s main focal
points are holistic care of dialysis patients and dialy-
sis-related treatments. As well as our products, dialy-
sis treatment itself and a wide range of dialysis drugs,
we are increasingly offering additional care-related
services for our patients in many regions. These in-
clude laboratory and pharmacy services as well as
services relating to vascular access — an essential as-
pect of treatment for dialysis patients. There are no
plans to make significant changes to our business
policy. For further information on this, see the
“Operations and strategy” chapter starting on page 39.

GLOBAL ECONOMIC GROWTH
SET TO REMAIN STABLE IN 2014

The slight increase in the rate of expansion last year
is expected to be maintained in 2014. The economic
upturn in the advanced economies is likely to con-
tinue. By contrast, the fast pace of growth sustained
over several years in the emerging countries is ex-
pected to slow down, as was the case last year.
Gross national product (GDpp) is likely to grow by
around 3.7% worldwide in 2014, following a rise of
2.9% in 2013.

North America segment:

slight economic recovery expected in 2014
A slight improvement in economic output is ex-
pected in the u.s. The impact of negative factors
following the financial crisis is gradually subsiding:
Household debt levels are decreasing, the number of
people unemployed has fallen and the real-estate
crisis seems to be over.

— T.2.12.1 Real gross domestic product
expected change from the previous year in %

2013 2014
U.s. 1.6 2.3
Germany 0.4 1.7
Euro zone -0.4 0.9
China 7.5 7.5
India 4.0 5.0
Asia 6.3 6.6
Latin America 2.7 3.9
» Worldwide 2.9 3.7

Source: Institute for the Global Economy at the University of Kiel “Weltkonjunktur im Winter 2013", December 19, 2013
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International segment:
mixed development is anticipated again in 2014

Regional differences in terms of development are
anticipated in the International segment in 2014. In
the overall assessment of the euro zone, a gradual
recovery of the economy is forecast. In the emerging
countries, the very fast expansion rate of the past
few years is likely to tail off further, particularly in
China and India. A slight economic upturn is ex-
pected in Latin America, mainly driven by increased
domestic demand and investing activities in Brazil in
preparation for the 2014 soccer World Cup.

THE DIALYSIS MARKET
CONTINUES TO GROW

Fresenius Medical Care expects the number of dialy-
sis patients worldwide to grow by about 6% in 2014.
Some significant regional differences will probably
remain. We anticipate a 2 to 4% increase in patient
numbers in the u.s., Japan, Western and Central
Europe. In these regions, the prevalence of chronic
kidney failure is already relatively high and patients

generally have reliable access to treatment, normally
dialysis. In economically weaker regions, the growth
rates are even higher with values of up to 10%, and
in some countries even more. We expect patient
numbers to continue to rise in the coming years, see
chart 2.12.3 on page 123.

Demographic factors are one of the main reasons for
the continued growth of dialysis markets, including
the aging population and the mounting incidence
of diabetes and high blood pressure — two diseases
that often precede end stage renal disease. In addi-
tion, the life expectancy of dialysis patients is in-
creasing primarily due to ongoing improvements in
the quality of treatment and higher standards of liv-
ing, even in developing countries.

As a result of the anticipated differences in growth
rates, a higher proportion of patients will undergo
dialysis treatment in Asia, Latin America, Eastern
Europe, the Middle East and Africa in future. This
opens up huge potential for the entire spectrum of
dialysis services and products, as more than 80% of
the world’s population lives in these regions.

— T.2.12.2 Expected growth in patient numbers!

Growth in 2014
North America ~4%
u.s. ~4%
Europe/Middle East/Africa ~4%
EU ~2%
Asia-Pacific ~10%
Japan ~2%
Latin America ~6%
» Worldwide ~6%

" Internal estimates.
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We do not expect significant changes in treatment operator since the end of 2012. We also plan to open
methods. Hemodialysis will remain the treatment of 15 to 30 dialysis centers in India in the next five years.
choice, accounting for about 89% of all dialysis ther-  Regional and local health authorities in India also
apies. Peritoneal dialysis should continue to be the promote the public private partnership model (PpPP).
preferred treatment for about 11% of all dialysis pa-  Therefore, we also intend to conclude correspond-
tients. The volume of the worldwide dialysis market, ing supply contracts with larger regional and munic-
which amounted to about $75 BN last year according ipal hospitals.
to preliminary estimates, is expected to increase by
around 4%. This is based on the assumption that
exchange rates will remain stable in the forecasting BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF FRESENIUS
period. The overall volume of the dialysis market for MEDICAL CARE IN 2014
2014 could thus reach around $78BN.
Exchange rates
Fresenius Medical Care's outlook for 2014 is based
GROWTH AND FUTURE SALES MARKETS on the exchange rates at the beginning of 2014. As

mentioned in the “Economic environment” section
In the product business, we have had our own sales starting on page 49, the relationship of the u.s. dollar to
organizations in key growth markets in Eastern the euro is especially important for Fresenius Medical
Europe and Asia for several years and already hold Care. In its forecasts, Fresenius Medical Care also
leading market positions. We serve small markets takes into account other exchange rates that are
via distributors. We want to continue to expand our particularly relevant to the economic performance
local range of products and local production. Acqui-  of its subsidiaries, such as the Taiwanese dollar
sitions can also help us to achieve our aim of against the u.s. dollar or the Chinese Yuan against
strengthening our business. In China, we intend to the euro.
further expand our alliances with hospitals. In addi-
tion to China, another Asian market that looks Revenue
increasingly promising is India. We have been repre-  We aim to further increase our revenue in the cur-
sented on this product market through distributors rent financial year to around $15.2 BN, which would
since the 1990s and an independent dialysis clinic correspond to a growth rate of 4%.

— €.2.12.3 ———— Number of dialysis patients worldwide — forecast to 20201
inM

1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

2020: ~3.8 M dialysis patients }—b

1

" Internal estimates.
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Operating income

As we operate in an environment in which cost in-
creases are not adequately offset by rising reimburse-
ment rates, we expect operating income for 2014 to
be almost unchanged compared to 2013 at around
$2.2 BN despite the growth in revenue. Consequently,
the operating income margin for 2014 would be
around 14.5%.

Net income
Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co.KGaA is expected to be be-
tween $1.00BN and $1.05BN in 2014, 5 to 10% lower
than in 2013.

The Company initiated a global efficiency program
designed to enhance the Company's performance
over a multi-year period which should lead to sus-
tainable savings. Potential cost savings before taxes
in the amount of up to $60M generated from this
program are not included in the outlook for 2014.

Earnings per share
For 2014, we expect earnings per shares to decrease
in parallel with net income.

Dividend

Fresenius Medical Care intends to maintain its conti-
nuity-oriented dividend policy. At the Annual General
Meeting on May 15, 2014, the Management Board
will propose a 3% increase in the dividend to €0.77
per share. Subject to the approval of the Annual
General Meeting, the shareholders can therefore
expect the dividend to increase for the 17™ year in a
row since the foundation of Fresenius Medical Care
in 1996. In the subsequent years, we aim to align our
dividend development more closely to the growth in
earnings per share, while maintaining dividend con-
tinuity. Information on the proposed dividend in-
crease can be found in the “Dividend continuity”
section on page 32.

— T.2.12.4 Targets 2014

Results 2013 Targets 2014
Revenue $14.6 BN ~$15.2BN
Operating income (EBIT) $2.3BN ~$2.2BN
Operating income margin 15.4% ~14.5%
Net income’ $1.1BN $1.0BN to $1.05BN
Net income growth'? -6% Decrease of 5% to 10%
In line with the expected
Basic earnings per share growth'? -6% development of the net income
Capital expenditures $700M ~$900M
Acquisitions and investments $500M ~$400M

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
in % ofrevenue 13.9% >10%
Free cash flow in % of revenue 8.9% >4%
Debt/EBITDA ratio 2.8 <3.0
Employees? 90,690 ~92,000

3% per ordinary share

Dividend to €0.77% Continuous dividend policy
Research and development expenses $126 M ~$140M

Excluding an investment gain in 2012, net income growth in 2013 is +6%.
Full-time equivalents.
Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2014.

AwoN =

Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
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Investments and acquisitions

In 2014, we intend to spend around $1.3 BN on capital
expenditures as well as acquisitions and investments.
Capital expenditures should account for around
$900M or 6% of revenue in 2014. Around 50% of this
amount is earmarked for expansion investments.
Approximately $400 M or 3% of revenue is to be used
for acquisitions and equity investments.

In addition to the ongoing modernization of our di-
alysis clinics and production facilities, capital expen-
ditures will primarily be used to open new dialysis
clinics and expand our worldwide production capac-
ities as well as on dialysis machines within the
framework of long-term supply contracts. Addition-
ally, capital expenditures will be used to rationalize
production processes and to improve system sup-
port of internal processes. Furthermore, the Com-
pany is planning to continue making selective acqui-
sitions and investments to further consolidate the
global business. Thereto we intend to predominantly
acquire additional dialysis clinics, either directly or
by entering joint venture relationships.

Cash flow

In 2014, net cash provided by operating activities is
again expected to account for more than 10% of rev-
enue. With revenue forecast at around $15.2 BN, this
would result in a net cash provided by operating ac-
tivities of more than $1.5BN in 2014. The free cash
flow is likely to reach more than 4% of revenue in
2014.

Debt/EBITDA ratio
Fresenius Medical Care takes the debt/EBITDA ratio
as its guideline for long-term financial planning. This
ratio was 2.83 at the end of 2013. For 2014, the target
figure is expected to be not above 3.0.

Financing
The Company’s financing strategy gives top priority
to ensuring our financial flexibility. With our only
partly used credit facilities and accounts receivable

facility, Fresenius Medical Care has sufficient finan-
cial resources. We are pursuing a target value for
secured and unutilized credit facilities of at least
$300M to $500M here. For further information, see
the “Financial situation” section starting on page 66.

LEGAL STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION

The holding company of Fresenius Medical Care has
been a partnership limited by shares (Kommandit-
gesellschaft auf Aktien, KGaA) since 2006. Changes
to the legal form are not planned in the foreseeable
future. We intend to retain our decentralized organi-
zational structure. In our view, this well-proven
structure ensures the best-possible flexibility and
adaptation to market requirements.

FUTURE PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We plan to spend approximately $140 M on research
and development in the current financial year.

As a vertically integrated company, we aim to offer a
complete portfolio of high-quality products and ser-
vices for the treatment of chronic kidney failure that
can be adapted flexibly to local market conditions
and to the sometimes dynamic changes in health-
care systems and reimbursement structures.

In view of the growing challenge faced by health-
care systems to provide comprehensive, high-quality
yet cost-effective care for an increasing number of
patients, we want to use this extensive portfolio
more and more to offer our healthcare partners in-
tegrated concepts for patient care. Thanks to our
business model and our long-standing experience in
operating an international network of clinics, we are
in a particularly strong position to offer comprehen-
sive high-quality solutions of this kind from a single
source; see the “Opportunities” section in the “Risk
and opportunities report” starting on page 116.
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Accordingly, one focus of our research and develop-
ment work will be on developing innovations that
incorporate additional treatment elements into our
products and services or help to better align them —
always with the aim of improving the quality, safety
and cost-efficiency of treatment in equal measure.
For example, we will be working on devices for our
hemodialysis machines that reduce the handling of
the bloodline system and its connections to just a
few operations, thus easing the workload of clinic
staff. We will also continue to look at new additional
functions for improving the quality and safety of
treatment.

In the interest of more comprehensive patient care,
we will also continue to focus our software develop-
ment efforts on developing integrated system solu-
tions for clinical quality data management. These
will be designed to enable a larger volume of data to
be captured faster and more easily and to enhance
the quality of the data, thus continuously improving
treatment.

We will also continue to look into the general issue
of how new scientific and technological findings
can be used to further improve the quality of life of
a growing number of patients with chronic kidney
failure, e.g. through innovations in home therapies.
Treatment safety will remain at the forefront of our
efforts to continuously improve our products and
services, and the concomitant diseases of chronic
kidney failure will also remain a focus of our re-
search.

Furthermore, we will continue to work on transfer-
ring the blood cleansing process used for dialysis
to other illnesses, like liver disease, septicemia or
certain autoimmune and metabolic disorders. In
the long term, we will continue researching new

approaches to treating severe kidney and liver dis-
ease based on regenerative medicine. To do this,
we work together with internationally renowned
scientific institutions and universities that conduct
research on adult liver and kidney stem cells. We
intend to further expand these strategic develop-
ment activities over the coming years.

Finally, we want to contribute further to reducing
the environmental impact of our products and ser-
vices during their lifecycle as far as possible.

EMPLOYEES

Due to the anticipated expansion in business, we
expect the number of employees to grow in the cur-
rent year. By the end of 2014, the number of people
working for Fresenius Medical Care is estimated to
increase to around 92,000 (full-time equivalents).

FUTURE USE OF NEW TECHNOLOGIES
AND PROCESSES

With the assistance of the Global Manufacturing
Operations division (GM0), we aim to help our re-
gions to keep on providing their patients and cus-
tomers with top product quality at the best price. At
the same time, we intend to enable our regionally
responsible Board Members and their teams to fo-
cus their work on developing and growing their dial-
ysis services business.

Development of the global supplier portfolio will re-
main a key focal point of GMO in 2014. The aim is to
reduce our product costs and offset currency and
supply risks. In addition, we plan to pay more atten-
tion to environmental and social aspects in the

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



127

2.12
OUTLOOK

procurement process at global level. The emphasis
is on the criteria of environmentally sound and
resource-conserving production as well as fair and
humane conditions at our suppliers.

We will continue to harmonize our processes glob-
ally along the manufacturing chain, for example by
migrating the current regional production systems
to a common information technology system in the
coming years. We will also introduce uniform 1T sys-
tems in quality management, for example to docu-
ment our processes internally and for complaint
management.

In addition, we will strive to standardize improve-
ment measures (use of same measures) or harmonize
improvement measures (use of similar measures)
across all regions. This will enable us to better iden-
tify best-practice approaches and use our strengths
more effectively globally.

Our production strategy is geared towards manufac-
turing top-quality products in the right place at the
right time at the best possible price. To keep on
implementing this strategy successfully in the future,
we plan to diversify our network even more and
align it towards large production sites for making
technically sophisticated products for sale world-
wide as well as production facilities primarily inten-
ded for regional supply.

The report on expected developments describes how Fresenius Medical
Care is expected to perform in fiscal year 2014. The report on expected de-
velopments takes all events known at the time of the preparation of
the financial statements into account which could affect the development
of our business in 2014. As in the past, we are committed to achieve and, if
possible to exceed our targets. The outlook could be affected negatively by
risks and uncertainties. Additional information about the risks of
Fresenius Medical Care can be found in our consolidated financial state-
ments and the form 20-F on our website at www.fmc-ag.com in the section
Investor Relations/Publications.
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CHAPTER 2.13

Corporate governance report and
declaration on corporate governance

The Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG
and the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA are committed to responsible
management that is focused on achieving a sustainable increase in the
value of the Company. Long-term corporate strategies, solid financial man-
agement, strict adherence to legal and ethical business standards, and
transparency in the communication of the Company are its key elements.

The Management Board of the General Partner,
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, and the
Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO.KGAA hereinafter
report pursuant to section 289a of the German
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) and to
number 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance
Code (Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex -
DCGK) on the Company’s corporate governance.

The Declaration on Corporate Governance is publicly
available on the Company’s website at www.fmc-ag.
com in the section Investor Relations/Corporate
Governance/Declaration on Corporate Governance.

DECLARATION ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Group management and supervision structure
The legal form of the Company is that of a partner-
ship limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf
Aktien — KGaA). The statutory bodies are the General

— €. 2.13.1

Ordinary shares

Structure of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
based on data as of December 31, 2013

Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the General
Partner, which is Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG. In 2013 as the year under review, there
were no significant changes to the Group’s manage-
ment and supervision structure. The Group manage-
ment and supervisory structure is also displayed in
chart 2.13.1.

The Articles of Association of FMC AG& CO.KGAA,
which also specify the responsibilities of the bodies
of the Company, are available online at www.fmc-ag.
com in the section Investor Relations/Corporate
Governance/Articles of Association.

Fresenius Medical Care aims for a corporate gover-
nance that ensures the highest transparency possi-
ble. The Management Board of the General Partner
manages the business of the Company. In addition
to the Company’'s Supervisory Board, Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG has its own Supervi-
sory Board.

Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA

100%
v

Supervisory Board
FMC AG & Co. KGaA

Annual General Meeting

FMC AG & Co. KGaA elects >

Supervisory Board
FMC Management AG

Annual General Meeting

lect
FMC Management AG clects >

supervises
management
v

supervises
management
v

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA

‘ ‘ FMC Management AG Management Board

+ manages

! ~68.7 % Free Float, ~31.3 % Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA
FMC = Fresenius Medical Care
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Functioning of the Management Board and
the Supervisory Board as well as composition
and functioning of their committees
The German Stock Corporation Act prescribes a dual
management system for stock corporations (Aktien-
gesellschaft) as well as for partnerships limited by
shares consisting of a management body and a
supervisory board. The peculiarity in the case of the
legal form of a KGaA is that its business activities are
conducted by a personally liable shareholder (gen-
eral partner). In the case of FMC AG & CO. KGAA, this is
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, whose
Management Board is also responsible for conduct-
ing the business activities of the KGaA. Within the
scope of statutory allocation of competences, the
Supervisory Board is responsible for supervising and
advising the Management Board and it is involved in
making decisions that are fundamental to the Com-
pany. The duties and responsibilities of both bodies
are clearly defined by legislation and are strictly sep-

arated from one another.

The General Partner and its bodies
The General Partner — Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG — represented by its Management Board
is responsible for managing the Company and con-
ducting the Company’s business. Its actions and deci-
sions are directed towards the interests of the Com-
pany. Within the scope of filling managerial positions,
the Management Board considers diversity and espe-
cially female representation in terms of selection
from professionally qualified candidates. About one
third of the participants of the stock option programs,
which are reserved for managers, are female. In the
year under review, the Management Board of the
General Partner was initially composed of seven and
then, as of March 1, 2013, of eight Members.

In addition to observing legislation, the Articles of
Association and the principles as explained herein,
the General Partner's Management Board conducts
the business activities of the Company in accor-
dance with the applicable rules of procedure within
the meaning of section 77 para. 2 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG) and
number 4.2.1 Sentence 2 of the German Corporate

Governance Code. These rules of procedure define
the principles of cooperation and provide for the
schedule of responsibilities. Matters of special
significance and scope are decided by the full Man-
agement Board in accordance with the rules of pro-
cedure. In order to increase the efficiency of the
Management Board’'s work, the General Partner’s
Supervisory Board by resolution of May 15, 2013 es-
tablished a Management Board Committee for cer-
tain cross-departmental matters. Such Management
Board Committee essentially deals with corporate
matters of subsidiaries of FMC AG & CO. KGAA or acqui-
sitions that do not reach the minimum relevance and
importance level required for being referred to the
entire Management Board. Apart from the Chairman
of the Management Board and the Chief Financial
Officer, the Management Board Committee also in-
cludes the Chief Administrative Officer and the Man-
agement Board Member responsible for the respec-
tive matter either geographically or in terms of
substance; the Management Board Committee de-
cides by virtue of an unanimously resolution.

Deliberations of the Management Board are con-
ducted by the Chairman of the Management Board
or, if the latter is unavailable, by the Board Member
responsible for commercial matters or, if the latter is
also unavailable, by the Board Member who is the
senior-most member in age of the Board Members
present. The Chairman determines the order of the
agenda items and the modus of voting. Unless una-
nimity or the acting of all Members of the Manage-
ment Board is required by mandatory legal regula-
tions or the Articles of Association, the Management
Board adopts resolutions at meetings by simple ma-
jority of votes cast, and outside the meetings by sim-
ple majority of its members.

The rules of procedure determine that meetings of
the Management Board are held as the circum-
stances require, but at least once a month.

In various cases, the rules of procedure require the
Management Board to obtain the prior consent of
the Supervisory Board or the competent Supervisory
Board committee of the General Partner.
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The Members of the Management Board and their
areas of responsibility are introduced in the notes
to the annual financial statements of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA for the year under review (the
“notes”) under “Management Board of the General
Partner Fresenius Medical Care Management AG”
(www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Rela-
tions/Publications 2013/Financial Statements ac-
cording to German law (HGB)) and on the website
at www.fmc-ag.com in the section Our Company/
Management/Management Board. As of January 1,
2013, Mr. Rice Powell assumed the office of Chair-
man of the Management Board and succeeded
Dr. Ben Lipps in such function. At the same point in
time, Mr. Ronald Kuerbitz was appointed to the
Management Board, succeeding Mr. Powell in his
responsibility for Fresenius Medical Care North
America. With effect as of March 1, 2013, the Man-
agement Board was expanded by the Global Re-
search & Development department which was as-
signed to Dr. Olaf Schermeier.

As a stock corporation, Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG also has its own Supervisory Board
consisting of six members, which is chaired by
Dr. UIf M. Schneider. Other Members of the Supervi-
sory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management
AG are Messrs. Dr.Dieter Schenk (Vice Chairman),
Rolf A. Classon, William P. Johnston, Dr. Gerd Krick
and Dr. Walter L. Weisman. As far as Members of
the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG are also Members of the Supervi-
sory Board of FMC AG&CO.KGAA, further informa-
tion with regard to them can be found within the
scope of information provided with regard to the
Members of the Supervisory Board of
FMC AG & CO.KGAA in the notes under the header
“Supervisory Board” (www.fmc-ag.com in the sec-
tion Investor Relations/Publications 2013/Financial
Statements according to German law (HGB)) and on
the website at www.fmc-ag.com in the section Our
Company/Management/Supervisory Board. In addi-
tion to this, for the year under review the following
information is provided with regard to Dr. Schneider,
who is not a member of the Supervisory Board of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA:

Dr. Ulf M. Schneider
Chairman of the Management Board
of Fresenius Management S

Supervisory Board

Fresenius Kabi AG (Chairman)

HELIOS Kliniken GmbH (Chairman)

Fresenius Medical Care Group France s.A.s., France
(Chairman)

Fresenius Kabi Espafia s.A.u., Spain

FPS Beteiligungs AG (Chairman)

Others
Fresenius Kabi usA, Inc., usA (Board of Directors)
FHC (Holdings), Ltd., Great Britain (Board of Directors)

In recognition of his extraordinary contributions to
the development of the Company and his compre-
hensive experience in the Company, the Supervisory
Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG
appointed Dr.Ben Lipps as its honorary chairman
with effect as of January 1, 2013.

The Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG appoints the Members of the Man-
agement Board and supervises and advises the Man-
agement Board in its management responsibilities. In
accordance with number 5.1.3 of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has es-
tablished rules of procedure. Unaffected by the inde-
pendence requirements according to statutory rules
and to the recommendations of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code, Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG has committed itself by virtue of a so-
called Pooling Agreement with Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA
(inter alia) to a specific form of independence as de-
fined therein. According to the Pooling Agreement, at
least one third (and at least two) Members of the Su-
pervisory Board of the General Partner must be inde-
pendent members. Pursuant to the Pooling Agree-
ment, an “independent member” is a Member of the
Supervisory Board with no substantial business or
professional relationship with FMC AG & CO. KGAA, with
its General Partner, with Fresenius SE & Co.KGaA, or
with its general partner Fresenius Management SE, or
with any affiliates of these companies.
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Supervisory Board of the Company

The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA advises
and supervises the business activities as conducted
by the General Partner and performs the other du-
ties assigned to it by law and by the Articles of Asso-
ciation. It is involved in strategy and planning as well
as all matters of fundamental importance for the
Company.

The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA consists
of the following six members: Dr. Gerd Krick (Chair-
man), Dr. Dieter Schenk (Vice Chairman), Rolf A. Clas-
son, Prof.Dr.Bernd Fahrholz, William P.Johnston
and Dr. Walter L. Weisman. Further information on
the Members of the Supervisory Board can be found
in the notes under the header “Supervisory Board”
(www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Rela-
tions/Publications 2013/Financial Statements accord-
ing to German law (HGB)) and on the website at
www.fmc-ag.com in the section Our Company/Man-
agement/Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA also ap-
pointed Dr. Ben Lipps as its honorary chairman with
effect as of January1, 2013 in recognition of his
extraordinary contributions to the Company’s devel-
opment and his comprehensive experience in the
Company.

All Members of the Supervisory Board are elected by
the General Meeting of FMC AG&CO.KGAA as the
competent election body according to the provisions
of the German Stock Corporation Act. Such resolu-
tion of the General Meeting requires a majority of at
least three quarters of the votes cast. Fresenius
SE& Co.KGaA is excluded from voting on this issue
(further explanations on this matter can be found un-
der “Further Information regarding Corporate Gover-
nance” in the section titled “Shareholders”). When
discussing its recommendations for the election of
Members of the Supervisory Board to the General
Meeting, the Supervisory Board will take into ac-
count the international activities of the enterprise,
potential conflicts of interest, what it considers an
adequate number of independent Supervisory Board
Members and diversity. This includes the aim to

establish an appropriate female representation on a
long-term basis. As the composition of the Supervi-
sory Board needs to be aligned with the interests of
the enterprise and has to ensure the effective super-
vision and consultation of the Management Board, it
is a matter of principle and of prime importance that
each member is suitably qualified. In the enterprise’s
interest not to limit the selection of qualified candi-
dates in a general way, the Supervisory Board con-
fines itself to a general declaration of intent and par-
ticularly refrains from fixed diversity quotas and from
an age limit. Therefore, the Supervisory Board has
overall refrained from determining and taking into
account specific objectives with respect to its compo-
sition when proposing candidates and from publish-
ing the state of their implementation in the corpo-
rate governance report. Accordingly, non-compliance
is declared in the declaration of compliance of the
2013 financial year insofar. The declaration of compli-
ance is included hereinafter, and can also be viewed
on the Company’s website under www.fmc-ag.com
in the section Investor Relations/Corporate Gover-
nance/Declaration of Compliance.

There is a strict separation between the Members of
the Supervisory Board and those of the Manage-
ment Board: simultaneous membership in both the
Supervisory Board and the Management Board is not
compatible with the law. In the year under review,
the Supervisory Board did not include any members
who were also members of the General Partner’s
Management Board during the previous two years.
The members of the Company’s Supervisory Board
are independent in their decisions and are not bound
by requirements or instructions of third parties.

The Supervisory Board consists of what it considers
an adequate number of independent members, who
also do not entertain any personal or business rela-
tions with the company, its corporate bodies, a con-
trolling shareholder or an enterprise associated with
the latter which may cause a substantial and not
merely temporary conflict of interests. Details on the
treatment of potential conflicts of interests are set
out in the section “Legal relationships with members
of the Company’s corporate bodies” starting on page 141.
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The term of office of the Members of the Supervisory
Board is five years; the current term of office ends on
conclusion of the General Meeting for 2016.

Details on the election, constitution and term of
office of the Supervisory Board, its meetings and
the adoption of resolutions, as well as its rights
and obligations, are set out in Articles 8 et seq. of
the Company’s Articles of Association, which can
be viewed on the Company’s website under www.
fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Relations/
Corporate Governance/Articles of Association. Ac-
cording to number 5.1.3 of the German Corporate
Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has fur-
thermore adopted rules of procedure which set
out, among other things, the modalities for con-
vening meetings and the manner in which resolu-
tions are adopted. Accordingly, the Supervisory
Board meets at least twice per calendar half year.
The deliberations of the Supervisory Board are con-
ducted by the Chairman or, if the latter is unavail-
able, by his deputy, who also determines the order
of the agenda items and the type of voting. As a
rule, the Supervisory Board decides by simple ma-
jority of votes cast unless other majorities are pre-
scribed by a mandatory provision of law. The Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board is responsible for
coordinating and directing the Supervisory Board
and represents the Supervisory Board vis-a-vis third
parties.

In accordance with number 5.6 of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code, the Members of the Su-
pervisory Board regularly carry out efficiency evalua-
tions with regard to their work. These take place in
the form of open discussions in plenary meetings.
On these occasions, also the complexity and the de-
sign of the presentations, as well as the meetings’
procedure and structuring are discussed. The results
of the evaluations carried out show that each of the
Supervisory Board and the committees are efficiently
organised and that the co-operation of the Supervi-
sory and Management Boards of the General Partner
works very well, too.

The Members of the Supervisory Board regularly up-
date themselves via in-house sources and via exter-
nal sources about the current status of supervisory
requirements. In addition to information provided to
them by several external experts, also experts of the
Company'’s departments regularly provide reports
about relevant developments, such as — for exam-
ple — relevant new developments in the revision of
legal rules or in jurisprudence and also about recent
developments in regulations on accounting accord-
ing to U.S. GAAP and IFRS. In this way, the Supervisory
Board, with the Company’s reasonable assistance,
ensures an ongoing qualification of its members and
also a further development and updating of their ex-
pertise, power of judgment and experience, which is
required for the Supervisory Board including its com-
mittees to duly perform their tasks.

In the year under review, five meetings of the Supervi-
sory Board — partly lasting for several days —and several
telephone conferences have taken place. Significant
discussion topics have been the effects of the changes
in the cost reimbursement system in the u.s., the ex-
pansion of the present business, possibilities to expand
business activities to include adjacent business areas
and with questions of research and development. In
addition to other topics, the further improvement of
efficiency of production and service and cost-saving
measures were discussed. The Supervisory Board also
considered the conversion of the remaining preference
shares into ordinary shares resolved on by the share-
holders in May 2013 and on the conduct of the share
buyback program initiated in the financial year 2013.

Further details about the aforementioned members’
memberships in other statutory supervisory boards
or in comparable domestic or foreign supervisory
committees of business enterprises can be found in
the notes to the financial statements under “Super-
visory Board” (www.fmc-ag.com in the section In-
vestor Relations/Publications 2013/Financial State-
ments according to German law (HGB)) and on the
website at www.fmc-ag.com in the section Our
Company/Management/Supervisory Board.
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Committees of the Supervisory Boards
A) Committees of the Supervisory Board
of FMC AG & CO. KGAA
From the midst of its members, the Supervisory
Board of FMC AG&CO.KGAA forms two standing
committees, the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Fur-
thermore, there is a Joint Committee consisting of
two members from each the Supervisory Board of
the Company and the Supervisory Board of the
General Partner. Additionally, a temporary Ad-hoc
Committee was established in the year under re-
view, which was in charge of implementing the
conversion of the remaining preference shares into
ordinary shares, as resolved on by the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting and the separate meeting of the pref-
erence shareholders in May 2013 and has met once
in the year under review.

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO.KGAA estab-
lished an Audit and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee. During the year under review Messrs. Dr. Walter
L. Weisman (Chairman), Prof. Dr. Bernd Fahrholz (Vice
Chairman), Dr. William P. Johnston and Dr. Gerd Krick
were members of this Committee.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee as-
sists and advises the Supervisory Board and performs
the duties incumbent on it by law and in accordance
with the German Corporate Governance Code. With-
out prejudice to the responsibilities of the Super-
visory Board, it also reviews the report of the General
Partner on relationships with affiliated companies.
In addition, the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee examines the report according to form
20-F, which in addition to other disclosures includes
the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report.

With the consent of the Supervisory Board, the Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee adopted
rules of procedure. The rules of procedure of the Au-
dit and Corporate Governance Committees provide

that between three and five members may belong to
this Committee. The chairman shall not be a former
Member of the Management Board of the Company.
All members of the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee must be independent within the mean-
ing of the Articles of Association of the Company
(section 12 para. 2 sentence 3), which means that,
apart from their membership in the Supervisory
Board of either the General Partner or Fresenius
SE& Co.KGaA, they do not have any substantial
business, professional or personal relationship with
the Company or any of its affiliates. The question of
independence is assessed solely by the Supervisory
Board of the Company, with such independence as a
rule being assumed where the member in question
satisfies the requirements for independence pursu-
ant to the New York Stock Exchange. Moreover, at
least one member of the Corporate Governance
Committee must be independent in terms of Section
107 para (4) in connection with Section 100 para (5) of
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Further-
more, members of the Audit and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee are required to possess expert
knowledge in the finance and accounting sector. All
members are independent within this meaning and
were appointed to the Committee based on their
specialist knowledge, their independence and their
experience.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
convenes as circumstances require, but at least four
times a year in any case. Meetings of the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee are lead by its
chairman. A quorum of the body is constituted by at
least three of its members. Subsequent to the meet-
ings, the Audit and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee reports regularly through its chairman to the
Supervisory Board of the Company and together
with the latter addresses issues falling under the re-
sponsibility of the committee. In consultation with
the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee,
the Supervisory Board proposed KPMG AG Wirtschafts-
prifungsgesellschaft as auditor of the annual finan-
cial statements for the year under review.
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Nomination Committee

In accordance with number 5.3.3 of the German
Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board
has furthermore established a Nomination Commit-
tee. In the year under review, the Company’s Nomi-
nation Committee included Dr. Gerd Krick (Chairman),
Dr. Walter L. Weisman and Dr.Dieter Schenk. The
Nomination Committee prepares Supervisory Board
candidate proposals, and suggests suitable candi-
dates to the Supervisory Board for the latter's nomi-
nation proposals to the General Meeting. In the year
under review, the Nomination Committee was not
convened as there was no demand to do so.

Joint Committee

Since 2006, FMC AG & CO. KGAA has established a Joint
Committee whose composition and activity is pro-
vided for in Articles 13a et seq. of the Articles of As-
sociation of the Company; these provisions can be
viewed on the Company’s website under www.
fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Relations/Corpo-
rate Governance/Articles of Association. The Joint
Committee is convened only as required, namely in
cases of certain legal transactions defined in the Ar-
ticles of Association as substantial transactions and
for which the General Partner requires the consent
of this body.

The Joint Committee is composed of two Members
of the Supervisory Board of the General Partner and
two Members of the Supervisory Board of the Com-
pany, with the chairman of this body being ap-
pointed by the General Partner. For the General Part-
ner, Dr.UIf M.Schneider and Dr.Gerd Krick have
been named as members of the Joint Committee. By
resolution of May 12, 2011, the General Meeting of
the Company furthermore appointed Dr.Wal-
ter L. Weisman and William P. Johnston as members
of the Joint Committee for FMC AG & CO. KGAA.

The Joint Committee constitutes a quorum if at
least three members are attending a meeting. As a
rule, resolutions are adopted by simple majority of
votes. When the Joint Committee has met, it re-
ports to the General Meeting on its work; in this
regard, section 171 para. 2 sentence 1 and sentence 2
(first half-sentence) as well as section 176 para.1 sen-
tence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act apply

mutatis mutandis. If resolutions have been adopted
by the second vote being cast by the chairman, this
fact must be disclosed in the report of the Joint
Committee.

In the year under review, the Joint Committee con-
vened twice. The subject of both meetings of the
Joint Committee was consideration of the approval
of two contracts concluded by the Company or its
group companies with group companies of Fresenius
SE & Co.KGaA. One of these contracts concerned IT
services and the other the supply of various prod-
ucts, in particular in the area of plasma collection.
The Joint Committee after detailed debate decided
in each case unanimously to approve these con-
tracts. In accordance with Article 13e para. 2 of the
Articles of Association, the Joint Committee will re-
port to the Annual General Meeting on its activity.
The corresponding detailed report of the Joint Com-
mittee is available on the Company’s website as of
the time of the calling of the General Meeting.

Ad-hoc Committee

The Annual General Meeting of May 16, 2013 and the
special meeting of the preference shareholders of
the same date decided, inter alia, to convert the re-
maining preference shares into ordinary shares and
in this connection to adjust the conditional capital
pursuant to Sec. 4 ss. 5 of the Articles of Association.
With regard to the registration of the conversion of
the preference shares into ordinary shares and the
adjustment of the conditional capital in the Commer-
cial Register, the Annual General Meeting has autho-
rised the Supervisory Board to up-date and/or re-
place, in the course of the registration notification to
the Commercial Register, the figures and amounts
not yet finally determined at the time of the relevant
resolution. On the basis of these authorisations,
the Supervisory Board formed, by resolution of
June 10, 2013 passed in the circulation procedure, a
temporary Ad-hoc Committee which, on June 24, 2013,
conducted the above described up-dating and/or re-
placement including additional amendments.

The Ad-hoc Committee consisted of Dr.Dieter
Schenk (chairman), Dr. Gerd Krick and Prof. Dr. Bernd
Fahrholz. In the financial year, the Ad-hoc Commit-
tee held one telephone conference.
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Further details on the memberships of members of
the aforementioned committees in other statutory
supervisory boards or in comparable domestic or
foreign supervisory committees of business enter-
prises can be found in the notes to the financial
statements under “Supervisory Board” (www.fmc-ag.
com in the section Investor Relations/Publications
2013/Financial Statements according to German law
(HGB)) and on the website at www.fmc-ag.com in
the section Our Company/Management/Supervisory
Board.

B) Committees of the Supervisory Board
of the General Partner

Furthermore, at the level of the Supervisory Board of
the General Partner, Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG, further committees have been in place. The
purpose of these committees is to raise the efficiency
of the Supervisory Board's work and to deal with spe-
cial issues of a complex nature, such as the composi-
tion and compensation of the Management Board,
candidate proposals of the Supervisory Board of the
General Partner as well as regulatory requirements
and reimbursement of services in the dialysis field.
These committees act only in a consulting capacity.

In the year under review, the Human Resources
Committee was composed of Dr.UIf M. Schneider
(Chairman), Dr.Gerd Krick, Mr.William P.Johnston
and Dr. Walter L. Weisman.

In the year under review, members of the Regulatory
and Reimbursement Assessment Committee were
Messrs. William P.Johnston (Chairman), Rolf A. Classon
(Vice Chairman) and Dr. Dieter Schenk.

Corresponding to number 5.3.3 of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has
furthermore established a Nomination Committee.
In the year under review, the Nomination Committee
of the General Partner’s Supervisory Board included
Dr. Ulf M. Schneider (Chairman), Dr. Gerd Krick (Dep-
uty Chairman) and Dr. Walter L. Weisman. The Nom-
ination Committee prepares Supervisory Board can-
didate proposals, and suggests suitable candidates
to the General Partner’s Supervisory Board for the

latter’s nomination proposals to its General Meeting.
In the year under review, the Nomination Committee
was not convened as there was no demand to do so.

Further details about the aforesaid members’ mem-
bership in other statutory supervisory boards or in
comparable domestic or foreign supervisory com-
mittees of business enterprises can be found in the
notes to the financial statements under “Supervisory
Board” (www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor
Relations/Publications 2013/Financial Statements ac-
cording to German law (HGB)) and on the website at
www.fmc-ag.com in the section Our Company/Man-
agement/Supervisory Board.

Co-operation of General Partner
and Supervisory Board of the Company

Good corporate governance requires an efficient
co-operation between the management and the Su-
pervisory Board on the basis of mutual trust. The
General Partner and the Supervisory Board of the
Company work together closely in the Company’s
interest: their joint goal is to increase the Compa-
ny’s value in the long term in compliance with the
corporate governance principles and compliance
regulations. The General Partner regularly informs
the Company'’s Supervisory Board about all relevant
issues regarding business policy, corporate planning
and strategic enhancement, about the profitability
of the Company as well as the development of busi-
ness and the Group's position including an assess-
ment of the risk situation. In the expired fiscal year,
the Supervisory Board regularly advised the man-
agement, i.e. the Management Board of the Gen-
eral Partner, on the Company’s management and
supervised it in line with its responsibility as Super-
visory Board of the partnership limited by shares.

RELEVANT INFORMATION ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance
Global business activities result in global responsi-
bility. As the global market leader in dialysis,
Fresenius Medical Care is aware of its responsibility.
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We are committed to conduct the Company’s busi-
ness activities in compliance with local laws and reg-
ulations. We seek to demonstrate professionalism,
honesty and integrity in the business relationships
with our patients, customers, suppliers and other
business partners, with the public authorities and
the payors within the healthcare system, with our
employees, shareholders and the general public.

For us, compliance means adhering to defined ethi-
cal and legal guidelines as part of our business activ-
ities. Observing compliance guidelines is an integral
part of our corporate culture. We have implemented
Fresenius Medical Care’s compliance program in all
of our business regions. Thus, our compliance guide-
lines apply to all our subsidiaries.

Our compliance program comprises of a code of
conduct that has been approved by the Manage-
ment Board. The code of conduct applies worldwide
in every business section and combines our long-
term interests with those of our partners. It de-
scribes our Company’s business standards and em-
phasizes our commitment to operate in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations and with
our own company policies. The code of conduct is
based on the core values of our Company: quality,
honesty and integrity, innovation and improvement,

culture and policy as well as our entire business ac-
tivities are guided by these values. Each employee is
called on to ensure, by complying with the laws as
well as the guidelines and rules of the code of con-
duct, that Fresenius Medical Care is appreciated as a
partner of integrity and reliability in the healthcare
system for patients, customers, suppliers, public au-
thorities and the general public.

All employees have the possibility of reporting sus-
pected violations of applicable laws or company pol-
icies. Information on violations may also be provided
anonymously.

Further details can be obtained from the code of
conduct published on the website of the Company
at www.fmc-ag.com in the section Our Company/
Compliance/Code of Conduct.

In his capacity as the Chief Compliance Officer, the
Member of the Management Board responsible for
compliance regularly provides a compliance update
to the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
of FMC AG & CO. KGAA and to the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG.

We continued our compliance training activities in
2013. As part of this training, local compliance offi-

respect, teamwork and dignity. Our corporate cers were given the opportunity at conferences to
— C.2.13.2 Organizational structure of the compliance program
‘Corporate ‘ Chief Compliance Officer informs » Audit and Corporate Governance
(= Management Board Member) Committee, Supervisory Board
A
reports to
‘ Region ‘ ‘ Compliance Officer informs » ‘ Management Board Member ‘
A
reports to
‘Subregion ‘ ‘ Compliance Officer informs » ‘ Regional Vice President ‘
A
reports to
‘Country ‘ ‘ Compliance Officer informs » ‘ General Manager ‘
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exchange their experiences with the compliance offi-
cers from their respective business regions. As the chart
2.13.2 on page 136 Shows, these officers are assigned a key
role: They are responsible that each employee is in-
formed about our code of conduct and its goals. At
the same time, they are responsible for related train-
ing measures. Compliance officers act as contacts for
our employees and can be reached via special tele-
phone numbers or by e-mail. Of course, our local
compliance officers can also be approached in person.

In the year under review, we strengthened the net-
work and global cooperation within our compliance
organization and promoted the exchange on com-
pany-wide compliance topics by hosting our compli-
ance conferences in several regions.

In addition, we have leveraged current resources to
strategically strengthen our compliance program
through initiatives like online employee training and
increased communication within the Company.

Our compliance program is also an integral part of
our risk and opportunity management.

Risk and opportunity management

At Fresenius Medical Care, an integrated manage-
ment system is in place to ensure that risks and op-
portunities are already identified at an early stage,
optimizing the risk profile and minimizing the
costs potentially related to the occurrence of risks
through timely intervention. Our risk management is
therefore an important component of the corporate
management of Fresenius Medical Care. The ade-
quateness and effectiveness of our internal control
systems for the financial reporting are reviewed on a
regular basis by the Management Board and by our
auditor.

Further information about the risk and opportunity
management system, our internal control system for
the financial reporting and the compliance program
can be found in the risk management section of the
management report as well as on the website under
www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Rela-
tions/Publications 2013/Financial Statements accord-
ing to German law (HGB).

GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
AND DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE

The German Corporate Governance Code includes
key recommendations for the management and su-
pervision of companies listed on a German stock ex-
change with the aim of making the rules for manag-
ing and supervising companies in Germany more
transparent for investors. The code is also intended
to enhance the trust of the public as well as that of
employees and customers in the management and
supervision of listed stock corporations.

The Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG and the Supervisory Board of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA endorse the principles set forth in
the German Corporate Governance Code. The ma-
jority of the guidelines, recommendations and sug-
gestions in the code have been an integral and
active part of Fresenius Medical Care’s day-to-day
operations since the founding of the Company.
Comprehensive information regarding corporate
governance is available on our website at www.
fmc-ag.com in the Investor Relations section.

The annually required Declaration of Compliance ac-
cording to section 161 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act issued by the Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG and the
Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA as of Decem-
ber 2013 as well as previous Declarations of Compli-
ance are made permanently available to sharehold-
ers according to section 161 para. 2 of the German
Stock Corporation Act and number 3.10 of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code among other ex-
tensive information on corporate governance on the
Company's website at www.fmc-ag.com in the sec-
tion Investor Relations/Corporate Governance/Dec-
laration of Compliance.
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Declaration by the Management Board of
the General Partner of Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co.KGaA, Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG, and by the Supervisory Board
of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA on the
German Corporate Governance Code pursuant
to Section 161 German Stock Corporation Act
(Aktiengesetz)

The Management Board of the General Partner of
Fresenius Medical Care AG& Co.KGaA, Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG, (hereafter the
Management Board) and the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care&Co. KGaA declare that
since issuance of the previous declaration of compli-
ance in December 2012 the recommendations of the
“German Corporate Governance Code Government
Commission” published by the Federal Ministry of
Justice in the official section of the Federal Gazette
(hereafter the Code) in the version of May 15, 2012 as
well as in the version of May 13, 2013 since publica-
tion thereof in the Federal Gazette have been met
and that the recommendations of the Code in the
version of May 13, 2013 will be met in the future.
Only the following recommendations of the Code in
its versions of May 15, 2012 and May 13, 2013 have

not been met and will not be met:

Code number 4.2.3 paragraph 4:
Severance payment cap

Pursuant to Code number 4.2.3 paragraph 4, in con-
cluding Management Board contracts, care shall be
taken to ensure that payments made to a Manage-
ment Board Member on premature termination of
his/her contract, including fringe benefits, do not
exceed the value of two years’ compensation (sever-
ance payment cap) and compensate no more than
the remaining term of the employment contract.
The severance payment cap shall be calculated on
the basis of the total compensation for the past full
financial year and if appropriate also the expected
total compensation for the current financial year.

These recommendations are not met insofar as the
employment contracts of the Members of the Man-
agement Board do not contain severance payment
arrangements for the case of premature termination
of the contract and consequentially do not contain a
limitation of any severance payment amount insofar.

Uniform severance payment arrangements of this
kind would contradict the concept practiced by
Fresenius Medical Care in accordance with the
German Stock Corporation Act according to which
employment contracts of the Members of the Man-
agement Board are, in principle, concluded for the
period of their appointment. They would also not
allow for a well-balanced assessment in the indi-
vidual case.

Code number 5.1.2 paragraph 2 sentence 3:
Age limit for Members of the Management Board
Pursuant to Code number 5.1.2 paragraph 2 sentence
3 an age limit shall be specified for Members of the
Management Board. As in the past, Fresenius Medical
Care will refrain from determining an age limit for
Members of the Management Board in the future
since this would unduly limit the selection of quali-
fied candidates.

Code number 5.4.1 paragraph 2 and paragraph 3:
Specification of concrete objectives regarding
the composition of the Supervisory Board and

their consideration when making recommen-
dations to the competent election bodies

Pursuant to Code number 5.4.1 paragraph 2 and

paragraph 3, the Supervisory Board shall specify

concrete objectives regarding its composition and,
when making recommendations to the competent
election bodies, take these objectives into account.

The objectives specified by the Supervisory Board

and the status of the implementation shall be pub-

lished in the corporate governance report. These
recommendations are not met.

As the composition of the Supervisory Board needs
to be aligned to the enterprise’s interest and has to
ensure the effective supervision and consultation of
the Management Board, it is a matter of principle
and of prime importance that each member is suit-
ably qualified. When discussing its recommendations
to the competent election bodies, the Supervisory
Board will take into account the international activi-
ties of the enterprise, potential conflicts of interest,
the number of independent Supervisory Board Mem-
bers within the meaning of Code number 5.4.2, and
diversity. This includes the aim to establish an appro-
priate female representation on a long-term basis.
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In the enterprise’s interest not to limit the selection
of qualified candidates in a general way, the Super-
visory Board confines itself to a general declaration
of intent and particularly refrains from fixed diversity
quotas and from an age limit. As the next regular
elections of the Supervisory Board will take place in
the year 2016, reasonably a report on implementa-
tion of the general declaration of intent cannot be
made till then.

Furthermore, the following recommendations of the
Code in its version of May 13, 2013 have not been
met and will not be met:

Code number 4.2.3 paragraph 2 sentence 6:
Caps regarding specific compensation amounts
Pursuant to Code number 4.2.3 paragraph 2 sen-
tence 6 in the version of May 13, 2013, the amount of
compensation shall be capped, both overall and for

variable compensation components.

This recommendation is not met. The service agree-
ments with Members of the Management Board do
not provide for caps regarding specific amounts for
all compensation components and accordingly not
for caps regarding specific amounts for the overall
compensation. The performance-oriented short-
term compensation (the variable bonus) is capped.
As regards stock options and phantom stocks as
compensation elements with long-term incentives,
the service agreements with Members of the Man-
agement Board do provide for a possibility of lim-
itation but not for caps regarding specific amounts.
Introducing caps regarding specific amounts in re-
lation to such stock-based compensation elements
would contradict the basic idea of the Members of
the Management Board participating appropriately
in the economic risks and opportunities of the
Company. Instead of that, Fresenius Medical Care
pursues a flexible concept considering each individ-
ual case. In situations of extraordinary develop-
ments in relation to the stock-based compensation
which are not related to the performance of the
Management Board, the Supervisory Board may
cap the stock-based compensation.

Code number 4.2.5 paragraph 3:
Presentation in the compensation report
Pursuant to Code number 4.2.5 paragraph 3 in the
version of May 13, 2013, the presentation of the com-
pensation for each individual Member of the Man-
agement Board in the compensation report shall for
fiscal years starting after December 31, 2013 inter alia
present the maximum and minimum achievable
compensation by using corresponding model tables.

Since Fresenius Medical Care in deviation from Code
number 4.2.3 paragraph 2 sentence 6 does not pro-
vide for caps regarding specific amounts for all com-
pensation elements and, therefore, does not provide
for caps regarding specific amounts for the overall
compensation, the compensation report cannot
meet all recommendations of the Code in the future.
Irrespective thereof, Fresenius Medical Care will con-
tinue to present its compensation system and the
amounts paid to Members of the Management
Board in its compensation report in a comprehensive
and transparent manner in the future. This will also
include the maximum and minimum achievable vari-
able bonus.

Bad Homburg v.d.H., in December 2013

Management Board of the General Partner of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA,
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, and
Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA

FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Shareholders
Company shareholders exercise their rights and vot-
ing powers in the General Meeting. Since the regis-
tration of the conversion of the preference shares
into ordinary shares in the year under review,
the share capital of FMC AG & CO.KGAA is exclusively
divided into ordinary shares. Each share of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA entitles the holder to one vote at
the General Meeting. Shares with multiple or prefer-
ence voting rights do not exist. As a matter of prin-
ciple, the General Partner (as far as it would be a
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shareholder in the Company, which was not the case
in the year under review), respectively, its sole share-
holder, Fresenius SE & Co.KGaA, can exercise at the
General Meeting the voting rights connected with
the shares it holds in FMC AG & CO.KGAA. However,
the General Partner and its sole shareholder are sub-
ject to various rules preventing them by law from
voting on certain resolutions. These include, among
others, the election of the Supervisory Board, formal
approval of the actions of the General Partner
and the Members of the Supervisory Board of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA, as well as the election of the au-
ditor of the annual financial statements. This is to
guarantee that the shareholders in the partnership
limited by shares (KGaA) can solely decide on these
matters, particularly those concerning the control of
the Management.

General Meeting

According to the principles of the German Stock
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), shareholders can ex-
ercise their voting rights at the Annual General
Meeting themselves, by proxy via a representative of
their choice, or by a company-nominated proxy act-
ing on their instructions. Proxy voting instructions to
a company nominee can be issued before and during
the Annual General Meeting until the end of the
open discussion period.

In the year under review, the Annual General Meet-
ing of FMC AG & CO. KGAA took place on May 16, 2013
in Frankfurt/Main (Germany). Approximately 75% of
the ordinary share capital and 3.5% of the prefer-
ence share capital, in each case in relation to the
entire share capital, were represented. In 2012, about
78% of the ordinary share capital and about 2% of
the preference share capital were represented at the
Annual General Meeting. All shareholders who were
not able to participate had the possibility to follow
the speech of the Chairman of the Management
Board live on the internet. At the Annual General
Meeting, resolutions were passed on the following
topics:

» approval of the annual financial statements for the
fiscal year 2012,

» allocation of distributable profit,

» approval of the actions of the General Partner and
the Supervisory Board,

» election of the auditors and consolidated group
auditors for the fiscal year 2013,
conversion of the non-voting preference bearer
shares into voting ordinary bearer shares, eliminat-
ing the preferential right to profits, and corre-
sponding adjustments of the Company’s Articles
of Association,
adjustment of the International Employee Partici-
pation Program of 2001 and adjustment of the con-
ditional capital pursuant to section 4 para. 5 of the
Company's Articles of Association,
special resolution of the ordinary shareholders on
the consent to the resolution on the conversion of
the non-voting preference bearer shares into vot-
ing ordinary bearer shares and corresponding ad-
justments of the Company’s Articles of Association
and on the consent to the resolutions on the ad-
justment of the International Employee Participa-
tion Program of 2001 and the conditional capital
pursuant to Article 4 para. 5 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, and
» amendment to section 15 of the Company’s Articles
of Association (participation in the General Meet-
ing and exercise of voting rights).

v

v

v

Subsequent to the Annual General Meeting, a sepa-
rate meeting of the Company’s preference share-
holders was held in Frankfurt am Main on May 16,
2013; about 81% of the preference share capital was
represented in this separate meeting. The separate
meeting of the preference shareholders passed reso-
lutions on the following agenda items:

» consent to the resolutions passed by the Company’s
Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2013 on the con-
version of the non-voting preference bearer shares
into voting ordinary bearer shares and correspond-
ing adjustments of the Company’s Articles of Asso-
ciation.

» consent to the resolutions passed by the Company’s
Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2013 on the ad-
justment of the International Employee Participation
Program of 2001 and the conditional capital pursuant
to Article 4 para. 5 of the Company's Articles of
Association.

All documents and information about the Annual
General Meeting and about the separate meeting of
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the preference shareholders as well as the respective
voting results and the speech of the Chairman of the
Management Board are available on our website at
www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Rela-
tions/Annual General Meeting.

Legal relationships with members
of the Company’s corporate bodies
When making decisions and in connection with the
tasks and activities performed by them, the Mem-
bers of the Management Board of the General Part-
ner and of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA,
as well as the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG, do not pursue personal inter-
ests or give unjustified advantages to other people.
Any outside activities or business dealings with the
Company by members of the corporate bodies are
to be disclosed to the Supervisory Board immedi-
ately and are subject to its approval, if necessary.
The Supervisory Board reports to the General Meet-
ing about possible conflicts of interests and how to
deal with them. Furthermore, Mr. Rice Powell as the
Chairman of Fresenius Medical Care Management
AG's Management Board, in the year under review,
with the approval of Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG's Supervisory Board, was at the same
time a member of the management board of
Fresenius Management se. The Members of the
Supervisory Board of FMC AG&CO.KGAA Dr.Krick
(Chairman) and Dr. Schenk (Vice Chairman) were, in
the year under report, also Members of the Supervi-
sory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management
AG (Dr. Schenk as Vice Chairman) and of the supervi-
sory board of Fresenius Management st (Dr. Krick as
chairman, Dr.Schenk as deputy chairman), the gen-
eral partner of Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA. Furthermore,
Dr. Krick is the chairman of the supervisory board of
Fresenius SE & Co.KGaA. Dr.Schenk continues to be
chairman of the administrative board of the Else
Kréner-Fresenius-Stiftung, the sole shareholder of
Fresenius Management st as well as limited share-
holder of Fresenius SE& Co.KGaA, and co-executor
of the estate of Mrs. Else Kroner. Dr. Krick receives a
pension from Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA due to his pre-
vious work on the management board of the com-
pany. During the year under review, consulting or
other service relationships between Members of the
Supervisory Board and the Company existed only in
the case of Dr.Schenk, who was in the year under

review a Member of the Supervisory Board of the
Company and of the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, a member
of the supervisory board of Fresenius Management
SE and, at the same time, a partner of the law firm
Noerr LLP. In the year under review, the companies
of the internationally operating law firm Noerr
acted for FMC AG&CO.KGAA and affiliated compa-
nies as legal advisor. The Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG and the Su-
pervisory Board of FMC AG & CO. KGAA have concerned
themselves with each of the assignments in a de-
tailed manner; moreover, the Supervisory Board
dealt with the fee volume for the legal advice ren-
dered by the law firm Noerr in proportion to the fee
volume for other law firms. As regards specific man-
dates for future services to be provided by law firm
Noerr and as regards the first three quarters of the
year under review, the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG and the Su-
pervisory Board of FMC AG& CO.KGAA have already
given their consent to such activity, with Dr. Schenk
abstaining from the vote. The resolutions were in
each case passed on the basis of a written document
for the Supervisory Board specifically stating each
single mandate and the invoices rendered for each
mandate. All payments rendered to the law firm
Noerr in the year under review were made only after
the approval of both Supervisory Boards. Any ser-
vices rendered in the fourth quarter of the year un-
der review will be topic of the Supervisory Board’s
Meeting in March 2014 and will also be compensated
only after approval has been obtained.

In the year under review, an amount of approxi-
mately €1.0M (plus VAT) was paid or processed for
payment in December 2013 by Fresenius Medical
Care to law firm Noerr (2012: about €1.4 m). This rep-
resents less than 2% of the legal and other consul-
tancy fees paid by Fresenius Medical Care on a
global scale. Concerning the amount paid or pro-
cessed for payment in the year under review, it does
not include payments which have been executed in
the year under review, but had been instructed for
payment in 2012 and had therefore been reported for
fiscal year 2012 already.
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Information on Directors’ Dealings

and shareholding
According to section 15a of the German Securities
Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG), Mem-
bers of the Management and Supervisory Boards or
other employees in management positions are re-
quired to inform the Company when buying or sell-
ing shares in Fresenius Medical Care and related fi-
nancial instruments if the volume exceeds €5,000
within a single year. During fiscal year 2013, we re-
ceived a total of eight disclosures according to sec-
tion 15a of the German Securities Trading Act, on
which further information is provided in chart 2.13.3 start-
ing on page 143.

In accordance with applicable regulation, we have
published these disclosures on our website at www.
fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Relations/Corpo-
rate Governance/Directors’ Dealings/Single Dealings.

Transparency of our reporting

Fresenius Medical Care meets all transparency re-
quirements imposed by number 6 of the German
Corporate Governance Code. We attach special im-
portance to informing our shareholders simultane-
ously and uniformly about our Company in our reg-
ular financial reporting events. Ad hoc releases and
our corporate website play an essential role in these
efforts. They provide investors and other interested
persons equally with direct and timely access to the
information we release.

All ad hoc releases as well as other news are pub-
lished on our website at www.fmc-ag.com in the
section Investor Relations/News. We keep our share-
holders informed of key dates on the website of
Fresenius Medical Care at www.fmc-ag.com in the
section Investor Relations/Financial Calendar.

Financial accounting and audit,
stock exchange listing
Fresenius Medical Care prepares its consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with the United
States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(U.S. GAAP) and in u.s. dollars. In line with this, the con-
solidated financial statements as well as the interim
consolidated quarterly reports are also prepared in

accordance with these principles. The consolidated
financial statements are published within the first 90
days of the end of each fiscal year, and the quarterly
reports within the first 45 days of the end of each
quarter.

As required by law, consolidated financial state-
ments and a Group management report as well as
quarterly reports continue to be prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFrRs) as adopted by the Eu.

The annual financial statements and the manage-
ment report of FMC AG & CO. KGAA are prepared in ac-
cordance with the German Commercial Code (Han-
delsgesetzbuch, HGB). The annual financial statements
are decisive for the distribution of the annual profit.

Moreover, an annual report of Fresenius Medical
Care, which equally reflects the requirements of u.s.
GAAP and the German Commercial Code, is pub-
lished each year.

Fresenius Medical Care shares are listed on the stock
exchange in the u.s. (as American Depositary Re-
ceipts) and in Germany. We are therefore subject to
a number of regulations and recommendations re-
garding the management, administration and moni-
toring of our Company. On the one hand, in addition
to mandatory requirements under stock corporation
and commercial law, we comply with the regulations
of Deutsche Borse and adhere to most of the recom-
mendations of the German Corporate Governance
Code. On the other hand, being a non u.s. company
(a "foreign private issuer”) we are subject to the reg-
ulations connected to our listing in the u.s. Obser-
vance of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (sox) and portions
of the Corporate Governance Rules of the New York
Stock Exchange in particular is required. The Sar-
banes-Oxley Act includes provisions governing com-
panies and their auditors and is aimed at improving
financial reporting, ensuring auditor independence
and implementing other matters. The extension of
regulations for financial reporting and internal con-
trol systems is intended to increase the trust of in-
vestors and other parties interested in the Company.
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Notifying Date

Issuer

Director’s Dealings 2013

Notifying Party

Transaction

May 29, 2013

Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Dr. Emanuele Gatti,
Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of transaction: May 24, 2013

Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €53.222369
Quantity: 40,269

Amount: €2,143,211.58

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)

May 29, 2013

Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Dr. Rainer Runte,
Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of transaction: May 24, 2013

Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €53.285919
Quantity: 99,600

Amount: €5,307,277.53

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)

June 7, 2013

Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Michael Brosnan,
Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of transaction: June 4, 2013

Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €52.2065
Quantity: 47,244

Amount: €2,466,443.89

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)

June 7, 2013

Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Roberto Fusté,
Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of transaction: June 6, 2013

Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €52.18456
Quantity: 49,800

Amount: €2,598,791.09

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)
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— T7.2.13.3

Notifying Date Issuer

Director’s Dealings 2013

Notifying Party

Transaction

August 1, 2013 Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,

61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Dr. UIf M. Schneider,
Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of
the General Partner
(Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG) of
the Company

Date of transaction: July 31, 2013

Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Purchase
Quotation/price per share: €46.8795
Quantity: 2,130

Amount: €99,853.34

Place: XETRA

Comments: Purchase of ordinary shares

November 22, 2013 Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Dr. Emanuele Gatti,
Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of transaction: November 18, 2013
Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €48.05
Quantity: 49,800

Amount: €2,392,890.00

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)

November 22, 2013  Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Dr. Emanuele Gatti,
Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of Transaction: November 19, 2013
Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €48.20
Quantity: 35,469

Amount: €1,709,605.80

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)

December 13, 2013  Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA,
61346 Bad Homburg v.d.H.

Rice Powell,

Member of the
Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG

Date of transaction: December 10, 2013
Title of security/right:

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
ordinary share (ISIN DE 0005785802)
Type of transaction: Exercise of stock options
against cash settlement
Quotation/price per share: €51.085
Quantity: 49,800

Amount: €2,544,033.00

Place: XETRA

Comments: Exercise of stock options on
Fresenius Medical Care shares of the
stock option plan and sale of the shares
(cash settlement)
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We fully meet all of the current requirements appli-
cable to our Company.

Fresenius Medical Care’s declaration concerning sig-
nificant differences between the systems of corpo-
rate governance in Germany and the u.s. — which is
based on the listing standards of the New York Stock
Exchange — can be accessed on the website under
www.fmc-ag.com in the section Investor Relations/
Corporate Governance/NYSE-Declaration.

COMPENSATION REPORT

The compensation report of FMC AG & CO. KGAA sum-
marizes the main elements of the compensation sys-
tem for the Members of the Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG as General
Partner of FMC AG & CO. KGAA and in this regard nota-
bly explains the amounts and structure of the
compensation paid to the Management Board. Fur-
thermore, the principles and the amount of the re-
muneration of the Supervisory Board are described.
The compensation report is part of the management
report of the annual financial statements and the
annual consolidated group financial statements of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA as of December 31, 2013. The com-
pensation report is prepared on the basis of the rec-
ommendations of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code and also includes the disclosures as
required pursuant to the applicable statutory regula-
tions, notably in accordance with the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB).

Compensation of the Management Board

The entire Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG is responsible for determining
the compensation of the Management Board. The
Supervisory Board is assisted in this task by a person-
nel committee, the Human Resources Committee.
In the fiscal year, the Human Resources Committee
was composed of Dr.UIf M. Schneider (Chairman),
Dr. Gerd Krick (Vice Chairman), Mr. William P.John-
ston and Dr. Walter L. Weisman.

1. Structure and amount of compensation
The current Management Board compensation sys-
tem was last approved by resolution of the General
Meeting of FMC AG & CO. KGAA on May 12, 2011 with a

majority of 99.71% of the votes cast. Furthermore,
this compensation system is reviewed by an inde-
pendent external compensation expert at the begin-
ning of each fiscal year.

The objective of the compensation system is to en-
able the Members of the Management Board to par-
ticipate reasonably in the sustainable development
of the Company’s business and to reward them
based on their duties and performance as well as
their success in managing the Company’s economic
and financial position giving due regard to the peer
environment.

The amount of the total compensation of the Mem-
bers of the Management Board is measured taking
particular account of relevant reference values of
other pax-listed companies and similar companies
of comparable size and performance in the relevant
industry sector.

The compensation of the Management Board is, as a
whole, performance-based and consisted of three
components in the fiscal year:

» non-performance-based compensation (fixed com-
pensation and fringe benefits),

» short-term performance-based compensation (one-
year variable compensation),

» components with long-term incentive effects (multi-
year variable compensation, consisting of stock op-
tions and share-based compensations with cash
settlement).

The individual components are designed on the ba-
sis of the following criteria:

In the fiscal year, the fixed compensation paid in
Germany was divided in twelve instalments, while
the fixed compensation paid in the u.s. was divided
in twenty-four instalments as base salary. Moreover,
the Members of the Management Board received
additional benefits consisting mainly of payment for
insurance premiums, the private use of company
cars, special payments such as foreign supplements,
rent supplements, reimbursement of fees for the
preparation of tax returns and reimbursement of
certain other charges and additional contributions
to pension and health insurance.
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Performance-based compensation will also be
awarded for the fiscal year as a short-term cash
component (one-year variable compensation) and as
components with long-term incentive effects (stock
options and share-based compensations with cash
settlement). The share-based compensations with
cash settlement consist of phantom stocks and of
the Share Based Award.

The amount of the one-year variable compensation
and of the Share Based Award depends on the
achievement of the following individual and com-
mon targets:

» Net income growth,

» Free cash flow (net cash provided by (used in) oper-
ating activities after capital expenditures, before
acquisitions and investments) in percent of revenue,

» Operating income margin.

The level of achievement of these targets is derived
from the comparison of target amounts and actual
results. Furthermore, targets are divided into Group
level targets and those to be achieved in individual
regions. Lastly, the various target parameters are
weighted differently by their relative share in the ag-
gregate amount of variable compensation depend-
ing on the respective (regional and/or sectoral) areas
of responsibility assumed by the Members of the
Management Board.

The respective minimum level of net income growth
to be achieved was at least 6% in the fiscal year, with
the maximum bonus payable upon achievement of
net income growth of 15%. Furthermore, the Mem-
bers of the Management Board assuming Group
functions and the Members of the Management
Board with regional responsibilities were also evalu-
ated by reference to the development of free cash
flow within the Group or in the relevant regions, re-
spectively, during the fiscal year, with the targets be-
ing within a range of rates between 3% and 6% of
the respective free cash flow in percent of revenue.
For Board Members without Group functions, growth

of regional operating income margins within the fis-
cal year was compensated within individual targets
ranging between 13% and 18.5%, reflecting the par-
ticularities of the respective Board responsibilities.

The targets are, as a rule, weighted differently de-
pending on whether the Management Board Mem-
ber exercises Group functions — these are Mr. Rice
Powell, Mr. Michael Brosnan and Dr. Rainer Runte —
or whether the Management Board Member is re-
sponsible for regional earnings — these are Mr. Ro-
berto Fusté, Dr.Emanuele Gatti and Mr. Ronald
Kuerbitz — or takes on specific Management Board
responsibilities without Group functions — these are
Mr. Kent Wanzek for Global Manufacturing Opera-
tions and Dr. Olaf Schermeier for Research and De-
velopment. For Members of the Management Board
with Group functions, net income growth accounts
for 80% and is thus weighted higher than for the
other Board members, where net income growth ac-
counts for 60%. For Members of the Management
Board without Group functions, a further 20% is
based upon the evaluation of the operating income
margin. Achievement of the target for free cash flow
in percent of revenue is weighted at 20% for all
Members of the Management Board equally.

Multiplying the level of target achievement by the
respective fixed compensation and another fixed
multiplier provides a total amount, of which a 75%
share is paid out in cash to the Management Board
Members (one-year variable compensation) after ap-
proval of the annual financial statements for the fis-
cal year. Since the maximum level of target achieve-
ment is set at 120%, the Management Board’s
maximum achievable one-year variable compensa-
tion is limited. The Management Board’s maximum
achievable and minimum one-year variable compen-
sation in the fiscal year are as follows, see table 2.13.4 on
page 147.

The remaining share, amounting to 25% of the total
amount calculated according to the key data above,
is granted to the Members of the Management

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



147

2.13

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board in the form of the Share Based Award, which
is included in components with long-term incentive
effects. The Share Based Award is subject to a three-
or four-year waiting period, although a shorter pe-
riod may apply in special cases (e.g. professional in-
capacity, entry into retirement, non-renewal by the
Company of expired service agreements). The
amount of the cash payment of the Share Based
Award is based on the share price of FMC AG & CO. KGAA
ordinary shares upon exercise after the three- or
four-year waiting period.

In determining the variable compensation, it is en-
sured that performance-based components with
long-term incentive effects (i.e. the Share Based
Award as well as the stock option and phantom stock
components described below) are granted in amounts
which constitute at least 50% of the sum of one- and
multi-year variable components. Should this turn out
not to be the case mathematically, the Management
Board Members’ contracts provide that the portion of
variable compensation payable as one-year variable
compensation shall be reduced and the portion pay-
able as the Share Based Award correspondingly in-
creased, in order to meet this requirement. The com-
ponents with long-term incentive effects also contain
a limitation possibility for cases of extraordinary

developments. The Supervisory Board may also grant
a discretionary bonus for extraordinary performance.

In addition, a special bonus component applied in
some cases for fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008 which
was linked to the achievement of targets measured
only over this three-year period but whose payment
was also subject, in part, to a waiting period of sev-
eral years through 2012. This bonus component also
included special components linked to the achieve-
ment of extraordinary financial targets related to
special integration measures (e.g. in connection
with the acquisition of Renal Care Group in the u.s.)
and thus required the achievement of an extraordi-
nary increase in earnings. The present report also
reflects those payments based on this earlier bonus
component but exercised and paid only in the previ-
ous fiscal Year see table 2.13.6 on page 149.

For the fiscal year and the previous year, the amount
of cash compensation payments to Members of the
Management Board without components with long-
term incentive effects consisted of the following, see
table 2.13.5 on page 148.

In addition to the Share Based Award, stock options
under the Company’s Stock Option Plan 2011 and

— T.2.13.4 Minimum and maximum amounts of the short-term performance-related ——————————
cash compensation (annual bonus) 2013
in€ THOUS

Mininum Maximum
Rice Powell 212 1,864
Michael Brosnan 123 1,081
Roberto Fusté 124 1,089
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 162 1,452
Ronald Kuerbitz 144 1,267
Dr. Rainer Runte 96 871
Dr. Olaf Schermeier’ 70 660
Kent Wanzek 88 775

" pro rata temporis.
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phantom stock awards under the Phantom Stock Plan
2011 were granted to Members of the Management
Board as additional components with long-term in-
centive effects in the fiscal year. These stock-option
and phantom-stock components are granted during
the course of each fiscal year. The Stock Option Plan
2011, together with the Phantom Stock Plan 2011,
forms the Long Term Incentive Program 2011 (LTIP 2011).

In addition to the Members of the Management
Boards of affiliated companies, managerial staff
members of the Company and of certain affiliated
companies the Members of the Management Board
are entitled to participate in LTIP 2011. Under LTIP 2011
a combination of stock options and phantom stock
awards are granted to the participants. Stock op-
tions and phantom stock awards will be granted on
specified grant days during a period of five years.
The number of stock options and phantom stock
awards to be granted to the Members of the Man-
agement Board is determined by the Supervisory
Board in its discretion. In principle all Members of
the Management Board are entitled to receive the
same number of stock options and phantom stock
awards, with the exception of the Chairman of the
Management Board, who is entitled to receive

double the granted quantity. At the time of the
grant participants can choose a ratio based on the
value of the stock options vs. the value of phantom
stock awards in a range between 75:25 and 50:50.
The exercise of stock options and phantom stock
awards is subject to several conditions, including
the expiration of a four year waiting period, the con-
sideration of black-out periods, the achievement of
a defined success target and the existence of a ser-
vice or employment relationship. Stock options may
be exercised within four years and phantom stock
awards within one year after the expiration of the
waiting period. For Management Board Members
who are u.s. tax payers specific conditions apply
with respect to the exercise period of phantom
stock awards. The success target is achieved in each
case if, during the waiting period, either the ad-
justed basic income per share increases by at least
8% per annum in comparison to the previous year in
each case or — if this is not the case — the com-
pounded annual growth rate of the adjusted basic
income per share during the four years of the wait-
ing period reflects an increase of at least 8% per an-
num. If with regard to any reference year or more
than one of the four reference years within the wait-
ing period neither the adjusted basic income per

— T.2.13.5 Amount of cash payments
in€ THOUS
Non-performance related Performance related .
compensation compensation f;??hg%nf:;r;‘;gﬁg
Salary Other’ Bonus incentive components)
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Rice Powell 941 771 169 31 373 1,235 1,483 2,037
Michael Brosnan 546 525 145 247 216 776 907 1,548
Roberto Fusté 550 550 301 251 278 692 1,129 1,493
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 733 700 124 115 529 937 1,386 1,752
Ronald Kuerbitz 640 0 26 0 503 0 1,169 0
Dr.Ben Lipps? 0 973 0 302 0 1,438 0 2,713
Dr.Rainer Runte 440 440 44 41 174 650 658 1,131
Dr. Olaf Schermeier 333 0 69 0 132 0 534 0
Kent Wanzek 392 405 53 29 303 649 748 1,083
» Total 4,575 4,364 931 1,016 2,508 6,377 8,014 11,757

[V

Chairman of the Management Board until December 31, 2012.

Includes insurance premiums, private use of company cars, rent supplements, contributions to pension and health insurance and other benefits.
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share increases by at least 8% per annum in compar-
ison to the previous year nor the compounded an-
nual growth rate of the adjusted basic income per
share during the four years of the waiting period
reflects an increase of at least 8% per annum, the
stock options and phantom stock awards subject to
such waiting period are cancelled to such propor-
tion to which the success target was not achieved
within the waiting period, i.e. in the proportion of
25% for each year in which the target is not achieved
within the waiting period, up to 100%.

Additional information regarding the basic principles
of the LTIP 2011 and of the other employee participa-
tion programs in place at the beginning of the fiscal
year and secured by conditional capital, which enti-
tled their participants to convertible bonds or stock
options (from which, however, in the past fiscal year
no further options could be issued), are described in
more detail in the notes to annual financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements in
the section “Conditional capital”.

Under Stock Option Plan 2011 in the fiscal year
2,141,076 stock options were granted in total (previ-
ous year: 2,166,035), with 328,680 stock options

(previous year: 310,005) granted to the Management
Board Members. Moreover, in the fiscal year 186,392
(previous year: 178,729) phantom stock awards were
granted under the Phantom Stock Plan 2011, of
which 25,006 awards (previous year: 23,407) were
granted to Management Board Members.

For the fiscal year the number and value of stock
options issued to Members of the Management
Board and the value of the share-based compensa-
tions with cash settlement paid to them, each as
compared to the previous year, are shown individu-
ally in table 2.13.6.

The stated values of the stock options granted to the
Members of the Management Board in the fiscal
year correspond to their fair value at the time of
grant, namely a value of €8.92 (previous year: €12.68)
per stock option. The exercise price for the stock
options granted is €49.76 (previous year: €57.30).

At the end of the fiscal year, the Members of the
Management Board held a total of 1,993,305 stock
options and convertible bonds (collectively referred
to as stock options; previous year: 2,201,205 stock
options).

— T.2.13.6 Long-term incentive effect
Share-based
compensation with
Stock options cash settlement’ Total
Number Value in € THOUS Value in € THOUS Value in € THOUS
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Rice Powell 74,700 56,025 666 710 358 628 1,024 1,338
Michael Brosnan 37,350 37,350 333 474 189 403 522 877
Roberto Fusté 37,350 37,350 333 474 210 375 543 849
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 29,880 29,880 267 379 363 558 630 937
Ronald Kuerbitz 37,350 0 333 0 285 0 618 0
Dr.Ben Lipps? 0 74,700 0 947 0 768 0 1,715
Dr.Rainer Runte 37,350 37,350 333 474 175 361 508 835
Dr. Olaf Schermeier 37,350 0 333 0 161 0 494 0
Kent Wanzek 37,350 37,350 333 474 218 361 551 835
» Total 328,680 310,005 2,931 3,932 1,959 3,454 4,890 7,386

" This includes phantom stocks granted to Board Members during the fiscal year. The share-based compensation amounts are based on the grant date fair value.

~

Chairman of the Management Board until December 31, 2012.
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— T.2.13.7 Development and status of the stock options

Options outstanding January 1, 2013 Options granted during the fiscal year
Weighted average Weighted average
Number exercise price in € Number exercise price in €
Rice Powell 336,150 42.80 74,700 49.76
Michael Brosnan 340,878 36.37 37,350 49.76
Roberto Fusté 359,169 37.62 37,350 49.76
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 334,698 36.55 29,880 49.76
Ronald Kuerbitz 184,002 42.75 37,350 49.76
Dr.Rainer Runte 321,210 39.42 37,350 49.76
Dr.Olaf Schermeier 0 0 37,350 49.76
Kent Wanzek 160,500 46.36 37,350 49.76
» Total 2,036,607 39.53 328,680 49.76

Options exercised during the fiscal year

Weighted average Weighted average
Number exercise price in € share price in €
Rice Powell 49,800 33.91 51.09
Michael Brosnan 47,244 25.66 52.21
Roberto Fusté 49,800 30.49 52.18
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 125,538 27.62 49.75
Ronald Kuerbitz 0 0 0
Dr.Rainer Runte 99,600 32.2 53.29
Dr. Olaf Schermeier 0 0 0
Kent Wanzek 0 0 0
» Total 371,982 29.82 51.51

Options outstanding Options exercisable

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2013

Weighted Weighted

average average remain- Range of Weighted
exercise ing contractual exercise average exercise
Number price in € life in years prices in € Number price in €
Rice Powell 361,050 45.47 4.76  31.97-57.30 174,300 37.57
Michael Brosnan 330,984 39.41 3.50 20.26-57.30 218,934 32.37
Roberto Fusté 346,719 39.95 3.37 20.26-57.30 234,669 33.63
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 239,040 42.89 4.07 31.97-57.30 149,400 36.71
Ronald Kuerbitz 221,352 43.93 4.10 31.97-57.30 124,002 36.88
Dr.Rainer Runte 258,960 43.69 4.28 31.97-57.30 149,400 36.71
Dr. Olaf Schermeier 37,350 49.76 7.58 49.76-49.76 0 0.00
Kent Wanzek 197,850 47.00 5.00 31.97-57.30 85,800 38.92
» Total 1,993,305 43.02 4.17 20.26-57.30 1,136,505 35.56
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The development and status of stock options of the
Members of the Management Board in the fiscal
year are shown in more detail in table 2.13.7 on page 150.

Based on the targets achieved in the fiscal year,
Members of the Management Board also earned
entitlements to Share Based Awards totaling
€836 THOUS (previous year: €2,141THOUS). On the
basis of that value, determination of the specific
number of virtual shares will not be made by the
Supervisory Board until March of the following
year, based on the then current price of the ordi-
nary shares of FMC AG & CO. KGAA. This number will
then serve as a multiplier for the share price and
as a base for calculation of the payment of this
respective share-based compensation after the
three-year waiting period.

Phantom stocks with a total value of €1,123 THOUS
(previous year: €1,313THOUS) were granted to the
Management Board Members under the Company’s
Phantom Stock Plan 2011 in July of the fiscal year as
further share-based compensation components with
cash settlement.

Therefore, the amount of the total compensation of
the Management Board for the fiscal year and for
the previous year is as shown in table 2.13.8.

Components with long-term incentive effects, i.e. stock
options and share-based compensation components

with cash settlement, can be exercised only after the
expiration of the specified vesting period. Their
value is allocated over the vesting period recognized
as an expense in the respective fiscal year of the
vesting period. Compensation expenses attributable
to the fiscal year and for the previous year are shown
in table 2.13.9 on page 152.

1. Commitments to Members of the
Management Board for the event of the
termination of their appointment
The following pension commitments and other ben-
efits are also part of the compensation system for
the Members of the Management Board: there are
individual contractual pension commitments for the
Management Board Members Mr. Rice Powell, Mr.
Roberto Fusté, Dr.Emanuele Gatti, Dr. Rainer Runte,
Mr. Michael Brosnan and Mr. Kent Wanzek. Under
all of these commitments, Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG as of the end of the fiscal year has
aggregate pension obligations of €18,280 THOUS (pre-

vious year: €14,775 THOUS).

Each of the pension commitments provides for a
pension and survivor benefit as of the time of con-
clusively ending active work, at age 65 at the earliest
(at age 60 at the earliest with respect to Dr. Emanu-
ele Gatti) or upon occurrence of disability or inca-
pacity to work (Berufs- oder Erwerbsunfahigkeit),
however, calculated by reference to the amount of
the recipient’s most recent base salary.

— T.2.13.8 Total compensation
in€ THOUS
Cash compensation (without Components with long-term Total compensation (including
long-term incentive components) incentive effect long-term incentive components)

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Rice Powell 1,483 2,037 1,024 1,338 2,507 3,375
Michael Brosnan 907 1,548 522 877 1,429 2,425
Roberto Fusté 1,129 1,493 543 849 1,672 2,342
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 1,386 1,752 630 937 2,016 2,689
Ronald Kuerbitz 1,169 0 618 0 1,787 0
Dr.Ben Lipps’ 0 2,713 0 1,715 0 4,428
Dr.Rainer Runte 658 1,131 508 835 1,166 1,966
Dr. Olaf Schermeier 534 0 494 0 1,028 0
Kent Wanzek 748 1,083 551 835 1,299 1,918
» Total 8,014 11,757 4,890 7,386 12,904 19,143

Chairman of the Management Board until December 31, 2012.
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The retirement pension will be based on 30% of the
last fixed compensation and will increase for each
complete year of service by 1.5 percentage points up
to @ maximum of 45%. Current pensions increase ac-
cording to legal requirements (Sec. 16 of the German
Act to improve company pension plans, “BetrAVG").
30% of the gross amount of any post-retirement in-
come from an activity of the Management Board
Member is offset against the pension obligation.
Any amounts to which the Management Board
Members or their surviving dependents, respectively,
are entitled from other company pension rights of
the Management Board Member, even from service
agreements with other companies, are also to be set
off. If a Management Board Member dies, the sur-
viving spouse receives a pension amounting to 60%
of the resulting pension claim at that time. Further-
more, the deceased Management Board Member’s
own legitimate children (leibliche eheliche Kinder)
receive an orphan’s pension amounting to 20% of
the resulting pension claim at that time, until the
completion of their education or they reach 25 years
of age, at the latest. All orphans’ pensions and the
spousal pension together reach a maximum of 90%
of the Management Board Member’s pension, how-
ever. If a Management Board Member leaves the

Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG before he reaches 65 or (in the case of
Dr. Gatti) 60, except in the event of a disability or
incapacity to work (Berufs- oder Erwerbsunfahig-
keit), the rights to the aforementioned benefits re-
main, although the pension to be paid is reduced in
proportion to the ratio of the actual years of service
as a Management Board Member to the potential
years of service until reaching 65 or (in the case of
Dr. Gatti) 60 years of age.

Management Board Members Mr. Rice Powell,
Mr. Michael Brosnan, Mr. Ronald Kuerbitz and
Mr. Kent Wanzek participated in the u.s.-based
401(k) savings plan in the fiscal year. This plan gener-
ally allows employees in the u.s. to invest a portion
of their gross salaries in retirement pension pro-
grams. The Company supports this investment, for
full-time employees with at least one year of service,
with a contribution of 50% of the investment made,
up to a limit of 6% of income — whereupon the al-
lowance paid by the Company is limited to 3% of the
income — or a maximum of u.s. $17,500 (U.S. $23,000
for employees 50 years of age or older). The afore-
mentioned Management Board Members were each
contractually enabled to participate in this plan; in

— T.2.13.9 Expenses for long-term incentive components
in € THOUS

Share-based compensation Share-based

Stock options with cash settlement compensation
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Rice Powell 325 537 441 439 766 976
Michael Brosnan 205 309 251 186 456 495
Roberto Fusté 205 383 232 221 437 604
Dr.Emanuele Gatti 180 348 373 469 553 817
Ronald Kuerbitz 35 0 13 0 48 0
Dr.Ben Lipps’ 0 2,136 0 1,681 0 3,817
Dr.Rainer Runte 207 374 266 188 473 562
Dr. Olaf Schermeier 35 0 13 0 48 0
Kent Wanzek 205 309 216 164 421 473
» Total 1,397 4,396 1,805 3,348 3,202 7,744

Chairman of the Management Board until December 31, 2012.
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the past fiscal year the Company paid out $8,800.00
(previous year: $9,239.50) respectively in this regard.

Furthermore, the Management Board Members Mr.
Rice Powell, Mr. Michael Brosnan and Mr. Ronald
Kuerbitz have acquired non-forfeitable benefits
from participation in employee pension plans of
Fresenius Medical Care North America, which pro-
vide payment of pensions as of the age of 65 and
the payment of reduced benefits as of the age of
55. In March 2002, the rights to receive benefits
from the pension plans were frozen at the level
then applicable.

Additions to pension provisions in the fiscal year
amounted to €3,463 THOUS (previous year: €8,109 THOUS).
The pension commitments are shown in table 2.13.10.

A post-employment non-competition covenant was
agreed upon with all Management Board Members. If
such covenant becomes applicable, the Management
Board Members receive compensation amounting to
half their annual base salaries for each year of respec-
tive application of the non-competition covenant, up
to a maximum of two years. The employment con-
tracts of the Management Board Members contain

no express provisions that are triggered by a change
of control of the Company.

1. Miscellaneous

All Members of the Management Board have re-
ceived individual contractual commitments for the
continuation of their compensation in cases of sick-
ness for a maximum of twelve months, although af-
ter six months of sick leave, insurance benefits may
be set off against such payments. If a Management
Board Member dies, the surviving dependents will
be paid three more monthly instalments after the
month of death, not to exceed, however, the
amount due between the time of death and the
scheduled expiration of the agreement.

With Dr.Ben Lipps, the Chairman of the Manage-
ment Board until December 31, 2012, there is an indi-
vidual agreement instead of a pension provision, to
the effect that, upon termination of his employment
contract/service agreement with Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG, he will be retained to render
consulting services to the Company for a period of
ten years. Accordingly, Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG and Dr.Ben Lipps entered into a con-
sulting agreement for the period January 1, 2013 to

— T.2.13.10 Development and status of pension commitments
in € THOUS

As of As of

January 1, 2013 Increase December 31, 2013

Rice Powell 3,826 667 4,493
Michael Brosnan 1,320 417 1,737
Roberto Fusté 3,015 547 3,562
Dr. Emanuele Gatti 5,000 1,274 6,274
Ronald Kuerbitz 158 21 137
Dr.Rainer Runte 1,267 304 1,571
Dr. Olaf Schermeier - - -
Kent Wanzek 578 275 853
» Total 15,164 3,463 18,627
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December 31, 2022. By this consulting agreement
Dr. Ben Lipps will provide consulting services on cer-
tain fields and within a specified time frame as well
as complying with a non-compete covenant. The an-
nual consideration to be granted by Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG for such services amounts for
the fiscal year €550 THOUS (including reimbursement
of expenses, temporary reimbursement of property
expenses, company car provided temporarily). The
present value of this agreement (including pension
payments for the surviving spouse in case of death)
amounted to €3,533 THOUS as at December 31 of the
fiscal year.

In the fiscal year, no loans or advance payments of
future compensation components were made to
Members of the Management Board of Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG.

The payments to U.s. Management Board Members
Mr. Rice Powell, Mr. Michael Brosnan and Mr. Kent
Wanzek were paid in part in the u.s. (in u.s. dollar)
and in part in Germany (in euro). For the part paid in
Germany, the Company has agreed that due to vary-
ing tax rates in both countries, the increased tax bur-
den to such Management Board Members arising
from German tax rates in comparison to u.S. tax
rates will be balanced (net compensation). Pursuant
to a modified net compensation agreement, these
Management Board Members will be treated as if
they were taxed in their home country, the United
States, only. Therefore the gross amounts may be
retroactively changed. Since the actual tax burden
can only be calculated in connection with the prepa-
ration of the Board Members’ tax returns, subse-
quent adjustments may have to be made, which will
then be retroactively covered in future compensa-
tion reports.

To the extent permitted by law, Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG undertook to indemnify the
Members of the Management Board against claims
against them arising out of their work for the
Company and its affiliates, if such claims exceed
their liability under German law. To secure such obli-
gations, the Company has obtained Directors&

Officers liability insurance carrying a deductible
which complies with the requirements of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The indemnity
applies for the time in which each Member of the
Management Board is in office and for claims in this
connection after termination of membership on the
Management Board in each case.

Former Members of the Management Board did not
receive any compensation in the fiscal year other
than that mentioned under section I1. above and in
the present section 111. As of December 31 of the fis-
cal year, pension obligations to these members exist
in an amount of €1,450THOUS (previous Yyear:
€646 THOUS).

Compensation of the FMC AG & CO. KGAA
Supervisory Board
The compensation of the FMC AG & CO. KGAA Supervi-
sory Board is set out in clause 13 of the Articles of
Association.

In accordance with this provision, the Members of
the Supervisory Board are to be reimbursed for the
expenses incurred in the exercise of their offices,
which also include the applicable vaT.

As compensation, each Supervisory Board member
receives in the first instance a fixed salary of $80,000
per respective complete fiscal year, payable in four
equal instalments at the end of a calendar quarter.
Should the General Meeting resolve on a higher
compensation, with a majority of three-fourths of
the votes cast and taking the annual results into ac-
count, such compensation shall apply.

The chairman of the Supervisory Board receives ad-
ditional compensation of $80,000 and his deputy ad-
ditional compensation of $40,000 per respective
complete fiscal year. In addition, each member of
the Supervisory Board receives a variable perfor-
mance related compensation as an additional remu-
neration which is based upon the respective average
growth in basic earnings per share of the Company
(EPS) during the period of the last three fiscal years
prior to the payment date (3-year average EPS
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growth). The amount of the variable remuneration
component is $60,000 in case of achieving a 3-year
average EPS growth corridor from 8.00 to 8.99%,
$70,000 in the corridor from 9.00 to 9.99% and
$80,000 in case of a growth of 10.00% or more. If the
aforementioned targets are reached, the respective
variable remuneration amounts are earned to their
full extent, i.e. within these margins there is no pro
rata remuneration. In any case, this variable compo-
nent is limited to a maximum of $80,000 per annum.
Reciprocally, the Members of the Supervisory Board
are only entitled to the variable remuneration com-
ponent if the 3 year average eps growth of at least
8.00% is reached. The variable remuneration compo-
nent, based on the target achievement, is in princi-
ple disbursed on a yearly basis, namely following
approval of the Company’s annual financial state-
ments, this for the fiscal year 2013 based on the
3-year average EPs growth for the fiscal years 2011,
2012 and 2013.

As a member of a committee, a Supervisory Board
Member of FMC AG & CO.KGAA additionally annually
receives $40,000, or, as chairman or vice chairman of
a committee, $60,000 or $50,000, respectively pay-
able in identical instalments at the end of a calendar
quarter. For memberships in the Nomination Com-
mittee and in the Joint Committee as well as in the
capacity of their respective chairmen and deputy
chairmen, no separate remuneration shall be
granted; the same applies for a membership in the
temporary Ad-hoc committee.

Should a Member of the FMC AG & CO. KGAA Supervi-
sory Board be a Member of the Supervisory Board of
the General Partner Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG at the same time, and receive compensa-
tion for his work on the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, the com-
pensation for the work as a FMC AG & CO. KGAA Super-
visory Board Member shall be reduced by half. The
same applies to the additional compensation for the
Chairman of the FMC AG & CO. KGAA Supervisory Board
and his deputy, to the extent that they are at
the same time Chairman and Deputy, respectively, of
the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care

Management AG. If the Deputy Chairman of the
FMC AG & CO. KGAA Supervisory Board is at the same
time Chairman of the Supervisory Board at
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, he shall re-
ceive no additional compensation for his work as
deputy chairman of the FMC AG & CO.KGAA Supervi-
sory Board to this extent.

The compensation for the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG and the
compensation for its committees were charged to
FMC AG & CO. KGAA in accordance with section 7 para. 3
of the Articles of Association of FMC AG & CO. KGAA.

The total compensation of the Supervisory Board of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA including the amount charged by
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG to
FMC AG & CO. KGAA, is listed in tables 2.13.11 and 2.13.12 on
page 156, With the table 2.13.11 displaying the fixed com-
pensation, whilst the table 2.13.12 sets out the perfor-
mance related compensation.
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Fixed compensation of the Supervisory Board

in€ THOUS'

Fixed compensation

Compensation

Fixed compensation for for Supervisory Compensation for for committee Non-Performance
Supervisory Board at Board at committee services at services at Related
FMC Management AG ~ FMC AG & Co. KGaA FMC Management AG ~ FMC AG & Co. KGaA Compensation
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Dr. Gerd Krick 30 31 90 93 45 47 35 31 200 202
Dr. Dieter Schenk 45 47 45 47 38 39 0 0 128 133
Dr. Ulf M. Schneider? 120 125 0 0 53 54 5 0 178 179
Dr. Walter L. Weisman 30 31 30 31 38 39 50 47 148 148
William P.Johnston 30 31 30 31 90 93 35 31 185 186
Prof. Dr.Bernd Fahrholz? 0 0 60 62 0 0 38 39 98 101
Rolf A. Classon 30 31 30 31 45 47 0 0 105 109
» Total 285 296 285 295 309 319 163 148 1,042 1,058
! Shown without VAT and with holding tax, translation of S amounts at respective average exchange rates for the respective year.
2 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of FMC Management AG, but not Member of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA, compensation paid
by FMC Management AG.
? Member of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA, but not Member of the Supervisory Board of FMC Management AG; compensation paid
by FMC AG & Co. KGaA.
— T.2.13.12 Performance related compensation of the Supervisory Board
in€ THOUS'
Performance related Performance related
compensation in compensation in Performance related Total
FMC Management AG FMC AG & Co. KGaA compensation compensation
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Dr. Gerd Krick 0 27 0 27 0 54 200 256
Dr. Dieter Schenk 0 27 0 27 0 54 128 187
Dr. UIf M. Schneider? 0 54 0 0 0 54 178 233
Dr. Walter L. Weisman 0 27 0 27 0 54 148 202
William P. Johnston 0 27 0 27 0 54 185 240
Prof. Dr.Bernd Fahrholz? 0 0 0 54 0 54 98 155
Rolf A. Classon 0 27 0 27 0 54 105 163
» Total 0 189 0 189 0 378 1,042 1,436

! Shown without VAT and with holding tax, translation of S amounts at respective average exchange rates for the respective year.
2 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of FMC Management AG, but not Member of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGadA.
3 Member of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA, but not Member of the Supervisory Board of FMC Management AG.
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Fresenius Medical Care filed an annual report under form 20-F with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) with additional information
on the Company. Fresenius Medical Care’s annual report on form 20-F may be obtained from the Company.

The audited financial statements of the Group’s holding company, Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, will be submitted electronically to the
German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) who files these financial statements with the Company Register. These financial statements can be obtained
from the Company.

The audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 315a Commercial Code (HGB) will be submitted electronically to the
German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) who files these consolidated financial statements with the Company Register. These financial statements

can be obtained from the Company.

The publications can be also accessed on www.fmc-ag.com.
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CHAPTER 3.1

Operating and financial
review and prospects

You should read the following discussion and analysis of the results of operations of Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries in conjunction with our historical consolidated financial statements
and related notes contained elsewhere in this report. Some of the statements contained below, including
those concerning future revenue, costs and capital expenditures and possible changes in our industry and
competition and financial conditions include forward-looking statements. We made these forward-looking
statements based on the expectations and beliefs of the management of the Company’s General Partner
concerning future events which may affect us, but we cannot assure that such events will occur or that the
results will be as anticipated. Because such statements involve risks and uncertainties, actual results may
differ materially from the results which the forward-looking statements express or imply. Such statements
include the matters and are subject to the uncertainties that we described in the “Outlook” chapter and in
the “Risk and opportunities report”.

Our business is also subject to other risks and uncertainties that we describe from time to time in our public
filings. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to differ materially from the results that
we or others have projected or may project.

Critical accounting policies

The Company’s reported financial condition and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods,
assumptions and estimates that are the basis for our financial statements. The critical accounting policies, the
judgments made in the creation and application of these policies, and the sensitivities of reported results
to changes in accounting policies, assumptions and estimates are factors to be considered along with the
Company's financial statements, and the discussion below in “Results of operations.”

RECOVERABILITY OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The growth of our business through acquisitions has created a significant amount of intangible assets, includ-
ing goodwill and other non-amortizable intangible assets such as trade names and management contracts. At
December 31, 2013, the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to $11,658 M and non-amortizable intangible
assets amounted to $218 M representing in total approximately 51% of our total assets.

In accordance with current accounting standards, we perform an impairment test of goodwill and non-amor-
tizable intangible assets at least once a year for each reporting unit, or if we become aware of events that
occur or if circumstances change that would indicate the carrying value might be impaired see also note 1e.

To comply with the provisions of the accounting standards for impairment testing, the fair value of the report-
ing unit is compared to the reporting unit’s carrying amount. As we are subject to the International Financial
Reporting Standards requirements, which utilizes the two-step approach, we do not follow the qualitative
assessment within Asc 350-20-35. We estimate the fair value of each reporting unit using estimated future
cash flows for the unit discounted by a weighted average cost of capital (wAcc) specific to that reporting unit.
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Estimating the future cash flows involves significant assumptions, especially regarding future reimbursement
rates and sales prices, treatments and sales volumes and costs. In determining cash flows, the Company uti-
lizes for every reporting unit, its three-year budget, projections for years four to ten and a representative
growth rate for all remaining years. Projections for up to ten years are possible due to the non-discretionary
nature of the healthcare services we provide, the need for products utilized to provide such services and the
availability of government reimbursement for a substantial portion of our services. The Company’s wAccC con-
sisted of a basic rate of 6.17% for 2013. This basic rate is then adjusted by a weighted average country risk rate
and, if appropriate, by a factor to reflect higher risks associated with the cash flows from recent material
acquisitions until they are appropriately integrated within each reporting unit.

If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a second step would be performed which
compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to the carrying value of its goodwill. If the fair
value of the goodwill is less than its carrying value, the difference is recorded as an impairment.

A prolonged downturn in the healthcare industry with lower than expected increases in reimbursement rates
and/or higher than expected costs for providing healthcare services and for procuring and selling products
could adversely affect our estimated future cash flows. Future adverse changes in a reporting unit's economic
environment could affect the country-specific rate and therefore the discount rate. An increase in interest
rates could impact the basic rate and accordingly our wAcc. These changes could result in impairment charges
to goodwill and other intangible assets which could materially and adversely affect our future financial posi-
tion and operating results.

LEGAL CONTINGENCIES

We are party to litigation and subject to investigations relating to a number of matters as described in note 20.
The outcome of these matters may have a material effect on our results of operations, financial position and
balance sheet structure or cash flows.

We regularly analyze current information including, as applicable, our defenses and we provide accruals for
probable contingent losses including the estimated legal expenses to resolve the matters. We use the resources
of our internal legal department as well as external lawyers for the assessment. In making the decision
regarding the need for loss accrual, we consider the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and our
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.

The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim or assessment, or the disclosure of any such suit or assertion,
does not automatically indicate that accrual of a loss may be appropriate.
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Trade accounts receivable are a substantial asset of ours and the allowance for doubtful accounts is based
upon a significant estimate made by management. Trade accounts receivable were $3,037M and $3,019M
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $413 M and $329 M,
respectively.

We sell dialysis products directly or through distributors in more than 120 countries and we provide dialysis
services in approximately 45 countries through clinics we own or manage. Most payors are government
institutions or government-sponsored programs with significant variations between the countries and even
between payors within one country in local payment and collection practices.

Receivables are recognized and billed at amounts estimated to be collectable under government reimburse-
ment programs and reimbursement arrangements with third party payors. u.s. Medicare and Medicaid gov-
ernment programs are billed at pre-determined net realizable rates per treatment that are established by
statute or regulation. Revenues for non-governmental payors with which we have contracts or letters of
agreement in place are recognized at the prevailing contract rates. The remaining non-governmental payors
are billed at our standard rates for services and, in our North America segment, a contractual adjustment is
recorded to recognize revenues based on historic reimbursement. The contractual adjustment and the allow-
ance for doubtful accounts are reviewed quarterly for their adequacy. No material changes in estimates were
recorded for the contractual allowance in the periods presented. The collectability of accounts receivable is
reviewed locally on a regular basis, generally monthly.

In our u.s. operations, the collection process is usually initiated 30 days after service is provided or upon the
expiration of the time provided by contract. For Medicare and Medicaid, once the services are approved for
payment, the collection process begins upon the expiration of a period of time based upon experience with
Medicare and Medicaid. In all cases where co-payment is required the collection process usually begins within
30 days after service has been provided. In those cases where claims are approved for amounts less than
anticipated or if claims are denied, the collection process usually begins upon notice of approval of the lesser
amounts or upon denial of the claim. The collection process can be confined to internal efforts, including the
accounting and sales staffs and, where appropriate, local management staff. If appropriate, external collec-
tion agencies may be engaged.
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Public health institutions in @ number of countries outside the u.s. require a significant amount of time until
payment is made because a substantial number of payors are government entities whose payments are often
determined by local laws and regulations and budget constraints. Depending on local facts and circum-
stances, the period of time to collect can be quite lengthy. In those instances where there are commercial
payors, the same type of collection process is initiated as in the u.s.

Due to the number of our subsidiaries and different countries that we operate in, our policy of determining
when a valuation allowance is required considers the appropriate individual local facts and circumstances that
apply to an account. While payment and collection practices vary significantly between countries and even
agencies within one country, government payors usually represent low to moderate credit risks. It is our policy
to determine when receivables should be classified as bad debt on a local basis taking into account local
payment practices and local collection experience. A valuation allowance is calculated locally if specific
circumstances indicate that amounts will not be collectible.

In our International segment and North America segment product division, for receivables overdue by more
than one year, an additional valuation allowance is recorded based on an individual country risk, since we
believe that the length of time to collect does indicate an increased credit risk.

When all efforts to collect a receivable, including the use of outside sources where required and allowed,
have been exhausted, and after appropriate management review, a receivable deemed to be uncollectible is
considered a bad debt and written off.

In the consolidated statement of income, expenses from our allowance for doubtful accounts is presented
either as a deduction from revenue or as operating expense depending on the source of the receivable. For
our dialysis care business, we determine an allowance for patient services provided where all or a portion of
the amounts billed or billable cannot be determined to be collectible at the time services are performed, e.g.,
when we provide treatment to a patient when such treatment is not covered by an insurance program or a
reimbursement arrangement regardless of the patient’s ability to pay. This allowance is shown as a reduction
to our consolidated statements of income line item dialysis care. All of our other receivables are evaluated
with the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts recorded as an operating expense.

Write offs are taken on a claim-by-claim basis when the collection efforts are exhausted. Due to the fact that

a large portion of our reimbursement is provided by public healthcare organizations and private insurers, we
expect that most of our accounts receivable will be collectible. However, we have experienced some
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collection delays with distributors in a few Asia-Pacific countries. See chapter 3.2 “Results of operations, fi-
nancial positions and balance sheet structure — Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities” starting on
page 169, for a discussion of days sales outstanding developments in 2013. A significant change in our collection
experience, deterioration in the aging of receivables and collection difficulties could require that we increase
our estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Any such additional bad debt charges could materially
and adversely affect our future operating results.

If, in addition to our existing allowances, 1% of the gross amount of our trade accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2013 were uncollectible through either a change in our estimated contractual adjustment or as
bad debt, our operating income for 2013 would have been reduced by approximately 1.5%.

The following tables show the portion and aging of trade accounts receivable of major debtors or debtor
groups at December 31, 2013 and 2012. No single debtor other than u.s. Medicaid and Medicare accounted for
more than 5% of total trade accounts receivable in either year. Amounts pending approval from third party
payors represented less than 3% at December 31, 2013.

— T.3.1.1 ———— Aging of net trade accounts receivable by major payor groups 2013
in SM, as of December 31
overdue overdue
overdue by more than more than overdue by
up to 3 months up 6 months up more than % of net

current 3 months to 6 months to 1 year 1 year Total trade A/R
U.S. government
healthcare programs 534 106 45 118 13 816 27
U.S. commercial payors 239 140 41 36 13 469 16
U.S. hospitals 87 34 3 3 3 130 4
Self-pay of U.S. patients 1 4 0 1 1 7
Other North America 6 0 0 0 0 6 0
International product cus-
tomers and dialysis payors 953 266 120 136 134 1,609 53
» Total 1,820 550 209 294 164 3,037 100
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— T.3.1.2 ——— Aging of net trade accounts receivable by major payor groups 2012
in SM, as of December 31
overdue overdue
overdue by more than more than overdue by
up to 3 months up 6 months up more than % of net
current 3 months to 6 months to 1 year 1 year Total trade A/R
U.S. government
healthcare programs 473 89 47 36 27 672 22
U.S. commercial payors 292 175 42 35 21 565 19
U.S. hospitals 107 33 4 3 2 149 5
Self-pay of U.S. patients 1 11 6 2 2 22 1
Other North America 7 2 0 0 0 9 0
International product cus-
tomers and dialysis payors 901 279 124 113 185 1,602 53
» Total 1,781 589 223 189 237 3,019 100

SELF-INSURANCE PROGRAMS

Under the insurance programs for professional, product and general liability, auto liability and worker’s com-
pensation claims, FMCH, our largest subsidiary, is partially self-insured for professional liability claims. For all
other coverages we assume responsibility for incurred claims up to predetermined amounts above which third
party insurance applies. Reported liabilities for the year represent estimated future payments of the antici-
pated expense for claims incurred (both reported and incurred but not reported) based on historical experi-
ence and existing claim activity. This experience includes both the rate of claims incidence (number) and claim
severity (cost) and is combined with individual claim expectations to estimate the reported amounts.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS USED FOR INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

The Management Board oversees our Company by setting strategic and operational targets and measuring
various financial key performance indicators used for internal management determined in u.s. dollar based
on accounting principles generally accepted in the u.s. (U.s. GAAP). These key performance indicators do not
differ between the operating segments. Each operating segment is evaluated based on target figures that
reflect revenue and expenses the operating segments control. See chapter 3.2 “Results of operations, financial
positions and balance sheet structure — Overview" starting on page 169 for a discussion of exclusion of certain costs
from operating segment results.
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U.S. GAAP-BASED MEASURES

Revenue
For our operating segments, revenue is a financial key performance indicator. The number of treatments
performed each year is an indicator of revenue generation. For further information regarding revenue recog-
nition and measurement, see note 1h. Revenue is also benchmarked based on movement at constant exchange
rates see chapter 3.1 “Critical accounting policies — Non-U.S.-GAAP measures” starting on page 166.

Operating income
Operating income is used to measure the profitability of the operating segments and therefore is also a
financial key performance indicator.

Operating income margin
Operating income margin, the ratio of operating income to revenue, represents the percentage of profit
earned on revenue generated and is another financial key performance indicator for each segment.

Growth in net income
On a consolidated level, the percentage growth in net income (net income attributable to shareholders of
FMC AG & CO. KGAA), which compares current period to prior period net income, is an additional financial key
performance indicator used for internal management of the Company.

Growth in basic earnings per share

Percentage growth in basic earnings per shares is a financial key performance indicator to evaluate our prof-
itability. This indicator helps to manage our overall performance. Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing net income attributable to shareholders by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares out-
standing during the year. Prior to the conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares during the second
quarter of 2013, basic earnings per share was computed according to the “two-class method” by dividing net
income attributable to shareholders, less preference amounts, by the weighted average number of ordinary
and preference shares outstanding during the year. Additionally, we compute a percentage growth in adjusted
basic earnings per share for use in our management incentive program targets.

Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures for property, plant, and equipment (Capex) is an indicator used by our internal manage-
ment. We manage our Capex using a detailed coordination and evaluation process. The Management Board
sets this Capex budget. Before Capex projects are approved, our internal Acquisition Investment Committee
(AIC) examines the individual projects and measures the potential return on these expenditures and their ex-
pected yield. The Capex projects are evaluated based on commonly used methods such as the net present
value and internal interest rate methods, as well as payback periods.
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NON-U.S. GAAP MEASURES

EBITDA

EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization expenses) was approximately $2,904 M,
19.9% of revenues for 2013, and $2,821M, 20.4% of revenues for 2012. EBITDA is the basis for determining com-
pliance with certain covenants contained in our 2012 credit agreement, euro notes, EIB agreements, and the
indentures relating to our senior notes. You should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings
determined in accordance with u.s. GAAP or to cash flow from operations, investing activities or financing
activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for management’s discretionary use. For
example, a substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and functional require-
ments for debt service, to fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to
time as described in more detail elsewhere in this report. EBITDA, as calculated, may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

A reconciliation of EBITDA to cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities, which we believe to be the
most directly comparable u.s. GAAP financial measure, is calculated as follows:

— T.3.1.3 Reconciliation of EBITDA to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
in SM

2013 2012
Total EBITDA 2,904 2,821
Interest expense (net of interest income) (409) (426)
Income tax expense, net (592) (605)
Change in deferred taxes, net 16 75
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 137 169
Stock compensation expense 14 26
Other items, net (35) (21)
» Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,035 2,039

The ratio of debt to EBITDA is a key financial performance indicator used for overseeing the Company. To de-
termine the total debt to EBITDA ratio, financial liabilities are compared to EBITDA. We believe this ratio pro-
vides more reliable information regarding the extent to which we are able to meet our payment obligations
than considering only the total amount of financial liabilities.
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Cash flow measures
Our consolidated statement of cash flows indicates how we generated and used cash and cash equivalents.
When used in conjunction with the other primary financial statements, it provides information that helps us
evaluate the changes in our net assets and our financial structure (including our liquidity and solvency). The
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities is used to assess whether our business can generate the
cash required to make replacement and expansion investments. Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities is impacted by the profitability of our business and development of working capital, principally
receivables. The financial key performance indicator of net cash provided by (used in) operating activities in
percentage of revenue shows the percentage of our revenue that is available in terms of financial resources.

Free cash flow is the cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities after capital expenditures for prop-
erty, plant and equipment but before acquisitions and investments. The key performance indicator used by
management is free cash flow in percentage of revenue. This represents the percentage of revenue that is
available for acquisitions, dividends to shareholders, or the reduction of debt financing.

The following table shows significant cash flow key performance indicators as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

— T.3.1.4 ————————— Significant cash flow key performance indicators
inSM

2013 2012
Revenue 14,610 13,800
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,035 2,039
Capital expenditures (748) (675)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 20 9
Capital expenditures, net (728) (666)
Free cash flow 1,307 1,373
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities in % of revenue 13.9 14.8
Free cash flow in % of revenue 8.9 10.0
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NON-U.S. GAAP MEASURES FOR PRESENTATION

Constant currency

Changes in revenue include the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We use the non-GAAP
financial measure at constant exchange rates or constant currency in our filings to show changes in our rev-
enue without giving effect to period-to-period currency fluctuations. Under uU.s. GAAP, revenues received in
local (non-u.s. dollar) currency are translated into u.s. dollars at the average exchange rate for the period
presented. Once we translate the current period local currency revenues for the constant currency, we then
calculate the change, as a percentage, of the current period revenues using the prior period exchange rates
versus the prior period revenues. This resulting percentage is a non-GAAP measure referring to a percentage
change at constant currency.

We believe that revenue growth is a key indication of how a company is progressing from period to period
and that the non-GAAP financial measure constant currency is useful to investors, lenders, and other creditors
because such information enables them to gauge the impact of currency fluctuations on a company’s revenue
from period to period. However, we also believe that the usefulness of data on constant currency peri-
od-over-period changes is subject to limitations, particularly if the currency effects that are eliminated consti-
tute a significant element of our revenue and significantly impact our performance. We therefore limit our use
of constant currency period-over-period changes to a measure for the impact of currency fluctuations on the
translation of local currency revenue into u.s. dollars. We do not evaluate our results and performance with-
out considering both constant currency period-over-period changes in non-u.s. GAAP revenue on the one
hand and changes in revenue prepared in accordance with u.S. GAAP on the other. We caution the readers of
this report to follow a similar approach by considering data on constant currency period-over-period changes
only in addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to, changes in revenue prepared in accordance with
U.s. GAAP. We present the fluctuation derived from u.s. GAAP revenue next to the fluctuation derived from
non-GAAP revenue. Because the reconciliation of non-GAAP to U.S. GAAP measures is inherent in the disclosure,
we believe that a separate reconciliation would not provide any additional benefit.
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CHAPTER 3.2

Results of operations, financial
positions and balance sheet structure

OVERVIEW

We are engaged primarily in providing renal dialysis services including pharmacy services and vascular access
surgery services (together, the expanded services) and manufacturing and distributing products for the treat-
ment of end-stage renal disease (ESRD). In the u.s. the Company also provides laboratory testing services, and
inpatient dialysis services as well as other services under contract to hospitals. We estimate that providing
dialysis services and distributing dialysis products represents a worldwide market of approximately $75 BN
with expected annual worldwide market growth of around 4%, adjusted for currency. Patient growth results
from factors such as the aging population and increased life expectancies; shortage of donor organs for kid-
ney transplants; increasing incidence and better treatment of and survival of patients with diabetes and hy-
pertension, which frequently precede the onset of ESRD; improvements in treatment quality, which prolong
patient life; and improving standards of living in developing countries, which make life-saving dialysis treat-
ment available. Key to continued growth in revenue is our ability to attract new patients in order to increase
the number of treatments performed each year. For that reason, we believe the number of treatments per-
formed each year is a strong indicator of continued revenue growth and success. In addition, the reimburse-
ment and ancillary services utilization environment significantly influences our business. The majority of treat-
ments are paid for by governmental institutions such as Medicare in the United States. As a consequence of
the pressure to decrease healthcare costs, reimbursement rate increases have been historically and are ex-
pected in the future to be limited. With the exception of (i) the implementation of the ESRD prospective pay-
ment system (ESRD PPS) in the u.s. in January 2011, (ii) the u.s. federal government sequestration cuts and (iii)
commencing on January 1, 2014, the phased-in reductions to the ESRD PPs rate over three to four years to ac-
count for the decline in utilization of certain drugs and biologicals associated with dialysis, (see discussion of
the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 on page 171) we experienced and also expect in the future to experience
generally stable reimbursements for dialysis services globally. This includes the balancing of unfavorable reim-
bursement changes in certain countries with favorable changes in other countries.

With the enactment in the u.s. of the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008 (MIPPA),
Congress mandated the development of an expanded ESRD PPs for services furnished on or after January 1,
2011. Under the ESRD PPS, cMs reimburses dialysis facilities with a single payment for each dialysis treatment,
inclusive of (i) all items and services included in the pre-2011 ESRD composite rate, (ii) oral vitamin D analogues,
oral levocarnitine (an amino acid derivative) and all erythropoietin stimulating agents (EsAs) and other
pharmaceuticals (other than vaccines and certain other oral drugs) furnished to EsrD patients that were pre-
viously reimbursed separately under Part B of the Medicare program, (iii) most diagnostic laboratory tests and
(iv) certain other items and services furnished to individuals for the treatment of EsrRD. ESRD-related drugs with
only an oral form, including our phosphate binder PhosLo®, are expected to be reimbursed under the ESRD PPS
starting in January 2016 with an adjusted payment amount to be determined by the Secretary of Health and
Human Services to reflect the additional cost to dialysis facilities of providing these medications. The base
ESRD PPS payment is subject to case mix adjustments that take into account individual patient characteristics
(e.g., age, body surface area, body mass, time on dialysis) and certain co-morbidities. The base payment is
also adjusted for (i) certain high cost patient outliers due to unusual variations in medically necessary care,
(i) disparately high costs incurred by low volume facilities relative to other facilities, (iii) provision of home
dialysis training and (iv) wage-related costs in the geographic area in which the provider is located.
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The ESRD PPS payment amount is subject to annual adjustment based on increases in the costs of a “market
basket” of certain healthcare items and services less a productivity adjustment. The 2013 ESRD PPS base rate is
$240.36 per treatment. This amount reflects a productivity adjusted market basket update of 2.3%, which was
based on a market basket update over 2012 reimbursement rates of 2.9% less a productivity adjustment of
0.6%, and a wage index budget-neutrality adjustment factor of 1.000613 applied to the 2012 ESRD PPS base rate
of $234.81 per treatment.

The 2011 ESRD PPS resulted in a lower Medicare reimbursement rate on average at our u.s. dialysis facilities. We
mitigated the impact of the ESRD PPs with two broad measures. First, we worked with medical directors and
treating physicians to find efficiencies consistent with the ESRD PPs’s quality incentive program (QiP) and good
clinical practices, and we negotiated pharmaceutical acquisition cost savings. In addition, we achieved greater
efficiencies and better patient outcomes by introducing new initiatives to improve patient care upon initiation
of dialysis, increase the percentage of patients using home therapies and achieve additional cost reductions
in our clinics.

The ESRD PPS’s QIP began affecting payments starting January 1, 2012. Dialysis facilities that fail to achieve the
established quality standards could have payments reduced by up to 2%. Performance on specified measures
in a fiscal year affects payments two fiscal years later. For instance, the payments we receive during 2014 will
be affected by our performance measures from 2012. Based on our performance from 2010 through 2012, the
QIP's impact on our results through 2014 is immaterial. The initial QIP measures for 2010 and 2011 focused on
anemia management and dialysis adequacy (urea reduction ratio or URR). For 2012 reporting (affecting pay-
ments in 2014), cms adopted four additional measures: prevalence of catheter and Asv fistula use, reporting
of infections to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, administration of patient satisfaction surveys
and monthly monitoring of phosphorus and calcium levels. For payment year 2015, cMs has continued all of
the 2014 QIP measures except URR dialysis adequacy, expanded the scope of infection reporting and mineral
metabolism reporting, and added four new measures. Payment year 2015 measures consist of three new clin-
ical measures (hemodialysis adequacy (adult patients), hemodialysis adequacy (pediatric patients) and perito-
neal dialysis adequacy), and one new reporting measure (anemia management reporting). For payment year
2016, cMs has continued all of the 2015 QIP measures and added two new clinical measures (proportion of
patients with hypercalcemia and dialysis-related infections reported to the Center for Disease Control and
Prevention’s National Health Safety Network by esrD facilities treatment patients on an in-center basis).

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation
Act of 2011 (collectively, AcA) implements broad healthcare system reforms, including (i) provisions to facilitate
access to affordable health insurance for all Americans, (i) expansion of the Medicaid program, (iii) an indus-
try fee on pharmaceutical companies that began in 2011 based on sales of brand name pharmaceuticals to
government healthcare programs, (iv) a 2.3% excise tax on manufacturers’ medical device sales starting in
2013, (v) increases in Medicaid prescription drug rebates effective January 1, 2010, (vi) commercial insurance
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market reforms that protect consumers, such as bans on lifetime and annual limits, coverage of pre-existing
conditions, limits on administrative costs, and limits on waiting periods, (vii) provisions encouraging inte-
grated care, efficiency and coordination among providers and (viii) provisions for reduction of healthcare
program waste and fraud. AcA does not modify the dialysis reimbursement provisions of MiPPA, except to
change the annual update provision by substituting a productivity adjustment to the market basket rate of
increase for a MIPPA provision that specified a one percentage point reduction in the market basket rate of
increase. ACA's medical device excise tax, Medicaid drug rebate increases and annual pharmaceutical industry
fees will adversely impact our product business earnings and cash flows. We expect modest favorable impact
from AcA’s integrated care and commercial insurance consumer protection provisions.

On August 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act (BCA) was enacted, raising the u.s.'s debt ceiling and putting into
effect a series of actions for deficit reduction. Pursuant to the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA),
automatic across-the-board spending cuts over nine fiscal years (2013-2021), projected to total $1.2 trillion for
all u.s. Federal government programs required under the BCA became effective as of March 1, 2013 and were
implemented on April 1, 2013 for cms reimbursement to providers. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013 extended
the cuts to mandatory spending programs such as Medicare for an additional two years. The reduction in
Medicare payments to providers and suppliers is limited to one adjustment of no more than 2% through 2022
(the sequestration), rising to 2.9% for the first half of Fy 2023 and dropping to 1.1% for the second half of Fy
2023. The impact of the sequestration based on our dialysis care revenue from Medicare since the implemen-
tation date resulted in a decrease of approximately $56 M in operating income for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2013. The Medicare reimbursement reduction is independent of annual inflation update mechanisms,
such as the market basket update pursuant to the ESRD PPS.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA) also directed cms to reduce the ESRD PPs payment rate, effec-
tive January 1, 2014, to account for changes in the utilization of certain drugs and biologicals that are included
in the ESRD PPS. In making such reduction, the law requires cMs to use the most recently available pricing data
for such drugs and biologicals. On November 22, 2013, c™s issued the final rule regarding the 2014 ESRD PPS
rate. The base rate per treatment was reduced from $240.36 to $239.02 for 2014. This change reflects (a) a
bundled market basket increase of 3.2%, reduced by an estimated multifactor productivity adjustment of
0.4%; (b) the application of a wage index budget neutrality factor and a home dialysis training add-on budget
neutrality factor; and (c) the application of a portion ($8.16) per treatment of a reduction in to account for a
decrease in the historical utilization of certain esrp-related drugs and biologicals from 2007 to 2012. As set
forth in the November 2013 final rule, cms will phase in the ATRA reduction, which cms estimates will total
$29.93 per treatment, over three to four years. cms intends that the portion of the drug utilization adjustment
mandated by ATRA that will be applied in 2014 and 2015 will largely offset the net market basket increases in
average payments to ESRD facilities as a whole resulting in essentially unchanged reimbursement rates from
2013 to 2015. In 2016, cMs will re-evaluate whether to apply the balance of the drug utilization adjustment
mandated by ATRA over the subsequent one or two years.
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Any significant decreases in Medicare reimbursement rates could have material adverse effects on our pro-
vider business and, because the demand for dialysis products is affected by Medicare reimbursement, on our
products business. To the extent that increases in operating costs that are affected by inflation, such as labor
and supply costs, are not fully reflected in a compensating increase in reimbursement rates, our business and
results of operations may be adversely affected.

On February 4, 2013, cMs announced plans to test a new Comprehensive EsRD Care Model and issued a solic-
itation for applications. As currently proposed, cms will work with up to 15 healthcare provider groups com-
prised of dialysis clinics and nephrologists, also known as ESRD Seamless Care Organizations (ESCOs), to test a
new system of payment and care delivery that seeks to deliver better health outcomes for EsRD patients while
potentially lowering cms’s costs. EScos that achieve the program’s minimum quality thresholds and generate
reductions in cms’s cost of care above certain thresholds for the ESRD patients covered by the esco will receive
a share of the cost savings. Escos that include dialysis chains with more than 200 facilities are required to
share in the risk of cost increases and reimburse cms a share of any such increases. Organizations must apply
and be approved by cms to participate in the program. In August 2013, we submitted an application to par-
ticipate in the program as an Esco. Following submission of our application, cMs announced that it would
suspend review of all applications and reopen its request for application in the winter of 2014 to solicit addi-
tional participation and respond to stakeholder feedback. At such time, we will review cms’ revisions and
determine whether to apply to the revised program.

We have identified three operating segments, North America segment, EMEALA, and Asia-Pacific, which were
determined based upon how we manage our businesses. All segments are primarily engaged in providing
dialysis care services and the distribution of products and equipment for the treatment of ESRD. For reporting
purposes, we have aggregated the EMEALA and Asia-Pacific operating segments as the “International seg-
ment.” We aggregated these operating segments due to their similar economic characteristics. These charac-
teristics include same services provided and same products sold, the same type of patient population, similar
methods of distribution of products and services and similar economic environments. Our General Partner’s
Management Board Member responsible for the profitability and cash flow of each segment’s various busi-
nesses supervises the management of each operating segment. The accounting policies of the segments are
the same as those we apply in preparing our consolidated financial statements under u.s. GAAP.
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Our management evaluates each segment using a measure that reflects all of the segment’s controllable
revenues and expenses. With respect to the performance of our business operations, our management be-
lieves that the most appropriate measure in this regard is operating income which measures our source of
earnings. We do not include the effects of certain transactions, such as the investment gain resulting from
our 2012 acquisition of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc. (the Liberty acquisition) nor income taxes as we believe
these items to be outside the segments’ control. Financing is a corporate function which our segments do
not control. Therefore, we do not include interest expense relating to financing as a segment measurement.
Similarly, we do not allocate certain costs, which relate primarily to certain headquarters overhead charges,
including accounting and finance, global research and development, etc. (corporate), because we believe
that these costs are also not within the control of the individual segments. Production of products, produc-
tion asset management, quality management and procurement are centrally managed at Corporate by
Global Manufacturing Operations. These corporate activities do not fulfill the definition of a segment. Prod-
ucts are transferred to the segments at cost; therefore no internal profit is generated. The associated inter-
nal revenues for the product transfers and their elimination are recorded as corporate activities see note 24.
Capital expenditures for production are based on the expected demand of the segments and consolidated
profitability considerations. In addition, certain revenues, investments, and intangible assets, as well as any
related expenses, are not allocated to a segment but accounted for as Corporate. Accordingly, all of these
items are excluded from our analysis of segment results and are discussed below in our consolidated results
of operations.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following tables summarize our financial performance and certain operating results by principal reporting
segment and Corporate for the periods indicated. Inter-segment sales primarily reflect sales of medical equip-
ment and supplies. We prepared the information using a management approach, consistent with the basis
and manner in which our management internally disaggregates financial information to assist in making in-
ternal operating decisions and evaluating management performance.
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— T.3.2.1 Segment data
inSM

2013 2012
Total revenue
North America 9,613 9,041
International 4,970 4,740
Corporate 34 29
» Total 14,617 13,810
Inter-segment revenue
North America 7 10
International -
» Total 7 10
Total net revenue
North America 9,606 9,031
International 4,970 4,740
Corporate 34 29
» Total 14,610 13,800
Operating income
North America 1,624 1,615
International 858 809
Corporate (226) (205)
» Total 2,256 2,219
Investment gain = 140
Interest income 39 44
Interest expense (448) (470)
Income tax expense (592) (605)
Net income 1,255 1,328
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (145) (141)
» Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 1,110 1,187

Highlights
Revenues increased by 6% to $14,610 M (6% at constant exchange rates) mainly due to organic growth of 5%
and contributions from acquisitions of 2%, partially offset by the effect of closed or sold clinics of 1%.

Operating income increased 2%.
Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & CO. KGAA decreased by 6% to $1,10 M. However, excluding

the 2012 investment gain of $140 M related to the Liberty acquisition, net income attributable to shareholders
of FMC AG & CO. KGAA increased 6% from $1,047 in 2012.
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Consolidated Financials

— 7.3.2.2 ———— Key indicators for consolidated financial statements

Change

Change as at constant

2013 2012 reported exchange rates’

Revenue in SM 14,610 13,800 6% 6%

Number of treatments 40,456,900 38,588,184 5% =

Same market treatment growth in % 3.6 3.8 = =

Gross profit as a % of revenue 324 333 - -

Selling, general and administrative costs as a % of revenue 16.4 16.1 = =

Operating income in SM 2,256 2,219 2% =

Operating income margin in % 15.4 16.1 - -
Net income attributable to shareholders

of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in SM 1,110 1,187 -6% -

Basic earnings per sharein $ 3.65 3.89 -6% =

For further information on constant exchange rates, see “Non-U.S. GAAP Measures — constant currency” starting on page 168.

Net dialysis care revenue increased by 6% to $11,130M (7% at constant exchange rates) for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $10,492M in the same period of 2012, mainly due to growth in same market treat-
ments (4%), contributions from acquisitions (3%), and increases in organic revenue per treatment (1%), par-
tially offset by the effect of closed or sold clinics (1%) and the negative impact of exchange rate fluctuations
(1%).

Treatments increased by 5% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the same period
in 2012. The increase is due to same market treatment growth (4%) and acquisitions 3%), partially offset by
the effect of closed or sold clinics 2%).

At December 31, 2013, we owned, operated or managed (excluding those managed but not consolidated in
the u.s.) 3,250 clinics compared to 3,160 clinics at December 31, 2012. During 2013, we acquired 50 clinics,
opened 80 clinics and combined or closed 40 clinics. The number of patients treated in clinics that we own,
operate or manage (excluding patients of clinics managed but not consolidated in the u.s.) increased by 5%
to 270,122 at December 31, 2013 from 257,916 at December 31, 2012.

Dialysis product revenue increased by 5% (5% increase at constant exchange rates) to $3,480 M as compared
to $3,308 M in the same period of 2012. The increase was driven by increased sales of hemodialysis products,
especially of dialyzers, machines, solutions and concentrates, and bloodlines as well as products for acute
care and peritoneal dialysis products, partially offset by lower sales of renal pharmaceuticals. There was no
material impact from foreign exchange effects.

The decrease in gross profit margin to 32.4% from 33.3% reflects a decrease in the North America segment,
partially offset by an increase in the International segment. The decrease in the North America segment was
due to higher personnel expense, the 2012 impact of special collection efforts in the prior year, lower com-
mercial payor mix coupled with price reductions from commercial contracting, increased revenue in the ex-
panded services at lower than average margins, and the impact of the u.s. sequestration. These decreases
were partially offset by reduced pharmaceutical utilization and the updated Medicare reimbursement rate
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which came into effect in 2013. The increase in the International segment was due to favorable foreign cur-
rency exchange effects and lower manufacturing costs driven by decreases in labor costs, facilities operating
costs and cost for raw materials, partially offset by price pressure on products and business growth in China,
however at lower margins.

SG&A expenses increased to $2,391M in the year ended December 31, 2013 from $2,223 M in the same period
of 2012. SG& A expenses as a percentage of sales increased to 16.4% for the twelve months of 2013 in compar-
ison with 16.1% in the same period of 2012 due to an increase in the International segment, an unfavorable
impact from Corporate and a slight increase in the North America segment. The increase in the International
segment was mainly driven by higher bad debt expense in Asia-Pacific, unfavorable foreign exchange effects
including devaluation of the Venezuelan Bolivar due to a hyperinflationary economy and various cost in-
creases, partially offset by a gain on the sale of real estate in Colombia. The increase at Corporate was due
to increased legal and consulting expenses attributable in significant part to the internal investigation we are
conducting see note 20, partially offset by lower compensation expenses.

For the twelve months ended 2013, we had an $8 M gain from the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA dialysis clinics in
our North America segment and a $1M gain in the International segment as compared to a $36M gain in the
same period of the prior year mainly in connection with divestitures required for regulatory clearance of the
Liberty acquisition, which occurred in the first quarter of 2012, see note 2.

Research and development (R & D) expenses increased to $126 M for the year ended December 31, 2013 as com-
pared to $112M in the same period in 2012. This increase was driven by major product developments as well
as the expansion of strategic projects during the year.

Income from equity method investees increased to $26 M for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 from
$17 M for the same period of 2012 due to increased income from the VFMCRP renal pharmaceuticals joint venture.

In 2012, other operating expense was $100 M due to charges incurred in connection with the amendment of
our agreement with Luitpold Pharmaceuticals and American Regent, Inc. regarding Venofer®.

Operating income increased to $2,256 M for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $2,219M for the same
period in 2012. Operating income margin decreased to 15.4% for the year ended December 31, 2013 as com-
pared to 16.1% for the same period in 2012 as a result of the decrease in gross profit margin, higher sc&A as
a percentage of revenue and a lower gain on the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA clinics, partially offset by the effect
of the other operating expense in 2012, all as discussed above.
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The non-taxable investment gain for 2012 of $140 M was due to the fair valuation of our investment in Renal
Advantage Partners, LLC at the time of the 2012 Liberty acquisition.

Interest expense decreased by 5% to $448Mm for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 from $470m for
the same period in 2012 due to a decrease in the average debt level during the year, lower interest rates due
to the expiration of interest rates swaps at the end of the first quarter of 2012, as well as the 2012 effect of
one-time costs related to the new credit agreement. Interest income decreased to $39m for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2013 from $44 M for the same period in 2012 mainly as a result of lower interest
income from high interest-bearing notes receivables.

Income tax expense decreased to $592M for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $605M for the same
period in 2012. The effective tax rate increased to 32.0% from 31.3% for the same period of 2012, as a result of
a non-taxable investment gain in 2012.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 increased
to $145M from $141Mm for the same period of 2012 primarily due to losses attributable to noncontrolling inter-
ests in the International segment in 2012.

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & cO. KGAA for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013
decreased 6% to $1,110 M from $1,187 M for the same period in 2012 as a result of the combined effects of the
items discussed above. Excluding the investment gain in the amount of $140 M as noted above the net income
attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & cO. KGAA for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 increased
6% to $1,110 M from $1,047 M for the same period in 2012.

Basic earnings per share decreased by 6% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 to $3.65 as com-
pared with $3.89 in 2012 due to the decrease in net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & CO. KGAA
above. The average weighted number of shares outstanding for the period was approximately 303.8 ™ in 2013
(305.1M in 2012). The decrease in the number of shares outstanding was the result of the share buyback pro-
gram completed during the year, partially offset by stock options exercised.

We employed 90,690 people (full-time equivalents) as of December 31, 2013 compared to 86,153 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2012, an increase of 5%, primarily due to overall growth in our business and acquisitions.

The following discussions pertain to the North America segment and the International segment and the
measures we use to manage these segments.
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North America segment

— T.3.2.3 Key indicators for North America segment

2013 2012 Change
Revenue in SM 9,606 9,031 6%
Number of treatments 25,656,357 24,412,416 5%
Same market treatment growth in % 3.5 3.6 -
Operating income in SM 1,624 1,615 1%
Operating income margin in % 16.9 17.9 =

Revenue

Net dialysis care revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2013 by 7% to $8,772M from $8,230M in
the same period of 2012. This increase was driven by same market treatment growth (4%) and contributions
from acquisitions (3%).

Treatments increased by 5% for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the same period in 2012
mostly due to same market treatment growth (4%) and acquisitions (2%), partially offset by the effect of
closed or sold clinics (1%). At December 31, 2013, 171,440 patients (a 4% increase over December 31, 2012)
were being treated in the 2,133 clinics that we own or operate in the North America segment, compared to
164,554 patients treated in 2,082 clinics at December 31, 2012. Average North America segment revenue per
treatment, which includes Canada and Mexico, before bad debt expense, was $352 for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2013 and $348 in the same period in 2012. In the u.s., the average revenue per treatment was $359
for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $355 for the same period in 2012. The increase in the u.s. was mainly
attributable to further development of our expanded services and the updated Medicare reimbursement rate
which came into effect in 2013, partially offset by the effects of the 2012 increase in revenue from special
collection efforts for services performed in prior years, the unfavorable impact of the u.s. sequestration, and
unfavorable commercial payor mix coupled with price reductions from commercial contracting.

Dialysis product revenue increased for the year ended December 31, 2013 by 4% to $834M from $801M in the
first twelve months of 2012. This increase was driven by higher sales of dialyzers, partially offset by lower sales
of peritoneal dialysis products and machines.

Operating Income
Operating income increased to $1,624 M for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $1,615 M for the same period
in 2012. Operating income margin decreased to 16.9% for the year ended December 31, 2013 from 17.9% for the
same period in 2012, due to higher personnel expenses, the effects of the 2012 impact of special collection ef-
forts in prior years, the impact of the u.s. sequestration, a lower commercial payor mix coupled with price re-
ductions from commercial contracting, and increased revenue in the expanded services at lower than average
margins. Further, the margin was impacted by the lower gain on the sale of FMC AG & CO. KGAA clinics related to
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the Liberty acquisition resulting from fewer clinics sold in 2013 as compared to 2012 and increased legal costs.
These effects were partially offset by the effects of 2012 charges incurred in connection with the amendment of
our agreement with Luitpold Pharmaceuticals and American Regent, Inc. regarding Venofer®, the updated
Medicare reimbursement rate which came into effect in 2013, reduced pharmaceutical utilization, and the effect
of one-time costs related to the Liberty acquisition. Cost per treatment for the North America segment in-
creased to $287 for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to $278 the same period of 2012. Cost per
treatment in the u.s. increased to $293 for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $283 in the same period of
2012.

International segment

— T.3.2.4 Key indicators for International segment
Change at
Change as constant
2013 2012 reported exchange rates’
Revenue in SM 4,970 4,740 5% 6%
Number of treatments 14,800,543 14,175,768 4% =
Same market treatment growth in % 3.8 4.0 = =
Operating income in SM 858 809 6% =
Operating income margin in % 17.3 171 = =

" For further information on constant exchange rates, see “Non-U.S. GAAP Measures — constant currency” starting on page 168.

Revenue
Including the effects of acquisitions, European region revenue increased by 5% (3% at constant exchange
rates) to $3,023 M, Latin America region revenue increased by 5% (15% at constant exchange rates) to $843 m,
and Asia-Pacific region revenue increased 6% (8% at constant exchange rates) to $1,104 m.

Net dialysis care revenue for the International segment increased during the year ended December 31, 2013 by
4% (7% at constant exchange rates) to $2,358M from $2,262 M in the same period of 2012. This increase is a
result of same market treatment growth (4%), contributions from acquisitions (3%) and increases in organic
revenue per treatment (2%), partially offset by the negative effect of exchange rate fluctuations (3%) and the
effect of closed or sold clinics (2%).

Treatments increased by 4% for the year ended December 31, 2013 over the same period in 2012 mainly due to
same market treatment growth (4%) and contributions from acquisitions (2%), partially offset by the effect of
closed or sold clinics (2%). As of December 31, 2013, we had 98,682 patients (a 6% increase over December 31,
2012) being treated at the 1,117 clinics that we own, operate or manage in the International segment compared
to 93,362 patients treated at 1,078 clinics at December 31, 2012. Average revenue per treatment for the year
ended December 31, 2013 decreased to $159 from $160 in comparison with the same period of 2012 due to
increased reimbursement rates and changes in country mix ($4), offset by weakening of local currencies
against the u.s. dollar ($5).
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Dialysis product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by 5% (5% increase at constant ex-
change rates) to $2,612M compared to $2,478 M in the same period of 2012. The 5% increase in product reve-
nue was driven by increased sales of hemodialysis products, especially of machines, solutions and concen-
trates, dialyzers, and bloodlines as well as products for acute care treatments and peritoneal dialysis, partially
offset by lower sales of renal pharmaceuticals.

Operating income
Operating income increased to $858M for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to $809Mm for the
same period in 2012. Operating income margin increased to 17.3% for the year ended December 31, 2013 from
171% for the same period in 2012 mainly due to a gain on the sale of real estate in Colombia, and lower
manufacturing costs driven by decreases in labor costs, facilities operating costs and cost for raw materials,
partially offset by higher bad debt expense in Asia-Pacific.

Inflationary accounting

As we are subject to foreign exchange risk, we monitor the economic conditions of the countries in which we
operate. Venezuela has been considered a hyperinflationary economy since 2010, most recently reaffirmed by
the International Practices Task Force in May 2013. Effective January 1, 2013 our operations in Venezuela were
still considered to be operating in a hyperinflationary economy, as the Venezuelan economy had a three-year
cumulative inflation rate of approximately 100%. We use a blend of the National Consumer Price Index and
the Consumer Price Index to determine whether Venezuela is a hyperinflationary economy. As a result, the
financial statements of our subsidiaries operating in Venezuela continue to use the u.s. dollar as their func-
tional currency. However, in 2013, the Venezuelan government revalued the Bolivar. Consequently, we recorded
a pre-tax loss of $15m for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are typically cash provided by operating activities, cash provided by short-
term borrowings from third parties and related parties, as well as proceeds from the issuance of long-term
debt and equity securities. We require this capital primarily to finance working capital needs, fund acquisi-
tions and joint ventures, develop free-standing renal dialysis centers, purchase equipment for existing or new
renal dialysis centers and production sites, repay debt, pay dividends, and repurchase shares see section “Net
cash provided by (used in) financing activities”starting on page 183.

At December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $683 M. For information regarding utilization and
availability of cash under our principal credit facility (the “2012 credit agreement”), see note 11.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
In 2013 and 2012, net cash provided by operating activities was $2,035M and $2,039 M, respectively. Cash pro-
vided by operating activities is impacted by the profitability of our business, the development of our working
capital, principally receivables, and cash outflows that occur due to a number of specific items as discussed
below. The slight decrease in 2013 versus 2012 was mainly a result of a $100 M payment, partially offset by the
favorable effects of other working capital items including repayments received, both of which were associ-
ated with the amendment to the license agreement relating to our iron product Venofer®.

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



181

3.2
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL
POSITIONS AND BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE

The profitability of our business depends significantly on reimbursement rates. Approximately 76% of our
revenues are generated by providing dialysis services, a major portion of which is reimbursed by either public
healthcare organizations or private insurers. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013, approximately
32% of our consolidated revenues were attributable to u.s. federal healthcare benefit programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement. Legislative changes could affect Medicare reimbursement rates for a
significant portion of the services we provide, as well as the scope of Medicare coverage. A decrease in reim-
bursement rates or the scope of coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations and thus on our capacity to generate cash flow. With the exception of (i)
the implementation of the ESRD PPs in the u.s. in January 2011, (i) the u.s. federal government sequestration
cuts and (iii) commencing January 1, 2014, the phased-in reductions to the ESRD PPs rate over three to four
years to account for the decline in utilization of certain drugs and biologicals associated with dialysis, we
have experienced and also expect in the future to experience generally stable reimbursements for dialysis
services. This includes the balancing of unfavorable reimbursement changes in certain countries with favor-
able changes in other countries.

Our working capital, which is defined as current assets less current liabilities, was $2,733 M at December 31,
2013 which decreased from $2,957 M at December 31, 2012. The change is primarily the result of an increase
accrued expenses and other current liabilities, as well as an increase in the amount reclassified from long-term
debt to the current portion of long-term debt as a result of larger quarterly payments becoming due under
the 2012 credit agreement, the reclassification of the euro tranche of our European Investment Bank (EiB)
agreements for amounts which were due and paid in February 2014 and for euro notes due in 2014, and a
reclassification of a loan with a related party from long-term debt to short-term borrowings, partially offset
by a reduction in accounts payable driven by the payment of the $100 M Venofer® agreement amendment fee
incurred in 2012. Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 1.77 at December 31, 2013.

We intend to continue to address our current cash and financing requirements using cash provided by oper-
ating activities, our existing and future credit agreements, and the issuance of debt securities. In addition,
when funds are required for acquisitions or to meet other needs, we expect to successfully complete long-term
financing arrangements, such as the issuance of senior notes, see section “Net cash provided by (used in) fi-
nancing activities” starting on page 183. We aim to preserve financial resources with a minimum of $300 to $500 M
of committed and unutilized credit facilities.

Cash provided by operating activities depends on the collection of accounts receivable. Commercial custom-
ers and governments generally have different payment cycles. A lengthening of their payment cycles could
have a material adverse effect on our capacity to generate cash flow. In addition, we could face difficulties in
enforcing and collecting accounts receivable under some countries’ legal systems and due to the economic
conditions in some countries. Accounts receivable balances at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, net
of valuation allowances, represented pso of approximately 73 and 76, respectively.

DSO by segment is calculated by dividing the segment’s accounts receivable, as converted to u.s. dollars using
the average exchange rate for the period presented, less any value added tax included in the receivables, by
the average daily sales for the last twelve months of that segment, as converted to u.s. dollars using the av-
erage exchange rate for the period. Receivables and sales are adjusted for amounts related to significant ac-
quisitions made during the periods presented.
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The development of DsO by reporting segment is shown in the table below:

— T.3.2.5 Development of days sales outstanding
in days, December 31

2013 2012
North America segment 53 55
International segment 110 115
» FMC AG & Co. KGaA 73 76

The decrease in the North America segment is due to continued strong cash performance across all payor
groups. The International segment’s Dso decrease reflects increased collections in Europe, partially offset by
unfavorable pDso development in Asia-Pacific. Due to the fact that a large portion of our reimbursement is
provided by public healthcare organizations and private insurers, we expect that most of our accounts receiv-
able will be collectible. However, we have experienced some collection delays with distributors in a few
Asia-Pacific countries.

We are subject to ongoing and future tax audits in the u.s., Germany and other jurisdictions. As a result of a
tax audit we identified a tax item relating to civil settlement payment deductions taken by FMcH in prior year
tax returns that will or could impact our financial results in the future see note 20. We have also received notices
of unfavorable adjustments and disallowances in connection with certain of the audits, including those de-
scribed above. We are contesting, including appealing, certain of these unfavorable determinations. If our
objections and any final audit appeals are unsuccessful, we could be required to make additional tax pay-
ments, including payments to state tax authorities reflecting the adjustments made in our federal tax returns
in the u.s. With respect to other potential adjustments and disallowances of tax matters currently under re-
view, we do not anticipate that an unfavorable ruling could have a material impact on our results of opera-
tions. We are not currently able to determine the timing of these potential additional tax payments.

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
We used net cash of $1,206 M and $2,281 M in investing activities in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment, net of proceeds from sales of property, plant and
equipment were $728 M and $666 M in 2013 and 2012, respectively. In 2013, capital expenditures were $374M in
the North America segment, $189 M for the International segment and $165 M at Corporate. Capital expendi-
tures in 2012 were $298M in the North America segment, $195 M for the International segment and $173 M at
Corporate. Capital expenditures were approximately 5% of total revenue in 2013 and 2012.
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In addition to the capital expenditures discussed above, we invested approximately $496 M cash in 2013, $412M
in the North America segment, $82 M in the International segment and $2 ™ at Corporate. In the North Amer-
ica segment this included, an investment-type loan made by FMCH granting a $200 M credit facility to a middle
market dialysis provider in the third quarter of 2013 (of which $170 was drawn as of December 31, 2013; see note 8,
as well as the acquisition of a full-service clinical laboratory. In the International segment this mainly included
acquisitions of dialysis clinics. In 2012, we invested approximately $1,879 in cash, $1,849 M in the North America
segment, primarily through the $1,697 M ($1,466 M net of divestitures) acquisition of Liberty see note 2. $28M in
the International segment and $2 M at Corporate. We received $18M and $264 M in conjunction with divesti-
tures in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

We anticipate capital expenditures of approximately $0.9BN and expect to make acquisitions of approxi-
mately $0.4 BN in 2014.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $808 M in 2013 compared to net cash provided by financing activities
of $468M in 2012.

In 2013, cash was used in the purchase of our shares through a share buyback program, the repayment of
portions of long-term debt and short-term borrowings, the payment of dividends, and distributions to non-
controlling interests, partially offset by proceeds from long-term and short-term borrowings, proceeds from
the draw-down under our accounts receivable facility, proceeds the exercise of stock options and proceeds of
a premium paid for the conversion of preference shares into ordinary shares by the largest former holder of
preference shares, a European financial institution. In 2012, cash was provided by the issuance of senior notes,
refinancing of the then-current Amended 2006 senior credit agreement by the 2012 credit agreement, exer-
cises of stock options, proceeds from short-term borrowings and short-term borrowings from related parties
as well as contributions from noncontrolling interests, partially offset by the repayment of long-term debt,
reduction of the amount outstanding under our accounts receivable securitization program, the payment of
dividends, distributions to noncontrolling interests as well as the repayment of short-term borrowings and
short-term borrowings from related parties.

On May 16, 2013, we held our AGM and a separate Preference Shareholder Meeting during which resolutions
on the conversion of our preference shares to ordinary shares were passed. The preference share conversion
was effected on June 28, 2013 with 3,975,533 preference shares in the amount of €3.9m ($4.5M) converted on
a 1:1 basis to ordinary shares. On July 5, 2013, the Company received a €27 M ($35 M) premium from the largest
former preference shareholder, a European financial institution, for the conversion of their preference shares
to ordinary shares. This amount was recorded as an increase in equity as of June 30, 2013 and the payment
was received during the third quarter of 2013.
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Additionally, our share buyback program started on May 20, 2013 and was completed on August 14, 2013. We
repurchased 7,548,951 shares in the amount of €385M ($505M). These shares are restricted treasury stock
which means there are no associated dividends or voting rights. These treasury shares will be used solely to
either reduce our registered share capital by cancellation of the acquired shares, or to fulfill our employee
participation programs.

On May 17, 2013, we paid a dividend with respect to 2012 of €0.75 per ordinary share (for 2011 paid in 2012:
€0.69) and €0.77 per then-outstanding preference share (for 2011 paid in 2012: €0.71). The total dividend pay-

ment was €230 M ($296 M) and €210 M ($272 M) in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company’s available sources of liquidity at December 31, 2013:

— T.3.2.6 Available sources of liquidity
inSM
Expiration per period of
less than
Total 1 year 1-3years 3-5years over5 years
Accounts receivable facility’ 383 - 383 - -
Revolving credit facility of the credit agreement 20122 1,073 - - 1,073 -
Other unused lines of credit 233 233 - - -
» Total 1,689 233 383 1,073 =

! Subject to availability of sufficient accounts receivable meeting funding criteria. At December 31, 2013, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the
amount of $66 M which reduces the availability under the accounts receivable facility to the amount shown in this table.

2 At December 31, 2013, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $9 M which reduces the availability under the revolving credit facility
to the amount shown in this table.

The amount of guarantees and other commercial commitments at December 31, 2013 was not significant.

At December 31, 2013, we had short-term borrowings, excluding the current portion of long-term debt, other
financial liabilities and short-term borrowings from related parties, in the total amount of $159 m.
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The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2013, our obligations and commitments to make future
payments under our long-term debt and other long-term obligations, and our commitments and obligations
under lines of credit and letters of credit.

— T.3.2.7 Contractual obligations and commitments?
inSM
Payments due by period of
less than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5years over5 years
Long-term debt? 10,151 852 1,932 4,088 3,279
Capital lease obligations 26 2 5 3 16
Operating leases 3,226 610 981 633 1,002
Unconditional purchase obligations 613 337 200 44 32
Other long-term obligations? 285 212 61 9 3
Letters of credit 75 = 66 9 =
» Total 14,376 2,013 3,245 4,786 4,332

" Our pension liabilities are not included in the table of contractual obligations and commitments. The regular or special funding of our pension plans may
adversely affect our liquidity in the future periods. The liability recognized in our consolidated financial statements may fluctuate significantly in future periods
due to changes in assumptions, in particular the discount rate, rate of future compensation increases and pension progression. Actual results could differ
from assumptions due to changing market, economic and governmental requlatory conditions, thereby resulting in an increase or decrease of the liability.
Employer contributions expected to be paid to the defined benefit plans during fiscal year 2014 are $42.6 M. For additional information regarding our pension
plans and expected payments for the next ten years see note 12.

Includes expected interest payments which are based upon the principal repayment schedules and fixed interest rates or estimated variable interest rates
considering the applicable interest rates (e.g. Libor, Prime), the applicable margins, and the effects of related interest rate swaps.

Other long-term obligations consist mainly of production asset acquisition commitments.

N

w

Our 2012 credit agreement, euro notes and senior notes include covenants that require us to maintain certain
financial ratios or meet other financial tests. Under our 2012 credit agreement, we are obligated to maintain
a minimum consolidated interest expense coverage ratio (ratio of EBITDA to net interest expense) and a max-
imum consolidated leverage ratio (ratio of consolidated funded debt to consolidated EBITDA) as these terms
are defined in the 2012 credit agreement. Other covenants in one or more of each of these agreements restrict
or have the effect of restricting our ability to dispose of assets, incur debt, pay dividends and make other
restricted payments, create liens or engage in sale-lease backs.

The breach of any of the covenants in any of the instruments or agreements governing our long-term debt —
2012 credit agreement, the euro notes or the senior notes — could, in turn, create additional defaults under
one or more of the other instruments or agreements. In default, the outstanding balance under the 2012
credit agreement becomes due at the option of the lenders under that agreement, and the “cross default”
provisions in our other long-term debt permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the debt upon such a
default as well. As of December 31, 2013, we were in compliance with all covenants under the 2012 credit
agreement and our other financing agreements. For information regarding our 2012 credit agreement, euro
notes and senior notes, see note 11.
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3.2
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL
POSITIONS AND BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE

Although we are not immune from the global financial crisis, we believe that we are well positioned to
continue to grow our business while meeting our financial obligations as they come due. Due to the non-
discretionary nature of the healthcare services we provide, the need for products utilized to provide such
services and the availability of government reimbursement for a substantial portion of our services, our busi-
ness is generally not cyclical. A substantial portion of our accounts receivable are generated by governmental
payers. While payment and collection practices vary significantly between countries and even between agen-
cies within one country, government payors usually represent low to moderate, credit risks. However, limited
or expensive access to capital could make it more difficult for our customers to do business with us, or to do
business generally, which could adversely affect our business by causing our customers to reduce or delay their
purchases of our dialysis products, see “Results of operations” section on page 173. If the current conditions in
the credit and equity markets continue, or worsen, they could also increase our financing costs and limit our
financial flexibility.

Our General Partner’'s Management Board will propose to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on
May 15, 2014, a dividend with respect to 2013 and payable in 2014, of €0.77 per ordinary share (for 2012 paid in
2013: €0.75). The total expected dividend payment is approximately €232 M (approximately $320 M based upon
the December 31, 2013 spot rate) compared to dividends of €230M ($296 M) paid in 2013 with respect to 2012.
The 2012 credit agreement provides for a limitation on dividends and other restricted payments which is
€330M ($455M based upon the December 31, 2013 spot rate) for dividends to be paid in 2014, and increases in
subsequent years.

Our 2014 principal financing needs are the w.R. Grace bankruptcy settlement payment of $115 M (paid on Feb-
ruary 3, 2014) see note 20, payments for our EIB loans, which were paid in February 2014, euro notes due in 2014,
as well as the quarterly payments under our 2012 credit agreement term loan facility. These payments as well
as our dividend payment of approximately $320 in May 2014, capital expenditures, and acquisition payments
are expected to be covered by our cash flows, by using existing credit facilities and if required additional debt
financing. We currently have sufficient flexibility under our debt covenants to meet our financing needs in the
near future. Generally, we believe that we will have sufficient financing to achieve our goals in the future and
to continue to promote our growth.

Balance sheet structure
Total assets as of December 31, 2013 increased to $23.1BN compared to $22.3BN at December 31, 2012. Current
assets as a percent of total assets remained constant at 27% at December 31, 2013 as compared to Decem-
ber 31, 2012. The equity ratio, the ratio of our equity divided by total liabilities and shareholders’ equity, re-
mained flat at 41% as compared to December 31, 2012.
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CHAPTER 3.3

(Quantitative and qualitative
disclosures about market risk

MARKET RISK

Our businesses operate in highly competitive markets and are subject to changes in business, economic and
competitive conditions. Our business is subject to:

» changes in reimbursement rates;
» intense competition;
» foreign exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations;
» varying degrees of acceptance of new product introductions;
» technological developments in our industry;
» uncertainties in litigation or investigative proceedings
and regulatory developments in the healthcare sector; and
» the availability of financing.

Our business is also subject to other risks and uncertainties that we describe from time to time in our public
filings. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to differ materially from the results that
we or others have projected or may project.

Reimbursement rates

Approximately 32% of our worldwide revenue for 2013 was for services rendered to patients covered by Medi-
care’s ESRD program and Medicaid. In order to be eligible for reimbursement by Medicare, ESRD facilities must
meet conditions for coverage established by cms. Additionally, government agencies may make changes in
program interpretations, requirements or conditions of participation, and retain the right to audit the accu-
racy of our computations of rebates and pricing, some of which may result in implications (such as recoup-
ment) for amounts previously estimated or paid which may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
revenues, profitability and financial condition.

We also obtain a significant portion of our net revenues from reimbursement by non-government payors.
Historically, these payors’ reimbursement rates generally have been higher than government program rates in
their respective countries. However, non-governmental payors are imposing cost containment measures that
are creating significant downward pressure on reimbursement levels that we receive for our services and
products.

Inflation

The effects of inflation during the periods covered by the consolidated financial statements have not been
significant to our results of operations. However, a major portion of our net revenues from dialysis care are
subject to reimbursement rates regulated by governmental authorities, and a significant portion of other
revenues, especially revenues from the u.s., is received from customers whose revenues are subject to these
regulated reimbursement rates. Non-governmental payors are also exerting downward pressure on reim-
bursement rates. Increased operation costs that are subject to inflation, such as labor and supply costs, may
not be recoverable through price increases in the absence of a compensating increase in reimbursement rates
payable to us and our customers, and could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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3.3
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Management of foreign exchange and interest rate risks
We are primarily exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates and changes in interest rates.
In order to manage the risks from these foreign exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations, we enter into
various hedging transactions, as authorized by the Management Board of the General Partner, with banks
which generally have ratings in the “A” category or better. We do not use financial instruments for trading or

other speculative purposes.

Fresenius S, as provided for under a service agreement, conducts financial instrument activity for us and its
other subsidiaries under the control of a single centralized department. Fresenius SE has established guide-
lines, that we have agreed to, for risk assessment procedures and controls for the use of financial instruments.
They include a clear segregation of duties with regard to execution on one side and administration, account-
ing and controlling on the other.

Foreign exchange risk

We conduct our business on a global basis in various currencies, although our operations are located princi-
pally in the United States and Germany. For financial reporting purposes, we have chosen the u.s. dollar as
our reporting currency. Therefore, changes in the rate of exchange between the u.s. dollar and the local
currencies in which the financial statements of our international operations are maintained, affect our results
of operations and financial position as reported in our consolidated financial statements. We have consoli-
dated the balance sheets of our non-u.s. dollar denominated operations into u.s. dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period.

Our exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates to transactions such as sales and
purchases. We have significant amounts of sales of products invoiced in euro from our European manufactur-
ing facilities to our other international operations. This exposes our subsidiaries to fluctuations in the rate of
exchange between the euro and the currency in which their local operations are conducted. For the purpose
of hedging existing and foreseeable foreign exchange transaction exposures we enter into foreign exchange
forward contracts and, on a small scale, foreign exchange options. Our policy, which has been consistently
followed, is that foreign exchange rate derivatives be used only for purposes of hedging foreign currency
exposures. We have not used such instruments for purposes other than hedging.

In connection with intercompany loans in foreign currency, we normally use foreign exchange swaps thus
assuring that no foreign exchange risks arise from those loans.

The Company is exposed to potential losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to financial
instruments. We do not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. The current credit exposure
of foreign exchange derivatives is represented by the fair value of those contracts with a positive fair value at
the reporting date. The table below provides information about our foreign exchange forward contracts at
December 31, 2013. The information is provided in u.s. dollar equivalent amounts. The table presents the no-
tional amounts by year of maturity, the fair values of the contracts, which show the unrealized net gain (loss)
on existing contracts as of December 31, 2013, and the credit risk inherent to those contracts with positive
market values as of December 31, 2013. All contracts expire within 23 months after the reporting date.
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3.3

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE

DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign currency risk management

in S M, December 31

Nominal amount

Fair Credit

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Total value risk

Purchase of € against $ 74 5 - - - 79 4 3

Sale of € against $ 840 - - - - 840 (18) -

Purchase of € against others 557 63 - - - 620 8 14

Sale of € against others 147 30 - - - 177 (2) 1
Others 36 0 - - - 36 0

» Total 1,654 98 = - - 1,752 (8) 18

A summary of the high and low exchange rates for the euro to u.s. dollars and the average exchange rates
for the last five years is set forth below. The European Central Bank (ECB) determines such rates (reference
rates) based on the regular daily averaging of rates between central banks within and outside the European
banking system. The EcB normally publishes the reference rates daily at 2:15 p.m. (CET). In preparing our con-
solidated financial statements and in converting certain u.s. dollar amounts in this report, we have used the
year's average reference rate of $1.3281 or year’s close reference rate of $1.3791 per €1.00.

— T.3.3.2 Exchange rates
S per €

Year's high Year's low Year's average Year's close
2013 1.3814 1.2768 1.3281 1.3791
2012 1.3454 1.2089 1.2848 1.3194
2011 1.4882 1.2889 1.3920 1.2939
2010 1.4563 1.1942 1.3259 1.3362
2009 1.5120 1.2555 1.3948 1.4406

The reference rate on February 19, 2014 was $1.3745 per €1.00.
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3.3
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Cash-Flow-at-Risk model
We use a Cash-Flow-at-Risk (CFaR) model in order to estimate and quantify transaction risks from foreign
currencies. The basis for the analysis of the currency risk is the foreign currency cash flows that are reasonably
expected to arise within the following twelve months, less any hedges. As of December 31, 2013, the Compa-
ny’s cash flow at risk amounts to $50.5M; this means the potential loss in relation to the forecasted foreign
exchange cash flows of the next twelve months has a 95% probability of not being higher than $50.5m.

Significant influence on the Company’s foreign currency risk is exerted by the Chinese renminbi, the u.s. dollar,
the Russian ruble, the South Korean won, and the Turkish lira. The following table shows the Company’s most
significant net positions in foreign currencies.

— T.3.3.3 Net positions in foreign currencies
in S M, December 31

2013
CNY 232
usb 133
RUB 102
KRW 67
TRY 52

Interest rate exposure
We are exposed to changes in interest rates that affect our variable-rate borrowings. We enter into debt
obligations including accounts receivable securitizations to support our general corporate purposes such as
capital expenditures and working capital needs. Consequently, we enter into derivatives, particularly interest
rate swaps to protect interest rate exposures arising from borrowings at floating rates by effectively swapping
them into fixed rates.

These interest rate derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges and have been entered into in order to
effectively convert payments based on variable interest rates into payments at a fixed rate. The euro-denom-
inated interest rate swaps expire in 2016 and have an interest rate of 1.73%.

As of December 31, 2013, the notional amount of euro-denominated interest rate swaps in place was €100 M
($138 M). Interest payable and interest receivable under the swap agreements are accrued and recorded as an
adjustment to interest expense at each reporting date. At December 31, 2013, the negative fair value of our
interest rate agreements is $4 M.

The table below presents principal amounts and related weighted average interest rates by year of maturity
for interest rate swaps and for our significant debt obligations.
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3.3
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

— T.3.3.4 Interest rate exposure
inSM
Fair Value
Dec. 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018  Thereafter Total 2013
Floating rate $ debt
Principal payments
on senior credit agreement
Variable interest rate = 2.00% 200 200 200 2,038 = = 2,638 2,641
Accounts receivable
securitization programs
Variable interest rate = 0.22% = = 351 = = = 351 351
Floating rate € debt
Principal payments on
senior credit agreement
Variable interest rate = 1.95% = = = 69 = = 69 69
Euro notes 2009/2014
Variable interest rate = 5.843% 32 = = = = = 32 32
EIB loan
Variable interest rate = 1.00% 193 = = = = = 193 193
Senior notes 2011/2016
Variable interest rate = 3.73% = = 138 = = = 138 144
Fixed rate $ debt
Senior notes 2007/2017
Fixed interest rate = 6.875% = = = 497 = = 497 569
Senior notes 2011/2018
Fixed interest rate = 6.50% = = = = 396 = 396 453
Senior notes 2011/2021
Fixed interest rate = 5.75% = = = = = 646 646 691
Senior notes 2012/2019
Fixed interest rate = 5.625% = = = = = 800 800 864
Senior notes 2012/2022
Fixed interest rate = 5.875% = = = = = 700 700 742
Fixed rate € debt
Euro notes 2009/2014
Fixed interest rate = 8.3835% 15 = = = = = 15 15
Senior notes 2010/2016
Fixed interest rate = 5.50% = = 343 = = = 343 381
Senior notes 2011/2018
Fixed interest rate = 6.50% = = = = 547 = 547 650
Senior notes 2011/2021
Fixed interest rate = 5.25% = = = = = 414 414 465
Senior notes 2012/2019
Fixed interest rate = 5.25% = = = = = 345 345 390
Interest rate derivatives
€ Payer swaps notional amount - - 138 - - - 138 (4)
Average fixed pay rate = 1.73% - - 1.73% - - - - -

Receive rate = 3-month EURIBOR

All variable interest rates depicted above are as of December 31, 2013.
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3.3
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

For purposes of analyzing the impact of changes in the relevant reference interest rates on the Company’s
results of operations, the Company calculates the portion of financial debt which bears variable interest and
which has not been hedged by means of interest rate swaps or options against rising interest rates. For this
particular portion of its liabilities, the Company assumes an increase in the reference rates of 0.5% compared
to the actual rates as of reporting date. The corresponding additional annual interest expense is then com-
pared to the Company’s net income. This analysis shows that an increase of 0.5% in the relevant reference
rates would have an effect of approximately 1% on the consolidated net income of the Company.
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CHAPTER 4.1

Consolidated statements of income
in $THOUS, except share data

Income

» Fully diluted earnings per share

Note 2013 2012
Net revenue
Dialysis care 11,414,734 10,772,124
Less: patient service bad debt provision 284,648 280,365
Net dialysis care 11,130,086 10,491,759
Dialysis products 3,479,641 3,308,523
» Total 24 14,609,727 13,800,282
Costs of revenue
Dialysis care 8,266,635 7,649,514
Dialysis products 1,604,695 1,549,515
» Total 9,871,330 9,199,029
Gross profit 4,738,397 4,601,253
Operating (income) expenses
Selling, general and administrative 2,391,927 2,224,715
Gain on sale of dialysis clinics 2 (9,426) (36,224)
Research and development 125,805 111,631
Income from equity method investees 24 (26,105) (17,442)
Other operating expenses = 100,000
» Operating income 2,256,196 2,218,573
Other (income) expense
Investment gain 2 - (139,600)
Interest income (38,942) (44,474)
Interest expense 447,503 470,534
Income before income taxes 1,847,635 1,932,113
Income tax expense 18 592,012 605,136
Net income 1,255,623 1,326,977
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 145,733 140,168
» Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 1,109,890 1,186,809
» Basic income per share 16 3.65 3.89

16 3.65 3.87

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CHAPTER 4.2

Consolidated statements
of comprehensive income

— T.4.21 ————— Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
in $ THOUS
Note 2013 2012

» Net income 1,255,623 1,326,977
Gain (loss) related to cash flow hedges 21, 22 22,532 24,019
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans 12, 22 64,989 (103,178)
Gain (loss) related to foreign currency translation 22 (114,439) 63,803
Income tax (expense) benefit related to components of other comprehensive income 21, 22 (33,600) 8,831
» Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 22 (60,518) (6,525)
» Total comprehensive income 1,195,105 1,320,452
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 143,689 139,989
» Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders

of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 1,051,416 1,180,463
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CHAPTER 4.3
Consolidated balance sheets
ted bal heet
— T.4.3.1 Consolidated balance sheets
in STHOUS, except share data, December 31

Assets Note 2013 2012
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 682,777 688,040
Trade accounts receivable less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $413,165 in 2013 and $328,893 in 2012 3,037,274 3,019,424
Accounts receivable from related parties 3 153,118 137,809
Inventories 4 1,097,104 1,036,809
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5 1,037,391 977,537
Deferred taxes 18 279,052 267,837
» Total current assets 6,286,716 6,127,456
Property, plant and equipment, net 6 3,091,954 2,940,603
Intangible assets 7 757,876 710,116
Goodwill 7 11,658,187 11,421,889
Deferred taxes 18 104,167 89,152
Investment in equity method investees 24 664,446 637,373
Other assets and notes receivables 8 556,560 399,409
» Total assets 23,119,906 22,325,998

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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4.3
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

— T.4.3.1 Consolidated balance sheets
in $THOUS, except share data, December 31

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity Note 2013 2012
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 542,597 622,294
Accounts payable to related parties 3 123,929 123,350
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 9 2,012,533 1,787,471

Short-term borrowings and other financial liabilities 10 96,648 117,850
Short-term borrowings from related parties 3 62,342 3,973

Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 11 511,370 334,747

Income tax payable 170,360 150,003

Deferred taxes 18 34,194 30,303

» Total current liabilities 3,553,973 3,169,991

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 11 7,746,920 7,785,740
Long-term debt from related parties - 56,174
Other liabilities 329,561 260,257

Pension liabilities 12 435,858 457,673

Income tax payable 176,933 201,642

Deferred taxes 18 743,390 664,001

» Total liabilities 12,986,635 12,595,478
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions 13 648,251 523,260
Shareholders’ equity

Preference shares, no par value, €1.00 nominal value 14 - 4,462
Ordinary shares, no par value, €1.00 nominal value, 392,462,972 shares authorized,

308,995,730 issued and 301,446,779 outstanding 14 382,411 374,915
Treasury stock, at cost 14 (505,014) -
Additional paid-in capital 14 3,530,337 3,491,581

Retained earnings 14 6,377,417 5,563,661

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income 22 (550,587) (492,113)
» Total FMC AG & Co. KGaA shareholders’ equity 9,234,564 8,942,506
Noncontrolling interests not subject to put provisions 250,456 264,754
» Total equity 9,485,020 9,207,260
» Total liabilities and equity 23,119,906 22,325,998

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CHAPTER 4.4

Consolidated statements of cash flows

in S THOUS

— T.4.4.1 Consolidated statements of cash flows

Note 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net income 1,255,623 1,326,977
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,7, 24 648,225 602,896
Change in deferred taxes, net 15,913 75,170
(Gain) loss on sale of investments (9,426) (36,224)
(Gain) loss on sale of fixed assets (23,558) 6,700
Investment (gain) 2 = (139,600)
Compensation expense related to stock options 17 13,593 26,476
Cash inflow (outflow) from hedging (4,073) (13,947)
Investments in equity method investees, net 2,335 22,512
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of amounts from
businesses acquired:
Trade accounts receivable, net (41,280) (43,344)
Inventories (54,918) (48,279)
Prepaid expenses, other current and non-current assets 67,875 88,413
Accounts receivable from related parties (10,968) (25,859)
Accounts payable to related parties (3,743) 10,064
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current and non-current liabilities 215,264 225,586
Income tax payable (36,057) (38,478)
» Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,034,805 2,039,063

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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4.4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

— T.4.4.1 Consolidated statements of cash flows
in $ THOUS

Note 2013 2012
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 24 (747,938) (675,310)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 19,847 9,667

2,8,
Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired, and purchases of intangible assets 23,24 (495,725) (1,878,908)
Proceeds from divestitures 18,276 263,306
» Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,205,540)  (2,281,245)
Financing activities
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 381,603 174,391
Repayments of short-term borrowings (397,682) (163,059)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings from related parties 18,593 39,829
Repayments of short-term borrowings from related parties (18,228) (64,112)
Proceeds from long-term debt and capital lease obligations
(net of debt issuance costs and other hedging costs of $178,593 in 2012) 441,278 4,750,730
Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (617,499) (3,589,013)
Increase (decrease) of accounts receivable securitization program 189,250 (372,500)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 111,300 121,126
Proceeds from conversion of preference shares into ordinary shares 14 34,784 -
Purchase of treasury stock 14 (505,014) =
Dividends paid 14 (296,134) (271,733)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (216,758) (195,023)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests 66,467 37,704
» Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (808,040) 468,340
» Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (26,488) 4,590
Cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,263) 230,748
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 688,040 457,292
» Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 682,777 688,040

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CHAPTER 4.5

Consolidated statement

of shareholders’ equity

— T.4.5.1

» Balance at

December 31, 2011

Consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity

in $ THOUS, except share data

Preference shares

Ordinary shares

Treasury stock

Number of
shares

No par

Note value

3,965,691 4,452

Number of
shares

No par
value

300,164,922 371,649

Number of
shares

Amount

Proceeds from exercise of options
and related tax effects

17 7,642 10

2,574,836 3,266

Compensation expense related
to stock options

Dividends paid

Purchase/sale of noncontrolling
interests

Contributions from/to
noncontrolling interests

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling
interests subject to put provisions

Net income

Other comprehensive income (loss)

22 - -

Comprehensive income

» Balance at

December 31, 2012

3,973,333 4,462

302,739,758 374,915

Proceeds from exercise of options
and related tax effects

17 2,200 3

2,280,439 3,031

Proceeds from conversion of prefer-
ence shares into ordinary shares

B

(3,975,533) (4,465)

3,975,533 4,465

Compensation expense related to
stock options

Purchase of treasury stock

(7,548,951)

(505,014)

Dividends paid

Purchase/sale of noncontrolling
interests

Contributions from/to
noncontrolling interests

Changes in fair value of noncontrolling
interests subject to put provisions

Net income

Other comprehensive income (loss)

22 - -

Comprehensive income

» Balance at

December 31, 2013

308,995,730 382,411

(7,548,951)

(505,014)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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4.5

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

— T.4.5.1 Consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity

in $ THOUS, except share data

Total Non-
FMC AG & controlling
Accumulated Co. KGaA interests
Additional other com- share- not subject
paid in Retained prehensive holders’ to put
Note capital earnings  income (loss) equity provisions Total
» Balance at
December 31, 2011 3,362,633 4,648,585 (485,767) 7,901,552 159,465 8,061,017
Proceeds from exercise of options
and related tax effects 17 110,510 - - 113,786 - 113,786
Compensation expense related
to stock options 17 26,476 = = 26,476 = 26,476
Dividends paid 14 = (271,733) = (271,733) = (271,733)
Purchase/sale of noncontrolling
interests (26,918) - = (26,918) 86,705 59,787
Contributions from/to
noncontrolling interests = = = = (26,428) (26,428)
Changes in fair value of noncontrolling
interests subject to put provisions 13 18,880 = = 18,880 = 18,880
Net income - 1,186,809 - 1,186,809 45,450 1,232,259
Other comprehensive income (loss) 22 - - (6,346) (6,346) (438) (6,784)
Comprehensive income = = = 1,180,463 45,012 1,225,475
» Balance at
December 31, 2012 3,491,581 5,563,661 (492,113) 8,942,506 264,754 9,207,260
Proceeds from exercise of options
and related tax effects 17 102,520 = = 105,554 = 105,554
Proceeds from conversion of prefer-
ence shares into ordinary shares 14 34,784 - - 34,784 - 34,784
Compensation expense related to
stock options 17 13,593 = = 13,593 = 13,593
Purchase of treasury stock 14 - - - (505,014) - (505,014)
Dividends paid 14 = (296,134) = (296,134) = (296,134)
Purchase/sale of noncontrolling
interests (3,566) - - (3,566) (11,607) (15,173)
Contributions from/to
noncontrolling interests = = = = (32,275) (32,275)
Changes in fair value of noncontrolling
interests subject to put provisions 13 (108,575) = = (108,575) = (108,575)
Net income - 1,109,890 = 1,109,890 32,577 1,142,467
Other comprehensive income (loss) 22 - - (58,474) (58,474) (2,993) (61,467)
Comprehensive income = = = 1,051,416 29,584 1,081,000
» Balance at
December 31, 2013 3,530,337 6,377,417 (550,587) 9,234,564 250,456 9,485,020

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CHAPTER 4.6

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Unless otherwise noted, numbers are stated in thousands, except share data.

1. THE COMPANY AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company

Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA (FMC AG & CO. KGAA or the “Company”), a German partnership limited
by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien), is the world’s largest kidney dialysis company, operating in
both the field of dialysis care and the field of dialysis products for the treatment of end-stage renal disease
(ESRD). The Company’s dialysis care business, in addition to providing dialysis treatments, includes pharmacy
services and vascular access surgery services (together, the expanded services). The Company’s dialysis prod-
ucts business includes manufacturing and distributing products for the treatment of EsrRp. The Company’s
dialysis business is vertically integrated, providing dialysis treatment at dialysis clinics it owns or operates and
supplying these clinics with a broad range of products. In addition, the Company sells dialysis products to
other dialysis service providers. In the United States (u.s.) the Company also provides laboratory testing ser-
vices, and inpatient dialysis services as well as other services under contract to hospitals.

In these notes, “FMC AG & CO. KGAA,” or the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refers to the Company or the
Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as the context requires. The term “North America seg-
ment” refers to the North America operating segment. The term “International segment” refers to the com-
bined Europe, Middle East, Africa and Latin America (EMEALA) operating segment and the Asia-Pacific operat-
ing segment. For further discussion of our operating segments see note 24.

Basis of presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the United
States’ generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with u.s. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Such
financial statements reflect all adjustments that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair pre-
sentation of the results of the periods presented. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.

Certain items in the prior years’ comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to con-
form to the current year’s presentation. Pension liabilities in the amount of $34,312 for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2012 have been reclassified from “other liabilities” to “pension liabilities” within the consolidated bal-
ance sheet to appropriately depict the Company’s pension plans outside of Germany and the uU.S. see note 12.
Deferred tax assets in the amount of $39,776 and $44,601 for the current and non-current portions of deferred
taxes have also been reclassified from “deferred taxes (current)” and “deferred taxes (non-current)” to
“Prepaids and other current assets” and “Other assets and notes receivable”, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2012 to conform to the current year’s presentation for the deferred tax effects on intercompany
sales and purchases of assets see note 18.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the earnings of all companies in which the Company has legal
or effective control. This includes variable interest entities (vies) for which the Company is deemed the primary
beneficiary. In accordance with current accounting principles, the Company also consolidates certain clinics
that it manages and financially controls. Noncontrolling interests represent the proportionate equity interests
in the Company’s consolidated entities that are not wholly owned by the Company. Noncontrolling interests
of acquired entities are valued at fair value. The equity method of accounting is used for investments in asso-
ciated companies over which the Company has significant exercisable influence, even when the Company
holds 50% or less of the common stock of the entity. All significant intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated.

The Company has entered into various arrangements with certain dialysis clinics and a dialysis product distrib-
utor to provide management services, financing and product supply. The dialysis clinics and the dialysis prod-
uct distributor have either negative equity or are unable to provide their own funding for their operations.
Therefore, the Company has agreed to fund their operations through loans. The compensation for the fund-
ing can carry interest, exclusive product supply agreements, or entitle the Company to a pro rata share of
profits, if any. The Company has a right of first refusal in the event the owners sell the business or assets.
These clinics and the dialysis product distributor are vies in which the Company has been determined to be
the primary beneficiary and which therefore have been fully consolidated. All vies generated approximately
$203,333, $205,858 in revenue in 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company provided funding to vies through
loans and accounts receivable of $150,300 and $146,500 in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of vies at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

— T.4.6.1 Carrying amounts VIEs
in $ THOUS

2013 2012
Trade accounts receivable, net 102,549 99,061
Other current assets 59,695 57,741
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets & other non-current assets 26,274 26,823
Goodwill 32,759 31,678
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 133,977 122,891
Non-current loans to related parties 12,998 12,998
Equity 74,302 79,414
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b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds and all short-term, liquid investments with original maturities
of up to three months.

c) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined by using the average or first-in, first-out method) or
market value see note 4. Costs included in inventories are based on invoiced costs and/or production costs or the
marked to market valuation, as applicable. Included in production costs are material, direct labor and produc-
tion overhead, including depreciation charges.

d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation see note 6. Significant improve-
ments are capitalized; repairs and maintenance costs that do not extend the useful lives of the assets are
charged to expense as incurred. Property and equipment under capital leases are stated at the present value
of future minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation
on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the assets ranging from 3 to 40 years for buildings and improvements with a weighted average life of
13 years and 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment with a weighted average life of 10 years. Equipment
held under capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Internal use platform software that is
integral to the computer equipment it supports is included in property, plant and equipment. The Company
capitalizes interest on borrowed funds during construction periods. Interest capitalized during 2013 and 2012
was $7,358 and $3,952, respectively.

e) Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets such as non-compete agreements, technology, distribution rights, patents, licenses to treat,
licenses to manufacture, distribute and sell pharmaceutical drugs, exclusive contracts and exclusive licenses,
trade names, management contracts, application software, acute care agreements, customer relationships,
lease agreements, and licenses acquired in a business combination are recognized and reported apart from
gOOdWiH see note 7.

Goodwill and identifiable intangibles with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but tested for impairment
annually or when an event becomes known that could trigger an impairment. The Company identified trade
names and certain qualified management contracts as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives because,
based on an analysis of all of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which those
assets are expected to generate net cash inflows for the Company. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortized over their respective useful lives to their residual values. The Company amortizes non-compete
agreements over their useful life which on average is 8 years. Technology is amortized over its useful life of
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16 years. Licenses to manufacture, distribute and sell pharmaceutical drugs, exclusive contracts and exclusive
licenses are amortized over their useful life which on average is 9 years. Customer relationships are amortized
over their useful life of 15 years. All other intangible assets are amortized over their weighted average useful
lives of 7 years. The weighted average useful life of all amortizable intangible assets is 9 years. Intangible as-
sets with finite useful lives are evaluated for impairment when events have occurred that may give rise to an
impairment.

To perform the annual impairment test of goodwill, the Company identified its reporting units and deter-
mined their carrying value by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangi-
ble assets, to those reporting units. One reporting unit was identified in the North America segment. The
EMEALA operating segment is divided into two reporting units (Europe and Latin America), while only one
reporting unit exists in the operating segment Asia-Pacific. For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing,
all corporate assets are allocated to the reporting units.

In a first step, the Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount. Fair value is
determined using estimated future cash flows for the unit discounted by an after-tax weighted average cost
of capital (WAcQ) specific to that reporting unit. Estimating the future cash flows involves significant assump-
tions, especially regarding future reimbursement rates and sales prices, number of treatments, sales volumes
and costs. In determining discounted cash flows, the Company utilizes for every reporting unit, its three-year
budget, projections for years 4 to 10 and a representative growth rate for all remaining years. Projections for
up to ten years are possible due to the stability of the Company’s business which, results from the non-dis-
cretionary nature of the healthcare services we provide, the need for products utilized to provide such services
and the availability of government reimbursement for a substantial portion of our services. The reporting
units’ respective expected growth rates for the period beyond ten years are: North America segment 1%, Eu-
rope 0%, Latin America 4%, and Asia-Pacific 4%. The discount factor is determined by the wacc of the
respective reporting unit. The Company’s WACC consisted of a basic rate of 6.17% for 2013. The basic rate is
then adjusted by a country-specific risk rate and, if appropriate, by a factor to reflect higher risks associated
with the cash flows from recent material acquisitions, until they are appropriately integrated, within each
reporting unit. In 2013, wAccs for the reporting units ranged from 6.12% to 13.83%.

In the case that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a second step would be
performed which compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill to the carrying value of its
goodwill. If the fair value of the goodwill is less than the carrying value, the difference is recorded as an
impairment.

To evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, the Company compares the fair

values of intangible assets with their carrying values. An intangible asset’s fair value is determined using a
discounted cash flow approach or other methods, if appropriate.
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f) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, which primarily include foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate
swaps, are recognized as assets or liabilities at fair value in the balance sheet see note 21. Changes in the fair
value of derivative financial instruments classified as fair value hedges and in the corresponding underlying
assets and liabilities are recognized periodically in earnings, while the effective portion of changes in fair
value of derivative financial instruments classified as cash flow hedges is recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) (Aocl) in shareholders’ equity. The ineffective portion is recognized in current
net earnings. The change in fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded
in the income statement and usually offset the changes in value recorded in the income statement for the
underlying asset or liability.

g) Foreign currency translation
For purposes of these consolidated financial statements, the u.s. dollar is the reporting currency. Substantially
all assets and liabilities of the parent company and all non-u.s. subsidiaries are translated at year-end ex-
change rates, while revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. Adjustments for foreign
currency translation fluctuations are excluded from net earnings and are reported in Aocl. In addition, the
translation adjustments of certain intercompany borrowings, which are of a long-term nature, are reported
in AOCI.

h) Revenue recognition and allowance for doubtful accounts

Revenue recognition
Dialysis care revenues are recognized on the date the patient receives treatment and includes amounts related
to certain services, products and supplies utilized in providing such treatment. The patient is obligated to pay
for dialysis care services at amounts estimated to be receivable based upon the Company'’s standard rates or
at rates determined under reimbursement arrangements. In the u.s., these arrangements are generally with
third party payors, like Medicare, Medicaid or commercial insurers. Outside the u.s., the reimbursement is
usually made through national or local government programs with reimbursement rates established by statute
or regulation.

Dialysis product revenues are recognized upon transfer of title to the customer, either at the time of shipment,
upon receipt or upon any other terms that clearly define passage of title. Product revenues are normally based
upon pre-determined rates that are established by contractual arrangement.

For both dialysis care revenues and dialysis product revenues, patients, third party payors and customers are

billed at our standard rates net of contractual allowances, discounts or rebates to reflect the estimated
amounts to be receivable from these payors.
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As of January 1, 2012, the Company adopted Asu 2011-07, Health Care Entities-Presentation and Disclosure of
Patient Service Revenue, Provision for Bad Debts, and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and as a result,
for services performed for patients where the collection of the billed amount or a portion of the billed amount
cannot be determined at the time services are performed, the difference between the receivable recorded and
the amount estimated to be collectible must be recorded as a provision and the expense is presented as a
reduction of dialysis care revenue. The provision includes such items as amounts due from patients without
adequate insurance coverage and patient co-payment and deductible amounts due from patients with health-
care coverage. The Company bases the provision mainly on past collection history and reports it as “Patient
service bad debt provision” on the consolidated statements of income.

A minor portion of International segment product revenues is generated from arrangements which give the
customer, typically a healthcare provider, the right to use dialysis machines. In the same contract the customer
agrees to purchase the related treatment disposables at a price marked up from the standard price list. If the
right to use the machine is conveyed through an operating lease, FMC AG & CO. KGAA does not recognize rev-
enue upon delivery of the dialysis machine but recognizes revenue on the sale of disposables. If the lease of
the machines is a sales type lease, ownership of the dialysis machine is transferred to the user upon installa-
tion of the dialysis machine at the customer site. In this type of contract, revenue is recognized in accordance
with the accounting principles for sales type leases.

Any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is incurred as a result of a revenue transaction (e.g. sales
tax) is excluded from revenues and the related revenue is reported on a net basis.

Allowance for doubtful accounts
In the North America segment for receivables generated from dialysis care services, the accounting for the
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on an analysis of collection experience and recognizing the differ-
ences between payors. The Company also performs an aging of accounts receivable which enables the review
of each customer and their payment pattern. From time to time, accounts receivable are reviewed for changes
from the historic collection experience to ensure the appropriateness of the allowances.

The allowance for doubtful accounts in the International segment and the North America segment dialysis
products business is an estimate comprised of customer specific evaluations regarding their payment history,
current financial stability, and applicable country specific risks for receivables that are overdue more than one
year. The changes in the allowance for these receivables are recorded in selling, general and administrative as
an expense.

When all efforts to collect a receivable, including the use of outside sources where required and allowed,

have been exhausted, and after appropriate management review, a receivable deemed to be uncollectible is
considered a bad debt and written off.
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i) Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred.

j) Income taxes

Current taxes are calculated based on the profit (loss) of the fiscal year and in accordance with local tax rules
of the respective tax jurisdictions. Expected and executed additional tax payments and tax refunds for prior
years are also taken into account. Benefits from income tax positions have been recognized only when it
was more likely than not that the Company would be entitled to the economic benefits of the tax positions.
The more-likely-than-not threshold has been determined based on the technical merits that the position will
be sustained upon examination. If a tax position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, man-
agement estimates the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than fifty percent likely to be realized
upon settlement with a taxing authority, which becomes the amount of benefit recognized. If a tax position
is not considered more likely than not to be sustained based solely on its technical merits, no benefits are
recognized.

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for future consequences attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax basis, tax credits and tax loss carryforwards which are more likely than not to be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the respective countries enacted tax rates to be applied
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
In addition, the recognition of deferred tax assets considers the budget planning of the Company and imple-
mented tax strategies. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the deferred tax
assets unless it is more likely than not that such assets will be realized see note 18.

It is the Company’s policy that assets on uncertain tax positions are recognized to the extent it is more likely
than not the tax will be recovered. It is also the Company’s policy to recognize interest and penalties related
to its tax positions as income tax expense.

k) Impairment

The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets or asset groups with definite useful lives to be
held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of these assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the
carrying value of an asset to the future net cash flows directly associated with the asset. If assets are consid-
ered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair
value of the asset. The Company uses a discounted cash flow approach or other methods, if appropriate, to
assess fair value.

Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale are reported at the lower of carrying value or fair value less cost
to sell and depreciation is ceased. Long-lived assets to be disposed of other than by sale are considered to be

held and used until disposal.

For the Company’s policy related to goodwill impairment see note 1e.
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1) Debt issuance costs
Certain costs related to the issuance of debt are amortized over the term of the related obligation see note 11.

m) Self-insurance programs

Under the insurance programs for professional, product and general liability, auto liability and worker’s com-
pensation claims, the Company’s largest subsidiary is partially self-insured for professional liability claims. For
all other coverage, the Company assumes responsibility for incurred claims up to predetermined amounts
above which third party insurance applies. Reported liabilities for the year represent estimated future pay-
ments of the anticipated expense for claims incurred (both reported and incurred but not reported) based on
historical experience and existing claim activity. This experience includes both the rate of claims incidence
(number) and claim severity (cost) and is combined with individual claim expectations to estimate the reported
amounts.

n) Concentration of risk
The Company is engaged in the manufacture and sale of products for all forms of kidney dialysis, principally
to healthcare providers throughout the world, and in providing kidney dialysis treatment, clinical laboratory
testing, and other medical ancillary services. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers’
financial condition and, generally, requires no collateral.

Approximately 32% and 32% of the Company’s worldwide revenues were earned and subject to regulations
under Medicare and Medicaid, governmental healthcare programs administered by the United States govern-
ment in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

No single debtor other than u.s. Medicaid and Medicare accounted for more than 5% of total trade accounts
receivable in any of these years. Trade accounts receivable in the International segment are for a large part
due from government or government-sponsored organizations that are established in the various countries
within which we operate. Amounts pending approval from third party payors represent less than 3% at
December 31, 2013 see note 4.

o) Legal contingencies

From time to time, during the ordinary course of the Company’s operations, the Company is party to litigation
and arbitration and is subject to investigations relating to various aspects of its business see note 20. The
Company regularly analyzes current information about such claims for probable losses and provides accruals
for such matters, including the estimated legal expenses and consulting services in connection with these
matters, as appropriate. The Company utilizes its internal legal department as well as external resources for
these assessments. In making the decision regarding the need for loss accrual, the Company considers the
degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and its ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount
of loss.

The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim or assessment, or the disclosure of any such suit or assertion,
does not necessarily indicate that accrual of a loss is appropriate.
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p) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to shareholders by the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the year. Prior to the conversion of preference shares to ordi-
nary shares during the second quarter of 2013, basic earnings per share was computed according to the two-
class method by dividing net income attributable to shareholders, less preference amounts, by the weighted
number of ordinary and preference shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share include the
effect of all potentially dilutive instruments on ordinary shares and previously outstanding preference shares
that would have been outstanding during the years presented had the dilutive instruments been issued.

Equity-settled awards granted under the Company’s stock incentive plans see note 17, are potentially dilutive
equity instruments.

q) Treasury stock
The Company may, from time to time, acquire its own shares (treasury stock) as approved by its shareholders.
The acquisition, sale or retirement of its treasury stock is recorded separately in equity. For the calculation of
basic earnings per share, treasury stock is not considered outstanding and is therefore deducted from the
number of shares outstanding with the value of such treasury stock shown as a reduction of the Company’s
equity.

r) Employee benefit plans

For the Company’'s funded benefit plans, the defined benefit obligation is offset against the fair value of plan
assets (funded status). A pension liability is recognized in the consolidated balance sheets if the defined ben-
efit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets. A pension asset is recognized (and reported under other
assets in the balance sheet) if the fair value of plan assets exceeds the defined benefit obligation and if the
Company has a right of reimbursement against the fund or a right to reduce future payments to the fund.
Changes in the funded status of a plan resulting from actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or cred-
its that are not recognized as components of the net periodic benefit cost are recognized through accumu-
lated other comprehensive income, net of tax, in the year in which they occur. Actuarial gains or losses and
prior service costs are subsequently recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost when realized. The
Company uses December 31 as the measurement date when measuring the funded status of all plans.

s) Recent pronouncements

Recently implemented accounting pronouncements
On January 31, 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-01 (ASU 2013-01) an update to Balance
Sheet (Topic 210), Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities (Topic 210). The
main purpose of Asu 2013-01 is to clarify the scope of balance sheet offsetting under Topic 210 to include de-
rivatives, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities
lending transactions that are offset or subject to master netting agreements. The disclosures required under
Topic 210 would apply to these transactions and other types of financial assets or liabilities will no longer be
subject to Topic 210. The update is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning
on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not utilize balance sheet offsetting for its derivative transac-
tiOI’]S, see note 21.
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Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

On February 28, 2013 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-04 (ASU 2013-04) Liabilities (Topic 405),
Obligations Resulting from Joint and Several Liability Arrangements for which the Total Amount of the Obli-
gations is Fixed at the Reporting Date. Asu 2013-04's objective is to provide guidance and clarification on the
recognition, measurement and disclosure of obligations resulting from joint and several liability arrangements
such as debt arrangements, other contractual obligations and settled litigation and judicial rulings. The up-
date is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning on or after December 15,
2013. The Company will adopt Asu 2013-04 as of January 1, 2014. The Company has determined that the impact
will be the inclusion of a disclosure within the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On March 4, 2013 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-05 (ASU 2013-05) Foreign Currency Matters
(Topic 830), Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain
Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity. The purpose
of Asu 2013-05 is to provide clarification and further refinement regarding the treatment of the release of a
cumulative translation adjustment into net income. This occurs in instances where the parent sells either a
part or all of its investment in a foreign entity, as well as when a company ceases to hold a controlling inter-
est in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or business within a foreign entity. The update
is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning on or after December 15, 2013.
The Company will adopt Asu 2013-05 as of January 1, 2014. Asu 2013-05 will not have a material impact on the
Company and its consolidated financial statements.

On July 17, 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-10 (ASU 2013-10) Derivatives and Hedging (Topic
815), Inclusion of the Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate (or Overnight Index Swap Rate) as a Benchmark Interest
Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes. The purpose of 2013-10 is to provide the inclusion of the Fed Funds
Effective Swap Rate as a u.s. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes. This rate will now be
available to use along with u.s. government interest rates and the London Interbank offered rate. This update
is effective prospectively for new or designated hedging relationships entered into on or after July 17, 2013.
Currently, we do not intend to utilize the newly available Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate for our hedge ac-
counting.

On July 18, 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-11 (ASU 2013-11) Income Taxes (Topic 740)
Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or
a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. The purpose of Asu 2013-11 is to align the financial statement presentation of
an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryfor-
ward exists. In most cases, the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented as a reduction to a deferred tax
asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward. The update is
effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning on or after December 15, 2013.
The Company will adopt Asu 2013-11 as of January 1, 2014. Asu 2013-11 will not have a material impact on the
Company and its consolidated financial statements.
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2. ACQUISITION OF LIBERTY DIALYSIS HOLDINGS

On February 28, 2012, the Company acquired 100% of the equity of Liberty Dialysis Holdings, Inc. (Lb Holdings),
the owner of Liberty Dialysis and owner of a 51% stake in Renal Advantage Partners, LLC (the Liberty acquisi-
tion). The Company accounted for this transaction as a business combination and finalized the acquisition
accounting on February 28, 2013.

Total consideration for the Liberty acquisition was $2,181,358, consisting of $1,696,659 cash, net of cash ac-
quired and $484,699 non-cash consideration. Accounting standards for business combinations require previ-
ously held equity interests to be fair valued at the time of acquisition with the difference to book value to be
recognized as a gain or loss in income. Prior to the Liberty acquisition, the Company had a 49% equity invest-
ment in Renal Advantage Partners, LLC, the fair value of which, $ 201,915, was included as part of the non-cash
consideration. The fair value was determined based on the discounted cash flow method, utilizing a discount
rate of approximately 13%. In addition to the Company’s investment, it also had a loan receivable from Renal
Advantage Partners, LLC of $279,793, at a fair value of $ 282,784, which was retired as part of the transaction.

The following table summarizes the final fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
the acquisition. Any adjustments to acquisition accounting from December 31, 2012 until finalization on Feb-
ruary 28, 2013, net of related income tax effects, were recorded with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill.

— T.4.6.2 Assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of the acquisition
in $ THOUS

Assets held for sale 164,068
Trade accounts receivable 149,219
Other current assets 17,458
Deferred tax assets 14,932
Property, plant and equipment 168,335
Intangible assets and other assets 84,556
Goodwill 2,003,465
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities (105,403)
Income tax payable and deferred taxes (33,597)
Short-term borrowings, other financial liabilities, long-term debt and capital lease obligations (72,101)
Other liabilities (39,923)
Noncontrolling interests (subject and not subject to put provisions) (169,651)
» Total acquisition cost 2,181,358
Less non-cash contributions at fair value

Investment at acquisition date (201,915)
Long-term notes receivable (282,784)
» Total non-cash items (484,699)
» Net cash paid 1,696,659
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The amortizable intangible assets acquired in this acquisition have weighted average useful lives of 6—8 years.

Goodwill, in the amount of $2,003,465 was acquired as part of the Liberty acquisition and was allocated to
the North America segment. Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other
assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized.
Goodwill arises principally due to the fair value placed on an estimated stream of future cash flows versus
building a similar franchise. Of the goodwill recognized in this acquisition, approximately $436,000 is deduct-
ible for tax purposes and is being amortized over a 15 year period which began on the date of the acquisition.

The noncontrolling interests acquired as part of the acquisition are stated at fair value based upon contractual
multiples typically utilized by the Company for such arrangements as well as the Company’s overall experience.

The fair valuation of the Company’s investment at the time of the Liberty acquisition resulted in a non-taxable
gain of $139,600. The retirement of the loan receivable resulted in a benefit of $8,501.

Divestitures
In connection with the Federal Trade Commission’s consent order relating to regulatory clearance of the
Liberty acquisition under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act, the Company agreed to divest a
total of 62 renal dialysis centers. During 2012, 61 clinics were sold, 24 of which were FMC AG & CO. KGAA legacy
clinics which generated a gain of $33,455. During 2013, the remaining clinic required to be sold was sold for
a gain of $7,705. The 38 clinics acquired and subsequently sold were categorized as assets held for sale in the
table 4.6.2 at the time of the Liberty acquisition.

Pro forma financial information
The following financial information, on a pro forma basis, reflects the consolidated results of operations as if
the Liberty acquisition and the divestitures described above had been consummated on January 1, 2011. The
pro forma information includes adjustments primarily for elimination of the investment gain and the gain
from the retirement of debt. The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results of
operations as it would have been had the transactions been consummated on January 1, 2011.

— T.4.6.3 Pro forma financial information
in $ THOUS, expect per share data

2012 2011
Net revenue 13,900,540 13,215,111
Net income attributable to the shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA 1,054,872 1,077,718
Income per ordinary share:
Basic 3.46 3.56
Fully diluted 3.44 3.53
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3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s parent, Fresenius SE & Co.KGaA (Fresenius SE), a German partnership limited by shares owns
100% of the share capital of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, the Company’s general partner (General
Partner). Fresenius SE is also the Company's largest shareholder and owned approximately 31.3% of the
Company's shares at December 31, 2013, excluding the shares purchased through the Company’s share buy-
back program as they are not considered to be outstanding shares see note 14. The Company has entered into
certain arrangements for the purchase and sale of products and services with Fresenius SE or its subsidiaries
and with certain of the Company’s joint ventures as described in items a), b) and d) below. The Company's
terms related to the receivables or payables for these products and services are generally consistent with the
normal terms of the Company’s business. Financing arrangements as described in item ¢) below normally
have agreed upon terms which are determined at the time such financing transactions occur and usually
reflect market rates at the time of the transaction. Our related party transactions are settled through Fresenius
SE's cash management system where appropriate.

a) Service and lease agreements

The Company is party to service agreements with Fresenius S and certain of its affiliates (collectively the
Fresenius SE companies) to receive services, including, but not limited to: administrative services, manage-
ment information services, employee benefit administration, insurance, information technology services, tax
services and treasury management services. In 2013, the Company entered into a new five year information
technology services agreement, expiring in 2018, which has an automatic continuation for an additional
five year period with short-term continuations thereafter unless either party terminates the agreement at the
end of the then-current term. The Company has complied with all corporate governance procedures for this
agreement. During 2013 and 2012, amounts charged by Fresenius Se companies to the Company under the
terms of these agreements were $103,577 and $80,778, respectively. The Company also provides certain services
to the Fresenius SE Companies, including research and development, central purchasing and warehousing.
The Company charged $7,550 and $5,810 for services rendered to the Fresenius se companies during 2013 and
2012, respectively.

Under real estate operating lease agreements entered into with the Fresenius SE companies, which are leases
for the corporate headquarters in Bad Homburg, Germany and production sites in Schweinfurt and St. Wendel,
Germany, the Company paid the Fresenius SE companies $26,976 and $25,179 during 2013 and 2012, respectively.
The majority of the leases expire in 2016 and contain renewal options.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that the General Partner shall be reimbursed for any and all
expenses in connection with management of the Company’s business, including remuneration of the mem-
bers of the General Partner’s supervisory board and the members of the General Partner's management board
(Management Board). The aggregate amount reimbursed to the General Partner was $16,327 and $18,995,
respectively, for its management services during 2013 and 2012 and included $159 and $94, respectively, as
compensation for its exposure to risk as general partner. The Company’s Articles of Association set the
annual compensation for assuming unlimited liability at 4% of the amount of the General Partner’s share
capital (€3,000).

Fresenius Medical Care 2013



215

4.6
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

b) Products
During 2013 and 2012 the Company sold products to the Fresenius SE companies for $30,062 and $22,098
respectively. During the same periods, the Company made purchases from the Fresenius SE companies in the
amount of $34,201 and $46,072 respectively.

In addition to the purchases noted above, Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. (FMcH) currently purchases
heparin supplied by Fresenius Kabi usaA, Inc. (Kabi usa), through an independent group purchasing organiza-
tion (GPo). Kabi usA is wholly-owned by Fresenius Kabi AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fresenius Se. The
Company has no direct supply agreement with Kabi usAa and does not submit purchase orders directly to Kabi
USA. During 2013 and 2012, FMCH acquired approximately $17,700 and $14,136, respectively, of heparin from Kabi
UsA through the Gpo contract, which was negotiated by the Gpo at arm'’s length on behalf of all members of
the Gpo.

c) Financing provided by and to Fresenius Se and the General Partner

The Company receives short-term financing from and provides short-term financing to Fresenius Se. In addi-
tion, the Company utilizes Fresenius se’s cash management system for the settlement of certain intercom-
pany receivables and payables with its subsidiaries and other related parties. As of December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, the Company had accounts receivables from Fresenius st in the amount of $112,568 and
$120,071, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company had accounts payables to
Fresenius SE in the amount of $102,731 and $82,029, respectively. The interest rates for these cash management
arrangements are set on a daily basis and are based on the then-prevailing overnight reference rate for the
respective currencies.

At December 31, 2013, the Company provided a loan to Fresenius Se of €4,400 ($6,068 at December 31, 2013) at
an interest rate of 1.563%. This loan was repaid on January 3, 2014.

On August 19, 2009, the Company borrowed €1,500 ($2,069 at December 31, 2013) from the General Partner at
1.335%. The loan repayment has been extended periodically and is currently due August 20, 2014 with an in-
terest rate of 1.796%. On November 28, 2013, the Company borrowed an additional €1,500 (52,069 at Decem-
ber 31, 2013) from the General Partner at 1.875%. This loan is due on November 28, 2014.

At December 31, 2013, the Company borrowed cNy 352,372 (558,204 at December 31, 2013) from a subsidiary of
Fresenius SE at an interest rate of 6.1% and a maturity date of May 23, 2014.

For further information about short-term borrowings from and short-term financing provided to related
parties at December 31, 2013 see note 10.

d) Other
The Company performs clinical studies for certain of its joint ventures for which services the Company received
$2,106 and $7,432 in 2013 and 2012, respectively. In addition, the Company also performs marketing and distri-
bution services for a joint venture for which services the Company received $19,541 and $19,170 for 2013 and
2012, respectively.
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At December 31, 2013 and 2012, a subsidiary of Fresenius SE held senior notes issued by the Company in the
amount of €11,800 and €12,800 ($16,273 and $16,888), respectively. The respective senior notes have a coupon
rate of 5.25% interest and were issued in 2011 and 2012 see note 11. The Company paid interest related to these
holdings in the amount of €678 and €790 ($900 and $1,015) during 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board is also the chairman of the supervisory board of Fresenius SE
and of the general partner of Fresenius Se. He is also a Member of the Supervisory Board of the Company'’s
General Partner.

The Vice Chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board is a member of the supervisory board of the general
partner of Fresenius SE and Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Company’s General Partner. He is
also Chairman of the Advisory Board of a charitable foundation that is the sole shareholder of the general
partner of Fresenius SE. He is also a partner in a law firm which provided services to the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries. The Company incurred expenses in the amount of $1,268 and $1,519 for these services
during 2013 and 2012, respectively. Five of the six members of the Company’s Supervisory Board, including the
Chairman and Vice Chairman, are also Members of the Supervisory Board of the Company’s General Partner.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Company’s General Partner is also the Chairman of the
Management Board of the general partner of Fresenius sg, and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Management Board of the Company’s General Partner is a Member of the Management Board of the
general partner of Fresenius SE.

4. INVENTORIES

At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, inventories consisted of the following:

— T.4.6.4 Inventories
in $ THOUS

2013 2012
Finished goods 640,355 627,338
Healthcare supplies 195,519 154,840
Raw materials and purchased components 185,146 171,373
Work in process 76,084 83,258
» Total 1,097,104 1,036,809

Under the terms of certain unconditional purchase agreements, the Company is obligated to purchase ap-
proximately $612,925 of materials, of which $337,027 is committed at December 31, 2013 for 2014. The terms of
these agreements run 1 to 7 years.

Healthcare supplies inventories at December 31, 2013 and 2012 included $33,294 and $29,704, respectively, of

Erythropoietin (EPO). On January 1, 2012, the Company entered into a three-year sourcing and supply agree-
ment with its EPO supplier.
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5. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

— T.4.6.5 Prepaid expenses and other current assets
in $ THOUS

2013 2012
Taxes refundable 133,673 149,536
Cost report receivable from Medicare and Medicaid 130,236 86,566
Receivables for supplier rebates 105,994 61,248
Other deferred charges 62,555 53,517
Prepaid rent 49,409 44,894
Leases receivable 48,538 46,198
Prepaid insurance 41,039 24,935
Payments on account 33,934 35,660
Amounts due from managed locations 22,676 17,298
Receivable for sale of investment to third party 21,846 16,527
Deposit/Guarantee/Security 19,212 20,903
Derivatives 16,664 31,235
Other 351,615 389,020
» Total prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,037,391 977,537

The other item in the table above includes interest receivables, notes receivables and loans to customers.

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

— T.4.6.6 Acquisition or manufacturing costs
in $ THOUS
Changes in

Jan. 1, Currency consolida- Reclassi- Dec. 31,
2013 change tion group Additions fications Disposals 2013
Land 54,775 (3,292) 35 218 1,706 (6,753) 46,689
Buildings and improvements 2,257,002 (11,881) 823 43,948 204,170 (61,238) 2,432,824
Machinery and equipment 3,470,972 2,092 11,956 399,817 77,228 (153,709) 3,808,356

Machinery, equipment and rental
equipment under capitalized leases 36,316 (1,363) 122 11,748 (3,161) (423) 43,239
Construction in progress 256,401 2,102 2,653 296,554 (279,900) (10,157) 267,653

» Property, plant and

equipment 6,075,466 (12,342) 15,589 752,285 43  (232,280) 6,598,761
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— T.4.6.7 Depreciation
in $ THOUS
Changes in
Jan. 1, Currency consolida- Reclassi- Dec. 31,
2013 change tion group Additions fications Disposals 2013
Land 1,435 (122) - = (772) 38 579
Buildings and improvements 1,135,638 (2,824) (4) 180,318 2,161 (45,302) 1,269,987
Machinery and equipment 1,978,746 4,585 (961) 370,312 1,052  (138,627) 2,215,107
Machinery, equipment and rental
equipment under capitalized leases 19,027 (907) = 4,495 (1,060) (354) 21,201
Construction in progress 17 14 = = 27 (125) (67)
» Property, plant and
equipment 3,134,863 746 (965) 555,125 1,408 (184,370) 3,506,807
— T.4.6.8 Net book value
in S THOUS, December 31
2013 2012
Land 46,110 53,340
Buildings and improvements 1,162,837 1,121,364
Machinery and equipment 1,593,249 1,492,226
Machinery, equipment and rental equipment under capitalized leases 22,038 17,289
Construction in progress 267,720 256,384
» Property, plant and equipment 3,091,954 2,940,603

Depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment amounted to $555,125 and $515,455 for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Included in machinery and equipment at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were $597,024 and $532,088, respectively,
of peritoneal dialysis cycler machines which the Company leases to customers with end-stage renal disease
on a month-to-month basis and hemodialysis machines which the Company leases to physicians under oper-

ating leases.

Accumulated depreciation related to machinery, equipment and rental equipment under capital leases was
$21,201 and $19,027 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying value and accumulated amortization of intangible assets other
than goodwill consisted of the following:

— T.4.6.9 Acquisition costs
in $ THOUS
Changes in
Jan. 1, Currency consolida- Reclassi- Dec. 31,
2013 change tion group Additions fications Disposals 2013

Amortizable intangible assets

Non-compete agreements 317,080 (67) 10,277 1,486 - (3,441) 325,335
Technology 107,696 = o = (450) (736) 106,510
Licenses and distribution

agreements 225,393 3,145 = 2,537 - (7,374) 223,701
Customer Relationships - - 98,000 - - - 98,000
Construction in progress 57,677 169 - 4,964 (23,225) (15) 39,570
Self-developed software 72,328 1,334 - 10,880 21,126 (581) 105,087
Other 343,867 (1,579) 5,922 5,782 3,896 (7,413) 350,475
» Total 1,124,041 3,002 114,199 25,649 1,347 (19,560) 1,248,678

Non-amortizable intangible

assets

Tradename 241,019 (81) 1,000 = = = 241,938
Management contracts 8,343 (89) (946) - (269) - 7,039
» Total 249,362 (170) 54 = (269) = 248,977
> Intangible assets 1,373,403 2,832 114,253 25,649 1,078 (19,560) 1,497,655
» Goodwill 11,869,299 (22,359) 258,216 = 240 - 12,105,396
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— T.4.6.10 Amortization
in S THOUS
Changes in
Jan. 1, Currency consolida- Reclassi- Dec. 31,
2013 change tion group Additions fications Disposals 2013

Amortizable intangible assets
Non-compete agreements 213,639 (291) - 31,000 - (3,936) 240,412
Technology 40,849 - - 6,619 (2,884) - 44,584
Licences and distribution
agreements 98,757 2,493 = 18,765 - (7,318) 112,697
Customer relationships - - - 650 - - 650
Construction in progress = = = = = = =
Self-developed software 32,496 246 - 13,209 - 146 46,097
Other 246,239 (1,543) (5) 22,857 3,015 (6,532) 264,031
» Total 631,980 905 (5) 93,100 131 (17,640) 708,471
Non-amortizable intangible
assets
Tradename 31,307 1 - - - - 31,308
Management contracts = = = = = = =
» Total 31,307 1 = = = = 31,308
» Intangible assets 663,287 906 (5) 93,100 131 (17,640) 739,779
» Goodwill 447,410 (22) - - (179) = 447,209
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— T.4.6.11 Net book value
in S THOUS, December 31

2013 2012
Amortizable intangible assets
Non-compete agreements 84,923 103,441
Technology 61,926 66,847
Licences and distribution agreements 111,004 126,636
Customer relationships 97,350 -
Construction in progress 39,570 57,677
Self-developed software 58,990 39,832
Other 86,444 97,628
» Total 540,207 492,061
Non-amortizable intangible assets
Tradename 210,630 209,712
Management contracts 7,039 8,343
» Total 217,669 218,055
» Intangible assets 757,876 710,116
» Goodwill 11,658,187 11,421,889

The amortization on intangible assets amounted to $93,100 and $87,441 for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively. The table shows the estimated amortization expense of these assets for the following
five years.

T.4.6.12 Estimated amortization expense
in $ THOUS
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Estimated amortization expense 79,830 76,717 74,303 70,362 67,793
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Goodwill
In 2013 and 2012, goodwill related to general manufacturing operations was reclassified from the North
America and International segments to Corporate see note 24. For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing,
all corporate assets are allocated to the reporting units see note te.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are mainly a result of acquisitions and the impact of foreign
currency translations. During 2013 and 2012, the Company’s acquisitions consisted primarily of the acquisition
of clinics in the normal course of operations, the expansion of the laboratory business in 2013 and in 2012, the
Liberty acquisition. The changes to goodwill in 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

— T.4.6.13 Goodwill
in $§ THOUS
North America International Segment Total Corporate Total
» Balance as of December 31, 2011 7,314,622 1,464,089 8,778,711 407,939 9,186,650
Goodwill acquired, net of divestitures 2,172,181 21,106 2,193,287 - 2,193,287
Reclassifications = (5,188) (5,188) 5,188 =
Foreign currency translation adjustment 210 41,352 41,562 390 41,952
» Balance as of December 31, 2012 9,487,013 1,521,359 11,008,372 413,517 11,421,889
Goodwill acquired, net of divestitures 158,582 99,634 258,216 - 258,216
Reclassifications = (3,807) (3,807) 4,226 419
Foreign currency translation adjustment 52 (23,029) (22,977) 640 (22,337)
» Balance as of December 31, 2013 9,645,647 1,594,157 11,239,804 418,383 11,658,187

8. OTHER ASSETS AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

On August 12, 2013, FMCH made an investment-type transaction by providing a credit facility to a middle-
market dialysis provider in the amount of up to $200,000 to fund general corporate purposes. The transaction
is in the form of subordinated notes with a maturity date of July 4, 2020 (unless prepaid) and a payment-in-
kind (pik) feature that will allow interest payments in the form of cash (at 10.75%) or PIK (at 11.75%). The PIK
feature, if used, allows for the addition of the accrued interest to the then outstanding principal. The collat-
eral for this loan is 100% of the equity interest in this middle-market dialysis provider. The availability period
for drawdowns on this loan is 18 months ending on February 12, 2015 and amounts drawn, whether repaid or
prepaid, cannot be re-borrowed. The Company assesses the recoverability of this investment based on quar-
terly financial statements and other information obtained, used for an assessment of profitability and busi-
ness plan objectives, as well as by analyzing general economic and market conditions in which the provider
operates. At December 31, 2013, $170,000 had been drawn ($165,542, net of commitment and closing fees) with
$3,097 of interest income accrued. Interest is payable on a semi-annual basis for the length of the loan. The
first interest payment was due and received on October 31, 2013.
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9. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:

— T.4.6.14 ———— Accrued expenses and other current liablilities
in $ THOUS

2013 2012
Accrued salaries, wages and incentive plan compensations 542,230 481,920
Unapplied cash and receivable credits 302,337 198,834
Accrued insurance 201,346 187,254
Accrued interest 122,166 111,532
Special charge for legal matters 115,000 115,000
Accrued operating expenses 102,914 91,529
Withholding tax and VAT 93,407 96,157
Derivative financial instruments 25,701 26,578
Other 507,432 478,667
» Total 2,012,533 1,787,471

In 2001, the Company recorded a $258,159 special charge to address legal matters relating to transactions
pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated at February 4, 1996 by and between
W.R. Grace & Co. and Fresenius SE (the “Merger”), estimated liabilities and legal expenses arising in connection
with the w.R. Grace & Co. Chapter 11 proceedings (the “Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings”) and the cost of resolv-
ing pending litigation and other disputes with certain commercial insurers. During the second quarter of 2003,
the court supervising the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings approved a definitive settlement agreement entered
into among the Company, the committees representing the asbestos creditors and w.R. Grace & Co. Under the
settlement agreement, the Company had agreed to pay $115,000, without interest, upon plan confirmation.
On February 3, 2014, the plan was confirmed and became effective. The Company paid the $115,000 at that
time. All other matters included in the special charge have now been resolved see note 20.

Included in the other item in the table above are accruals for legal and compliance costs, physician compensa-

tion, commissions, short-term portion of pension liabilities, bonuses and rebates, accrued rents, and pending
payments for purchase considerations for certain acquisitions.
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10. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
FROM RELATED PARTIES

Short-term borrowings under lines of credit
Short-term borrowings of $96,648 and $117,850 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, represented
amounts borrowed by the Company’s subsidiaries under lines of credit with commercial banks. The average
interest rates on these borrowings at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were 4.00% and 4.93%, respectively.

Excluding amounts available under the 2012 credit agreement see note 11, at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
Company had $232,943 and $261,825 available under other commercial bank agreements. In some instances,
lines of credit are secured by assets of the Company’s subsidiary that is party to the agreement or may require
the Company’s guarantee. In certain circumstances, the subsidiary may be required to meet certain covenants.

Short-term borrowings from related parties

From time to time during each of the years presented, the Company received advances under the existing
loan agreements with Fresenius St for those years. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company
received advances ranging from €3,200 to €99,946 with interest rates ranging from 1.363% to 1.541%. During
the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company received advances ranging from €8,300 to €196,400 with in-
terest rates ranging from 1.365% to 1.838%. For further information on short-term borrowings from related
party outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, see note 3c. Annual interest expense on these borrowings
during the years presented was $547 and $1,458 for the years 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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11. LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS
AND LONG-TERM DEBT FROM RELATED PARTIES

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, long-term debt and capital lease obligations and long-term
debt from related parties consisted of the following:

— T.4.6.15 Long-term debt and capital lease obligations
and long-term debt from related parties
in $ THOUS, December 31

2013 2012
2012 credit agreement 2,707,145 2,659,340
Senior notes 4,824,753 4,743,442
Euro notes 46,545 51,951
European Investment Bank agreements 193,074 324,334
Accounts receivable facility 351,250 162,000
Capital lease obligations 24,264 15,618
Other 111,259 163,802
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 8,258,290 8,120,487
Less current maturities (511,370) (334,747)
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 7,746,920 7,785,740
Long-term debt from related parties = 56,174
» Total 7,746,920 7,841,914

The Company’s long-term debt, all of which ranks equally in rights of payment, consists mainly of borrowings
related to its 2012 credit agreement, its senior notes, its euro notes, borrowings under its European Invest-
ment Bank agreements, borrowings under its accounts receivable facility (A/R facility) and certain other bor-
rowings as follows:

2012 credit agreement
The Company entered into a $3,850,000 syndicated credit facility (the “2012 credit agreement”) with a large
group of banks and institutional investors (collectively, the “lenders”) on October 30, 2012 which replaced a
prior credit agreement. The credit facility consists of:

» a 5-year revolving credit facility of approximately $1,250,000 comprising a $400,000 multicurrency revolving
facility, a $200,000 revolving facility and a €500,000 revolving facility which will be due and payable on
October 30, 2017.

» a 5-year term loan facility of originally $2,600,000, also scheduled to mature on October 30, 2017, requiring

17 quarterly payments of $50,000 each, which began in the third quarter of 2013 that permanently reduce the
term loan facility. The remaining balance is due on October 30, 2017.
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